THE BIOLOGICAL AND CLINICAL ASPECTS OF HLA-G

EDITED BY: Wei-Hua Yan and Joel LeMaoult PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-640-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-640-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

THE BIOLOGICAL AND CLINICAL ASPECTS OF HLA-G

Topic Editors:

Wei-Hua Yan, Medical Research Center, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, Wenzhou Medical University, China **Joel LeMaoult**, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique et aux Energies Alternatives (CEA), France

Citation: Yan, W.-H., LeMaoult, J., eds. (2021). The Biological and Clinical Aspects of HLA-G. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-640-9

Table of Contents

04	<i>Editorial: The Biological and Clinical Aspects of HLA-G</i> Joel LeMaoult and Wei-Hua Yan
06	The Role of HLA-G in Human Papillomavirus Infections and Cervical Carcinogenesis
	Hui-Hui Xu, Wei-Hua Yan and Aifen Lin
15	HLA-G Genotype/Expression/Disease Association Studies: Success, Hurdles, and Perspectives
	Giada Amodio and Silvia Gregori
24	HLA-G Neo-Expression on Tumors
	Maria Loustau, François Anna, Raphaelle Dréan, Martin Lecomte, Pierre Langlade-Demoyen and Julien Caumartin
39	Soluble HLA-G and HLA-G Bearing Extracellular Vesicles Affect ILT-2 Positive and ILT-2 Negative CD8 T Cells Complementary
	Esther Schwich, Gia-Gia T. Hò, Joel LeMaoult, Christina Bade-Döding, Edgardo D. Carosella, Peter A. Horn and Vera Rebmann
50	HLA-G Expressing Immune Cells in Immune Mediated Diseases
	P. Contini, Giuseppe Murdaca, Francesco Puppo and Simone Negrini
59	Roles of HLA-G in the Maternal-Fetal Immune Microenvironment
	Xiuxiu Xu, Yonggang Zhou and Haiming Wei
70	Intratumor Heterogeneity of HLA-G Expression in Cancer Lesions
	Xia Zhang, Aifen Lin, Qiu-Yue Han, Jian-Gang Zhang, Qiong-Yuan Chen,

Xia Zhang, Aifen Lin, Qiu-Yue Han, Jian-Gang Zhang, Qiong-Yuan Chen,
Yao-Han Ye, Wen-Jun Zhou, Hui-Hui Xu, Jun Gan and Wei-Hua Yan *Inhibition of iNKT Cells by the HLA-G-ILT2 Checkpoint and Poor Stimulation*

by HLA-G-Expressing Tolerogenic DC Ching-Lien Wu, Julien Caumartin, Giada Amodio, François Anna, Maria Loustau, Silvia Gregori, Pierre Langlade-Demoyen and Joel LeMaoult





Editorial: The Biological and Clinical Aspects of HLA-G

Joel LeMaoult^{1,2*} and Wei-Hua Yan^{3,4*}

¹ CEA, DRF-Francois Jacob Institute, Research Division in Hematology and Immunology (SRHI), Saint-Louis Hospital, Paris, France, ² Université de Paris, IRSL, UMRS 976, Paris, France, ³ Medical Research Center, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, Wenzhou Medical University, Linhai, China, ⁴ Key Laboratory of Minimally Invasive Techniques & Rapid Rehabilitation of Digestive System Tumor of Zhejiang Province, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, Linhai, China

Keywords: HLA-G, receptor, immune cells, pregnancy, cancer, tolerance

Editorial on the Research Topic

The Biological and Clinical Aspects of HLA-G

In this Research Topic, we hosted eight in-depth reviews, mini reviews, and original research articles on the biological and clinical aspects of HLA-G. This could be unattainable without the enthusiastic involvement of all contributing authors, participating reviewers and the assistance from the staff of Frontiers in Immunology.

HLA-G belongs to the non-classical HLA class I family. HLA-G features limited genetic variation, very restricted tissue expression, and immune tolerogenic functions, being a ligand of immune inhibitory receptors. HLA-G is now recognized as an important immune checkpoint. Moreover, at least seven isoforms (membrane-bound isoforms: HLA-G1~HLA-G4; soluble isoforms: HLA-G5~HLA-G7), can be generated due to its primary transcript alternative splicing. Since HLA-G gene had been identified in 1987 (1) and HLA-G protein expression first observed in extravillious cytotrophoblasts in 1990 (2), both genetic and molecular characteristics, and biological functions of HLA-G have been thoroughly investigated. Even though HLA-G main site of expression it the fetal cytotrphoblast, physiological expression in adults was reported in stem cells and some progenitor cells, somatic cells within immune provoleged tissues, and some immune cells. Furthermore, HLA-G ectopic expression is induced in a variety of pathological conditions. The immune suppressive functions of HLA-G are mediated by the signaling between HLA-G and the ILT-2 and ILT-4 receptors. The importance of this interaction has been well-described in a broad range of clinical settings such as reproduction, infection, autoimmune disease and cancer. HLA-G/ILT is a promising immune checkpoint, and the first phase I clinical trial for a new anti-HLA-G antibody started in 2020 in advanced solid cancer patients (3). In the context of pregnancy, HLA-G interacts with another receptor, KIR2DL4, that is principally expressed by uterine NK cells. Interaction of HLA-G with KIR2DL4 is clearly different from that with ILT-2 and ILT-4, and its role in pregnancy is currently emerging.

In this Research Topic, different aspects of the latest advances regarding HLA-G have been reviewed and explored including the significance of *HLA-G* genetic variability in HLA-G expression and disease predisposition, the roles of HLA-G in fetal-maternal immune tolerance, the neo- and heterogeneous expression of HLA-G in cancers, and the cellular and extracellular HLA-G expression in the regulation of various immune cell functions.

The regulation of HLA-G expression is multifactorial which can be affected by HLA-G genetic variability, post-transcriptional regulation and intracellular and extracellular microenvironmental signals. The predictive, diagnostic, and prognostic significance of HLA-G genotype and/or protein expression has been investigate in a wide range of clinical settings. Amodio and Gregori elaborate how HLA-G protein expression regulated by the polymorphisms in the 5'-upstream regulatory

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Antoine Toubert, Université Paris Diderot, France

*Correspondence:

Joel LeMaoult joel.lemaoult@cea.fr Wei-Hua Yan yanwhcom@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alloimmunity and Transplantation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 04 January 2021 Accepted: 03 February 2021 Published: 19 February 2021

Citation:

LeMaoult J and Yan W-H (2021) Editorial: The Biological and Clinical Aspects of HLA-G. Front. Immunol. 12:649344. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.649344

4

region (5'-URR), coding region and in the 3'-untranslated region (3'-UTR) through transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation, and discussed the most studied HLA-G polymorphism 14-bp INS/DEL in association with diseases. They also recommend future approaches for the HLA-G polymorphism/protein expression/disease association studies. Xu et al. illustrate certain HLA-G polymorphisms as risk factors for the human papillomavirus infection and HLA-G expression in cervical cancer carcinogenesis. Signaling between HLA-G and its receptor engagement is the key requirement for the immune regulatory function of HLA-G. HLA-G and its receptor signaling can exert immune suppression with detrimental effects which favors cancer and virus infected cells by allowing them to escape from immune surveillance and attack, while beneficial in promoting immune tolerance for fetal-maternal or transplants acceptance. Contini et al. review the HLA-G expressing immune cells in physiological conditions, and both in autoimmune and non-autoimmune diseases, indicating potential roles of HLA-G positive immune subsets involvement in the pathogenesis of immune mediated diseases. Wu et al. report that HLA-G, and HLA-G-expressing tolerogenic DC-10 through ILT-2 pathway inhibit both human and murine invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cell activation. Schwich et al. explore the functions of two different soluble HLA-G forms, the purified sHLA-G1 protein and extracellular vesicles with or without HLA-G molecule, on the ILT-2 positive and negative CD8+ T cells. sHLA-G1 and HLA-G_{EV} differentially induce immune-exhausted or immune-suppressive phenotye in ILT-2 positive CD8+ T cells and ILT-2 negative CD8+ T cells, respectively. This finding indicate that sHLA-G1 and HLA-GEV affect ILT-2 positive and ILT-2 negative CD8+ T cells complementary. Xu et al. showcase three important roles of extravillous trophoblast expressed HLA-G on the regualtion of immune cell subsets. First, HLA-G/ILT-2 and HLA-G/KIR2DL4 signaling induces immune cell producing proangiogenic cytokines to promote the spiral artery remodeling. Second, HLA-G/ILT-2/4 and HLA-G/KIR2DL4 signaling supresses the cytotoxicity of immune cells to maintain the fetal-maternal immune tolerance. Finally, HLA-G/ILT-2 and HLA-G/KIR2DL4 signaling induces the production of growth-promoting factors to favor fetal growth. Clinical significance of HLA-G neo-expression in cancers and its relation to advanced disease stage, tumor metastasis and poor prognosis in many tumors has been well-established, and a clinical trial with a monoclonal anti-HLA-G antibody to block the HLA-G/ILTs interaction was initiated recently (3). Zhang et al. demonstrate that intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G expression is a common phenomenon in cancers, and that the degree of HLA-G expression detection varies dramatically with different antibodies used to probe. Loustau et al. discuss the advance of HLA-G neo-expression and clinical relevance in various tumor types, and point out the limitation such as more specific anti-HLA-G antibodies are extremely necessary for future in-depth studies on neo-expression of HLA-G in cancers.

In summary, this special issue highlights the current advances regarding the biological and clinical importance of HLA-G in various physio-pathological situations. Undoubtedly, HLA-G is a promising biomarker and therapeutic target for different diseases, even though isoform-specific antibodies are still lacking, which prevents advances in characterizing their clinical significance.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

W-HY wrote the first draft of the manuscript and updated the last version. JL corrected the draft.

REFERENCES

- Geraghty DE, Koller BH, Orr HT. A human major histocompatibility complex class I gene that encodes a protein with a shortened cytoplasmic segment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1987) 84:9145–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.24.9145
- Kovats S, Main EK, Librach C, Stubblebine M, Fisher SJ, DeMars R. A class I antigen, HLA-G, expressed in human trophoblasts. *Science*. (1990) 248:220– 3. doi: 10.1126/science.2326636
- Gilead Buys into Tizona's Anti-HLA-G strategy. Cancer Discov. (2020) 10:1433. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-NB2020-077

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 LeMaoult and Yan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of HLA-G in Human Papillomavirus Infections and Cervical Carcinogenesis

Hui-Hui Xu¹, Wei-Hua Yan¹ and Aifen Lin^{2*}

¹ Medical Research Center, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, Wenzhou Medical University, Linhai, China, ² Biological Resource Center, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, Wenzhou Medical University, Linhai, China

Human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G, a non-classical HLA-class I molecule, has a low polymorphism frequency, restricted tissue distribution and immunoinhibitory property. HLA-G expression in tumor cells and cells chronically infected with virus may enable them to escape from host immune surveillance. It is well-known that the HLA-G molecule is a novel biomarker and potential therapeutic target that is relevant in various types of cancers, but its role in cervical cancer has not been fully explored. In this review, we aim to summarize and discuss the immunologic role of the HLA-G molecule in the context of HPV infections and the process of cervical cancer carcinogenesis. A better understanding of the potential impact of HLA-G on the clinical course of persistent HPV infections, cervical epithelial cell transformation, tumor growth, recurrence and metastasis is needed to identify a novel diagnostic/prognostic biomarker for cervical cancer, which is critical for cervical cancer risk screening. In addition, it is also necessary to identify HLA-G-driven immuno mechanisms involved in the interactions between host and virus to explore novel immunotherapy strategies that target HLA-G/immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT) immune checkpoints.

Keywords: human leukocyte antigen G, human papillomavirus, viral infection, carcinogenesis, cervical cancer, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Cervical cancer ranks as the fourth most common female cancer worldwide, with an estimated 569,847 new cases and 311,365 deaths in 2018 (1). Persistent infection with high-risk human papillomavirus (hrHPV) is necessary but not sufficient to induce cervical cancer (2). Most HPV infections are transient and are cleared within months by host innate and adaptive immune responses (3). Failure to clear the virus leads to infection persistence, and only a minority of HPV-infected and transformed cells eventually avoid host immune surveillance, which leads to tumor growth and lymph node metastasis (4, 5). This host-dependent immunological status and HPV-induced immune escape are reflected in persistent infection and the subsequent progression of precancerous lesions to invasive cervical cancer, which indicates the complexity of host-virus interactions. Therefore, the roles of the immune system, not only in viral elimination but also in tumor antigen recognition, are extremely relevant in the process of cervical cancer carcinogenesis.

Accumulating evidence has supported the idea of a critical role for immunosuppressive mechanisms in promoting HPV-induced carcinogenesis, either by suppressing the capacity of the host to overcome HPV infection or by preventing the elimination of HPV-transformed epithelial

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Joao P. B. Viola, National Cancer Institute (INCA), Brazil

Reviewed by:

Ana Paula Lepique, University of São Paulo, Brazil Marcelo A. Soares, National Cancer Institute (INCA), Brazil

> *Correspondence: Aifen Lin

aifenlin@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 March 2020 Accepted: 27 May 2020 Published: 25 June 2020

Citation:

Xu H-H, Yan W-H and Lin A (2020) The Role of HLA-G in Human Papillomavirus Infections and Cervical Carcinogenesis. Front. Immunol. 11:1349. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01349

6

cells (3-7). Human leucocyte antigen (HLA) complex is located on chromosome 6p21.3. Several HLA molecules with different functions can be broadly divided into classical HLA-class I (HLA-A, -B, -C), non-classical HLA-class I (HLA-E, -F, -G), classical HLA-class II (HLA-DR, -DQ, -DP), and classical HLA-class III (8). The HLA system influences the host immune response by mediating antigen presentation (9). HLA-G has been termed "non-classical" due to its low frequency of polymorphisms, restricted tissue distribution and immunoinhibitory properties, which are different from the properties of classical HLA-class I molecules (10, 11). It has become increasingly evident that the HLA-G molecule is involved in modulating both innate and adaptive immune responses and in promoting immune escape in various types of cancers (10-13) and infectious diseases (14-16). However, to date, the possibility that HLA-G gene polymorphisms and/or protein expression affecting HPV infection persistence and cervical cancer risk remains to be explored.

MOLECULAR STRUCTURE OF HUMAN LEUKOCYTE ANTIGEN-G

The *HLA-G* gene consists of eight exons, seven introns, a 5'upstream regulatory region (URR) that extends at least 1,400 bp from the initial ATG start codon, and a 3'untranslated region (UTR), with a total length of 6,000 bp (12, 17). It is widely accepted that the *HLA-G* primary transcript is alternatively spliced into seven mRNAs, which encode four membrane-bound (HLA-G1, -G2, -G3, -G4) and three soluble (HLA-G5, -G6, -G7) protein isoforms (18, 19). Each unique HLA-G isoform contains one to three extracellular globular domains (α 1, α 2, α 3) encoded by exon 2, exon 3, and exon 4, whereas the presence of intronic sequences are variable (IMGT/HLA Database).

The overall structure of HLA-G1 and that of its soluble counterpart HLA-G5 is similar to the structure of the classical HLA-class I antigens, which contain a heavy chain noncovalently bound to β 2-microglobulin (β 2m) (18). Peptide is bound in the antigen-binding cleft formed by the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains (11, 20), whereas the α 3 domain can bind co-receptors such as CD8 (21). Both HLA-G1 and HLA-G5 isoforms can also exist as $\beta 2m$ -free antigens (22). Other HLA-G isoforms lacking one or two extracellular globular domains ($\alpha 2$, or $\alpha 3$, or both) are smaller than HLA-G1/-G5 isoforms and are not associated with $\beta 2m$ (23). HLA-G1 to HLA-G4 are membranebound isoforms due to the presence of the transmembrane region encoded by exon 5 and a short cytoplasmic tail encoded by exon 6, which contains a stop codon. HLA-G5 and HLA-G6 are soluble isoforms due to the presence of intron 4, which contains a premature stop codon to prevent the translation of the transmembrane and cytoplasmic tail. HLA-G7 is a soluble isoform due to the presence of intron 2, which contains a premature stop codon and results in the expression of a soluble protein (18-20). All seven reported HLA-G isoforms contain the extracellular α1 domain.

In addition to the seven HLA-G monomers reported, the molecular structure of HLA-G is even more complex. A study

on its crystal structure demonstrated that HLA-G can exist as a dimer with the intermolecular Cys42-Cys42 disulphide bond (24). *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that HLA-G dimers are observed for all isoforms except HLA-G3 (25). Moreover, β 2m-associated and β 2m-free dimers of HLA-G1 or HLA-G5 also exist (26–28). Dimer formation affects the specificity of receptor-HLA-G binding, as dimers exhibit a higher overall affinity to immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT)2/4 receptors than monomers due to significant avidity effects (24, 28, 29).

Notably, unidentified HLA-G isoforms without an a1 domain were predicted based on RNA sequencing (RNA-seq), and several previously undescribed HLA-G isoforms have been identified in renal cancer samples (30). According to the nucleotide sequence of the HLA-G gene listed in the Ensembl database (ENST00000376828), this gene may possess a supplementary exon at the 5'-end, but this is absent from the sequence in the IMGT/HLA database. A novel HLA-G isoform named HLA-G1L was predicted by Tronik-Le Roux et al. (30); this isoform has five additional amino acids (MKTPR) located at the N-terminal end. Analysis of RNA-seq data indicates that some sequence reads may be initiated at exon 4, and thus could predict the existence of novel a1-deleted HLA-G isoforms that contain $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ domains or only the $\alpha 3$ domain. Other novel soluble HLA-G isoforms can be generated by the skipping of exon 6 coding for the transmembrane domain (30, 31). Lin et al. (32) indicated the existence of novel a1-deleted HLA-G isoforms containing intron 4 in 11.6% (44/379) of colorectal cancer lesions that exhibited negative staining with mAb 4H84 but that exhibited positive staining with mAb 5A6G7 (4H84^{neg}5A6G7^{pos}). Moreover, patients with 4H84^{neg}5A6G7^{pos} HLA-G isoforms had a better survival than patients with 4H84^{pos}5A6G7^{neg}, and thus suggests a functional role for the novel a1-deleted HLA-G isoforms (31). However, the specific function of these novel HLA-G isoforms remains to be determined. The development of specific antibodies for these novel HLA-G isoforms is urgently needed and even inevitable (33).

HLA-G-MEDIATED IMMUNE SUPPRESSION

HLA-G expression was initially observed on cytotrophoblasts at the maternal-fetal interface (34), where HLA-G modulates the response of maternal immune cells that contribute to maintenance of tolerance to the fetus (35–37). HLA-G has a physiological tissue-restricted distribution property, as it is expressed by cytotrophoblasts (34), cornea (38), thymus (39), nail matrix (40), pancreatic islets (41), and erythroblasts (42). However, aberrant upregulated expression of HLA-G molecules has been detected in pathological conditions such as malignancies (43–45), infections and inflammatory diseases (14, 46–49), transplant grafts (50, 51), and autoimmune disorders (16, 52–54). In malignancies, aberrant HLA-G expression was preferentially detected in tumor tissues but was rarely detected in normal or adjacent non-tumorous tissues, which indicates that HLA-G might play a key role in tumor development (44).

HLA-G and Human Papillomavirus Infection

Functionally, HLA-G has comprehensive immunosuppressive properties exerted in multiple steps to weaken antitumor immune responses by acting on immune cells through its inhibitory receptors: ILT2(CD85j/LILRB1), ILT4(CD85d/LILRB2), and KIR2DL4(CD158d) (11, 12, 55-59) (Figure 1). HLA-G inhibits the cytolytic function of natural killer (NK) cells (60, 61), cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL)mediated cytolysis (62), macrophage-mediated cytotoxicity (63), allo-proliferative response of CD4⁺ T cells (64, 65), maturation and function of dendritic cells (DCs) or B lymphocytes (66-69), stimulation of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to secrete functional cytokines TGF-B and IL-10, and induction of apoptosis of CD8⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ NK cells (70, 71). In addition, HLA-G-receptor interactions could also exert long-term immunomodulatory effects by inducing immune suppressor/regulatory cells, such as regulatory T cells (Tregs) (72, 73), tolerogenic DCs (tDCs) (74, 75), mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (76), and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (77, 78), among others. In addition to the interactions between HLA-G and its receptors, HLA-G-mediated immunosuppression by intercellular transfer mechanisms such as trogocytosis, exosomes, or tunneling nanotubes (TnTs) also represents another important complementary mechanism through which cancer cells escape destruction by the host immune system (11, 12, 79-81).

HLA-G POLYMORPHISMS IN THE CONTEXT OF HPV INFECTIONS

To date, 69 alleles that encode 19 proteins have been discovered (IMGT/HLA Database, February 2020). Polymorphic sites along the *HLA-G* gene may change the affinity of gene-targeted sequences for transcriptional or post-transcriptional factors (82, 83). In particular, the *14bp Insertion/Deletion (Ins/Del)* (rs66554220) in the 3'UTR is associated with *HLA-G* alternative splicing and mRNA stability (84, 85). The +*3142C/G* (rs1063320) located 167 bp downstream from the *14bp Ins/Del* polymorphic site may be a target for HLA-G expression through post-transcriptional regulation (87, 88).

Accumulating evidence has supported the concept that HLA-G polymorphisms are genetic susceptibility and/or protection-relevant factors for cervical HPV infections and viral persistence (89-101). Many studies have primarily focused on polymorphisms in the 3'UTR of the HLA-G gene (89-95), while few have assessed its promoter region (96). Studies by Xu et al. (89, 90) showed that HLA-G 14bp Ins or +3142G alleles are risk factors for HPV infections, especially hrHPV infections, compared with the alleles found in healthy women and that these alleles affect the progression of HPV18-associated cervical lesions in Chinese women. A similar finding was reported in a study performed in Brazilian women from São Paulo, Brazil; this study showed that the HLA-G 14bp Ins/+3142G haplotype was related to increased risk of highgrade cervical lesions, especially in smokers (91). Inconsistent results were obtained in Italy (92) and Taiwan (93), where increased risk for squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) was found to be associated with the 14bp del or +3142C alleles, especially in SCC patients infected with the HPV16 genotype (93). Moreover, some have focused on the association between *HLA-G* 3'UTR polymorphisms and HPV infection among HIV-positive women who have a higher risk of developing HPV co-infection. The combination of the +3142CX (*CC or CG*) and +3187AA genotypes conferred the highest risk of HPV-induced aneuploidy in cervical cells among Brazilian women with HIV/HPV co-infections (94).A SNP (rs1633038) in the 3'UTR of the *HLA-G* gene was significantly related to higher HPV clearance rates among African-Americans with HIV/HPV co-infection, but this association was not observed in Hispanics or European-Americans (95).

Further evidence for the role of genetic factors in HPV infections and the carcinogenic process was provided by studies that showed an association with specific HLA-G coding region polymorphisms (96-104). Among the Canadian population, the HLA-G*01:01:02 and HLA-G*01:03 alleles were found to be related to an increased risk of HPV16 infection and persistent infections (96), while the *HLA-G**01:01:03 and *HLA-G**01:01:05 alleles were identified as significant predictors of cumulative coinfections over the follow-up period (97). In the same cohort, the HLA-G*01:01:02, HLA-G*01:04:01 and HLA-G*01:06 alleles were related to high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (HG-CIN) (98). The HLA-G*01:01:02, HLA-G*01:06 and 3'UTR 14bp Ins alleles were associated with disease progression from preinvasive to invasive cervical cancer among HPV-positive Canadian women (99). The homozygous HLA-G*01:04:01 genotype was related to a significantly decreased risk of HPV infection (98), and the heterozygotic form of the HLA-G*01:01:01 allele conferred significant protection against cancer (99). Among Brazilian women, the HLA-G*01:04/14bp Ins haplotype as well as HPV16 and HPV18 co-infection were preferentially related to HG-CIN, while the $HLA-G^*01:03$ allele was related to protection against HPV-related cervical lesions (100). Among HPV-positive pregnant women in Brazil, a protective effect of the HLA- G^* 01:01:02 allele against the occurrence of CIN was observed in a cohort of HPV/HIV co-infected pregnant women (101). In a study that focused on the role of host factors in the vertical transmission of HPV infection from mother to offspring, the results showed that the HLA-G*01:01:01/01:04:01 genotype increased the risk of hrHPV infection in both cord blood and the infant's oral mucosa; moreover, the mother-child concordance of HLA-G*01:01:02/01:01:02 increased the risk of oral hrHPV infection both in the mother and offspring (102). In addition, a pilot analysis of HLA-G promoter methylation and HPV infection status showed no association between HLA-G methylation and HPV infections in healthy women (103, 104).

Overall, the discrepancy among these studies could be explained by differences in the study designs, ethnicity, sample sizes, and cancer types. Current data suggested that HLA-G gene polymorphisms (mainly located in the coding region or 3'UTR region) appear to be independent risk factors for HPV infection and cervical carcinogenesis, which supports the biological role of HLA-G molecules in shaping the tumor microenvironment (105).



HLA-G EXPRESSION IN CERVICAL CARCINOGENESIS

HLA-G expression may be induced after HPV infection, which leads to escape from host immunosurveillance. This evidence is derived from the results of a study that showed that HLA-G expression was significantly higher in CIN and cancer patients with HPV16/18 infections than in CIN patients without HPV infection (106). Several studies have investigated the relationship between HLA-G isoform expression and clinicopathologic features in patients with precancerous lesions and invasive cervical cancer (45, 90, 106–117).

Another study focused on HLA-G mRNA expression in cervical cancer in Korean patients using RT-PCR (15 normal tissues and 40 cervical cancer tissues) and found that high HLA-G mRNA expression was related to the early stages of cervical cancer (108). These results are consistent with the report by Rodriguez et al. (109), which showed upregulation of HLA-G protein expression in the early stages of cervical cancer in Colombian patients using immunohistochemistry (IHC) with mAb 4H84 (9 CIN III and 54 cervical cancer cases). Both studies supported a possible role for the HLA-G molecule in early cervical carcinogenesis (108, 109). The results of both studies further showed that Interleukin-10 (IL-10) expression was also significantly increased in cervical cancer tissues (108, 109), which supports a shift toward a Th2 cytokine microenvironment; this in turn may promote local immunosuppression by upregulating HLA-G expression (111, 118). Consistent with this, the results also revealed the inverse relationship among HLA-G expression levels and estimated numbers of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and CD57+ NK cells, which favors an escape from host anti-tumor activity (115). Moreover, three independent studies have reported evidence of a positive correlation between HLA-G expression and cervical carcinogenesis in a Chinese population (45, 106, 107). The results of all three studies indicated that HLA-G expression was negative in normal or adjacent non-tumorous tissues but was significantly increased along with CIN grade and cervical cancer metastasis. HLA-G expression may play an important role in determining the risk for cervical carcinogenesis. These clinical studies also analyzed clinicopathological parameters and demonstrated significant correlations between HLA-G expression and unfavorable prognosis, poor overall survival, and lymph node metastasis. However, inconsistent results were obtained in only two studies that showed that HLA-G expression was not related to cervical carcinogenesis (112, 113). Zhou et al. (112) described that in all normal epithelium, HLA-G expression was strong and uniform but was statistically down-regulated in CIN and SCC. Gonçalves et al. (113) reported that HLA-G was not expressed in any CIN or SCC. Futhermore, in experimental model of cervical cancer research, Real et al. (119) reported that low expression of HLA-G in Hela cell line (HPV18 infection). Thus, the role of HLA-G in malignancies has gained considerable clinical interest due to the possibility of exploiting it as a novel diagnostic/prognostic biomarker to identify cervical cancer and to monitor disease stage.

Additionally, three studies focused on soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) isoform expression using different detection technologies (107, 110, 114). Guimarães et al. (110) analyzed sHLA-G expression in cervical cancer tissues from Brazilian patients using

IHC with the specific mAb 5A6G7 (27 with metastasis and 52 without metastasis). Low expression of sHLA-G isoforms was detected in all HPV-positive tissues, and the sHLA-G expression level was similar in both groups (110). Zheng et al. (107) investigated the sHLA-G expression level in the plasma of patients with cervical lesions using ELISA kit (sHLA-G, Exbio) with mAb MEM-G/9 (20 normal cervical tissues, 15 CIN I, 22 CIN II, 35 CIN III, and 80 cervical cancer tissues). sHLA-G expression levels in the plasma were significantly increased in CIN II-III and SCC patients, and their expression levels were also associated with differentiation and metastasis. Therefore, sHLA-G molecules may have significance in early cervical cancer screening (107). However, inconsistent results obtained in the Netherlands (366 cervical cancer) using ELISA kit (sHLA-G, Exbio) reported that sHLA-G levels were not associated with clinicopathological parameters or survival (114).

Overall, the discrepancies in these studies that examined HLA-G expression in cervical cancer patients are partly due to tumor heterogeneity (31). In the future, there will be a need for additional studies to obtain deeper insight into the association between HLA-G expression levels and advanced cervical cancer.

HLA-G AS A NOVEL TARGET FOR IMMUNOTHERAPIES

Cervical cancer accounts for 6.6% of all female cancers and is thus a major global health challenge, as \sim 90% of cervical cancer deaths occur in less developed countries (1). High-risk HPV causes almost all invasive cervical cancers, and therefore, HPV screening and vaccination are needed to improve cervical cancer control (2). Despite significant advances in effective screening and preventive vaccination during the past decade, substantial regional and global disparities in the prognosis of cervical cancer patients still exist (120). Unfortunately, \sim 30% of patients experience recurrence and metastasis after primary treatment, with an expected 5-year survival of < 10%. Few effective therapeutic strategies have been developed that specifically target recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer, particularly advanced-stage disease. Thus, novel therapeutic strategies, such as immunotherapy, are urgently needed in clinical settings (121, 122).

In recent years, an improved understanding of the molecular mechanisms of the interactions between HPV-associated cervical cancer and the host immune responses has driven the exploration of immunotherapy as one of the new therapeutics targeting immune checkpoints (123). HLA-G has comprehensive immunosuppressive properties that are exerted in multiple steps to weaken the anti-tumor immune responses by acting on immune cells through its inhibitory receptors. Fortunately, HLA-G expression can be downregulated through RNA interference or antibody blockade, which can allow recovery of the functions of immune effectors and prevent tumor reoccurrence. Thus, HLA-G could serve as a novel immune checkpoint molecule and play a key role in novel immunotherapy approaches that offer a promising perspective for tumor progression and advanced- stage cervical cancer.

It has been confirmed that miR-148a negatively regulates HLA-G expression by binding to the 3'UTR of the HLA-G gene (88). The long non-coding RNA HOX transcript antisense RNA (HOTAIR) may also serve as a competing endogenous RNAs (ceRNAs) to regulate HLA-G expression by sponging miR-148a in cervical cancer cells (116). Targeting the HOTAIRmiR-148a-HLA-G axis or HLA-G-specific miRs could represent a novel therapeutic strategy in cervical cancer. Intra-tumor heterogeneity of checkpoint molecule expression in cervical cancer is related to a poor chemo/radio-therapy response, lymph node metastasis and tumor recurrence. HLA-G has been identified as a cervical cancer stem cell (CCSC)-specific marker, and targeting HLA-G and its related signaling pathways may offer a novel strategy for CCSC-targeted therapy (124). Moreover, the HLA-G/ILTs axis has been recently recognized as a new immune checkpoint in addition to other immune checkpoints such as programmed cell death 1 (PD-1)/PD-L1 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)/B7 (125). Different responses to checkpoint inhibitor therapy could be a consequence of heterogeneous intra- and inter-tumor expression of different types of checkpoint molecules, although data on the expression status of HLA-G, CTLA-4 and PD-L1 in cancers are rather limited (13, 125, 126). PD-1 is a major immunotherapeutic checkpoint target in various cancer types, but until now, few data have been available on the clinical efficacy of blocking this checkpoint protein in cervical cancer (2, 126). The expression of PD-1 was found to be heterogeneous in tumors and could be co-expressed with the immune checkpoint protein HLA-G (127). A recent study focused on tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells that express the HLA-G receptor ILT2 in renal-cell carcinoma (RCC), and the results emphasize the potential of therapeutically targeting the HLA-G/ILT2 checkpoint in HLA-G+ tumors (127). Overexpression of the immune checkpoint HLA-G molecule by tumor cells profoundly affects tumorspecific T cell immunity in the cancer microenvironment. In this regard, targeting multiple checkpoints, especially potential antagonists of the HLA-G/ILT-2/4 pathway, is urgently needed to target the entire tumor.

CONCLUSIONS

Considering the above studies that were reviewed, we propose that *HLA-G* gene polymorphisms have an impact on the immune response and likely determine those in specific populations who are at higher risk for cervical HPV infections and viral persistence. Aberrant HLA-G expression in cervical lesions could generate inhibitory signals in the cancer microenvironment, which would ultimately help tumor cells escape from immunosurveillance and reshape tumor progression and metastasis. The checkpoint molecule HLA-G with immune tolerance contribute to cervical carcinogenesis, but HLA-G could also represent a good immunotherapeutic target for cervical cancer treatment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492
- Cohen PA, Jhingran A, Oaknin A, Denny L. Cervical cancer. Lancet. (2019) 393:169–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32470-X
- Sasagawa T, Takagi H, Makinoda S. Immune responses against human papillomavirus (HPV) infection and evasion of host defense in cervical cancer. J Infect Chemother. (2012) 18:807–15. doi: 10.1007/s10156-012-0485-5
- Steinbach A, Riemer AB. Immune evasion mechanisms of human papillomavirus: an update. Int J Cancer. (2018) 142:224–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31027
- Graham SV. The human papillomavirus replication cycle, and its links to cancer progression: a comprehensive review. *Clin Sci.* (2017) 131:2201–21. doi: 10.1042/CS20160786
- Kuss-Duerkop SK, Westrich JA, Pyeon D. DNA Tumor virus regulation of host DNA methylation and its implications for immune evasion and oncogenesis. *Viruses*. (2018) 10: E82. doi: 10.3390/v10020082
- 7. Litwin TR, Clarke MA, Dean M, Wentzensen N. Somatic host cell alterations in HPV carcinogenesis. *Viruses*. (2017) 9: E206. doi: 10.3390/v9080206
- Paaso A, Jaakola A, Syrjänen S, Louvanto K. From HPV infection to lesion progression: the role of HLA alleles and host immunity. *Acta Cytol.* (2019) 63:148–58. doi: 10.1159/000494985
- Garrido F, Aptsiauri N. Cancer immune escape: MHC expression in primary tumours versus metastases. *Immunology*. (2019) 158:255–66. doi: 10.1111/imm.13114
- Lin A, Yan WH. HLA-G as an inhibitor of immune responses. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2016) 1371:3–9. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3139-2_1
- Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Tronik-Le Roux D, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G: an immune checkpoint molecule. *Adv Immunol.* (2015) 127:33–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001
- Lin A, Yan WH. Intercellular transfer of HLA-G: its potential in cancer immunology. *Clin Transl Immunology*. (2019) 8:e1077. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1077
- Własiuk P, Putowski M, Giannopoulos K. PD1/PD1L pathway, HLA-G and T regulatory cells as new markers of immunosuppression in cancers. *Postepy Hig Med Dosw.* (2016) 70:1044–58. doi: 10.5604/17322693.1220994
- Amiot L, Vu N, Samson M. Immunomodulatory properties of HLA-G in infectious diseases. J Immunol Res. (2014) 2014:298569. doi: 10.1155/2014/298569
- Catamo E, Zupin L, Crovella S, Celsi F, Segat L. Non-classical MHC-I human leukocyte antigen (HLA-G) in hepatotropic viral infections and in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hum Immunol.* (2014) 75:1225–31. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2014.09.019
- Rizzo R, Bortolotti D, Bolzani S, Fainardi E. HLA-G molecules in autoimmune diseases and infections. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:592. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00592
- Geraghty DE, Koller BH, Orr HT. A human major histocompatibility complex class I gene that encodes a protein with a shortened cytoplasmic segment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1987) 84:9145–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.24.9145
- Ishitani A, Geraghty DE. Alternative splicing of HLA-G transcripts yields proteins with primary structures resembling both class I and class II antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1992) 89:3947–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.9.3947
- 19. Paul P, Cabestre FA, Ibrahim EC, Lefebvre S, Khalil-Daher I, Vazeux G, et al. Identification of HLA-G7 as a new splice variant of the

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from National Natural Science Foundation of China (81901625) and by Science and Technology Bureau of Taizhou (1901ky05).

HLA-G mRNA and expression of soluble HLA-G5, -G6, and -G7 transcripts in human transfected cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2000) 61:1138–49. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00197-X

- Clements CS, Kjer-Nielsen L, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J. Structural studies on HLA-G: implications for ligand and receptor binding. *Hum Immunol.* (2007) 68:220–6. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2006.09.003
- Gao GF, Willcox BE, Wyer JR, Boulter JM, O'Callaghan CA, Maenaka K, et al. Classical and nonclassical class I major histocompatibility complex molecules exhibit subtle conformational differences that affect binding to CD8alphaalpha. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:15232–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.20.15232
- Poláková K, Kuba D, Russ G. The 4H84 monoclonal antibody detecting beta2m free nonclassical HLA-G molecules also binds to free heavy chains of classical HLA class I antigens present on activated lymphocytes. *Hum Immunol.* (2004) 65:157–62. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.10.005
- Alegre E, Rizzo R, Bortolotti D, Fernandez-Landázuri S, Fainardi E, González A. Some basic aspects of HLA-G biology. *J Immunol Res.* (2014) 2014:657625. doi: 10.1155/2014/657625
- Shiroishi M, Kuroki K, Ose T, Rasubala L, Shiratori I, Arase H, et al. Efficient leukocyte Ig-like receptor signaling and crystal structure of disulfide-linked HLA-G dimer. J Biol Chem. (2006) 281:10439–47. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512305200
- HoWangYin KY, Loustau M, Wu J, Alegre E, Daouya M, Caumartin J, et al. Multimeric structures of HLA-G isoforms function through differential binding to LILRB receptors. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2012) 69:4041–9. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1069-3
- Morales PJ, Pace JL, Platt JS, Langat DK, Hunt JS. Synthesis of beta(2)microglobulin-free, disulphide-linked HLA-G5 homodimers in human placental villous cytotrophoblast cells. *Immunology*. (2007) 122:179–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02623.x
- Boyson JE, Erskine R, Whitman MC, Chiu M, Lau JM, Koopman LA, et al. Disulfide bond-mediated dimerization of HLA-G on the cell surface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:16180–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212643199
- Kuroki K, Matsubara H, Kanda R, Miyashita N, Shiroishi M, Fukunaga Y, et al. Structural and functional basis for LILRB immune checkpoint receptor recognition of HLA-G isoforms. *J Immunol.* (2019) 203:3386–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900562
- Nardi Fda S, Konig L, Wagner B, Giebel B, Santos Manvailer LF, Rebmann V. Soluble monomers, dimers and HLA-G-expressing extracellular vesicles: the three dimensions of structural complexity to use HLA-G as a clinical biomarker. *HLA*. (2016) 88:77–86. doi: 10.1111/tan.12844
- Tronik-Le Roux D, Renard J, Verine J, Renault V, Tubacher E, LeMaoult J, et al. Novel landscape of HLA-G isoforms expressed in clear cell renal cell carcinoma patients. *Mol Oncol.* (2017) 11:1561–78. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12119
- Lin A, Yan WH. Heterogeneity of HLA-G expression in cancers: facing the challenges. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02164
- 32. Lin A, Zhang X, Zhang RL, Zhang JG, Zhou WJ, Yan WH. Clinical significance of potential unidentified HLA-G isoforms without a1 domain but containing intron 4 in colorectal cancer patients. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:361. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00361
- 33. Swets M, Wouters A, Krijgsman D, van Vlierberghe RLP, Boot A, van Eendenburg JD, et al. HLA-G protein expression in colorectal cancer evaluated by immunohistochemistry and western blot analysis: its expression characteristics remain enigmatic. *Clin Immunol.* (2018) 194:80–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2018.07.005
- Kovats S, Main EK, Librach C, Stubblebine M, Fisher SJ, DeMars R. A class I antigen, HLA-G, expressed in human trophoblasts. *Science*. (1990) 248:220–3. doi: 10.1126/science.2326636

- Carosella ED, Moreau P, Le Maoult J, Le Discorde M, Dausset J, Rouas-Freiss N. HLA-G molecules: from maternal-fetal tolerance to tissue acceptance. Adv Immunol. (2003) 81:199–252. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776(03)81006-4
- Rebmann V, da Silva Nardi F, Wagner B, Horn PA. HLA-G as a tolerogenic molecule in transplantation and pregnancy. J Immunol Res. (2014) 2014:297073. doi: 10.1155/2014/297073
- Ferreira LMR, Meissner TB, Tilburgs T, Strominger JL. HLA-G: at the interface of maternal-fetal tolerance. *Trends Immunol.* (2017) 38:272–86. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.01.009
- Le Discorde M, Moreau P, Sabatier P, Legeais JM, Carosella ED. Expression of HLA-G in human cornea, an immune-privileged tissue. *Hum Immunol*. (2003) 64:1039–44. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.346
- Mallet V, Blaschitz A, Crisa L, Schmitt C, Fournel S, King A, et al. HLA-G in the human thymus: a subpopulation of medullary epithelial but not CD83(+) dendritic cells expresses HLA-G as a membrane-bound and soluble protein. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:889–98. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.6.889
- Ito T, Ito N, Saathoff M, Stampachiacchiere B, Bettermann A, Bulfone-Paus S, et al. Immunology of the human nail apparatus: the nail matrix is a site of relative immune privilege. J Invest Dermatol. (2005) 125:1139–48. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202X.2005.23927.x
- Cirulli V, Zalatan J, McMaster M, Prinsen R, Salomon DR, Ricordi C, et al. The class I HLA repertoire of pancreatic islets comprises the nonclassical class Ib antigen HLA-G. *Diabetes*. (2006) 55:1214–22. doi: 10.2337/db05-0731
- Menier C, Rabreau M, Challier JC, Le Discorde M, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Erythroblasts secrete the nonclassical HLA-G molecule from primitive to definitive hematopoiesis. *Blood.* (2004) 104:3153–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-0809
- Paul P, Rouas-Freiss N, Khalil-Daher I, Moreau P, Riteau B, Le Gal FA, et al. HLA-G expression in melanoma: a way for tumor cells to escape from immunosurveillance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:4510–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.8.4510
- 44. Lin A, Yan WH. HLA-G expression in cancers: roles in immune evasion, metastasis and target for therapy. *Mol Med.* (2015) 21:782–91. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2015.00083
- 45. Li XJ, Zhang X, Lin A, Ruan YY, Yan WH. Human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) expression in cervical cancer lesions is associated with disease progression. *Hum Immunol.* (2012) 73:946–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.07.041
- 46. Souto FJ, Crispim JC, Ferreira SC, da Silva AS, Bassi CL, Soares CP, et al. Liver HLA-G expression is associated with multiple clinical and histopathological forms of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Viral Hepat.* (2011) 18:102–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2893.2010.01286.x
- 47. Amiot L, Vu N, Rauch M, L'Helgoualc'h A, Chalmel F, Gascan H, et al. Expression of HLA-G by mast cells is associated with hepatitis C virus-induced liver fibrosis. *J Hepatol.* (2014) 60:245–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.09.006
- Rizzo R, Bortolotti D, Baricordi OR, Fainardi E. New insights into HLA-G and inflammatory diseases. *Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets*. (2012) 11:448–63. doi: 10.2174/187152812803590037
- Carosella ED, Moreau P, Aractingi S, Rouas-Freiss N. HLA-G: a shield against inflammatory aggression. *Trends Immunol.* (2001) 22:553–5. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02007-5
- Lazarte J, Adamson MB, Tumiati LC, Delgado DH. 10-year experience with HLA-G in heart transplantation. *Hum Immunol.* (2018) 79:587–93. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2018.05.003
- Deschaseaux F, Delgado D, Pistoia V, Giuliani M, Morandi F, Durrbach A. HLA-G in organ transplantation: towards clinical applications. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2011) 68:397–404. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0581-6
- Rizzo R, Hviid TV, Govoni M, Padovan M, Rubini M, Melchiorri L, et al. HLA-G genotype and HLA-G expression in systemic lupus erythematosus: HLA-G as a putative susceptibility gene in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Tissue Antigens*. (2008) 71:520–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2008.01037.x
- Beneventi F, Badulli C, Locatelli E, Caporali R, Ramoni V, Cavagnoli C, et al. Soluble HLA-G in pregnancies complicated by autoimmune rheumatic diseases. J Reprod Immunol. (2015) 110:67–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2015.04.005
- 54. Brenol CV, Veit TD, Chies JA, Xavier RM. The role of the HLA-G gene and molecule on the clinical expression of rheumatologic diseases.

Rev Bras Reumatol. (2012) 52:82-91. doi: 10.1590/S0482-500420120001 00009

- Zhang F, Zheng J, Kang X, Deng M, Lu Z, Kim J, et al. Inhibitory leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptors in cancer development. *Sci China Life Sci.* (2015) 58:1216–25. doi: 10.1007/s11427-015-4925-1
- Rouas-Freiss N, LeMaoult J, Verine J, Tronik-Le Roux D, Culine S, Hennequin C, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity of immune checkpoints in primary renal cell cancer: focus on HLA-G/ILT2/ILT4. Oncoimmunology. (2017) 6:e1342023. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1342023
- Yan WH, Fan LA. Residues Met76 and Gln79 in HLA-G alpha1 domain involve in KIR2DL4 recognition. *Cell Res.* (2005) 15:176–82. doi: 10.1038/sj.cr.7290283
- Fons P, Chabot S, Cartwright JE, Lenfant F, L'Faqihi F, Giustiniani J, et al. Soluble HLA-G1 inhibits angiogenesis through an apoptotic pathway and by direct binding to CD160 receptor expressed by endothelial cells. *Blood*. (2006) 108:2608–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-12-019919
- Hofmeister V, Weiss EH. HLA-G modulates immune responses by diverse receptor interactions. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2003) 13:317–23. doi: 10.1016/S1044-579X(03)00022-1
- Rouas-Freiss N, Goncalves RM, Menier C, Dausset J, Carosella ED. Direct evidence to support the role of HLA-G in protecting the fetus from maternal uterine natural killer cytolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:11520–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.21.11520
- Lin A, Xu HH, Xu DP, Zhang X, Wang Q, Yan WH. Multiple steps of HLA-G in ovarian carcinoma metastasis: alter NK cytotoxicity and induce matrix metalloproteinase-15 (MMP-15) expression. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:439–46. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.11.021
- Le Gal FA, Riteau B, Sedlik C, Khalil-Daher I, Menier C, Dausset J, et al. HLA-G-mediated inhibition of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:1351–6. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.8.1351
- Esquivel EL, Maeda A, Eguchi H, Asada M, Sugiyama M, Manabe C, et al. Suppression of human macrophage-mediated cytotoxicity by transgenic swine endothelial cell expression of HLA-G. *Transpl Immunol.* (2015) 32:109–15. doi: 10.1016/j.trim.2014.12.004
- Naji A, Durrbach A, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Soluble HLA-G and HLA-G1 expressing antigen-presenting cells inhibit T-cell alloproliferation through ILT-2/ILT-4/FasL-mediated pathways. *Hum Immunol.* (2007) 68:233–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2006.10.017
- Lila N, Rouas-Freiss N, Dausset J, Carpentier A, Carosella ED. Soluble HLA-G protein secreted by allo-specific CD4+ T cells suppresses the alloproliferative response, a CD4+ T cell regulatory mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:12150–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.201407398
- Ristich V, Liang S, Zhang W, Wu J, Horuzsko A. Tolerization of dendritic cells by HLA-G. *Eur J Immunol.* (2005) 35:1133–42. doi: 10.1002/eji.200425741
- Gros F, Cabillic F, Toutirais O, Maux AL, Sebti Y, Amiot L. Soluble HLA-G molecules impair natural killer/dendritic cell crosstalk via inhibition of dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2008) 38:742–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.200736918
- Naji A, Menier C, Morandi F, Agaugué S, Maki G, Ferretti E, et al. Binding of HLA-G to ITIM-bearing Ig-like transcript 2 receptor suppresses B cell responses. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:1536–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300438
- Naji A, Menier C, Maki G, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Neoplastic B-cell growth is impaired by HLA-G/ILT2 interaction. *Leukemia*. (2012) 26:1889– 92. doi: 10.1038/leu.2012.62
- Contini P, Ghio M, Poggi A, Filaci G, Indiveri F, Ferrone S, et al. Soluble HLA-A,-B,-C and -G molecules induce apoptosis in T and NK CD8+ cells and inhibit cytotoxic T cell activity through CD8 ligation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:125–34. doi: 10.1002/immu.2003 90015
- Fournel S, Aguerre-Girr M, Huc X, Lenfant F, Alam A, Toubert A, et al. Cutting edge, soluble HLA-G1 triggers CD95/CD95 ligand-mediated apoptosis in activated CD8+ cells by interacting with CD8. *J Immunol.* (2000) 164:6100–4. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.12.6100
- 72. Selmani Z, Naji A, Zidi I, Favier B, Gaiffe E, Obert L, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G5 secretion by human mesenchymal stem cells is required to suppress T lymphocyte and natural killer function and to induce CD4+CD25highFOXP3+ regulatory T cells. *Stem Cells*. (2008) 26:212–22. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0554

- Naji A, Le Rond S, Durrbach A, Krawice-Radanne I, Creput C, Daouya M, et al. CD3+CD4low and CD3+CD8low are induced by HLA-G: novel human peripheral blood suppressor T-cell subsets involved in transplant acceptance. *Blood.* (2007) 110:3936–48. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-04-083139
- Liang S, Horuzsko A. Mobilizing dendritic cells for tolerance by engagement of immune inhibitory receptors for HLA-G. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1025– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.348
- Liang S, Ristich V, Arase H, Dausset J, Carosella ED, Horuzsko A. Modulation of dendritic cell differentiation by HLA-G and ILT4 requires the IL-6– STAT3 signaling pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:8357–62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803341105
- Nasef A, Mathieu N, Chapel A, Frick J, François S, Mazurier C, et al. Immunosuppressive effects of mesenchymal stem cells: involvement of HLA-G. *Transplantation*. (2007) 84:231–7. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000267918.07906.08
- Agaugue S, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Role of HLA-G in tumor escape through expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and cytokinic balance in favor of Th2 versus Th1/Th17. *Blood*. (2011) 117:7021–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-294389
- Carosella ED, HoWangYin KY, Favier B, LeMaoult J. HLA-G-dependent suppressor cells, diverse by nature, function, and significance. *Hum Immunol.* (2008) 69:700–7. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2008.08.280
- 79. Brown R, Kabani K, Favaloro J, Yang S, Ho PJ, Gibson J, et al. CD86+ or HLA-G+ can be transferred via trogocytosis from myeloma cells to T cells and are associated with poor prognosis. *Blood.* (2012) 120:2055–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-416792
- Alegre E, Rebmann V, Lemaoult J, Rodriguez C, Horn PA, Diaz-Lagares A, et al. *In vivo* identification of an HLA-G complex as ubiquitinated protein circulating in exosomes. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:1933–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343318
- Rebmann V, Konig L, Nardi Fda S, Wagner B, Manvailer LF, Horn PA. The potential of HLA-G-bearing extracellular vesicles as a future element in HLA-G immune biology. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00173
- Dias FC, Castelli EC, Collares CV, Moreau P, Donadi EA. The role of HLA-G molecule and HLA-G gene polymorphisms in tumors, viral hepatitis, and parasitic diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00009
- Donadi EA, Castelli EC, Arnaiz-Villena A, Roger M, Rey D, Moreau P. Implications of the polymorphism of HLA-G on its function, regulation, evolution and disease association. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2011) 68:369–95. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0580-7
- Rousseau P, Le Discorde M, Mouillot G, Marcou C, Carosella ED, Moreau P. The 14 bp deletion-insertion polymorphism in the 3' UT region of the HLA-G gene influences HLA-G mRNA stability. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1005–10. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.347
- Hviid TV, Hylenius S, Rorbye C, Nielsen LG. HLA-G allelic variants are associated with differences in the HLA-G mRNA isoform profile and HLA-G mRNA levels. *Immunogenetics*. (2003) 55:63–79. doi: 10.1007/s00251-003-0547-z
- Porto IO, Mendes-Junior CT, Felício LP, Georg RC, Moreau P, Donadi EA, et al. MicroRNAs targeting the immunomodulatory HLA-G gene: a new survey searching for microRNAs with potential to regulate HLA-G. *Mol Immunol.* (2015) 65:230–41. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2015.01.030
- Veit TD, Chies JA. Tolerance versus immune response-microRNAs as important elements in the regulation of the HLA-G gene expression. *Transpl Immunol.* (2009) 20:229–31. doi: 10.1016/j.trim.2008.11.001
- Seliger B. Role of microRNAs on HLA-G expression in human tumors. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:760–3. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.04.006
- Xu HH, Shi WW, Lin A, Yan WH. HLA-G 3' untranslated region polymorphisms influence the susceptibility for human papillomavirus infection. *Tissue Antigens*. (2014) 84:216–22. doi: 10.1111/tan.12359
- Xu HH, Zhang X, Zheng HH, Han QY, Lin AF, Yan WH. Association of HLA-G 3' UTR polymorphism and expression with the progression of cervical lesions in human papillomavirus 18 infections. *Infect Agent Cancer*. (2018) 13:42. doi: 10.1186/s13027-018-0217-2

- Silva ID, Muniz YC, Sousa MC, Silva KR, Castelli EC, Filho JC, et al. HLA-G 3'UTR polymorphisms in high grade and invasive cervico-vaginal cancer. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:452–8. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.11.025
- Bortolotti D, Gentili V, Rotola A, Di Luca D, Rizzo R. Implication of HLA-G 3' untranslated region polymorphisms in human papillomavirus infection. *Tissue Antigens*. (2014) 83:113–8. doi: 10.1111/tan.12281
- Yang YC, Chang TY, Chen TC, Lin WS, Chang SC, Lee YJ. Human leucocyte antigen-G polymorphisms are associated with cervical squamous cell carcinoma risk in Taiwanese women. *Eur J Cancer*. (2014) 50:469–74. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2013.10.018
- 94. Medeiros FS, Martins AES, Gomes RG, de Oliveira SAV, Welkovic S, Maruza M, et al. Variation sites at the HLA-G 3' untranslated region confer differential susceptibility to HIV/HPV co-infection and aneuploidy in cervical cell. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0204679. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204679
- 95. Sudenga SL, Wiener HW, King CC, Rompalo AM, Cu-Uvin S, Klein RS, et al. Dense genotyping of immune related loci identifies variants associated with clearance of HPV among HIV positive women in the HIV epidemiology research study (HERS). *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e99109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099109
- 96. Ferguson R, Ramanakumar AV, Richardson H, Tellier PP, Coutlée F, Franco EL, et al. Human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-E and HLA-G polymorphisms in human papillomavirus infection susceptibility and persistence. *Hum Immunol.* (2011) 72:337–41. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2011.01.010
- 97. Smith MA, Tellier PP, Roger M, Coutlée F, Franco EL, Richardson H. Determinants of human papillomavirus coinfections among Montreal university students: the influence of behavioral and biologic factors. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2014) 23:812–22. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-1255
- Metcalfe S, Roger M, Faucher MC, Coutlée F, Franco EL, Brassard P. The association between human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G polymorphisms and human papillomavirus (HPV) infection in Inuit women of northern Quebec. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:1610–5. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2013.08.279
- Ferguson R, Ramanakumar AV, Koushik A, Coutlée F, Franco E, Roger M, et al. Human leukocyte antigen G polymorphism is associated with an increased risk of invasive cancer of the uterine cervix. *Int J Cancer.* (2012) 131:E312–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27356
- 100. Simões RT, Gonçalves MA, Castelli EC, Júnior CM, Bettini JS, Discorde ML, et al. HLA-G polymorphisms in women with squamous intraepithelial lesions harboring human papillomavirus. *Mod Pathol.* (2009) 22:1075–82. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2009.67
- 101. Alves BM, Prellwitz IM, Siqueira JD, Meyrelles ÂR, Bergmann A, Seuánez HN, et al. The effect of human leukocyte antigen G alleles on human papillomavirus infection and persistence in a cohort of HIVpositive pregnant women from Brazil. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2015) 34:339–43. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2015.06.027
- 102. Louvanto K, Roger M, Faucher MC, Syrjänen K, Grenman S, Syrjänen S. HLA-G and vertical mother-to-child transmission of human papillomavirus infection. *Hum Immunol.* (2018) 79:471–6. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2018.03.002
- 103. Gillio-Tos A, Bicalho Mda G, Fiano V, Grasso C, Tarallo V, De Marco L, et al. Case-control study of HLA-G promoter methylation status, HPV infection and cervical neoplasia in Curitiba, Brazil: a pilot analysis. *BMC Cancer*. (2012) 12:618. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-618
- 104. Cordeiro JC, da Silva JS, Roxo VS, da Graça Bicalho M. A pilot study on Hla-G locus control region haplotypes and cervical intraepithelial neoplasias. *Hum Immunol.* (2017) 78:281–6. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.12.004
- 105. Gimenes F, Teixeira JJ, de Abreu AL, Souza RP, Pereira MW, da Silva VR, et al. Human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G and cervical cancer immunoediting: a candidate molecule for therapeutic intervention and prognostic biomarker? *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2014) 1846:576–89. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2014.10.004
- 106. Dong DD, Yang H, Li K, Xu G, Song LH, Fan XL, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) expression in cervical lesions: association with cancer progression, HPV 16/18 infection, and host immune response. *Reprod Sci.* (2010) 17:718–23. doi: 10.1177/1933719110369183

- 107. Zheng N, Wang CX, Zhang X, Du LT, Zhang J, Kan SF, et al. Up-regulation of HLA-G expression in cervical premalignant and malignant lesions. *Tissue Antigens*. (2011) 77:218–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2010.01607.x
- Yoon BS, Kim YT, Kim JW, Kim SH, Kim JH, Kim SW. Expression of human leukocyte antigen-G and its correlation with interleukin-10 expression in cervical carcinoma. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2007) 98:48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2007.03.041
- 109. Rodriguez JA, Galeano L, Palacios DM, Gómez C, Serrano ML, Bravo MM, et al. Altered HLA class I and HLA-G expression is associated with IL-10 expression in patients with cervical cancer. *Pathobiology*. (2012) 79:72–83. doi: 10.1159/000334089
- 110. Guimarães MC, Soares CP, Donadi EA, Derchain SF, Andrade LA, Silva TG, et al. Low expression of human histocompatibility soluble leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G5) in invasive cervical cancer with and without metastasis, associated with papilloma virus (HPV). J Histochem Cytochem. (2010) 58:405–11. doi: 10.1369/jhc.2009.954131
- 111. Ferns DM, Heeren AM, Samuels S, Bleeker MCG, de Gruijl TD, Kenter GG, et al. Classical and non-classical HLA class I aberrations in primary cervical squamous and adenocarcinomas and paired lymph node metastases. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2016) 4:78. doi: 10.1186/s40425-016-0184-3
- 112. Zhou JH, Ye F, Chen HZ, Zhou CY, Lu WG, Xie X. Altered expression of cellular membrane molecules of HLA-DR, HLA-G and CD99 in cervical intraepithelial neoplasias and invasive squamous cell carcinoma. *Life Sci.* (2006) 78:2643–9. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2005.10.039
- 113. Gonçalves MA, Le Discorde M, Simões RT, Rabreau M, Soares EG, Donadi EA, et al. Classical and non-classical HLA molecules and p16(INK4a) expression in precursors lesions and invasive cervical cancer. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. (2008) 141:70–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2008.06.010
- 114. Samuels S, Ferns DM, Meijer D, van Straalen JP, Buist MR, Zijlmans HJ, et al. High levels of soluble MICA are significantly related to increased diseasefree and disease-specific survival in patients with cervical adenocarcinoma. *Tissue Antigens*. (2015) 85:476–83. doi: 10.1111/tan.12562
- 115. Fahim NM, Shehata IH, Taha SE, Fahmy RA, Elsayed MS. Human Leukocyte Antigen-G (HLA-G) expression in precancerous and cancerous cervical lesions: association with human papilloma virus infection and host immune response. *Egypt J Immunol.* (2018) 25:125–34.
- 116. Sun J, Chu H, Ji J, Huo G, Song Q, Zhang X. Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR modulates HLA-G expression by absorbing miR-148a in human cervical cancer. Int J Oncol. (2016) 49:943–52. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2016.3589
- 117. Miranda LN, Reginaldo FP, Souza DM, Soares CP, Silva TG, Rocha KB, et al. Greater expression of the human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) and interleukin-17 (IL-17) in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: analytical cross-sectional study. São Paulo Med J. (2015) 133:336–42. doi: 10.1590/1516-3180.2013.7170009
- 118. Wang Y, Liu XH, Li YH, Li O. The paradox of IL-10-mediated modulation in cervical cancer. *Biomed Rep.* (2013) 1:347–51. doi: 10.3892/br.2013.69

- Real LM, Cabrera T, Collado A, Jimenez P, Garcia A, Ruiz-Cabello F, et al. Expression of HLA G in human tumors is not a frequent event. *Int J Cancer.* (1999) 81:512–8. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19990517)81:4<512::AID-IJC2>3.0.CO;2-O
- 120. Cibula D, Pötter R, Planchamp F, Avall-Lundqvist E, Fischerova D, Haie-Meder C, et al. The European Society of Gynaecological Oncology/European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology/European Society of Pathology Guidelines for the management of patients with cervical Cancer. *Virchows Arch.* (2018) 472:919–36. doi: 10.1007/s00428-01 8-2362-9
- Zagouri F, Sergentanis TN, Chrysikos D, Filipits M, Bartsch R. Molecularly targeted therapies in cervical cancer. A systematic review. Gynecol Oncol. (2012) 126:291–303. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.04.007
- 122. Menderes G, Black J, Schwab CL, Santin AD. Immunotherapy and targeted therapy for cervical cancer: an update. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther.* (2016) 16:83–98. doi: 10.1586/14737140.2016.1121108
- Eskander RN, Tewari KS. Beyond angiogenesis blockade: targeted therapy for advanced cervical cancer. J Gynecol Oncol. (2014) 25:249–59. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2014.25.3.249
- 124. Sato M, Kawana K, Adachi K, Fujimoto A, Yoshida M, Nakamura H, et al. Regeneration of cervical reserve cell-like cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs): a new approach to finding targets for cervical cancer stem cell treatment. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:40935–45. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16783
- 125. Carosella ED, Ploussard G, LeMaoult J, Desgrandchamps F. A systematic review of immunotherapy in urologic cancer: evolving roles for targeting of CTLA-4, PD-1/PD-L1, and HLA-G. *Eur Urol.* (2015) 68:267–79. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2015.02.032
- Saglam O, Conejo-Garcia J. PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors in advanced cervical cancer. *Integr Cancer Sci Ther.* (2018) 5. doi: 10.15761/ICST.1000272
- 127. Dumont C, Jacquier A, Verine J, Noel F, Goujon A, Wu CL, et al. CD8+PD-1-ILT2+ T cells are an intratumoral cytotoxic population selectively inhibited by the immune-checkpoint HLA-G. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1619–32. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0764

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Xu, Yan and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





HLA-G Genotype/Expression/ Disease Association Studies: Success, Hurdles, and Perspectives

Giada Amodio and Silvia Gregori*

Mechanisms of Peripheral Tolerance Unit, San Raffaele Telethon Institute for Gene Therapy (SR-Tiget), IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy

The non-classical HLA-G is a well-known immune-modulatory molecule. In physiological condition, HLA-G surface expression is restricted to the maternal-fetal interface and to immune-privileged adult tissues, whereas soluble forms of HLA-G are detectable in various body fluids. HLA-G can be de novo expressed in pathological conditions including tumors, chronic infections, or after allogeneic transplantation. HLA-G exerts positive effects modulating innate and adaptive immune responses and promoting tolerance, or detrimental effects inducing immune escape mechanisms. HLA-G locus, in contrast to classical HLA class I gene, is highly polymorphic in the non-coding 3' untranslated region (UTR) and in the 5' upstream regulatory region (5' URR). Variability in these regions influences HLA-G expression by modifying mRNA stability or allowing posttranscriptional regulation in the case of 3' UTR or by sensing the microenvironment and responding to specific stimuli in the case of HLA-G promoter regions (5' URR). The influence of genetic variations on the expression of HLA-G makes it an attractive biomarker to monitor disease predisposition and progression, or response to therapy. Here, we summarize the current knowledge, efforts, and obstacles to generate a general consensus on the correlation between HLA-G genetic variability, protein expression, and disease predisposition. Moreover, we discuss perspectives for future investigation on HLA-G genotype/expression in association with disease predisposition and progression.

Keywords: HLA-G, immune regulation, autoimmune diseases, pregnancy, cancer, HLA-G polymorphisms

INTRODUCTION

HLA-G, a non-classical HLA class I molecule, was first described to play a critical role in maintaining fetal-maternal tolerance (1). Later, it has been shown that HLA-G modulates innate and adaptive immune responses and promotes tolerance in different clinical settings. HLA-G function is favorable during pregnancy or after transplantation since it protects from rejection, and in autoimmune disease as it prevents autoreactive responses, or it is detrimental when expressed by tumors or during chronic infections, inducing immune escape mechanisms (2).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wei-Hua Yan, Wenzhou Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Tomomi Toubai, Yamagata University, Japan Sandeep Kumar Dhanda, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, United States

> *Correspondence: Silvia Gregori gregori.silvia@hsr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alloimmunity and Transplantation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 07 April 2020 **Accepted:** 13 May 2020 **Published:** 08 July 2020

Citation:

Amodio G and Gregori S (2020) HLA-G Genotype/Expression/Disease Association Studies: Success, Hurdles, and Perspectives. Front. Immunol. 11:1178. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01178 Because the HLA-G gene has a limited number of polymorphisms within the coding region, relatively few distinct molecules are coded. Nevertheless, seven different HLA-G isoforms have been described: four membrane-bound (HLA-G1 to -G4), and three soluble (HLA-G5 to -G7) (3–5).

The magnitude of HLA-G gene and protein expression is controlled by polymorphisms in the promoter [5'-upstream regulatory region (5' URR)] and in the 3' untranslated region (3' UTR), and several association studies between these polymorphic sites and disease predisposition, response to therapy, and/or HLA-G protein expression have been reported. However, results from these studies often have been weak and inconclusive (6– 10). Here, we summarize efforts to generate a general consensus on the correlation between HLA-G genetic variability, protein expression, and disease predisposition. Moreover, we highlight and discuss limits hampering the possibility to define a unique framework in the correlation between HLA-G genetic and disease predisposition or HLA-G genetic and protein expression, or HLA-G genetic/protein expression and disease predisposition.

HLA-G HAPLOTYPES

The HLA-G gene has 74 alleles encoding for 24 different fulllength proteins, and four null alleles encoding for truncated form of the protein (IPD78/IMGT/HLA; March 2020). HLA-G locus, similar to other classical HLA class I locus, is composed of eight exons and seven introns, but it presents a stop codon in exon 6, resulting in a short cytoplasmic tail (4) and in an extended 3' UTR, mainly composed by the exon 8 (11). Since HLA-G discovery in 1987 (12), HLA-G locus has been accurately analyzed, and the variability detected at the HLA-G regulatory regions (e.g., 3' UTR and 5' URR) is relatively higher than that observed in the coding region (13, 14).

The first identified and most studied polymorphism of the HLA-G locus is a 14-base-pair insertion/deletion (14-bp INS/DEL) landing in the 3' UTR (15). More detailed and large genetic studies identified 16 additional single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the HLA-G 3' UTR, of which only nine—the 14-bp INS/DEL polymorphism, +3003 C/G, +3010 G/C, +3027 C/A, +3035 C/T, +3142 C/G, +3187 A/G, +3196 C/G, and +3227 G/A—were recognized as true polymorphisms (13). The discovery that some of these polymorphisms are in strong linkage disequilibrium allowed the identification of 41 3' UTR haplotypes, designated from UTR-1 to UTR-41, with only nine UTRs accounting for more than 95% of all haplotypes worldwide (13, 14, 16, 17).

The HLA-G locus presents also several variations in the 5' URR and in the coding region. SNPs in these regions are in linkage disequilibrium, and a limited number of haplotypes, clustering in few families, have been identified and studied, alone or in combination with 3' UTR alleles (18–20). In detail, the analysis of 35 SNPs within the 5' URR revealed 64 different haplotypes (named PROMO), of which only nine representing the 95% of alleles worldwide, clustering in four major groups (PROMO 010101, 010102, 0103, and 010104) (13, 20, 21). Similarly, 81 variations were identified in the coding region, the majority landing in introns, arranging in 93 different haplotypes, of which only 11 having a frequency higher than 1% (13), including a null allele G*0105N encoding for a non-functional protein (22, 23). Interestingly, when the 5' URR, the coding region, and the 3' UTR haplotypes have been combined in the "extended haplotypes," it was clear that, also in this case, among the 200 haplotypes identified, the majority of them was scarcely represented (13). Moreover, 5' URR, coding region, and 3' UTR haplotypes are in linkage disequilibrium; thus, a given PROMO haplotype is preferentially associated with one specific 3' UTR and coding region haplotype (11, 20, 21).

HLA-G GENETIC FOOTPRINT AND CORRELATION WITH DISEASE COURSE

HLA-G protein levels can be associated with specific genotypes; thus, a number of studies have been performed trying to correlate HLA-G haplotypes with disease susceptibility and morbidity or to use them as a predictive factor for response to therapy or in transplantation outcome (24).

The most studied HLA-G variation is the 14-bp INS/DEL polymorphism. In the field of pregnancy, there is a quite good consensus on the association of the 14-bp INS/INS genotype with recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL); however, a number of caveats have been identified in these correlations, including the heterogeneity of the studies, the sample characteristics, and non-comparable measure of the genotypes (23–25). A recent meta-analysis considering only women of European countries not only corroborated the association of 14-bp INS/INS genotype and RPL, but also highlighted and confirmed that the discrepancies observed in previous studies could be due to ethnic diversity of the cohort analyzed (26).

In autoimmunity and cancer, results on the association of 14-bp INS/DEL genotypes with disease development or with response to therapy reported contradictory and/or inconclusive results. In the context of type 1 diabetes (T1D), the analysis revealed the association of the 14-bp DEL/DEL genotype with the development and the early onset of the disease (27, 28). Conversely, in Crohn's disease, a high frequency of the 14-bp INS allele has been associated with an increased risk of early disease onset (29). A meta-analysis performed considering 11 case-control studies from different autoimmune diseases showed the absence of a direct correlation between 14-bp INS/DEL genotypes and susceptibility to autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis multiple sclerosis, ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy, pemphigus vulgaris, and non-segmental vitiligo (7). The discrepancies observed might be attributed to the etiological mechanisms of the autoimmune disease in which gene-to-gene and gene-to-environment interactions are involved (see below), to the age of disease onset, and to the sample sizes.

A meta-analysis carried out to solve the 14-bp INS/DEL genotype association with cancer, including a large sample size, a wide variety of cancer types, and a more diverse sample population, overall revealed that HLA-G 14-bp INS/DEL polymorphism is significantly associated with the cancer

susceptibility (30). However, these results are inconsistent with previous meta-analysis (8, 9, 24, 31), which concluded the absence of relationship between the HLA-G 14-bp INS/DEL polymorphism and the risk of cancer. Despite the positive correlation between 14-bp INS/DEL genotype and cancer susceptibility, some weaknesses of the latter study, linked to sample size, ethnicity, types of cancer, and sources of controls, have been reported. Indeed, stratified analysis accounting for the abovementioned variables failed to find a significant risk association (30).

In the context of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), it has been shown that patients with better outcome carried 14-bp DEL/DEL and 14-bp INS/DEL genotypes, suggesting 14-bp INS/DEL genotype as potential biomarker of transplantation outcome (32, 33). Overall, the association between 14-bp INS/DEL genotypes and disease susceptibility provided some positive, but not conclusive, association. This might be attributed to a number of reasons, including high variability in the etiology of the diseases analyzed and to the relative limited number of patients enrolled in single correlation studies.

The discovery of 3' UTR haplotypes and genotypes prompted investigators to reconcile the heterogeneity of the results obtained in studies on the association between 14-bp INS/DEL and diseases. We and other groups reported the protective role of specific UTRs in preventing RPL, with UTR-1, UTR-3, and UTR-4 present at low frequency in women with RPL (34-36). These studies indicate that analysis of 3' UTR provided an improvement beyond the use of 14-bp INS/DEL genotypes in the association with pregnancy. UTR-1, UTR-3, and UTR-4 indeed contain 14bp DEL, but they differ from other UTRs for additional specific SNPs (13, 14, 16, 17). Similar results were reported in T1D, showing that UTR-3 is present at low frequency in patients (37). In the context of allogeneic HSCT, only a weak association of the UTR-2, containing the 14-bp INS, with protection from acute graft-versus-host disease was reported, and the authors indicated that the study of the entire 3' UTR, copamred to the sole analysis of the 14-bp INS/DEL, did not improve the prediction of transplant outcome (38).

Thus, far, few groups have investigated the impact of polymorphisms landing in the PROMO or the coding region of HLA-G with disease predisposition, and the most significant association has been found with the G*0105N null allele that is present with high frequency in RPL (19, 39, 40) and preeclampsia (41, 42). In celiac disease (CD), starting from the demonstration that 14-bp INS confers an increased risk factor for the disease in conjunction with the HLA-DQ2.5 (43), an extended analysis, including polymorphisms located in the PROMO and 3' UTRs, showed the association of the haplotype containing PROMO 010102a and UTR-2 with CD susceptibility (44).

In conclusion, these results indicate that the correlation between HLA-G genotypes, and specifically those containing the 14-bp INS allele, and pregnancy loss or susceptibility to specific types of cancer has been achieved. Drawing conclusion on the association between HLA-G genotypes and susceptibility for other diseases is highly difficult because of the heterogeneity of the pathogenesis of the diseases analyzed, the age of disease onset, the cohorts of patients and controls used, and, in some cases, the limited number of case–control included in the study, disabling the statistical analysis.

ASSOCIATION HLA-G GENOTYPE/PHENOTYPE

Several groups integrated the knowledge on HLA-G genetic with the detection of the HLA-G protein, both as soluble (s) (HLA-G5 and shed-HLA-G1) and as membrane-bound (HLA-G1) form, with the aim to use HLA-G as biomarker of disease predisposition and progression, or response to therapy.

In 2001, Rebmann et al. (45) reported the first evidence that HLA-G genotype influences the amount of sHLA-G in circulation. The study performed in healthy individuals defined some alleles (G*01013 and G*0105N) being associated with low levels, and other (G*01041) with high levels of sHLA-G. Later, the identification of HLA-G 3' UTR polymorphic sites prompted investigators to correlate HLA-G genetic variation at 3' UTR and protein expression. The presence of the 14-bp INS allele has been associated with lower HLA-G production for most HLA-G5 and shed-HLA-G1 in plasma or serum, and HLA-G1 in trophoblast samples [reviewed in Carosella et al. (2)]. However, the presence of the 14-bp sequence leads to alternative splicing and the generation of a more stable mRNA associated with high HLA-G1 expression in trophoblast cell lines (46).

Correlation studies performed in autoinflammatory and autoimmune diseases revealed that the 14-bp INS allele was associated with low plasma levels of sHLA-G in Crohn's disease patients (29). In relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, the 14bp DEL/DEL genotype correlated to high levels of HLA-G in cerebrospinal fluid; however, it did not associate with disease duration and clinical symptoms (47). On the same line, in chronic lymphocytic leukemia, the 14-bp DEL allele has been associated with high levels of sHLA-G and HLA-G1, but only sHLA-G correlated with patient survival, possibly as a consequence of the high metalloproteinase activity involved in shedding HLA-G1 (48). A comprehensive analysis, performed to correlate HLA-G genotype/phenotype and disease outcome, showed a link between the 14-bp INS/INS genotype with pretransplant low sHLA-G levels and severe adverse events after HSCT (49). Similarly, the 14-bp DEL haplotype correlated with high sHLA-G serum levels and reduced episodes of heart transplant rejection (50). Despite the variety of the disease investigated, 14-bp INS and DEL alleles have been confirmed to be associated with low and high HLA-G, respectively, and in most cases high HLA-G with positive outcome of the disease.

More recently, investigators have studied the correlation of HLA-G 3' UTR and protein expression. Haplotypes and diplotypes containing UTR-1 have been associated with high levels of plasma sHLA-G, those containing UTR-5 and UTR-7 with low levels of sHLA-G, and finally, alleles containing UTR-2, UTR-3, UTR-4, and UTR-6 with medium levels of sHLA-G (51). These results were confirmed in other biological fluids as the highest levels of HLA-G in seminal plasma have been detected in the presence of homozygosis for UTR-1 and UTR-3 (52). Our group defined the association of specific UTRs with the expression of HLA-G1 in a specific subset of tolerogenic DC, termed DC-10, inducible *in vitro* in the presence of IL-10 (53) and present *in vivo* (54). We showed higher frequency of UTR-2, UTR-5, and UTR-7 haplotypes and diplotypes in donors with DC-10 expressing low HLA-G1 and of UTR-3 in donors expressing high HLA-G1 (55). More recently, we confirmed that the UTR-3 haplotype is associated with high levels of HLA-G1 on circulating DC-10 (Amodio et al., submitted).

In conclusion, these results indicate a general consensus on the association between 14-bp INS and DEL allele and low and high expression of HLA-G, either soluble or membranebound isoforms, respectively. However, the 14-bp INS allele encodes for a transcript with a 92-bp deletion leading to a more stable mRNA fragment than that generated by the 14-bp DEL (56), suggesting that 14-bp INS might be also associated with high levels of HLA-G expression. Correlation studies including additional variations in the 3' UTR improved the correlation between HLA-G genetic and protein expression partially solving the mRNA stability issue. Moreover, HLA-G protein expression is driven by genetic variations in the 3' UTRs, but also by those landing in the promoter region; thus, variability of the microenvironment associated with specific disease could affect the HLA-G protein expression.

INTRACELLULAR AND EXTRACELLULAR MECHANISMS REGULATING HLA-G EXPRESSION

Genetic variations in the 3' UTR, which contain several target sites for microRNAs (miRNAs), regulate at post-transcriptional level the HLA-G expression. Being miRNA cell-specific, this regulation may affect the expression of HLA-G at cell and tissue levels. Six miRNAs have been reported to regulate HLA-G expression: miR-148a, miR-148b, miR-152, miR-133a, miR-628-5p, and miR-548q (57). The direct effect of these miRNAs in HLA-G protein expression has been mainly demonstrated in vitro, using cell lines (Figure 1). However, several indirect evidences prompted investigators to correlate the presence of specific miRNA with HLA-G protein expression in vivo. In placenta, miR-148a and miR-152 are poorly expressed, whereas the HLA-G mRNA levels are high (58). Since miR-148a and miR-152 down-regulate HLA-G1 protein expression in cell lines, a possible inverse relationship between these molecules in placenta has been postulated (58). Similarly, miR-133 reduced HLA-G protein expression in trophoblast cell lines (59), and its low expression in primary colorectal cancer samples, in which the HLA-G levels are high (60), suggested a possible inverse correlation of these molecules. As anticipated avobe, thus far direct evidence of the role of specific miRNA on the expression of HLA-G in vivo is scanty.

An additional layer of posttranscriptional regulation of HLA-G protein expression is mediated by a specific RNAbinding protein (RBP) (**Figure 1**), the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein R (HNRNPR), which binds the 3' UTR of the transcripts, stabilizes them, and allows HLA-G1 expression in transduced cell lines (61). More recently, a distinct and unique region in the 3' UTR of HLA-G has been identified, but neither miRNAs nor RBPs seem to bind to this site and to control HLA-G1 expression in cell lines (62). Thus, additional studies are warranted to define the relevance of this sequence into the regulation of HLA-G protein expression *in vivo*.

The HLA-G protein expression is regulated not only by allelic variability and posttranscriptional regulation, but also by specific regulatory regions present in the HLA-G promoter. Nucleotide variability in the promoter region may indeed influence HLA-G protein levels by modifying transcription factor–binding affinity. In the HLA-G locus, the enhancer A (EnhA) region, which allows the interaction with nuclear factor k-light-chain-ehnancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) family of transcription factors, binds only p50/p50 homodimers (63). Moreover, the binding of interferon regulatory factor 1 and 2 (IRF-1 and IRF-2) to interferon-stimulated response element in the HLA-G promoter is not present in HLA-G (64, 65). The presence of this unique HLA-G promoter region indicates that HLA-G expression is not influenced by NF- κ B or by interferon α (IFN- α), IFN- β , and IFN- γ (Figure 1).

Despite the unresponsiveness to interferons, HLA-G transcriptional rate is increased by a number of antiinflammatory cytokine and mediators, as the HLA-G promoter region presents specific regulatory elements. The presence in the HLA-G promoter of a heat shock element allows response to heat shock proteins (HSP) (**Figure 1**), essential for regulating the state of intracellular folding, assembly, and translocation of proteins, potent modulators of the immune responses, and necessary for placental development. HLA-G transcription is induced upon heat shock in tumor cell lines, *via* the heat shock transcription factor 1; however, the consequent HLA-G protein expression has not been investigated (66).

Glucocorticoids (dexamethasone) and progesterone, a hormone fundamental for endometrium maintenance and embryo implantation, increase the secretion of soluble HLA-G5 and HLA-G6 by trophoblasts (67–69). The molecular mechanism underlying this protein expression was proposed to be induced *via* the interaction of progesterone receptor complex binding to a unique progesterone response element (PRE) sequence present in the HLA-G promoter (13) (**Figure 1**). Classical HLA class I genes have neither a classical PRE nor the unique PRE identified in HLA-G, thus suggesting that progesterone may be involved in cell-specific regulation of the HLA-G protein expression (70, 71).

Hypoxia modulates different processes, and it is associated with induction of HLA-G. Low oxygen increases HLA-G mRNA expression in trophoblasts (72) and in tumor cell lines (73), but its effect on the expression of HLA-G protein is still undefined.

Finally, the HLA-G protein expression can be modulated by granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) in cell lines (74) and by IL-10 in monocytes (75) and DC-10 (53, 55). Although the mechanisms underlying the induction of HLA-G protein expression by the above cytokines have not been completely elucidated (**Figure 1**), these evidences support the role of HLA-G in promoting an anti-inflammatory and in inducting a protolerogenic microenvironment.

Overall, HLA-G protein expression is driven by specific alleles, and it is regulated by intracellular and extracellular signals.



sensing and responding to the extracellular signals. Variations in the 3' UTR region may modify mRNA stability in the HLA-G promoter region is unique among the HLA-G is not responsive to proinflammatory signals acting on the NF- κ B pathway and to IFN-mediated stimulation. The HLA-G promoter region is unique among the HLA class I genes as it interacts with specific transcription factors activated by extracellular stimuli induced by hypoxia and heat shock, hormones such as glucocorticoids and progesterone, and cytokines including IL-10 and GM-CSF. HLA-G expression is posttranscriptionally regulated by genetic variations in the 3' UTR, which contain several target sites for miRNAs and can bind specific RNA-binding proteins. These different regulations concur in the induction or inhibition of the expression of the HLA-G protein, which by alternative splicing of the mRNA can be produced in different isoforms: membrane-bound or soluble. 5' URR, 5' upstream regulatory region; 3' UTR, 3' untranslated region; CSF2RA, colony-stimulating factor 2 receptor subunit alpha; IL-10 R, IL-10 receptor; IFNs, interferons; GR, glucocorticoid receptor; PR, progesterone receptor; HSP, heat shock protein, IRF-1, interferon regulatory factor 1; NF- κ B, nuclear factor κ -light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; RBP, RNA-binding proteins; miRNAs, microRNAs.

Despite results obtained in cell lines, only putative correlations between the presence of specific miRNAs and HLA-G protein levels *in vivo* have been suggested. Moreover, is has to be taken into account that the microenvironment (e.g., the presence of specific molecules, hormones and/or cytokines) might affect HLA-G protein expression. These considerations are particularly important when HLA-G genotype/protein association is studied in specific diseases.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The discovery that HLA-G genetic variants represent target of gene expression regulation led to intensive research for the identification of HLA-G genetic association with disease predisposition or progression and HLA-G protein expression. Despite several good genotype/protein correlations have been reported using *in vitro* model, when these observations have



been translated in disease setting, the diagnostic/prognostic relevance of these findings in some cases appeared weak. A number of issue should be considered: (i) in the majority of the studies, conclusions have been based on results from small patient cohorts and in subjects from different ethnicity; (ii) only few studies performed a complete assessment of HLA-G genotyping, protein expression, and diseases outcome; (iii) the mechanisms regulating HLA-G expression can be distinctly active in different diseases; (iv) excluding the well-studied 14-bp INS/DEL polymorphism, there is a high heterogeneity of the genetic variations investigated, hindering the possibility to claim univocal conclusions.

The specific intracellular signaling and the microenvironment characterizing a given disease have to be considered for a proper selection of the polymorphisms to be investigated. As an example, the use of the entire 3' UTR could be relevant, but other regulatory elements (e.g., the expression of miRNAs)

should be investigated in parallel, to have a comprehensive picture; otherwise, the analysis of 14-bp INS/DEL polymorphism could be sufficiently informative. Indeed, the expression of miRNAs can vary among different pathological conditions and in different cells, thus affecting the expression of HLA-G if present. Similarly, the observation that haplotypes comprising 3' UTR, coding regions and PROMO are mainly defined by the 3' UTR region suggested that the analysis of PROMO and coding regions of HLA-G gene should be considered for improving a better correlation between HLA-G genetic and disease predisposition if disease-specific mediators are also analyzed in parallel; otherwise, the sole analysis of the 3' UTR might be sufficient. Finally, in several studies, the presence of HLA-G has been evaluated at mRNA but not at protein levels, being the most reliable indicator of activity. Another important aspect to consider in the analysis HLA-G proteins is the selection of the isoform, the site or cell population to be evaluated.

The recent discovery in renal carcinoma cells of new HLA-G transcripts, characterized by previously not described intron retention or exon skipping events, which cannot be recognized by the available antibodies (76) increases the complexity in the field. However, whether these transcripts encode for novel isoforms, are specifically produced by cancer cells, or have regulatory functions, remain to be defined. Based on these premises, it can be envisaged that a more sophisticated selection of the parameters to be investigated is critically important to improve the HLA-G genotype/expression/disease association studies. We propose that the following steps should be taken into account: the selection of the HLA-G genetic variations (e.g., 14-bp INS/DEL or 3' UTRs, the coding region and/or the PROMO), which might depend on the type of diseases under consideration, on the tissue or the specific subset of cells analyzed; the possibility to analyze in parallel other specific parameters (e.g., the expression of miRNAs or RBP, soluble mediators including hormones or cytokines); the selection of the most relevant HLA-G isoform (e.g., soluble HLA-Gs or HLA-G1 or other isoforms) (Figure 2).

In conclusion, up to now a clear and univocal HLA-G genotype/expression/disease association has not been yet identified, with the exception for 14-bp IND/DEL allele. A more

REFERENCES

- Kovats S, Main EK, Librach S, Fisher SJ, DeMars. A class I antigen, HLA-G, expressed in human trophoblasts. *Science*. (1990) 248:220– 3. doi: 10.1126/science.2326636
- Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Roux DT Le, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G. An immune checkpoint molecule. *Adv Immunol.* (2015) 127:33– 144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001
- 3. Fujii T, Ishitani A, Geraghty DE. A soluble form of the HLA-G antigen is encoded by a messenger ribonucleic acid containing intron 4. *J Immunol.* (1994) 153:5516–24.
- Ishitani A, Geraghty DE. Alternative splicing of HLA-G transcripts yields proteins with primary structures resembling both class I and class II antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1992) 89:3947–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89. 9.3947
- Paul P, Adrian Cabestre F, Ibrahim EC, Lefebvre S, Khalil-Daher I, Vazeux G, et al. Identification of HLA-G7 as a new splice variant of the HLA-G mRNA and expression of soluble HLA-G5, -G6, and -G7 transcripts in human transfected cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2000) 61:1138– 49. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00197-X
- Larsen MH, Hviid TVF. Human leukocyte antigen-G polymorphism in relation to expression, function, and disease. *Hum Immunol.* (2009) 70:1026– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2009.07.015
- Kim SK, Jeong KH, Kang IJ, Chung JH, Shin MK, Lee MH. Relationship between the HLA-G 14bp insertion/deletion polymorphism and susceptibility to autoimmune disease: a meta-analysis. *Genet Mol Res.* (2015) 14:15839– 47. doi: 10.4238/2015.December.1.35
- Zhang S, Wang HT. Association between HLA-G 14-bp insertion/deletion polymorphism and cancer risk: a meta-analysis. J BUON. (2014) 19:567–72. Available online at: www.jbuon.com
- Ge YZ, Ge Q, Li MH, Shi GM, Xu X, Xu LW, et al. Association between human leukocyte antigen-G 14-bp insertion/deletion polymorphism and cancer risk: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Hum Immunol.* (2014) 75:827–32. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2014.06.004
- Fan W, Li S, Huang Z, Chen Q. Relationship between HLA-G polymorphism and susceptibility to recurrent miscarriage: a metaanalysis of non-family-based studies. J Assist Reprod Genet. (2014) 31:173-84. doi: 10.1007/s10815-013-0155-2

specific and "disease-oriented" analysis, meaning the selection of the relevant polymorphisms, isoforms, and regulatory factors that could impact on HLA-G expression, would be more helpful and affordable for better defining the interplay among HLA-G genetic variations, protein expression, and disease predisposition or response to therapy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GA wrote the manuscript. SG designed and wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approve the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by research funding from the Italian Telethon Foundation (TGT16-21G01).

- Castelli EC, Mendes-Junior CT, Deghaide NHS, De Albuquerque RS, Muniz YCN, Simes RT, et al. The genetic structure of 3'untranslated region of the HLA-G gene: polymorphisms and haplotypes. *Genes Immun.* (2010) 11:134– 41. doi: 10.1038/gene.2009.74
- Geraghty DE, Koller BH, Orr HT. A human major histocompatibility complex class I gene that encodes a protein with a shortened cytoplasmic segment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (1987) 84:9145–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.24. 9145
- Castelli EC, Ramalho J, Porto IOP, Lima THA, Felício LP, Sabbagh A, et al. Insights into HLA-G genetics provided by worldwide haplotype diversity. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:476. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00476
- Sabbagh A, Luisi P, Castelli EC, Gineau L, Courtin D, Milet J, et al. Worldwide genetic variation at the 3' untranslated region of the HLA-G gene: balancing selection influencing genetic diversity. *Genes Immun.* (2014) 15:95–106. doi: 10.1038/gene.2013.67
- Harrison GA, Humphrey KE, Jakobsen IB, Cooper DW. A 14 bp deletion polymorphism in the HLA-G gene. *Hum Mol Genet*. (1993) 2:2200. doi: 10.1093/hmg/2.12.2200-a
- Larsen MH, Hylenius S, Andersen AMN, Hviid TVF. The 3'-untranslated region of the HLA-G gene in relation to pre-eclampsia: revisited. *Tissue Antigens*. (2010) 75:253–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2009.01435.x
- Castelli EC, Mendes CT, Donadi EA. HLA-G alleles and HLA-G 14 bp polymorphisms in a Brazilian population. *Tissue Antigens*. (2007) 70:62– 68. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2007.00855.x
- Hviid TVF, Sørensen S, Morling N. Polymorphism in the regulatory region located more than 1.1 Kilobases 5' to the start site of transcription, the promoter region, and exon 1 of the HLA-G gene. *Hum Immunol.* (1999) 60:1237-44. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(99)00130-5
- Ober C, Aldrich CL, Chervoneva I, Billstrand C, Rahimov F, Gray HL, et al. Variation in the HLA-G promoter region influences miscarriage rates. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2003) 72:1425–35. doi: 10.1086/375501
- Castelli EC, Mendes-Junior CT, Veiga-Castelli LC, Roger M, Moreau P, Donadi EA. A comprehensive study of polymorphic sites along the HLA-G gene: implication for gene regulation and evolution. *Mol Biol Evol.* (2011) 28:3069–86. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msr138
- Tan Z, Shon AM, Ober C. Evidence of balancing selection at the HLA-G promoter region. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2005) 14:3619– 28. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi389

- Ober C, Aldrich C, Rosinsky B, Robertson A, Walker MA, Willadsen S, et al. HLA-G1 protein expression is not essential for fetal survival. *Placenta*. (1998) 19:127–32. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(98)90000-5
- Le Discorde M, Le Danff C, Moreau P, Rouas-Freiss N, Carosella ED. HLA-G*0105N null allele encodes functional HLA-G isoforms1. *Biol Reprod.* (2005) 73:280–8. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.104.037986
- de Almeida BS, Muniz YCN, Prompt AH, Castelli EC, Mendes-Junior CT, Donadi EA. Genetic association between HLA-G 14-bp polymorphism and diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Immunol.* (2018) 79:724–35. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2018.08.003
- Meuleman T, Lashley LELO, Dekkers OM, van Lith JMM, Claas FHJ, Bloemenkamp KWM. HLA associations and HLA sharing in recurrent miscarriage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Immunol.* (2015) 76:362–73. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2015.02.004
- Monti M, Lupoli R, Sosa Fernandez LM, Cirillo F, Di Minno MND. Association of human leukocyte antigen-G 14 bp polymorphism with recurrent pregnancy loss in European countries: a meta-analysis of literature studies. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 112:577–85.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.05.003
- Silva HPV, Ururahy MAG, Souza KSC, Loureiro MB, Oliveira YMC, Oliveira GHM, et al. The association between the HLA-G 14-bp insertion/deletion polymorphism and type 1 diabetes. *Genes Immun.* (2016) 17:13–18. doi: 10.1038/gene.2015.45
- Gerasimou P, Skordis N, Picolos M, Spyridonidis A, Costeas P. HLA-G 14bp polymorphism affects the age of onset in Type I diabetes mellitus. *Int J Immunogenet*. (2016) 43:135–42. doi: 10.1111/iji.12259
- Zidi I, Yahia H Ben, Bortolotti D, Mouelhi L, Laaribi AB, Ayadi S, et al. Association between sHLA-G and HLA-G 14-bp deletion/insertion polymorphism in Crohn's disease. *Int Immunol.* (2015) 27:289–96. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxv002
- Jiang Y, Lu J, Wu YE, Zhao X, Li L. Genetic variation in the HLA-G 3UTR 14-bp insertion/deletion and the associated cancer risk: evidence from 25 case-control studies. *Biosci Rep.* (2019) 39:1–13. doi: 10.1042/BSR20181991
- Li T, Huang H, Liao D, Ling H, Su B, Cai M. Genetic polymorphism in HLA-G 3'UTR 14-bp ins/del and risk of cancer: a meta-analysis of case-control study. Mol Genet Genomics. (2015) 290:1235–45. doi: 10.1007/s00438-014-0985-3
- Chiusolo P, Bellesi S, Piccirillo N, Giammarco S, Marietti S, De Ritis D, et al. The role of HLA-G 14-bp polymorphism in allo-HSCT after shortterm course MTX for GvHD prophylaxis. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2012) 47:120–24. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2011.40
- 33. Crocchiolo R, Ringden O, Bay JO, Blaise D, Omasic B, Mazzi B, et al. Impact of HLA-G polymorphism on the outcome of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2018) 53:213–18. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2017.243
- Amodio G, Canti V, Maggio L, Rosa S, Castiglioni MT, Rovere-Querini P, et al. Association of genetic variants in the 3'UTR of HLA-G with recurrent pregnancy loss. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:886– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.06.020
- Michita RT, Zambra FMB, Fraga LR, Sanseverino MTV, Callegari-Jacques SM, Vianna P, et al. A tug-of-war between tolerance and rejection – new evidence for 3'UTR HLA-G haplotypes influence in recurrent pregnancy loss. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:892–7. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.07.004
- Meuleman T, Drabbels J, van Lith JMM, Dekkers OM, Rozemuller E, Cretu-Stancu M, et al. Lower frequency of the HLA-G UTR-4 haplotype in women with unexplained recurrent miscarriage. J Reprod Immunol. (2018) 126:46– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2018.02.002
- de Albuquerque RS, Mendes-Junior CT, Lucena-Silva N, da Silva CLL, Rassi DM, Veiga-Castelli LC, et al. Association of HLA-G 3' untranslated region variants with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:358– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.02.001
- 38. Sizzano F, Testi M, Zito L, Crocchiolo R, Troiano M, Mazzi B, et al. Genotypes and haplotypes in the 3' untranslated region of the HLA-G gene and their association with clinical outcome of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for beta-thalassemia. *Tissue Antigens*. (2012) 79:326– 32. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2012.01862.x
- Pfeiffer KA. The HLA-G genotype is potentially associated with idiopathic recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2001) 7:373-8. doi: 10.1093/molehr/7.4.373

- Aldrich CL. HLA-G genotypes and pregnancy outcome in couples with unexplained recurrent miscarriage. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2001) 7:1167– 72. doi: 10.1093/molehr/7.12.1167
- Hylenius S, Andersen AMN, Melbye M, Hviid TVF. Association between HLA-G genotype and risk of pre-eclampsia: A case-control study using family triads. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2004) 10:237–46. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah035
- Aldrich C, Verp MS, Walker MA, Ober C. A null mutation in HLA-G is not associated with preeclampsia or intrauterine growth retardation. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2000) 47:41–8. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(00)00052-8
- Fabris A, Segat L, Catamo E, Morgutti M, Vendramin A, Crovella S. HLA-G 14 bp deletion/insertion polymorphism in celiac disease. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2011) 106:139–44. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2010.340
- Catamo E, Zupin L, Segat L, Celsi F, Crovella S. HLA-G and susceptibility to develop celiac disease. *Hum Immunol.* (2015) 76:36–41. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2014.12.006
- Rebmann V, Van Der Ven K, Päßler M, Pfeiffer K, Krebs D, Grosse-Wilde H. Association of soluble HLA-G plasma levels with HLA-G alleles. *Tissue Antigens*. (2001) 57:15–21. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-0039.2001.057001015.x
- 46. Svendsen SG, Hantash BM, Zhao L, Faber C, Bzorek M, Nissen MH, et al. The expression and functional activity of membrane-bound human leukocyte antigen-G1 are influenced by the 3'-untranslated region. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:818–27. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2013.03.003
- Rizzo R, Bortolotti D, Fredj N Ben, Rotola A, Cura F, Castellazzi M, et al. Role of HLA-G 14bp deletion/insertion and +3142C>G polymorphisms in the production of sHLA-G molecules in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Hum Immunol.* (2012) 73:1140–6. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.08.005
- Rizzo R, Audrito V, Vacca P, Rossi D, Brusa D, Stignani M, et al. HLA-G is a component of the chronic lymphocytic leukemia escape repertoire to generate immune suppression: Impact of the HLA-G 14 base pair (rs66554220) polymorphism. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:888– 96. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.095281
- Waterhouse M, Duque-Afonso J, Wäsch R, Bertz H, Finke J. Soluble HLA-G molecules and HLA-G 14-base pair polymorphism after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Transplant Proc.* (2013) 45:397–401. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2012.05.073
- Twito T, Joseph J, Mociornita A, Rao V, Ross H, Delgado DH. The 14bp deletion in the HLA-G gene indicates a low risk for acute cellular rejection in heart transplant recipients. *J Hear Lung Transplant*. (2011) 30:778–82. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2011.01.726
- Martelli-Palomino G, Pancotto JA, Muniz YC, Mendes-Junior CT, Castelli EC, Massaro JD, et al. Polymorphic sites at the 3' untranslated region of the HLA-G gene are associated with differential hla-g soluble levels in the brazilian and french population. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e71742. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071742
- Craenmehr MHC, Haasnoot GW, Drabbels JJM, Spruyt-Gerritse MJ, Cao M, van der Keur C, et al. Soluble HLA-G levels in seminal plasma are associated with HLA-G 3'UTR genotypes and haplotypes. *HLA*. (2019) 94:339–46. doi: 10.1111/tan.13628
- Gregori S, Tomasoni D, Pacciani V, Scirpoli M, Battaglia M, Magnani F, et al. Differentiation of type 1 T regulatory cells (Tr1) by tolerogenic DC-10 requires the IL-10 – dependent ILT4 / HLA-G pathway. *Blood.* (2010) 116:935–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-234872
- Comi M, Avancini D, Santoni de Sio F, Villa M, Uyeda MJ, Floris M, et al. Coexpression of CD163 and CD141 identifies human circulating IL-10-producing dendritic cells (DC-10). *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 17:95– 107. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0218-0
- Amodio G, Comi M, Tomasoni D, Gianolini ME, Rizzo R, Lemaoult J, et al. HLA-G expression levels influence the tolerogenic activity of human DC-10. *Haematologica*. (2015) 100:548–57. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014. 113803
- Rousseau P, Le Discorde M, Mouillot G, Marcou C, Carosella ED, Moreau P. The 14 bp deletion-insertion polymorphism in the 3' UT region of the HLA-G gene influences HLA-G mRNA stability. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1005–10. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.347
- Poras I, Yaghi L, Martelli-Palomino G, Mendes CT, Muniz YCN, Cagnin NF, et al. Haplotypes of the HLA-G 3' untranslated region respond to endogenous factors of HLA-G+ and HLA-G- cell lines differentially. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0169032. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169032

- Kalotra V, Lall M, Verma IC, Kaur A, Kaur A. The HLA-G 14 bp insertion/deletion polymorphism and its association with soluble HLA-G levels in women with recurrent miscarriages. *HLA*. (2018) 91:167– 74. doi: 10.1111/tan.13198
- Wang X, Li B, Wang J, Lei J, Liu C, Ma Y, et al. Evidence that miR-133a causes recurrent spontaneous abortion by reducing HLA-G expression. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2012) 25:415–24. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2012.06.022
- Ye SR, Yang H, Li K, Dong DD, Lin XM, Yie SM. Human leukocyte antigen G expression: as a significant prognostic indicator for patients with colorectal cancer. *Mod Pathol.* (2007) 20:375–83. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3800751
- Reches A, Nachmani D, Berhani O, Duev-Cohen A, Shreibman D, Ophir Y, et al. HNRNPR Regulates the expression of classical and nonclassical MHC class I proteins. J Immunol. (2016) 196:4967–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501550
- 62. Reches A, Berhani O, Mandelboim O. A unique regulation region in the 3' UTR of HLA-G with a promising potential. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:900. doi: 10.3390/ijms21030900
- Gobin SJP, Van Den Elsen PJ. Transcriptional regulation of the MHC class Ib genes HLA-E, HLA-F and HLA-G. *Hum Immunol.* (2000) 61:1102– 7. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00198-1
- 64. Gobin SJ, van Zutphen M, Woltman AM, van den Elsen PJ. Transactivation of classical and nonclassical HLA class I genes through the IFN-stimulated response element. *J Immunol.* (1999) 163:1428–34. Available online at: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10415043
- 65. Dias FC, Bertol BC, Poras I, Souto BM, Mendes-Junior CT, Castelli EC, et al. The genetic diversity within the 1.4 kb HLA-G 5' upstream regulatory region moderately impacts on cellular microenvironment responses. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:5652. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-24009-7
- 66. Ibrahim EC, Morange M, Dausset J, Carosella ED, Paul P. Heat shock and arsenite induce expression of the nonclassical class I histocompatibility HLA-G gene in tumor cell lines. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. (2000) 5:207–18. doi: 10.1379/1466-1268 (2000) 005<0207:HSAAIE>2.0.CO;2
- Akhter A, Faridi RM, Das V, Pandey A, Naik S, Agrawal S. *In vitro* up-regulation of HLA-G using dexamethasone and hydrocortisone in first-trimester trophoblast cells of women experiencing recurrent miscarriage. *Tissue Antigens*. (2012) 80:126–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2012. 01884.x
- Moreau P, Faure O, Lefebvre S, Ibrahim EG, O'Brien M, Gourand L, et al. Glucocorticoid hormones upregulate levels

of HLA-G transcripts in trophoblasts. *Transplant Proc.* (2001) 33:2277-80. doi: 10.1016/S0041-1345(01)01990-X

- Yie SM, Li LH, Li GM, Xiao R, Librach CL. Progesterone enhances HLA-G gene expression in JEG-3 choriocarcinoma cells and human cytotrophoblasts *in vitro*. *Hum Reprod*. (2006) 21:46–51. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dei305
- Yie SM, Xiao R, Librach CL. Progesterone regulates HLA-G gene expression through a novel progesterone response element. *Hum Reprod.* (2006) 21:2538–44. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del126
- Ivanova-todorova E, Mourdjeva M, Kyurkchiev D, Bochev I, Stoyanova E, Dimitrov R, et al. HLA-G expression Is up-regulated by progesterone in mesenchymal stem cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2009) 62:25–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2009.00707.x
- Nagamatsu T, Fujii T, Yamashita T, Miki A, Kanai T, Kusumi M, et al. Hypoxia does not reduce HLA-G expression on extravillous cytotrophoblasts. J Reprod Immunol. (2004) 63:85–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2004.07.001
- Mouillot G, Marcou C, Zidi I, Guillard C, Sangrouber D, Carosella ED, et al. Hypoxia modulates HLA-G gene expression in tumor cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2007) 68:277–85. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2006.10.016
- Onno M, Le Friec G, Pangault C, Amiot L, Guilloux V, Drénou B, et al. Modulation of HLA-G antigens expression in myelomonocytic cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2000) 61:1086–94. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00191-9
- Moreau P, Adrian-Cabestre F, Menier C, Guiard V, Gourand L, Dausset J, et al. IL-10 selectively induces HLA-G expression in human trophoblasts and monocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:803–11. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.5.803
- 76. Tronik-Le Roux D, Renard J, Vérine J, Renault V, Tubacher E, LeMaoult J, et al. Novel landscape of HLA-G isoforms expressed in clear cell renal cell carcinoma patients. *Mol Oncol.* (2017) 11:1561–78. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12119

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Amodio and Gregori. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





HLA-G Neo-Expression on Tumors

Maria Loustau^{1*}, François Anna^{1,2}, Raphaelle Dréan^{1,3}, Martin Lecomte¹, Pierre Langlade-Demoyen¹ and Julien Caumartin¹

¹ Invectys, Paris, France, ² Molecular Virology and Vaccinology Unit, Virology Department, Institut Pasteur & CNRS URA 3015, Paris, France, ³ Molecular Retrovirology Unit, Institut Pasteur, CNRS, UMR 3569, Paris, France

HLA-G is known to modulate the immune system activity in tissues where physiological immune-tolerance is necessary (i.e., maternal-fetal interface, thymus, and cornea). However, the frequent neo-expression of HLA-G in many cancer types has been previously and extensively described and is correlated with a bad prognosis. Despite being an MHC class I molecule, HLA-G is highly present in tumor context and shows unique characteristics of tissue restriction of a Tumor Associated Antigen (TAA), and potent immunosuppressive activity of an Immune CheckPoint (ICP). Consequently, HLA-G appears to be an excellent molecular target for immunotherapy. Although the relevance of HLA-G in cancer incidence and development has been proven in numerous tumors, its neo-expression pattern is still difficult to determine. Indeed, the estimation of HLA-G's actual expression in tumor tissue is limited, particularly concerning the presence and percentage of the new non-canonical isoforms, for which detection antibodies are scarce or inexistent. Here, we summarize the current knowledge about HLA-G neo-expression and implication in various tumor types, pointing out the need for the development of new tools to analyze in-depth the HLA-G neo-expression patterns, opening the way for the generation of new monoclonal antibodies and cell-based immunotherapies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wei-Hua Yan, Wenzhou Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Vera Rebmann, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany Nathalie Rouas-Freiss, Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique et aux Energies Alternatives (CEA), France

> *Correspondence: Maria Loustau maria.loustau@invectys.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alloimmunity and Transplantation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 20 April 2020 **Accepted:** 24 June 2020 **Published:** 14 August 2020

Citation:

Loustau M, Anna F, Dréan R, Lecomte M, Langlade-Demoyen P and Caumartin J (2020) HLA-G Neo-Expression on Tumors. Front. Immunol. 11:1685. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01685 Keywords: HLA-G, immune checkpoint, hematopoietic tumors, solid tumors, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Fetus and tumor development are closely related since they are both characterized by a rapid tissue proliferation, associated to a high expression of telomerase (1, 2) and expression of anti-apoptotic factors like survivin (3, 4). Placenta and tumor development is accompanied by angiogenesis induced by proteins of the VEGF family (5, 6) and favored by hypoxia (7). Strikingly, placenta and tumors are protected from the immune system through common immune escape mechanisms. Particularly, the induction of a tolerogenic microenvironment was demonstrated, involving the expression of inhibitory immune checkpoints inducing suppressive macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs) and regulatory T cells (T_{regs}). Among the pool of inhibitory checkpoints shared between the placentation process and the tumor development, HLA-G is emerging as a potent immune escape mechanism (**Figure 1**).

HLA-G is a non-classical MHC class I molecule first determined to be expressed on extravillous trophoblast that invade the decidua (8–11), similarly to the invasive growth process observed for tumors (12). Despite being restrictively expressed on healthy tissues, HLA-G was reported to be neo-expressed in several pathological contexts, especially during tumor development (13, 14). HLA-G neo-expression is always associated with a bad prognosis for patients.

Contrary to the classical MHC, HLA-G is characterized by a low polymorphism and tolerogenic functions. HLA-G can be expressed under, at least, seven isoforms. These are the product of

24



alternative splicing of a single primary transcript of RNA (15): four membrane isoforms (HLA-G1, HLA-G2, HLA-G3, and HLA-G4) and three soluble isoforms (HLA-G5, HLA-G6 and HLA-G7). HLA-G1 and HLA-G5 isoforms present the typical structure of MHC classical class I molecules: one heavy chain composed of three globular domains, associated or not to β -2-microglobulin (β 2M). The other isoforms are shorter, with one or two globular domains and none is associated with the β 2M (16–18). HLA-G exert its biologic tolerogenic function as a ligand by binding its specific receptors: ILT2 (LILRB1, CD85j), ILT4 (LILRB2, CD85d) et KIR2DL4 (CD158d) (19). HLA-G is the ligand of highest affinity for ILT2 and ILT4 receptors. Concerning the KIR2DL4 receptor, it is mostly expressed in NK cells, but its interaction with HLA-G and its inhibitory function remain controversial (20, 21). ILT2 and ILT4 belong to the leukocyte immunoglobulin (Ig)-like receptor family (LILRs), particularly to the inhibitory group: LILRBs, composed of 2 to 4 extra-cellular globular domains and 2 to 4 cytoplasmic inhibitory domains "ITIM" (Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs). ILT2 is expressed in all immune cell subsets (22), whereas ILT4 expression is limited to antigen presenting cells (APCs) like monocytes, neutrophils, DCs or macrophages. PIR-B is the ortholog of LILRBs in mice, expressed in B cells, DCs, granulocytes and macrophages, exerting the same inhibitory functions (22). ILT2 binds the HLA-G α 3 domain, associated with β 2M simultaneously (23) while ILT4 binds the α 3 domain independently of β 2M. Also, HLA-G can form dimers, which increase the avidity of the receptors ILT2 and ILT4 for this molecule (23).

In physiological conditions HLA-G expression has been described in the cytotrophoblast where it plays a major role by protecting the semi-allogenic tissues of the fetus from the maternal immune system. Otherwise, HLA-G is constitutively expressed in immune-privileged tissues like thymic epithelial cells (24, 25), cornea (26), pancreatic islets (27), mesenchymal stem cells (28, 29), erythroblasts or endothelial precursors (30, 31), and some peripheral tolerogenic T and dendritic cells (DC) subsets (32-34). Soluble isoforms have been detected in thymus (24), human first trimester and term placentas in situ and in vitro (35), plasma (36, 37), cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (38, 39), in the male reproductive system, in seminal plasma (40), and in the cell culture supernatant of embryos (41-43). However, HLA-G expression can be induced or up-regulated in pathological contexts like (i) cancer (44-46), (ii) autoimmune and inflammatory diseases (47-49), (iii) viral infections (50-52), and (iv) allo-transplantations (53, 54). Indeed, many publications showed the high frequency of HLA-G expression in tumor cells, correlated with clinical background associated

with tumor immune escape and bad prognosis (45, 55). HLA-G expression, then, seems to be key for tumors to evade the immune system, even at low rates of expression. Although most of HLA-G immunosuppression function and role in tumor escape studies were performed in vitro, HLA-G involvement in tumor escape mechanism was studied and demonstrated in vivo in immunocompetent mice through the induction of MDSC (56). Furthermore, Lin et al. evidenced in vivo that HLA-G expression was associated with tumor metastasis and with poor survival (57). Inhibition of immune response by soluble HLA-G was also demonstrated in vivo (58). Noteworthy, HLA-G expression is induced by hypoxia, typical of solid tumor microenvironment (59). Because HLA-G is found on tumor cells and is rarely observed in healthy tissue, it appears to be an excellent tumor associated-antigen (TAA) to target in immune therapy. Furthermore, HLA-G has been recently defined as a major immune checkpoint (ICP). This molecule is capable of inhibiting not only cytolytic uterine NK cells in the context of pregnancy, but also: (i) cytolytic functions of peripheral NK (60, 61), (ii) cytolytic functions of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) (62), (iii) alloproliferative response of T CD4⁺ cells (63), (iv) peripheric NK and T cell proliferation (64, 65), (v) B cell maturation and antibody production (66), phagocytic function of neutrophils (67), chemotaxis of NK, T and B cells (66, 68, 69), and (vi) maturation and function of DCs (70). Also, HLA-G was shown to induce the generation of suppressive immune cell subsets (64, 71, 72) (see **Figure 2**).

Although HLA-G is an MHC class I, it presents rare characteristics combining features of both TAA and ICP, playing a major role in the fine tuning of the immune system equilibrium into a tolerogenic or suppressive microenvironment. HLA-G turns to be a major advantage for tumor cell survival and development. In fact, HLA-G expression has been reported in numerous types of cancer, always associated with more advanced stage and aggressive development of the tumor.

HLA-G NEO-EXPRESSION IN HEMATOPOIETIC TUMORS

The role of HLA-G in hematopoietic malignancies is complex and remains unclear since HLA-G and its inhibitory receptors



could be expressed on hematopoietic tumor cells and could inhibit proliferation in such tumors (45). Non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) is a large group of cancers of lymphocytes. There are many different types of NHL which can be divided into aggressive (fast-growing) and indolent (slow-growing) types, composed by either B-cells or T-cells. In NHL, classical MHC molecules and HLA-G expression patterns were shown to be completely altered and correlated to a tumor relapse or transformation (73). It has been postulated that this phenomenon was associated to a deep genetic disorder and rearrangement, inducing HLA-G neo-expression in tumor cells. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) is a mature lymphoid neoplasm currently categorized as an indolent type of malignant lymphoma. Nuckel et al. reported HLA-G expression on 1-54% of leukemic cells in B-CLL. They determined that patients with 23% or fewer HLA-G-positive cells had a significantly longer progression-free survival (PFS) time than patients with more than 23% of positive cells. Indeed, patients with a weak HLA-G expression showed a higher survival rate (120 months) than those with high HLA-G expression with a survival average of 23 months. Furthermore, humoral and cellular immunosuppression were significantly more prominent in the HLA-G-positive patients' group in comparison to the HLA-Gnegative group. Indeed, the survival rate decrease was associated to an immune response deficiency, a CD4/CD8 T cells ratio and immunoglobulins (IgG) reduction and to an increase of secreted soluble HLA-G proteins (74-76).

B-CLL can progress slowly over years, but it eventually transforms into a more aggressive lymphoma such as the diffuse large B-cell (DLBCL) type. The diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) is a B cells cancer and is the most common type of NHL. DLBCL is characterized by its aggressiveness, which can be developed in the lymph nodes or in extranodal sites. DLBCL is the most frequent lymphoma and the most severe. In this type of lymphoma, the expression of HLA-G was determined to be relatively weak. However, the survival rate was directly correlated to the HLA-G expression, increasing from 47.5%, when HLA-G is expressed, to 73.3% in absence of HLA-G expression (77). Expression of HLA-G in classical Hodgkin lymphoma was also independently determined by the groups of Diepstra and Caocci. They both determined a relatively high expression of HLA-G (>54% of expressing tumor cells) in the Reed-Stenberg cells, with particular higher expression in nodular sclerosis (78, 79). However, their results on the HLA-G expression levels were different in the tumor microenvironment (TME).

Cutaneous lymphomas represent the second most frequent extranodal lymphomas and are cancers of lymphocytes primarily involving the skin. Cutaneous lymphomas are classified based on whether they are cancers of B or T lymphocytes, and, respectively, designated as cutaneous T cell lymphoma (CTCL) and cutaneous B cell lymphoma (CBCL). Although being mostly a benign disease, skin clonal lymphocytes can migrate to the nodes resulting in a more severe disease. These cells can persist mostly because of HLA-G and IL-10 secretion (80). All the T or B skin cells were determined to be HLA-G1 mRNA positives, but protein expression level was weaker. A strong correlation between IL-10 and HLA-G expressions was evidenced with a co-expression of these molecules in 73% of the cutaneous lymphoma investigated (81). Furthermore, for T cells, HLA-G protein expression was directly correlated with the tumor grade and stage.

HLA-G NEO-EXPRESSION IN SOLID TUMORS

Tumor development is dependent on its capability to escape from the immune response. According to Dr. Schreiber's 3E theory, three stages define the immune response and the interaction between tumor cells and their microenvironment: elimination, equilibrium and escape (82). The first phase of elimination is characterized by the production of new molecules, derived from oncogenic modifications of the brand-new tumor, and expression on their surface, known as neo-antigens, that are able to induce an efficient response by the immune system. In accordance with the classic immune surveillance theory, those new tumor cells that aren't destroyed in the initial stage, will proliferate, create a primitive tumor and will set up an equilibrium with the immune cells. This equilibrium phase can last months or years, until the tumor becomes able to engage the escape phase, where the plasticity of its genome allows it to evolve, change the environment, evade the immune control and spread. At the same time, the immune system might become tolerant or exhausted.

Actually, HLA-G can be involved in these three phases. During the elimination phase, HLA-G can inhibit T and B cells activation, proliferation, cytotoxic function of T and NK cells and can block the DCs and neutrophils functions (60, 62, 68, 76, 83, 84). Throughout the equilibrium phase, HLA-G can downregulate the MHC class II expression on DCs and induce suppressive myeloid cells, favoring the regulatory cell subsets (85). Finally, the escape phase is characterized by a high cell proliferation and, afterwards, a hypoxic environment (86). Hypoxia induces upregulation of V-EGF and HIF-1, and with the latter, HLA-G expression. Also, it was determined that immunosuppressive cytokines, such as IL-10 and TGF- β , are secreted and could favor HLA-G expression and maintenance by positive feedback (87).

HLA-G expression in multiple types of primary tumors has been demonstrated (88). HLA-G can be detected either on the cell-surface of tumor cells or on tumor infiltrating cells (TILs) particularly on lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) (89-94). HLA-G was demonstrated to be crucial for the tumor development and its expression was specifically associated to malignant transformation (59). HLA-G expression in surrounding healthy tissue has never been detected but its expression in solid tumors has been described, particularly in advanced clinic stages (95, 96). Soluble HLA-G isoforms (sHLA-G) have been detected in patient's plasma with advanced stages and reserved prognostic (91, 95-99). Therefore, the role and functions of HLA-G in tumor immune escape and tumor development is beyond a hypothetical mechanism, its involvement and relevance has been widely documented. This tolerogenic molecule has been described in a plethora of solid tumors.

What brings another level of complexity in the detection of HLA-G and the understanding of its role in cancer progression is the existence of micro-vesicles bearing HLA-G, firstly described in the supernatant of HLA-G positive melanoma cells in vitro (100). Intercellular communication through extracellular vesicules (EV) released in the extracellular space or in body fluids is a known mechanism involved in healthy tissues as well as malignancies (101). These structures originate from the cell membrane or are exosomes, and can carry surface proteins, cytokines or growth factors (amongst others). Their role in the immune response modulation has been shown by Abusamra et al. by in vitro experiments that evidenced the induction of CD8⁺ T-cells apoptosis by exosomes expressing Fas ligand (102). This observation and the known mechanism of action of EVs suggest that EVs harboring HLA-G could play a role in cancer immune escape, by inhibiting immune cells in the tumor microenvironment or at distal sites. The inhibition of monocyte differentiation and maturation into dendritic cells (DCs) by HLA-G1-bearing EVs originating from kidney cancer cells has been reported (103). Several clinical studies carried out with breast and ovarian cancer patients also support this hypothesis. High levels of HLA-G-EVs in breast cancers patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) correlates with a bad prognosis, whereas patients with high levels of free soluble HLA-G had better outcome. Moreover, the level of total circulating HLA-G molecules is not a predictable marker of patient's outcome (104). Similar findings were reported in a study with epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) patients in which high levels of HLA-G EVs was a marker of inferior clinical outcome (105). Deciphering HLA-G EVs from free soluble HLA-G molecules seems thus to be of crucial importance to improve patient's diagnosis and the understanding of EVs mechanism of action, and investigate their relevance as immunotherapy target.

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) affects 3% of occidental adults, with an increasing incidence in the last years. There are several subcategories of RCC, the principal being clear cell RCC (ccRCC) that represents 80% of RCC, followed by the papillary and chromophobe carcinoma, 10 and 5%, respectively. Frequently, this cancer is at an advanced stage presenting metastasis at the time of diagnosis, with a low rate of 5 years survival (<15%). In ccRCC, HLA-G mRNA and protein expressions have been strongly described (106-108). These expressions in patients seem to be age or sex independent but are highly related to the ccRCC sub-type. Frequently, there is no correlation between mRNA and protein expression which might be explained by a postranscriptional regulation that blocks translation (109). HLA-G loss of expression at the tumor cell-surface during cell culture could be explained by (i) the absence of transcription factors related to the hypoxic microenvironment or (ii) the lack of several cytokines such as IFN- γ , IFN- α , and IL-10 (110), but (iii) could also be related to a HLA-G isoform switch that could not be detected since antibodies detecting all the isoforms of HLA-G are missing, particularly for those that lack the $\alpha 1$ domain (111). Recently, a heterogeneous expression of immune checkpoints including PD-L1, B7H3, ILT2, and HLA-G in RCC was reported (112). This intratumor heterogeneity was found both at tumor cell and infiltrating immune cell levels in primary RCC (113). Interestingly, target cells' HLA-G expression specifically inhibited cytotoxicity of CD8⁺ILT2⁺ T-cells, but not their CD8⁺ILT2⁻ (PBMC) or CD8⁺PD-1⁺ (TIL) counterparts. HLA-G inhibition was counteracted by blocking the HLA-G/ILT2 interaction showing that CD8⁺ILT2⁺ TILs may therefore constitute a subset of fully differentiated cytotoxic T cells within the tumor microenvironment, independent of the PD1⁺ TILs targeted by immune therapies, and specifically inhibited by HLA-G (114).

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the 3rd most frequent cancer in the world and the 2nd mortality cause related to cancer. Most of them (96%) are present under the adenocarcinoma form associated to a transformation of luminal epithelial cells of the mucosa of the intestine. It affects mostly aged population (>50 years). It was determined that HLA-G expression was detected in 64% of the tumor samples in the primary site of the carcinoma but HLA-G expression was absent in the surrounding tissue, evidencing HLA-G as a malignant transformation marker (92, 96). HLA-G expression was correlated with advanced stages of the "tumor-node-metastasis" (TNM) classification and a diminution of the survival rate (<3 years) for HLA-G positive patients. However, HLA-G expression in CRC remains controversial. Due to the heterogeneity amongst techniques and technic tools, discordant results were obtained for HLA-G expression in CRC. Furthermore, HLA-G neo-expression was shown to depend on the microenvironment of the primary lesions, yet, absence of TME on metastases cannot be linked to HLA-G neo-expression (115). Thus, primary tumors are mostly associated to an active response expressing immunomodulatory molecules like HLA-G, whereas secondary or metastatic tumors favor a "hiding" strategy, avoiding being detected by the immune system. Coexpression of HLA-G and HLA-E has been described in CRC. Downregulation of expression of the classical MHC class I molecules allow tumor cells to escape from cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) despite rendering them sensitive to the NK response. Inhibition of the NK response is related to the upregulation of HLA-G and HLA-E which mediates the inhibition of NK cells through ILT2 and NKG2A receptors, respectively (83, 116).

Esophageal carcinoma is the 8th most frequent cancer in the world and the 4th cause of death related to cancer. The most frequent type is the esophageal squamous-cell carcinoma (ESCC) (90%). HLA-G expression extended from 65 to 90% of ESCC cases and was related to advanced stages of TNM (117–119). The lower survival rates were shown to be related to tumor cell infiltration in the lymph nodes and to the HLA-G expression. The mRNA studies performed indicated that the most frequent isoforms present were HLA-G1 and -G5 in the primary tissue, but were absent from surrounding tissue, and HLA-G5 was detected in patients sera (118).

Gastric cancer is the 5th most frequent cancer and causes more than 700 000 deaths per year in the world, being the 3rd cause of death in cancer. Usually, at the time of diagnosis this cancer is advanced and frequently presenting metastasis. 90–95%

of gastric cancer are adenocarcinoma with a gastric superficial mucosa cells origin. High HLA-G expression was reported with 73% of cases, from which 75% presented high expression levels (>50% of cells expressing HLA-G) (97). This expression is exclusive to the primary tumor, without no expression detected on the environmental tissue, and is related to the localization of the tumor, with higher expression in the cardia. Higher HLA-G expression is correlated with advance stage of the disease, the tumor lesion depth, the node invasion and the decrease of the survival rate. Several other groups have demonstrated corresponding results that HLA-G expression in tumor cells correlates with sHLA-G in patients' sera and higher infiltration of T_{reg} CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FoxP3⁺ (120, 121). Also, Du et al. demonstrated that co-culture of PBMCs and SGC-7901 (a gastric cell line), transfected with HLA-G1, can induce an immune regulatory phenotype with an increase of IL-4 and IL-10 secretion and a decrease of IFN- γ secretion (121).

Pancreatic cancer is a relatively rare cancer (<2% of cancers). This adenocarcinoma is very aggressive, associated with a very bad prognosis. Pancreatic cancer is generally of endocrine origin, but it metastases easily, frequently to the liver, stomach and lungs. Zhou et al. have studied HLA-G expression in this cancer, and they have determined that 39.2% are HLA-G positive (122), depending on the tumor grade, increasing from T1-2 to T3 stages. HLA-G expression is correlated with a decrease of infiltrating T cells (TILs) CD3⁺. Other groups confirmed the HLA-G expression in pancreatic adenocarcinoma ranging from 63 to 66% of tumors (123, 124). Xu et al. correlated the HLA-G expression with more aggressive characteristics, a more advanced stage (TNM II), an extra-pancreatic infiltration (T3 stage) and a lymphatic nodes engagement (124). Also, plasmatic sHLA-G was higher in pancreatic cancer patients in comparison to the controls and inversely proportional to CD8⁺ CD28⁺ peripheral T cells.

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the most common type of primary liver cancer in adults and the fourth most common cause of cancer-related death worldwide. HCC is usually caused by a chronic disease (infection or cirrhosis). HLA-G expression was determined to be present in 66.7% of the cases and correlates with a more advance TNM stage: 41.9% in stage II to 71.4% in stage III (125). HLA-G expression is associated with an increase of the T_{reg}/CD8⁺ ratio and relapse occurs after ablation or resection. Other groups observed similar results (126, 127). Cai et al. indicated that the HLA-G expression remained diffuse and intracellular, detected HLA-G isoforms were essentially the HLA-G1 isoform (detection through WB) without the presence of the HLA-G5 isoform. Yet, sHLA-G was detected in patients' sera (125). This could be explained by the shedding of the HLA-G1 membrane isoform or by the expression of this molecule by other cells like monocytes as previously observed in melanoma and lung cancer. It was hypothesized that the expression of HLA-G could be sustained by the microenvironment of the primary tumor in agreement as observed in other type of cancers (107, 109, 115, 128) and with the 3E theory that points out that the metastatic sites of a cancer should present a totally different microenvironment from that of the primary tumor (82).

Thyroid nodes are cancers of the thyroid affecting 50 to 70% of the adult population which are mostly benign. This neoplasia presents a variable evolution and is constituted by 3 histologic sub-types: papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), follicular thyroid cancer (FTC) and anaplastic thyroid cancer (129). It has been demonstrated that HLA-G expression is crucial for the development of these cancers. Indeed, HLA-G expression is absent in non-pathological histologic tissue (130) whereas HLA-G expression is determined to be present in all thyroid tumors. A strong expression of HLA-G (>50% of HLA-G⁺ cells) was observed in 80% of PTC and 79% of FTC but also in benign lesions. However, HLA-G expression was not correlated with cancer relapse, metastasis, node invasion or with mortality rate. It was proposed that HLA-G was necessary for cancer genesis given its pre-tumoral expression. Other groups confirmed this expression (131), although the different assays used to determine HLA-G expression, and the lack of a diagnostic methodology, induced some discrepancies between the results.

Melanoma is developed in melanocytes and its incidence is 11 in 100,000 (132). This cancer is not very aggressive, with a survival rate of 5 years in 81% of men and 87% of women (133). The expression of HLA-G in melanoma has been studied and demonstrated to be increased compared to melanocytic nevi (90), correlating HLA-G expression with cell transformation. HLA-G expression was also demonstrated to be increased on inflammatory infiltrating cells within the melanomas compared to nevus (134). sHLA-G was also increased in patients' sera seemingly being boosted by the IFN- α treatment applied (135). HLA-G expression was further shown to be associated to the malignant transformation and to bad prognosis, in case of metastasis or relapse, in different studies (128, 134, 136). Other groups demonstrated in vitro the immune-tolerogenic properties of HLA-G, protecting melanoma cell lines from the NK cells cytotoxicity (137), which were confirmed in vivo on xenogeneic melanoma models (56). Also, it was demonstrated that the tumor cells were able to modify their HLA-G isoform expression profile in order to modify their susceptibility against NK cells (44).

Gliomas represent 70% of the cerebral tumors, and their capability to modulate the immune response has been documented (138). The prognostic is usually bad since only 9.8% of the patients attain 5 years of survival after diagnosis. Wang et al. have reported that almost 70% of gliomas were HLA-G⁺ independently of their nature: oligodendroglioma, astrocytoma or oligoastrocytoma (139). Those results were confirmed by other groups (140). Wiendl et al. have widely studied the expression of HLA-G in cell lines derived from glioblastomas. They have demonstrated that 4 of 12 tumor cell lines constitutively expressed HLA-G mRNA. Following IFN-y treatment, the number of gliomas expressing HLA-G mRNA dramatically increased since 10 out of 12 tumor cell lines were then HLA-G positive. Similar observations were stated for the HLA-G cell-surface expression (141). Other groups confirmed such results on gliomas using the demethylating agent 5-Aza-2'-Deoxycytidine (140). Strikingly, it

was demonstrated that only 10% of glioblastoma cells expressing HLA-G were sufficient to inhibit the PBMCs alloresponse against the whole tumor (141). It has been widely demonstrated that an external stimulation is necessary to induce HLA-G expression at a transcriptional or translational level. In the context of glioblastomas, HLA-G expression was demonstrated to be influenced or regulated by environmental factors, particularly hypoxia or cytokines. Usually this environment is difficult to maintain *ex vivo*, where primary cells or cell lines loose rapidly their HLA-G expression, implying that the real expression levels of HLA-G in tumor cells are frequently underestimated (44).

Breast cancer represents 25.1% of female diagnosed cancers, and the 2nd most frequent of all cancers, with higher incidence in developed countries (142). There are three subtypes of breast cancer depending on the presence of 3 receptors for estrogen (ER), progesterone (PgR) and human epidermal growth factor (ERBB2/HER2). These different subtypes are mostly treated with chemotherapy or hormonal therapy. Ogiya et al. demonstrated that immune escape strategy of primary tumors is different from metastatic tumors in breast cancer. Primary tumors strategy involves higher infiltration of T cells expressing PD-L1 (143). Other studies indicate that secondary tumor focus present less immunoregulatory cells and weak expression of chemoattractants like CCL19/CCR7, CXCL9/ CXCR3, and IL15/IL15R (144). Nonetheless, the genomic and immune profile of a patient with triple-negative breast cancer that progressed during neoadjuvant chemotherapy plus PD-L1 blockade, showed a low level of expression of programmed cell death protein 1 (PD1) and a high level of expression of HLA-G at the time of diagnosis. This expression was associated with an immune evasive phenotype, increased cell motility and invasion, suggesting that HLA-G could be involved in tumor escape (145). Indeed, He et al. have studied the HLA-G expression in breast cancer and have determined that 66% of breast cancer cases are HLA-G positive, with a low HLA-G expression (<25% of tumor cells) in 64% of cases (146). This HLA-G expression on tumor cells is accompanied by the presence of sHLA-G in the sera and is associated with bad prognosis. It was also shown that there was an increase of circulating CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FoxP3⁺ T_{reg} cells in HLA-G⁺ patients compared with HLA- G^- patients (147). Other groups have shown that >60% were HLA- G^+ , from which >23% of cases co-expressed HLA-E (148, 149). Besides the loss of classical MHC class I expression, HLA-G and HLA-E expressions remained protecting tumor cells against NK cells cytotoxic response. Ishibashi et al. have reported higher expression rates with 94.1% of HLA-G⁺ tumor cells. They have demonstrated that a peptide derived from HLA-G1 (26-40 amino acid residues) was presented in the MHC class II context, inducing a CD4 response with consequent anti-HLA-G CTL detection. This was the first time that an anti-HLA-G cell response was ever reported (150). However, these results were never confirmed by other groups. Another study demonstrated that HLA-G expression was correlated to the double positive ER^+/PgR^+ tumors in 80% of cases (147). Previous studies had reported that HLA-G expression can be regulated by progesterone in mesenchymal cells, cytotrophoblast and choriocarcinoma cell line JEG3 (151, 152). Yet, the regulation via estrogens has never been reported.

Cervix cancer is the 2nd most frequent malign gynecologic cancer in the world representing 12% of female cancers (153). Pathogenesis is characterized by a progression of a cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) to cervix cancer (CC). Miranda et al. demonstrated that HLA-G is detected in 80.2% of CIN cases and in 64% of CC cases. Since the HLA-G expression level is higher in CC (48%) than in CIN (27%), it was suggested that HLA-G expression was correlated to the tumor development (154). HLA-G expression has also been correlated with IL-17 expression that could, on one hand, inhibit tumor progression by increasing the immune response, and on the other hand increase angiogenesis (155, 156). These results were confirmed by other groups who investigated HLA-G expression during the different stages of CIN. They concluded that HLA-G expression increased from 54% at CIN-I to 100% at CIN-IV, pointing out HLA-G as a good marker of the disease progression (157). Other groups also confirmed these results but percentages of HLA-G expression determined were weaker (158, 159). Guimaraes et al. demonstrated that HLA-G expression was highly correlated to human papilloma virus (HPV) in CC and inversely correlated to the MHC class I expression (158), confirmed by other group (159).

Serous epithelial ovarian cancer is the most common subtype of ovarian cancer (50-70% of ovarian cancer cases), followed by endometrioid carcinoma (10-25% of ovarian cancer cases). Diagnosis is frequently late given a mild symptomatology during first stages. This cancer is a serious carcinoma characterized by an aggressive development and bad prognosis. Endometrial carcinoma is the 3rd most frequent female cancer. This cancer is usually diagnosed at early stages and presents a favorable prognostic. HLA-G expression was demonstrated to be frequent in ovarian cancer (55%) with progression during disease development (160). HLA-G expression was evidenced at the transcriptional (qPCR) and translational levels (WB and IHC) with an increase from early stages (grade I/II) to late stages (grade III/IV) and a drop of survival rate of 5 years. Other groups have shown similar results, with higher HLA-G expression in serous carcinoma (161). HLA-G expression in endometrial cancer was studied by Barrier et al., who showed an expression of HLA-G mRNA in 55% of the cases of endometrioid cancers, mainly localized in the glandular epithelium with no expression was observed in the stromal tissue (162, 163), and the percentage of HLA-G⁺ lesions was also correlated with an advanced stage of the cancer.

Lung cancer is the most frequent malign cancer in the world, with an average of 800 000 deaths per year. There are two categories of lung cancer, (i) the small cell lung cancer (SCLC) which represents 10–15% of the cases, and (ii) the non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) that represents 85–90% of lung cancer cases. Despite some improvements in treatment, NSCLC remains a disease with bad prognosis. Indeed, the survival rate of 5 years is <15%. The most significant criteria to define the gravity and advanced stage of this cancer is the TNM state. Clinical observations and markers are still variable,

so new markers are required to better define the stage of the disease. HLA-G expression has been proposed as one of such novel markers. Until now, all studies have been carried out in NSCLC for determining HLA-G expression. Yie et al. have demonstrated that 75% of the tumoral lesions they tested expressed HLA-G (164). HLA-G expression was considered as important (>50% of cells expressing HLA-G) in 80% of patients and was associated to the disease stage but independently of the histologic type lesion. HLA-G expression has also been correlated to a decrease in the survival rate. Other groups have confirmed these results not only by IHC, but also through sHLA-G dosage in patients' sera by ELISA (127). Western blot (WB) analysis demonstrated that the main HLA-G isoforms expressed were HLA-G1 and -G5. However, it seemed that sHLA-G origin was not from the tumor cell, but from peripheral blood monocytes (135, 165). Other authors demonstrated that sHLA-G was more frequently observed in adenocarcinoma (73%) than in epidermoid carcinomas (7%) or in adenosquamous carcinoma (10%). High HLA-G expression was determined in monocytes by in flow cytometry (166). In this context, Schütt et al proposed that membrane-bound HLA-G as well as sHLA-G were excellent progression markers (167) to be included as diagnosis markers.

DISCUSSION

The expression pattern of HLA-G on tumors is difficult to determine. The detection of HLA-G expressing cells, the nature of HLA-G isoforms and their impact on the immune system remain uncertain and challenging. Indeed, specific monoclonal antibodies are insufficient to define the isoforms concerned in the different type of tumors and involved in their developments. Furthermore, HLA-G expression tends to disappear after surgical excision of tumor lesion requiring to develop new culture approaches to maintain HLA-G expression *ex vivo* (44).

HLA-G mRNA expression can be determined by RT-PCR as previously reported (59, 168). However, mRNA expression is not directly correlated or associated with HLA-G protein expression (109), limiting the estimation of HLA-G actual expression in tumor tissue, particularly concerning the presence and percentage of the non-canonical isoforms, for which the antibodies (169) are scarce or inexistent (111). Indeed, regarding the detection of membrane-bound or secreted HLA-G isoforms (respectively, HLA-G1 to -G4 and HLA-G5 to -G7), few antibodies against HLA-G have been generated (Table 1). To overcome this limitation, a workshop to establish and standardize anti-HLA-G in vitro detection assays was initiated by the group of ED Carosella et al. (170, 171) and a wet workshop was organized for quantification and identification of soluble HLA-G (172). This allowed to determine HLA-G expression by immunohistochemistry (IHC) western blot (WB), flow cytometry or ELISA assays in a more coordinated manner among laboratories. IHC and WB are essentially based on the utilization of the anti-HLA-G specific 4H84 and 5A6G7 monoclonal antibodies,

TABLE 1 Summary of the current available monoclonal antibodies raised against
HLA-G isoforms.

Designation	Specificity	Immunogen	References
MEM-G/1	Denaturated heavy chain (α1 domain?)	Denaturated HLA-G1 heavy chain	(1–3)
MEM-G/2	Denaturated heavy chain (α1 domain?)	Denaturated HLA-G1 heavy chain	(4)
MEM-G/4	Denaturated heavy chain of HLA-G1, HLA-G2 and HLA-G5	Denaturated HLA-G1 heavy chain	(5)
MEM-G/9	Conformational HLA-G1/HLA-G5 isoforms associated with β2m	HLA-G recombinant protein refolded in presence of β2m and peptide	(5, 6)
G233	Conformational HLA-G1/HLA-G5 isoforms associated with β2m	Murine cells transfected with HLA-G1/β2m associated isoform	(7–9)
4H84	Denaturated heavy chain (α1 domain) of HLA-G1 to HLA-G7 isoforms	Peptide encompassing the amino acids 61-83 of HLA-G α1 domain	(4, 5, 10, 11)
5A6G7	Soluble isoforms HLA-G5 and HLA-G6	Peptide derived from intron 4 (SKEGDGGIM SVRESRSLSEDL) coupled with ovalbumin	(3, 12, 13)
2A12	Soluble isoforms HLA-G5 and HLA-G6	Peptide derived from intron 4 (SKEGDGGIM SVRESRSLSEDL) coupled with ovalbumin	(14, 15)
87G	Conformational HLA-G1/HLA-G5 isoforms associated with β2m and reported as blocking antibody	Murine cells transfected with HLA-G1/β2m associated isoform	(10, 16, 17)
HGY	Denaturated heavy chain (α1 domain?)	HLA-G purified proteins from placenta of pregnant women	(18, 19)

whereas flow-cytometry and ELISA assays rely on 87G, MEM-G/9 and G233 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs). 4H84 mAb binds to the $\alpha 1$ domain (present in HLA-G1 to HLA-G7 isoforms) and the 5A6G7 mAb was raised against the intron 4 only present in secreted HLA-G isoforms (HLA-G5 to HLA-G7). Another antibody generated against denatured HLA-G is MEM-G/1, which can specifically detect denatured forms of HLA-G1 and -G2. Noteworthy, because MEM-G/1 targets an extracellular domain of native HLA-G which might be partially intrinsically disordered, this antibody not only can detect native forms of HLA-G2, but also competes with the LILRB2 binding of HLA-G2. These results provide novel insight into the functional characterization of HLA-G isoforms, pointing out its potential as ICP inhibitor (173). 87G, MEM-G/9 and G233 mAbs bind to conformational HLA-G α1 domain associated to the β2M (HLA-G1 and HLA-G5). However, immunoprecipitation assays on trophoblast surface demonstrated that G233 could detect a residual band of 39 kDa, either B2m-associated as well as a β2M-free heavy chain (174). Thus, determination of the HLA-G

isoforms expressed is dependent on the combination of these different techniques. It must be pointed out that none of the anti-HLA-G antibodies generated were raised against the $\alpha 2$ or a3 domains. HLA-G sequence is strongly homolog to classical HLA molecules, particularly for the $\alpha 2$ and the $\alpha 3$ domains, and less for the $\alpha 1$ domain (175). This explains the bias for the al specificity of anti-HLA-G antibodies. Furthermore, the limited mAb development is also related to the fact that murine B cells express the PIR-B receptor, homolog to ILT2 or ILT4 human receptors, which inhibits murine B cell maturation and Ab secretion upon binding to HLA-G protein (66). Due to these limitations, experiments related to HLA-G expression and functions on tumor cells are not trivial. We have to point out that HLA-G expression studies are mainly performed on transfected or transduced tumor cell lines since HLA-G expression is rapidly loss after ex vivo culture or primary tumors. Conformational anti-HLA-G mAbs are limited to the HLA-G1/B2M or HLA-G5/β2M associated isoforms and to date, no mAb specific for the other HLA-G isoforms is available. Furthermore, the single blocking mAb to date against HLA-G is the 87G that only inhibits the function of HLA-G1/β2M or HLA-G5/β2m through ILT2 receptor. HLA-G2 and HLA-G6 isoforms are of interest since they are demonstrated to be immunosuppressive. Indeed, HLA-G2 and HLA-G6 isoforms encompass the a3 domain of HLA-G that mediates the interaction with the ILT4 inhibitory receptor expressed by APCs. Beyond this expression by immune cells, ILT4 was described on breast, lung and kidney tumor cells (113, 176, 177). Such site of expression, quite unexpected for ILT4, is of great interest with respect to how it affects the phenotypic and functional characteristics of tumor cells that express it (178). Neo-expression of ILT4 in breast cancer and in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is associated with metastasis in lymphatic nodes and poor prognostic (179). ILT4 expression is associated with an increase of cell proliferation and motility in vitro of tumor cells and promotes metastasis in vivo (180). Indeed, even if ILT4 is an inhibitory receptor, expressed on cancer cells, ILT4 inhibits mechanisms that repress proliferation, growth, and spread of cancer cells. Upon binding to its ligand, the ILT4 receptor inhibits the pathways that represses proliferation, growth and dissemination of tumor cells (181, 182). Since HLA-G is the main ligand of ILT4, HLA-G binding to ILT4 expressing cells, either by soluble HLA-G6 or membrane-bound HLA-G2 isoforms, could promote tumor growth. This heterogeneous expression of different ICPs within tumors, showed in the context of RCC (113), emphasizes the redundant or cumulative mechanisms developed by tumor cells to promote their immune escape and their expansion. Yet, mAbs capable of binding and/or blocking the ILT4 interaction with the conformational HLA-G2 and HLA-G6 isoforms are strongly lacking. Due to these drawbacks, tumor cell lines are essentially transduced with either HLA-G1 or HLA-G5 isoforms. Several tumors downregulate their MHC class I molecules expression at their surface by inhibiting the β 2M expression to escape from the immune system (183–185). HLA-G cell surface expression on such tumors, even HLA-G1, could be unaffected by the loss of β 2M association through the formation of HLA-G multimers as determined during pregnancy (186). Resulting β 2M-free HLA-G isoforms could still be immunosuppressive and inhibit the immune response, particularly the NK immune response that should lyse MHC class I negative tumor cells. However, mAbs raised specifically against β 2M-free HLA-G isoforms are lacking. In consequence, determination of the panel of HLA-G isoforms expressed by tumor cells is severely limited and the implications of β 2Mfree HLA-G isoforms in the tumor immune escape mechanisms are misestimated. Furthermore, Tronik-Le Roux et al. recently reported the expression of new HLA-G isoforms, devoid of α 1 domain, but encompassing α 2- α 3 or α 3 domains. As a fact, these new isoforms cannot be detected by the existing anti-HLA-G antibodies (111). Although HLA-G neo-expression has been proven in numerous tumors, it remains underestimated in most of the cancer lesions.

Here we emphasize the requirement of new tool development to analyze the HLA-G expression by tumor cells, especially the generation of new anti-HLA-G monoclonal antibodies to determine the expression pattern of HLA-G isoforms expressed by tumor cells.

It was suggested that HLA-G2/G6 may comprise an adequate substitute in women carrying the null allele (G*0105N) (187, 188). Also, it was demonstrated that melanoma cells can rapidly switch from cell-surface HLA-G1 to intra-cellular HLA-G2 expression, restoring tumor sensitivity to NK lysis (189). One can hypothesize that a switch between HLA-G isoforms expressed occurred following the development of the tumor. At the initial development stages, tumor cells would inhibit APC maturation and functions through ILT4 receptors by expressing HLA-G2 and HLA-G6 isoforms. Then, following angiogenesis and the tumor vascularization, effector cells that infiltrate the tumor would be inhibited by HLA-G1 and HLA-G5 isoforms through ILT2 receptors expressed on effector cells. This implies that depending on the stage of the tumor, different immunotherapies against HLA-G should be applied.

Since HLA-G/ILT2 and HLA-G/ILT4 are ICPs, inhibiting the interaction between immunosuppressive HLA-G isoforms and its receptors should restore the immune response as demonstrated for anti PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies. Therefore, developing blocking antibodies against HLA-G/ILT4 and/or HLA-G/ILT2 interaction would restore the immune response. Wiendl et al. demonstrated that only 10% of tumor cells expressing HLA-G were enough to protect the whole tumor against the immune response (141). Thus, even if HLA-G expression is weak or diffuse within the tumor, the administration of anti-HLA-G blocking antibodies should dampen the immune-protective effects of HLA-G. LeMaoult et al. recently demonstrated that ccRCC tumors strongly expressed HLA-G and that the cytotoxic effector TILs were ILT2⁺ and PD-1⁻ (114). In this context, inhibiting the HLA-G/ILT2 interaction should restore the TILs cytotoxic function against HLA-G positive ccRCC tumors. As listed previously, HLA-G is an excellent TAA since HLA-G expression in healthy tissues is highly restrained, but strongly neo-expressed on tumors. As HLA-G expression level is correlated with an advanced stage of the disease, implying a decrease of the number of cytotoxic effector cells and their function, blocking antibodies would be insufficient in advanced stages. In this scenario, the cell therapies would be more adequate. Indeed, monoclonal anti-HLA-G antibodies could be used to develop anti-HLA-G CAR-T cells. These anti-HLA-G CAR-T cells would target directly and specifically the HLA-G expressing cells to eliminate the tumor.

Despite evidences that HLA-G expression is spread among hematopoietic and solid tumors, HLA-G expression is still largely underestimated. Insufficiency of biologic tools, in particular a wider specificity variety of anti-HLA-G monoclonal

REFERENCES

- 1. Kyo S, Takakura M, Kohama T, Inoue M. Telomerase activity in human endometrium. *Cancer Res.* (1997) 57:610–4.
- Kim NW, Piatyszek MA, Prowse KR, Harley CB, West MD, Ho PL, et al. Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. *Science*. (1994) 266:2011–5. doi: 10.1126/science.76 05428
- Li F, Ambrosini G, Chu EY, Plescia J, Tognin S, Marchisio PC, et al. Control of apoptosis and mitotic spindle checkpoint by survivin. *Nature*. (1998) 396:580–4. doi: 10.1038/25141
- Lehner R, Bobak J, Kim NW, Shroyer AL, Shroyer KR. Localization of telomerase hTERT protein and survivin in placenta: relation to placental development and hydatidiform mole. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2001) 97:965– 70. doi: 10.1016/s0029-7844(01)01131-0
- Shore VH, Wang TH, Wang CL, Torry RJ, Caudle MR, Torry DS. Vascular endothelial growth factor, placenta growth factor and their receptors in isolated human trophoblast. *Placenta*. (1997) 18:657–65. doi: 10.1016/s0143-4004(97)90007-2
- Shojaei F, Ferrara N. Refractoriness to antivascular endothelial growth factor treatment: role of myeloid cells. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:5501– 4. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0925
- Fischer K, Hoffmann P, Voelkl S, Meidenbauer N, Ammer J, Edinger M, et al. Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. *Blood*. (2007) 109:3812–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-035972
- McMaster MT, Librach CL, Zhou Y, Lim KH, Janatpour MJ, DeMars R, et al. Human placental HLA-G expression is restricted to differentiated cytotrophoblasts. *J Immunol.* (1995) 154:3771–8.
- Heikkinen J, Mottonen M, Alanen A, Lassila O. Phenotypic characterization of regulatory T cells in the human decidua. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2004) 136:373–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02441.x
- Gustafsson C, Mjosberg J, Matussek A, Geffers R, Matthiesen L, Berg G, et al. Gene expression profiling of human decidual macrophages: evidence for immunosuppressive phenotype. *PLoS ONE.* (2008) 3:e2078. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002078
- Abumaree MH, Stone PR, Chamley LW. An in vitro model of human placental trophoblast deportation/shedding. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2006) 12:687–94. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal073
- Krakhmal NV, Zavyalova MV, Denisov EV, Vtorushin SV, Perelmuter VM. Cancer invasion: patterns and mechanisms. *Acta Nat.* (2015) 7:17–28.
- Carosella ED, Moreau P, Lemaoult J, Rouas-Freiss N. HLA-G: from biology to clinical benefits. *Trends Immunol.* (2008) 29:125–32. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2007.11.005
- Paul P, Rouas-Freiss N, Khalil-Daher I, Moreau P, Riteau B, Le Gal FA, et al. HLA-G expression in melanoma: a way for tumor cells to escape from immunosurveillance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:4510– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.8.4510
- Hviid TV, Hylenius S, Rorbye C, Nielsen LG. HLA-G allelic variants are associated with differences in the HLA-G mRNA isoform profile and HLA-G mRNA levels. *Immunogenetics*. (2003) 55:63–79. doi: 10.1007/s00251-003-0547-z
- 16. HoWangYin KY, Loustau M, Wu J, Alegre E, Daouya M, Caumartin J, et al. Multimeric structures of HLA-G isoforms function through

antibodies, make it difficult to determine and characterize HLA-G isoforms expressed, *de facto* limiting anti-HLA-G immunotherapies development.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MLo, JC, FA, MLe, and PL-D provided guidance and expertise in their respective areas of study. MLo, JC, and RD wrote the manuscript. All authors provided input, edited, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

differential binding to LILRB receptors. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2012) 69:4041– 9. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1069-3

- Kuroki K, Mio K, Takahashi A, Matsubara H, Kasai Y, Manaka S, et al. Cutting edge: class ii-like structural features and strong receptor binding of the nonclassical HLA-G2 isoform homodimer. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:3399– 403. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601296
- Pela FP, Rustiguel JK, Rodrigues LC, Mendonca JN, Andrade CDC, Lopes NP, et al. A soluble recombinant form of human leucocyte antigen-G 6 (srHLA-G6). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2017) 487:28– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.03.149
- Clements CS, Kjer-Nielsen L, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J. Structural studies on HLA-G: implications for ligand and receptor binding. *Hum Immunol.* (2007) 68:220–6. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2006.09.003
- Rajagopalan S, Long EO. KIR2DL4 (CD158d): an activation receptor for HLA-G. Front Immunol. (2012) 3:258. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00258
- Moradi S, Berry R, Pymm P, Hitchen C, Beckham SA, Wilce MC, et al. The structure of the atypical killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor, KIR2DL4. *J Biol Chem.* (2015) 290:10460–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.612291
- Brown D, Trowsdale J, Allen R. The LILR family: modulators of innate and adaptive immune pathways in health and disease. *Tissue Antigens*. (2004) 64:215–25. doi: 10.1111/j.0001-2815.2004.00290.x
- Shiroishi M, Kuroki K, Rasubala L, Tsumoto K, Kumagai I, Kurimoto E, et al. Structural basis for recognition of the nonclassical MHC molecule HLA-G by the leukocyte Ig-like receptor B2 (LILRB2/LIR2/ILT4/CD85d). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2006) 103:16412–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605228103
- Mallet V, Blaschitz A, Crisa L, Schmitt C, Fournel S, King A, et al. HLA-G in the human thymus: a subpopulation of medullary epithelial but not CD83(+) dendritic cells expresses HLA-G as a membrane-bound and soluble protein. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:889–98.
- Crisa L, McMaster MT, Ishii JK, Fisher SJ, Salomon DR. Identification of a thymic epithelial cell subset sharing expression of the class Ib HLA-G molecule with fetal trophoblasts. J Exp Med. (1997) 186:289–98.
- Le Discorde M, Moreau P, Sabatier P, Legeais JM, Carosella ED. Expression of HLA-G in human cornea, an immune-privileged tissue. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1039–44. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.346
- Cirulli V, Zalatan J, McMaster M, Prinsen R, Salomon DR, Ricordi C, et al. The class I HLA repertoire of pancreatic islets comprises the nonclassical class Ib antigen HLA-G. *Diabetes.* (2006) 55:1214– 22. doi: 10.2337/db05-0731
- Nasef A, Mathieu N, Chapel A, Frick J, Francois S, Mazurier C, et al. Immunosuppressive effects of mesenchymal stem cells: involvement of HLA-G. *Transplantation.* (2007) 84:231–7. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000267918.07906.08
- Naji A, Rouas-Freiss N, Durrbach A, Carosella ED, Sensebe L, Deschaseaux F. Concise review: combining human leukocyte antigen G and mesenchymal stem cells for immunosuppressant biotherapy. *Stem Cells.* (2013) 31:2296– 303. doi: 10.1002/stem.1494
- Menier C, Rabreau M, Challier JC, Le Discorde M, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Erythroblasts secrete the nonclassical HLA-G molecule from primitive to definitive hematopoiesis. *Blood.* (2004) 104:3153– 60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-0809
- Menier C, Guillard C, Cassinat B, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. HLA-G turns off erythropoietin receptor signaling through JAK2 and JAK2 V617F

dephosphorylation: clinical relevance in polycythemia vera. *Leukemia*. (2008) 22:578–84. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2405050

- Amodio G, Comi M, Tomasoni D, Gianolini ME, Rizzo R, LeMaoult J, et al. HLA-G expression levels influence the tolerogenic activity of human DC-10. *Haematologica*. (2015) 100:548–57. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.113803
- Huang YH, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Schwab N, Wiendl H. T cell suppression by naturally occurring HLA-G-expressing regulatory CD4+ T cells is IL-10-dependent and reversible. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2009) 86:273– 81. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1008649
- Pankratz S, Bittner S, Herrmann AM, Schuhmann MK, Ruck T, Meuth SG, et al. Human CD4+ HLA-G+ regulatory T cells are potent suppressors of graft-versus-host disease in vivo. *FASEB J.* (2014) 28:3435– 45. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-251074
- Blaschitz A, Juch H, Volz A, Hutter H, Daxboeck C, Desoye G, et al. The soluble pool of HLA-G produced by human trophoblasts does not include detectable levels of the intron 4-containing HLA-G5 and HLA-G6 isoforms. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2005) 11:699–710. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah185
- 36. Capittini C, Bergamaschi P, Sachetto S, Truglio M, Viola M, Marchesi A, et al. The plasma levels of soluble HLA-G molecules correlate directly with CD34+ cell concentration and HLA-G 14bp insertion/insertion polymorphism in cord blood donors. *Blood Transfus*. (2014) 12 Suppl 1:s361-6. doi: 10.2450/2012.0144-12
- Rudstein-Svetlicky N, Loewenthal R, Horejsi V, Gazit E. HLA-G levels in serum and plasma. *Tissue Antigens*. (2006) 67:111–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2006.00540.x
- 38. Fainardi E, Rizzo R, Melchiorri L, Vaghi L, Castellazzi M, Marzola A, et al. Presence of detectable levels of soluble HLA-G molecules in CSF of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: relationship with CSF soluble HLA-I and IL-10 concentrations and MRI findings. J Neuroimmunol. (2003) 142:149–58. doi: 10.1016/s0165-5728(03)00266-2
- 39. Fainardi E, Rizzo R, Melchiorri L, Stignani M, Castellazzi M, Tamborino C, et al. CSF levels of soluble HLA-G and Fas molecules are inversely associated to MRI evidence of disease activity in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2008) 14:446–54. doi: 10.1177/1352458507085137
- Larsen MH, Bzorek M, Pass MB, Larsen LG, Nielsen MW, Svendsen SG, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G in the male reproductive system and in seminal plasma. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2011) 17:727–38. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gar052
- Noci I, Fuzzi B, Rizzo R, Melchiorri L, Criscuoli L, Dabizzi S, et al. Embryonic soluble HLA-G as a marker of developmental potential in embryos. *Hum Reprod.* (2005) 20:138–46. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh572
- Heidari MH, Novin MG, Ahmadi F, Khorshid M, Najafi T, Molouki A, et al. Increase in concentration of soluble HLA-G in high-quality embryos after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Anat Cell Biol.* (2011) 44:331– 6. doi: 10.5115/acb.2011.44.4.331
- Fuzzi B, Rizzo R, Criscuoli L, Noci I, Melchiorri L, Scarselli B, et al. HLA-G expression in early embryos is a fundamental prerequisite for the obtainment of pregnancy. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:311–5. doi: 10.1002/ 1521-4141(200202)32:2<311::AID-IMMU311>3.0.CO;2-8
- Rouas-Freiss N, Moreau P, Ferrone S, Carosella ED. HLA-G proteins in cancer: do they provide tumor cells with an escape mechanism? *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:10139–44. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0097
- 45. Rouas-Freiss N, Moreau P, LeMaoult J, Carosella ED. The dual role of HLA-G in cancer. J Immunol Res. (2014) 2014:359748. doi: 10.1155/2014/359748
- 46. Sheu J, Shih Ie M. HLA-G and immune evasion in cancer cells. *J Formos Med Assoc.* (2010) 109:248–57. doi: 10.1016/S0929-6646(10)60050-2
- White SR, Loisel DA, Stern R, Laxman B, Floreth T, Marroquin BA. Human leukocyte antigen-G expression in differentiated human airway epithelial cells: lack of modulation by Th2-associated cytokines. *Respir Res.* (2013) 14:4. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-14-4
- Rizzo R, Bortolotti D, Bolzani S, Fainardi E. HLA-G molecules in autoimmune diseases and infections. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:592. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00592
- Huang YH, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Metz I, Buck D, Toyka KV, et al. Specific central nervous system recruitment of HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 66:171–83. doi: 10.1002/ana.21705
- 50. Lafon M, Prehaud C, Megret F, Lafage M, Mouillot G, Roa M, et al. Modulation of HLA-G expression in human neural

cells after neurotropic viral infections. J Virol. (2005) 79:15226-37. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.24.15226-15237.2005

- Amiot L, Vu N, Samson M. Immunomodulatory properties of HLA-G in infectious diseases. J Immunol Res. (2014) 2014:298569. doi: 10.1155/2014/298569
- Amiot L, Vu N, Rauch M, L'Helgoualc'h A, Chalmel F, Gascan H, et al. Expression of HLA-G by mast cells is associated with hepatitis C virus-induced liver fibrosis. J Hepatol. (2014) 60:245–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.09.006
- 53. Le Rond S, Le Maoult J, Creput C, Menier C, Deschamps M, Le Friec G, et al. Alloreactive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells express the immunotolerant HLA-G molecule in mixed lymphocyte reactions: in vivo implications in transplanted patients. *Eur J Immunol.* (2004) 34:649– 60. doi: 10.1002/eji.200324266
- Brugiere O, Thabut G, Krawice-Radanne I, Rizzo R, Dauriat G, Danel C, et al. Role of HLA-G as a predictive marker of low risk of chronic rejection in lung transplant recipients: a clinical prospective study. *Am J Transplant.* (2015) 15:461–71. doi: 10.1111/ajt.12977
- Yan WH. HLA-G expression in cancers: potential role in diagnosis, prognosis and therapy. *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*. (2011) 11:76– 89. doi: 10.2174/187153011794982059
- 56. Agaugue S, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Role of HLA-G in tumor escape through expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and cytokinic balance in favor of Th2 versus Th1/Th17. Blood. (2011) 117:7021–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-07-294389
- 57. Lin A, Zhang X, Xu HH, Xu DP, Ruan YY, Yan WH. HLA-G expression is associated with metastasis and poor survival in the Balb/c nu/nu murine tumor model with ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer.* (2012) 131:150– 7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26375
- Loumagne L, Baudhuin J, Favier B, Montespan F, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. In vivo evidence that secretion of HLA-G by immunogenic tumor cells allows their evasion from immunosurveillance. *Int J Cancer.* (2014) 135:2107–17. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28845
- Paul P, Cabestre FA, Le Gal FA, Khalil-Daher I, Le Danff C, Schmid M, et al. Heterogeneity of HLA-G gene transcription and protein expression in malignant melanoma biopsies. *Cancer Res.* (1999) 59:1954–60.
- Rouas-Freiss N, Goncalves RM, Menier C, Dausset J, Carosella ED. Direct evidence to support the role of HLA-G in protecting the fetus from maternal uterine natural killer cytolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:11520–5.
- 61. Rouas-Freiss N, Marchal RE, Kirszenbaum M, Dausset J, Carosella ED. The alpha1 domain of HLA-G1 and HLA-G2 inhibits cytotoxicity induced by natural killer cells: is HLA-G the public ligand for natural killer cell inhibitory receptors? *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:5249–54.
- Le Gal FA, Riteau B, Sedlik C, Khalil-Daher I, Menier C, Dausset J, et al. HLA-G-mediated inhibition of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:1351–6.
- Lila N, Rouas-Freiss N, Dausset J, Carpentier A, Carosella ED. Soluble HLA-G protein secreted by allo-specific CD4+ T cells suppresses the alloproliferative response: a CD4+ T cell regulatory mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:12150–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.201407398
- Caumartin J, Favier B, Daouya M, Guillard C, Moreau P, Carosella ED, et al. Trogocytosis-based generation of suppressive NK cells. *EMBO J.* (2007) 26:1423–33. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601570
- Bahri R, Hirsch F, Josse A, Rouas-Freiss N, Bidere N, Vasquez A, et al. Soluble HLA-G inhibits cell cycle progression in human alloreactive T lymphocytes. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:1331–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1331
- Naji A, Menier C, Morandi F, Agaugue S, Maki G, Ferretti E, et al. Binding of HLA-G to ITIM-bearing Ig-like transcript 2 receptor suppresses B cell responses. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:1536–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300438
- Baudhuin J, Migraine J, Faivre V, Loumagne L, Lukaszewicz AC, Payen D, et al. Exocytosis acts as a modulator of the ILT4-mediated inhibition of neutrophil functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:17957– 62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1221535110
- Morandi F, Ferretti E, Bocca P, Prigione I, Raffaghello L, Pistoia V. A novel mechanism of soluble HLA-G mediated immune modulation: downregulation of T cell chemokine receptor expression and impairment of chemotaxis. *PLoS ONE.* (2010) 5:e11763. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011763

- Morandi F, Ferretti E, Castriconi R, Dondero A, Petretto A, Bottino C, et al. Soluble HLA-G dampens CD94/NKG2A expression and function and differentially modulates chemotaxis and cytokine and chemokine secretion in CD56bright and CD56dim NK cells. *Blood.* (2011) 118:5840– 50. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-05-352393
- Gros F, Cabillic F, Toutirais O, Maux AL, Sebti Y, Amiot L. Soluble HLA-G molecules impair natural killer/dendritic cell crosstalk via inhibition of dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2008) 38:742–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.200736918
- LeMaoult J, Caumartin J, Daouya M, Favier B, Le Rond S, Gonzalez A, et al. Immune regulation by pretenders: cell-to-cell transfers of HLA-G make effector T cells act as regulatory cells. *Blood.* (2007) 109:2040– 8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-024547
- Carosella ED, Gregori S, LeMaoult J. The tolerogenic interplay(s) among HLA-G, myeloid APCs, and regulatory cells. *Blood.* (2011) 118:6499– 505. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-370742
- 73. Drenou B, Le Friec G, Bernard M, Pangault C, Grosset JM, Lamy T, et al. Major histocompatibility complex abnormalities in non-Hodgkin lymphomas. *Br J Haematol.* (2002) 119:417– 24. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03814.x
- Nuckel H, Rebmann V, Durig J, Duhrsen U, Grosse-Wilde H. HLA-G expression is associated with an unfavorable outcome and immunodeficiency in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood.* (2005) 105:1694–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-08-3335
- Sebti Y, Le Friec G, Pangault C, Gros F, Drenou B, Guilloux V, et al. Soluble HLA-G molecules are increased in lymphoproliferative disorders. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1093–101. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.345
- 76. Gros F, Sebti Y, de Guibert S, Branger B, Bernard M, Fauchet R, et al. Soluble HLA-G molecules increase during acute leukemia, especially in subtypes affecting monocytic and lymphoid lineages. *Neoplasia*. (2006) 8:223–30. doi: 10.1593/neo.05703
- 77. Jesionek-Kupnicka D, Bojo M, Prochorec-Sobieszek M, Szumera-Cieckiewicz A, Jablonska J, Kalinka-Warzocha E, et al. HLA-G and MHC class II protein expression in diffuse large B-Cell lymphoma. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). (2016) 64:225–40. doi: 10.1007/s00005-015-0372-8
- Caocci G, Greco M, Fanni D, Senes G, Littera R, Lai S, et al. HLA-G expression and role in advanced-stage classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *Eur J Histochem.* (2016) 60:2606. doi: 10.4081/ejh.2016.2606
- 79. Diepstra A, Poppema S, Boot M, Visser L, Nolte IM, Niens M, et al. HLA-G protein expression as a potential immune escape mechanism in classical Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Tissue Antigens*. (2008) 71:219–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2008.01005.x
- Urosevic M, Dummer R. HLA-G and IL-10 expression in human cancerdifferent stories with the same message. Semin Cancer Biol. (2003) 13:337– 42. doi: 10.1016/s1044-579x(03)00024-5
- Urosevic M, Kamarashev J, Burg G, Dummer R. Primary cutaneous CD8+ and CD56+ T-cell lymphomas express HLA-G and killer-cell inhibitory ligand, ILT2. *Blood*. (2004) 103:1796–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-10-3372
- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. Annu Rev Immunol. (2004) 22:329– 60. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104803
- Favier B, Lemaoult J, Lesport E, Carosella ED. ILT2/HLA-G interaction impairs NK-cell functions through the inhibition of the late but not the early events of the NK-cell activating synapse. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:689– 99. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-135194
- Menier C, Riteau B, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. MICA triggering signal for NK cell tumor lysis is counteracted by HLA-G1-mediated inhibitory signal. *Int J Cancer*. (2002) 100:63–70. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10460
- Ristich V, Liang S, Zhang W, Wu J, Horuzsko A. Tolerization of dendritic cells by HLA-G. *Eur J Immunol.* (2005) 35:1133–42. doi: 10.1002/eji.200425741
- Muz B, de la Puente P, Azab F, Ghobrial IM, Azab AK. Hypoxia promotes dissemination and colonization in new bone marrow niches in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2015) 13:263– 72. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-14-0150
- Moreau P, Adrian-Cabestre F, Menier C, Guiard V, Gourand L, Dausset J, et al. IL-10 selectively induces HLA-G expression in human trophoblasts and monocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:803–11.

- Morandi F, Rizzo R, Fainardi E, Rouas-Freiss N, Pistoia V. Recent advances in our understanding of HLA-G biology: lessons from a wide spectrum of human diseases. J Immunol Res. (2016) 2016:4326495. doi: 10.1155/2016/4326495
- Urosevic M, Willers J, Mueller B, Kempf W, Burg G, Dummer R. HLA-G protein up-regulation in primary cutaneous lymphomas is associated with interleukin-10 expression in large cell T-cell lymphomas and indolent B-cell lymphomas. *Blood.* (2002) 99:609–17. doi: 10.1182/blood.v99.2.609
- 90. Ibrahim EC, Aractingi S, Allory Y, Borrini F, Dupuy A, Duvillard P, et al. Analysis of HLA antigen expression in benign and malignant melanocytic lesions reveals that upregulation of HLA-G expression correlates with malignant transformation, high inflammatory infiltration and HLA-A1 genotype. Int J Cancer. (2004) 108:243–50. doi: 10.1002/ijc.11456
- 91. Urosevic M, Kurrer MO, Kamarashev J, Mueller B, Weder W, Burg G, et al. Human leukocyte antigen G up-regulation in lung cancer associates with high-grade histology, human leukocyte antigen class I loss and interleukin-10 production. *Am J Pathol.* (2001) 159:817–24. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61756-7
- Fukushima Y, Oshika Y, Nakamura M, Tokunaga T, Hatanaka H, Abe Y, et al. Increased expression of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen-G in colorectal cancer cells. *Int J Mol Med.* (1998) 2:349– 51. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2.3.349
- 93. Lefebvre S, Antoine M, Uzan S, McMaster M, Dausset J, Carosella ED, et al. Specific activation of the non-classical class I histocompatibility HLA-G antigen and expression of the ILT2 inhibitory receptor in human breast cancer. J Pathol. (2002) 196:266–74. doi: 10.1002/path.1039
- 94. Aractingi S, Briand N, Le Danff C, Viguier M, Bachelez H, Michel L, et al. HLA-G and NK receptor are expressed in psoriatic skin: a possible pathway for regulating infiltrating T cells? *Am J Pathol.* (2001) 159:71– 7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61675-6
- Singer G, Rebmann V, Chen YC, Liu HT, Ali SZ, Reinsberg J, et al. HLA-G is a potential tumor marker in malignant ascites. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2003) 9:4460– 4.
- Ye SR, Yang H, Li K, Dong DD, Lin XM, Yie SM. Human leukocyte antigen G expression: as a significant prognostic indicator for patients with colorectal cancer. *Mod Pathol.* (2007) 20:375–83. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3800751
- 97. Yie SM, Yang H, Ye SR, Li K, Dong DD, Lin XM. Expression of human leukocyte antigen G (HLA-G) correlates with poor prognosis in gastric carcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2007) 14:2721–9. doi: 10.1245/s10434-007-9464-y
- Erikci AA, Karagoz B, Ozyurt M, Ozturk A, Kilic S, Bilgi O. HLA-G expression in B chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a new prognostic marker? *Hematology*. (2009) 14:101–5. doi: 10.1179/102453309X385197
- Yan WH, Lin A, Chen BG, Luo WD, Dai MZ, Chen XJ, et al. Unfavourable clinical implications for HLA-G expression in acute myeloid leukaemia. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2008) 12:889–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00175.x
- Riteau B, Faure F, Menier C, Viel S, Carosella ED, Amigorena S, et al. Exosomes bearing HLA-G are released by melanoma cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1064–72. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.344
- 101. Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Roux DT, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G: an immune checkpoint molecule. Adv Immunol. (2015) 127:33–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001
- 102. Abusamra AJ, Zhong Z, Zheng X, Li M, Ichim TE, Chin JL, et al. Tumor exosomes expressing Fas ligand mediate CD8+ T-cell apoptosis. Blood Cells Mol Dis. (2005) 35:169–73. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.200 5.07.001
- 103. Grange C, Tapparo M, Tritta S, Deregibus MC, Battaglia A, Gontero P, et al. Role of HLA-G and extracellular vesicles in renal cancer stem cell-induced inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation. *BMC Cancer.* (2015) 15:1009. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-2025-z
- 104. Konig L, Kasimir-Bauer S, Hoffmann O, Bittner AK, Wagner B, Manvailer LF, et al. The prognostic impact of soluble and vesicular HLA-G and its relationship to circulating tumor cells in neoadjuvant treated breast cancer patients. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:791–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.01.002
- 105. Schwich E, Rebmann V, Horn PA, Celik AA, Bade-Doding C, Kimmig R, et al. Vesicular-bound HLA-G as a predictive marker for disease
progression in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancers (Basel).* (2019) 11:1106. doi: 10.3390/cancers11081106

- Ibrahim EC, Guerra N, Lacombe MJ, Angevin E, Chouaib S, Carosella ED, et al. Tumor-specific up-regulation of the nonclassical class I HLA-G antigen expression in renal carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2001) 61:6838–45.
- 107. Bukur J, Rebmann V, Grosse-Wilde H, Luboldt H, Ruebben H, Drexler I, et al. Functional role of human leukocyte antigen-G up-regulation in renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63:4107–11.
- 108. Bukur J, Seliger B. The role of HLA-G for protection of human renal cell-carcinoma cells from immune-mediated lysis: implications for immunotherapies. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2003) 13:353–9. doi: 10.1016/s1044-579x(03)00026-9
- Dunker K, Schlaf G, Bukur J, Altermann WW, Handke D, Seliger B. Expression and regulation of non-classical HLA-G in renal cell carcinoma. *Tissue Antigens*. (2008) 72:137–48. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2008.01090.x
- 110. Seliger B, Schlaf G. Structure, expression and function of HLA-G in renal cell carcinoma. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2007) 17:444–50. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2007.07.001
- 111. Tronik-Le Roux D, Renard J, Verine J, Renault V, Tubacher E, LeMaoult J, et al. Novel landscape of HLA-G isoforms expressed in clear cell renal cell carcinoma patients. *Mol Oncol.* (2017) 11:1561– 78. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12119
- 112. Tronik-Le Roux D, Sautreuil M, Bentriou M, Verine J, Palma MB, Daouya M, et al. Comprehensive landscape of immune-checkpoints uncovered in clear cell renal cell carcinoma reveals new and emerging therapeutic targets. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2020) 69:1237–52. doi: 10.1007/s00262-020-02530-x
- 113. Rouas-Freiss N, LeMaoult J, Verine J, Tronik-Le Roux D, Culine S, Hennequin C, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity of immune checkpoints in primary renal cell cancer: focus on HLA-G/ILT2/ILT4. Oncoimmunology. (2017) 6:e1342023. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1342023
- 114. Dumont C, Jacquier A, Verine J, Noel F, Goujon A, Wu CL, et al. CD8(+)PD-1(-)ILT2(+) T cells are an intratumoral cytotoxic population selectively inhibited by the immune-checkpoint HLA-G. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1619–32. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0764
- 115. Swets M, Konig MH, Zaalberg A, Dekker-Ensink NG, Gelderblom H, van de Velde CJ, et al. HLA-G and classical HLA class I expression in primary colorectal cancer and associated liver metastases. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:773–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.03.001
- 116. Lee N, Llano M, Carretero M, Ishitani A, Navarro F, Lopez-Botet M, et al. HLA-E is a major ligand for the natural killer inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (1998) 95:5199–204. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.9.5199
- 117. Yie SM, Yang H, Ye SR, Li K, Dong DD Lin XM. Expression of HLA-G is associated with prognosis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Am J Clin Pathol.* (2007) 128:1002–9. doi: 10.1309/JNCW1QLDFB6AM9WE
- 118. Zheng J, Xu C, Chu D, Zhang X, Li J, Ji G, et al. Human leukocyte antigen G is associated with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma progression and poor prognosis. *Immunol Lett.* (2014) 161:13–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014. 04.007
- 119. Lin A, Zhang X, Zhou WJ, Ruan YY, Xu DP, Wang Q, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G expression is associated with a poor prognosis in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Cancer.* (2011) 129:1382–90. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25807
- 120. Tuncel T, Karagoz B, Haholu A, Ozgun A, Emirzeoglu L, Bilgi O, et al. Immunoregulatory function of HLA-G in gastric cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. (2013) 14:7681–4. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2013.14.12.7681
- 121. Du L, Xiao X, Wang C, Zhang X, Zheng N, Wang L, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G is closely associated with tumor immune escape in gastric cancer by increasing local regulatory T cells. *Cancer Sci.* (2011) 102:1272–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2011.01951.x
- 122. Zhou L, Niu ZY, Liang ZY, Zhou WX, You L, Wang MY, et al. HLA-G impairs host immune response and predicts poor prognosis in pancreatic cancer. *Am J Transl Res.* (2015) 7:2036–44.
- Khodabandeh Shahraki P, Zare Y, Azarpira N, Hosseinzadeh M, Farjadian S. Prognostic value of HLA-G in malignant liver and pancreas lesions. *Iran J Immunol.* (2018) 15:28–37.
- 124. Xu YF, Lu Y, Cheng H, Jiang J, Xu J, Long J, et al. High expression of human leukocyte antigen-g is associated with a

poor prognosis in patients with PDAC. Curr Mol Med. (2015) 15:360–7. doi: 10.2174/1566524015666150401102218

- 125. Cai MY, Xu YF, Qiu SJ, Ju MJ, Gao Q, Li YW, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G protein expression is an unfavorable prognostic predictor of hepatocellular carcinoma following curative resection. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:4686– 93. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0463
- 126. Wang Y, Ye Z, Meng XQ, Zheng SS. Expression of HLA-G in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int.* (2011) 10:158– 63. doi: 10.1016/s1499-3872(11)60025-8
- 127. Lin A, Chen HX, Zhu CC, Zhang X, Xu HH, Zhang JG, et al. Aberrant human leucocyte antigen-G expression and its clinical relevance in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cell Mol Med. (2010) 14:2162–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00917.x
- Chang CC, Murphy SP, Ferrone S. Differential in vivo and in vitro HLA-G expression in melanoma cells: potential mechanisms. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1057–63. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.357
- Maxwell PH, Dachs GU, Gleadle JM, Nicholls LG, Harris AL, Stratford IJ, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 modulates gene expression in solid tumors and influences both angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:8104–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.15.8104
- de Figueiredo Feitosa NL, Crispim JC, Zanetti BR, Magalhaes PK, Soares CP, Soares EG, et al. HLA-G is differentially expressed in thyroid tissues. *Thyroid.* (2014) 24:585–92. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.0246
- 131. Nunes LM, Ayres FM, Francescantonio IC, Saddi VA, Avelino MA, Alencar Rde C, et al. Association between the HLA-G molecule and lymph node metastasis in papillary thyroid cancer. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:447– 51. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.12.012
- 132. Garbe C, Leiter U. Melanoma epidemiology and trends. *Clin Dermatol.* (2009) 27:3–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2008.09.001
- 133. Sant M, Aareleid T, Berrino F, Bielska Lasota M, Carli PM, Faivre J, et al. EUROCARE-3: survival of cancer patients diagnosed 1990-94–results and commentary. Ann Oncol. (2003) 14 Suppl 5:v61–118. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdg754
- 134. Ibrahim EC, Allory Y, Commo F, Gattegno B, Callard P, Paul P. Altered pattern of major histocompatibility complex expression in renal carcinoma: tumor-specific expression of the nonclassical human leukocyte antigen-G molecule is restricted to clear cell carcinoma while up-regulation of other major histocompatibility complex antigens is primarily distributed in all subtypes of renal carcinoma. *Am J Pathol.* (2003) 162:501–8. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63844-8
- 135. Ugurel S, Rebmann V, Ferrone S, Tilgen W, Grosse-Wilde H, Reinhold U. Soluble human leukocyte antigen–G serum level is elevated in melanoma patients and is further increased by interferon-alpha immunotherapy. *Cancer.* (2001) 92:369–76. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(20010715)92:2<369::aidcncr1332>3.0.co;2-u
- 136. Wagner SN, Rebmann V, Willers CP, Grosse-Wilde H, Goos M. Expression analysis of classic and non-classic HLA molecules before interferon alfa-2b treatment of melanoma. *Lancet.* (2000) 356:220– 1. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02486-7
- 137. Adrian Cabestre F, Moreau P, Riteau B, Ibrahim EC, Le Danff C, Dausset J, et al. HLA-G expression in human melanoma cells: protection from NK cytolysis. J Reprod Immunol. (1999) 43:183–93.
- DeAngelis LM. Brain tumors. N Engl J Med. (2001) 344:114– 23. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200101113440207
- 139. Wang Y, Fan X, Li H, Lin Z, Bao H, Li S, et al. Tumor border sharpness correlates with HLA-G expression in low-grade gliomas. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2015) 282:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2015.02.013
- 140. Wastowski IJ, Simoes RT, Yaghi L, Donadi EA, Pancoto JT, Poras I, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G is frequently expressed in glioblastoma and may be induced in vitro by combined 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine and interferongamma treatments: results from a multicentric study. Am J Pathol. (2013) 182:540–52. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.10.021
- 141. Wiendl H, Mitsdoerffer M, Hofmeister V, Wischhusen J, Bornemann A, Meyermann R, et al. A functional role of HLA-G expression in human gliomas: an alternative strategy of immune escape. J Immunol. (2002) 168:4772–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.9.4772
- Ghoncheh M, Pournamdar Z, Salehiniya H. Incidence and mortality and epidemiology of breast cancer in the world. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. (2016) 17:43–6. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2016.17.s3.43

- 143. Ogiya R, Niikura N, Kumaki N, Yasojima H, Iwasa T, Kanbayashi C, et al. Comparison of immune microenvironments between primary tumors and brain metastases in patients with breast cancer. Oncotarget. (2017) 8:103671– 81. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.22110
- 144. Szekely B, Bossuyt V, Li X, Wali VB, Patwardhan GA, Frederick C, et al. Immunological differences between primary and metastatic breast cancer. *Ann Oncol.* (2018) 29:2232–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy399
- 145. Casadevall D, Li X, Powles RL, Wali V, Buza N, Pelekanou V, et al. Data from genomic and immune profiling of a patient with triple-negative breast cancer that progressed during neoadjuvant chemotherapy plus PD-L1 blockade. *JCO Precis Oncol.* (2019). doi: 10.1200/PO.18.00335
- 146. He X, Dong DD, Yie SM, Yang H, Cao M, Ye SR, et al. HLA-G expression in human breast cancer: implications for diagnosis and prognosis, and effect on allocytotoxic lymphocyte response after hormone treatment in vitro. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2010) 17:1459–69. doi: 10.1245/s10434-009-0891-9
- 147. Chen HX, Lin A, Shen CJ, Zhen R, Chen BG, Zhang X, et al. Upregulation of human leukocyte antigen-G expression and its clinical significance in ductal breast cancer. *Hum Immunol.* (2010) 71:892– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2010.06.009
- 148. de Kruijf EM, Sajet A, van Nes JG, Natanov R, Putter H, Smit VT, et al. HLA-E and HLA-G expression in classical HLA class I-negative tumors is of prognostic value for clinical outcome of early breast cancer patients. J Immunol. (2010) 185:7452–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002629
- 149. da Silva GB, Silva TG, Duarte RA, Neto NL, Carrara HH, Donadi EA, et al. Expression of the classical and nonclassical HLA molecules in breast cancer. *Int J Breast Cancer*. (2013) 2013:250435. doi: 10.1155/2013/250435
- 150. Ishibashi K, Kumai T, Ohkuri T, Kosaka A, Nagato T, Hirata Y, et al. Epigenetic modification augments the immunogenicity of human leukocyte antigen G serving as a tumor antigen for T cell-based immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology. (2016) 5:e1169356. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1169356
- 151. Ivanova-Todorova E, Kyurkchiev DS, Nalbanski A, Timeva T, Shterev A, Kyurkchiev SD. Production and characterization of a novel monoclonal antibody against progesterone-induced blocking factor (PIBF). J Reprod Immunol. (2008) 78:94–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.12.001
- 152. Yie SM, Li LH, Li GM, Xiao R, Librach CL. Progesterone enhances HLA-G gene expression in JEG-3 choriocarcinoma cells and human cytotrophoblasts in vitro. *Hum Reprod.* (2006) 21:46–51. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dei305
- 153. Kondo K. [Development of an HPV vaccine-remaining issues and perspective]. *Nihon Rinsho.* (2009) 67:62–8.
- 154. Miranda LN, Reginaldo FP, Souza DM, Soares CP, Silva TG, Rocha KB, et al. Greater expression of the human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) and interleukin-17 (IL-17) in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: analytical cross-sectional study. São Paulo Med J. (2015) 133:336–42. doi: 10.1590/1516-3180.2013.7170009
- Kryczek I, Wei S, Szeliga W, Vatan L, Zou W. Endogenous IL-17 contributes to reduced tumor growth and metastasis. *Blood.* (2009) 114:357– 9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-177360
- 156. Kryczek I, Banerjee M, Cheng P, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Wei S, et al. Phenotype, distribution, generation, and functional and clinical relevance of Th17 cells in the human tumor environments. *Blood.* (2009) 114:1141– 9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-208249
- 157. Li XJ, Zhang X, Lin A, Ruan YY, Yan WH. Human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) expression in cervical cancer lesions is associated with disease progression. *Hum Immunol.* (2012) 73:946–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.07.041
- 158. Guimaraes MC, Soares CP, Donadi EA, Derchain SF, Andrade LA, Silva TG, et al. Low expression of human histocompatibility soluble leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G5) in invasive cervical cancer with and without metastasis, associated with papilloma virus (HPV). J Histochem Cytochem. (2010) 58:405–11. doi: 10.1369/jhc.2009.954131
- 159. Rodriguez JA, Galeano L, Palacios DM, Gomez C, Serrano ML, Bravo MM, et al. Altered HLA class I and HLA-G expression is associated with IL-10 expression in patients with cervical cancer. *Pathobiology*. (2012) 79:72– 83. doi: 10.1159/000334089
- 160. Jung YW, Kim YT, Kim SW, Kim S, Kim JH, Cho NH, et al. Correlation of human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) expression and disease progression in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Reprod Sci.* (2009) 16:1103– 11. doi: 10.1177/1933719109342131

- 161. Menier C, Prevot S, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Human leukocyte antigen-G is expressed in advanced-stage ovarian carcinoma of high-grade histology. *Hum Immunol.* (2009) 70:1006–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2009.07.021
- 162. Barrier BF, Kendall BS, Sharpe-Timms KL, Kost ER. Characterization of human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) expression in endometrial adenocarcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2006) 103:25– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.01.045
- 163. Barrier BF, Kendall BS, Ryan CE, Sharpe-Timms KL. HLA-G is expressed by the glandular epithelium of peritoneal endometriosis but not in eutopic endometrium. *Hum Reprod.* (2006) 21:864–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ dei408
- 164. Yie SM, Yang H, Ye SR, Li K, Dong DD, Lin XM. Expression of human leucocyte antigen G (HLA-G) is associated with prognosis in non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. (2007) 58:267–74. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2007.06.011
- 165. Rebmann V, Busemann A, Lindemann M, Grosse-Wilde H. Detection of HLA-G5 secreting cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1017–24. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.354
- 166. Yan WH, Liu D, Lu HY, Li YY, Zhang X, Lin A. Significance of tumour cell HLA-G5/-G6 isoform expression in discrimination for adenocarcinoma from squamous cell carcinoma in lung cancer patients. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2015) 19:778–85. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12400
- 167. Schutt P, Schutt B, Switala M, Bauer S, Stamatis G, Opalka B, et al. Prognostic relevance of soluble human leukocyte antigen-G and total human leukocyte antigen class I molecules in lung cancer patients. *Hum Immunol.* (2010) 71:489–95. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2010.02.015
- Lin A, Yan WH, Xu HH, Gan MF, Cai JF, Zhu M, et al. HLA-G expression in human ovarian carcinoma counteracts NK cell function. *Ann Oncol.* (2007) 18:1804–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdm356
- Miner CA, Giri TK, Meyer CE, Shabsovich M, Tripathy SK. Acquisition of activation receptor ligand by trogocytosis renders NK cells hyporesponsive. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:1945–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402408
- 170. Paul P, Rouas-Freiss N, Moreau P, Cabestre FA, Menier C, Khalil-Daher I, et al. HLA-G, -E, -F preworkshop: tools and protocols for analysis of nonclassical class I genes transcription and protein expression. *Hum Immunol.* (2000) 61:1177–95. doi: 10.1016/s0198-8859(00)00154-3
- 171. Menier C, Saez B, Horejsi V, Martinozzi S, Krawice-Radanne I, Bruel S, et al. Characterization of monoclonal antibodies recognizing HLA-G or HLA-E: new tools to analyze the expression of nonclassical HLA class I molecules. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:315–26. doi: 10.1016/s0198-8859(02)00 821-2
- Rebmann V, Lemaoult J, Rouas-Freiss N, Carosella ED, Grosse-Wilde H. Report of the wet workshop for quantification of soluble HLA-G in Essen, 2004. *Hum Immunol.* (2005) 66:853–63. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2005.05.003
- 173. Furukawa A, Meguro M, Yamazaki R, Watanabe H, Takahashi A, Kuroki K, et al. Evaluation of the reactivity and receptor competition of HLA-G isoforms toward available antibodies: implications of structural characteristics of HLA-G isoforms. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:5947. doi: 10.3390/ijms20235947
- 174. Loke YW, King A, Burrows T, Gardner L, Bowen M, Hiby S, et al. Evaluation of trophoblast HLA-G antigen with a specific monoclonal antibody. *Tissue Antigens*. (1997) 50:135–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.1997.tb02852.x
- 175. Clements CS, Kjer-Nielsen L, Kostenko L, Hoare HL, Dunstone MA, Moses E, et al. Crystal structure of HLA-G: a nonclassical MHC class I molecule expressed at the fetal-maternal interface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:3360–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409676102
- 176. Liu J, Wang L, Gao W, Li L, Cui X, Yang H, et al. Inhibitory receptor immunoglobulin-like transcript 4 was highly expressed in primary ductal and lobular breast cancer and significantly correlated with IL-10. *Diagn Pathol.* (2014) 9:85. doi: 10.1186/1746-1596-9-85
- 177. Sun Y, Liu J, Gao P, Wang Y, Liu C. Expression of Ig-like transcript 4 inhibitory receptor in human non-small cell lung cancer. *Chest.* (2008) 134:783–8. doi: 10.1378/chest.07-1100
- 178. Kang X, Kim J, Deng M, John S, Chen H, Wu G, et al. Inhibitory leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptors: immune checkpoint proteins and tumor sustaining factors. *Cell Cycle.* (2016) 15:25–40. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2015.1121324

- Liu X, Yu X, Xie J, Zhan M, Yu Z, Xie L, et al. ANGPTL2/LILRB2 signaling promotes the propagation of lung cancer cells. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:21004– 15. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4217
- Zheng J, Umikawa M, Cui C, Li J, Chen X, Zhang C, et al. Inhibitory receptors bind ANGPTLs and support blood stem cells and leukaemia development. *Nature*. (2012) 485:656–60. doi: 10.1038/nature11095
- 181. Carbone C, Piro G, Fassan M, Tamburrino A, Mina MM, Zanotto M, et al. An angiopoietin-like protein 2 autocrine signaling promotes EMT during pancreatic ductal carcinogenesis. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:13822–34. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2635
- 182. Zhang P, Guo X, Li J, Yu S, Wang L, Jiang G, et al. Immunoglobulin-like transcript 4 promotes tumor progression and metastasis and up-regulates VEGF-C expression via ERK signaling pathway in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget. (2015) 6:13550–63. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3624
- 183. Romero JM, Jimenez P, Cabrera T, Cozar JM, Pedrinaci S, Tallada M, et al. Coordinated downregulation of the antigen presentation machinery and HLA class I/beta2-microglobulin complex is responsible for HLA-ABC loss in bladder cancer. *Int J Cancer.* (2005) 113:605–10. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 20499
- 184. del Campo AB, Kyte JA, Carretero J, Zinchencko S, Mendez R, Gonzalez-Aseguinolaza G, et al. Immune escape of cancer cells with beta2microglobulin loss over the course of metastatic melanoma. *Int J Cancer*. (2014) 134:102–13. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28338
- 185. Hicklin DJ, Wang Z, Arienti F, Rivoltini L, Parmiani G, Ferrone S. beta2-Microglobulin mutations, HLA class I antigen loss, and tumor

progression in melanoma. J Clin Invest. (1998) 101:2720-9. doi: 10.1172/J CI498

- Kuroki K, Maenaka K. Immune modulation of HLA-G dimer in maternalfetal interface. *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37:1727–9. doi: 10.1002/ejj.200737515
- Ober C, Aldrich C, Rosinsky B, Robertson A, Walker MA, Willadsen S, et al. HLA-G1 protein expression is not essential for fetal survival. *Placenta*. (1998) 19:127–32. doi: 10.1016/s0143-4004(98)90000-5
- 188. Hunt JS, Petroff MG, McIntire RH, Ober C. HLA-G and immune tolerance in pregnancy. *FASEB J.* (2005) 19:681–93. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-2078rev
- 189. Rouas-Freiss N, Bruel S, Menier C, Marcou C, Moreau P, Carosella ED. Switch of HLA-G alternative splicing in a melanoma cell line causes loss of HLA-G1 expression and sensitivity to NK lysis. *Int J Cancer.* (2005) 117:114–22. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21151

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Loustau, Anna, Dréan, Lecomte, Langlade-Demoyen and Caumartin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Soluble HLA-G and HLA-G Bearing Extracellular Vesicles Affect ILT-2 Positive and ILT-2 Negative CD8 T Cells Complementary

Esther Schwich¹, Gia-Gia T. Hò², Joel LeMaoult^{3,4}, Christina Bade-Döding², Edgardo D. Carosella^{3,4}, Peter A. Horn¹ and Vera Rebmann^{1*}

¹ Institute for Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital Essen, University Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany, ² Institute for Transfusion Medicine, Hannover Medical School, Hanover, Germany, ³ Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique et aux Energies Alternatives (CEA), Direction de La Recherche Fondamentale (DRF), Service de Recherche en Hémato-Immunologie (SRHI), Hôpital Saint-Louis, Paris, France, ⁴ Institut de Recherche Saint-Louis, Université de paris, Paris, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hermann Einsele, Julius Maximilian University of Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Cristian Alvarez, University of Antioquia, Colombia Anne Caignard, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

> *Correspondence: Vera Rebmann Vera.Rebmann@uk-essen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alloimmunity and Transplantation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 15 May 2020 **Accepted:** 28 July 2020 **Published:** 21 August 2020

Citation:

Schwich E, Hò G-GT, LeMaoult J, Bade-Döding C, Carosella ED, Horn PA and Rebmann V (2020) Soluble HLA-G and HLA-G Bearing Extracellular Vesicles Affect ILT-2 Positive and ILT-2 Negative CD8 T Cells Complementary. Front. Immunol. 11:2046. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.02046 Tumor immune escape is associated with both, the expression of immune checkpoint molecules on peripheral immune cells and soluble forms of the human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) in the blood, which are consequently discussed as clinical biomarker for disease status and outcome of cancer patients. HLA-G preferentially interacts with the inhibitory receptor immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT) receptor-2 in the blood and can be secreted as free soluble molecules (sHLA-G) or via extracellular vesicles (EV). To investigate the contribution of these two forms to the expression of checkpoint molecules in peripheral blood, we primed peripheral blood mononuclear cells with purified soluble sHLA-G1 protein, or EV preparations derived from SUM149 cells transfected with membrane-bound HLA-G1 or control vector prior to anti-CD3/CD28 T cell activation. Our study demonstrated that priming of PBMC with sHLA-G1 protein prior to 48 h activation resulted in enhanced frequencies of ILT-2 expressing CD8⁺ T cells, and in an upregulation of immune checkpoint molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 exclusively on ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells. In contrast, when PBMC were primed with EV (containing HLA-G1 or not) upregulation of CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 occurred exclusively on ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells. Taken together, our data suggest that priming with sHLA-G forms induces a pronounced immunosuppressive/exhausted phenotype and that priming with sHLA-G1 protein or EV derived from HLA-G1 positive or negative SUM149 cells affects CD8+ T cells complementary by targeting either the ILT-2 positive or negative subpopulation, respectively, after T cell activation.

Keywords: HLA-G, ILT-2, immune checkpoint, extracellular vesicles, exosomes, breast cancer

INTRODUCTION

The human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) belongs to the non-classical class I HLA molecules and can exist in different isoforms expressed either as membrane-anchored structures or as secreted molecules (1–4). Additionally, HLA-G can be released as membrane-anchored molecules from various cell types via extracellular vesicles (EV) (5). EV are phospholipid bilayer-enclosed vesicles

that are present in biofluids and cell culture media (6). Assembly of EV depends on their cell of origin and differs remarkably encompassing a broad spectrum of antigens, cell surface-expressed receptors and/or ligands, metabolites, and nucleic acids (7). Generally, the unique molecular signature of EV guides their biodistribution, uptake and internalization (7). As multifactorial vehicles, EV orchestrate various systemic processes, triggering changes of the state of the recipient cell (8). In malignancies, EV play a critical role in the establishment and maintenance of the tumor microenvironment (TME) (6), which enables tumor development by continuous crosstalk between tumor cells and their microenvironment and by providing the tumor with cellular and soluble components including nutrients, oxygen, metabolites, and several other soluble factors (9). EV can either directly fuse with a target cell enabling the transfer of bioactive molecules to both, adjacent and distant sites, or be internalized via phagocytosis, endocytosis or micropinocytosis, thereby contributing to an intracellular signaling mechanism (10). Of note, fusion depends on an acidic micro-environment which naturally occurs inside tumors (11-14), while uptake and internalization of EV are primarily receptor-mediated via adhesion molecules (15). Thereby, tumor-derived EV (TEV) may represent an alternative mechanism of immunosurveillance deficiency impairing diverse immune cell lineages (6).

HLA-G preferentially serves as a ligand for inhibitory receptors present on different immune cells including the immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT) receptor-2 (LILRB1/CD85j), ILT-4 (LILRB2/CD85d) and the killer immunoglobulin-like receptor 2DL4 (KIR2DL4/CD158d). ILT-2 is broadly expressed on monocytes, B cells, dendritic cells, and a subset of natural killer (NK) and T cells, whereas ILT-4 expression is myeloid-specific (16). Thus, HLA-G is able to impair functions of effector cells of both, the adaptive and the innate immune system. The ILT-2 receptor interacts with HLA-G molecules associated to β2-microglobulin and HLA-G dimers bind to ILT-2 with a higher affinity and avidity than monomers (17). Of note, similar to classical soluble HLA class I, soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) can interact with the CD8 T cell co-receptor, which increases surface expression and secretion of FasL - the ligand of the Fas (CD95) receptor – inducing cell apoptosis (18).

Physiologically, HLA-G has a restricted tissue expression, whereas neo-expression of HLA-G and its diverse structures is induced in various pathological situations (2). Due to the role of HLA-G in tumor immune escape, it is proposed to be an immune checkpoint (IC) molecule (19). Indeed, expression of HLA-G or sHLA-G has been associated with poor survival, prognosis, therapy response, clinical status, and outcome in various malignancies [reviewed in Carosella et al. (19)]. Lately, HLA-G bearing EV (HLA-G_{EV}) originated from liquid biopsies of blood samples derived from breast and ovarian cancer patients have been introduced as novel cancer biomarker (20, 21). Strikingly, in these studies exclusively HLA-G_{EV}, but not sHLA-G, were of prognostic relevance suggesting self-contained effects of both structures. However, the structural diversity concerning monomers, dimers, and HLA-G expressing EV in liquid biopsies such as peripheral blood samples makes it difficult to implement HLA-G as a meaningful clinical biomarker with its functional

consequences for peripheral immune effector cells (22). In this context, it is of note that the ILT-2 receptor is the sole inhibitory HLA-G receptor being expressed on peripheral blood cells, albeit only a minority of blood effector cells express ILT-2 (23). Thus, it has been proposed that the functional consequences of HLA-G and its soluble forms for immune cells in the blood should be focused on HLA-G sensitive effectors, namely the ILT-2 positive ones (23).

Besides HLA-G and ILT-2, additional IC molecules such as programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1), cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein (CTLA-4), T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (TIM-3), and CD95 are associated in tumor-driven immune escape mechanisms acting locally at the tumor site or systemically in the peripheral blood (24-26). The continuous upregulation and co-expression of multiple IC, being often observed in cancer and chronic infections, are indicative for an immunosuppressive/exhausted phenotype of T cells and are associated with loss of effector functions and immunosurveillance (27, 28). Hitherto, no data exists on the relation between sHLA-G or HLA-G_{EV} and the expression of ICs on peripheral blood cells. Hence, the aim of this study was to analyze the contribution of soluble forms of HLA-G to the surface expression of IC molecules. Purified sHLA-G1 molecules (29) and EV preparations derived from the human breast cancer (BC) cell line SUM149 either stable transfected with HLA-G1 or with a control vector served as antigen sources in functional assays. To model whether presence of sHLA-G1 or HLA-GEV in the peripheral blood modulates immune effector cells regarding their expression of ICs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were primed with sHLA-G1 or with HLA-G1 positive or negative EV preparations overnight prior to T cell activation with anti-CD3/CD28. As EV harbor multiple types of molecules, structures, and genetic information, we placed emphasis on both, the ILT-2 positive and ILT-2 negative T cell population.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Culture

Human BC cell line SUM149 was stable transfected with a GFP construct targeting HLA-G G1 (SUM149 LV2 G1-GFP) or with a control vector encoding GFP only (SUM149 LV2 N3-GFP). Cells were cultured in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin (both Thermo Fisher Scientific, Darmstadt, Germany) and 10% FBS Good Forte (PAN-Biotech GmbH, Aidenbach, Germany) at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Conditioned media (CM) were collected for EV enrichment and frozen at -20° C.

Isolation and Characterization of Extracellular Vesicles Derived From Conditioned Media

To isolate EV derived from CM of HLA-G1 transfected SUM149 cells (G1 EV) and the respective control cells (N3 EV), CM were thawed and centrifuged at 2,800 \times g for 30 min at 4°C

and concentrated by tangential flow filtration (Repligen, Breda, Netherlands) with a 750 kDa/115 cm² mPES filter (D02-E500-05-N). The concentrate was subjected to ultra-centrifugation at 100,000 \times g for 2 h at 4°C in a swinging bucket SW40 Ti rotor (Beckman Coulter, Krefeld, Germany). The pelletized EV were resuspended in 0.9% NaCl supplemented with 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

EV fractions were analyzed as previously recommended as a minimal requirement for the definition of EV (30, 31). Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) on the ZetaView Laser Scattering Video Microscope (Particle Metrix, Meerbusch, Germany) and its corresponding software (version 8.03.08.02) revealed a size distribution (mean \pm SD nm) of 136.7 \pm 3.3 and 133.4 ± 3.3 for the G1 EV or N3 EV preparation (Supplementary Table S1), which corresponds to the known size of EV, ranging between 30 and 150 nm (32). Particle concentration was determined by NTA and protein concentration was defined by protein assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific) (Supplementary Table S1). Expression of components associated with EVs and classical HLA class I was verified by SDS PAGE and western blot (Supplementary Figure S1A). 15 µg of EV suspensions were used for immunoblotting and 10 µg cell lysate derived from the respective cells served as control. Both preparations showed the typical EV marker profile including presence of TSG101 (clone: T5701; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States), classical HLA class I [a-heavy chain HLA class I; (33)], Syntenin (clone EPR8102; Abcam), and CD81 (clone: 5A6; BioLegend, Koblenz, Germany) and absence of Calnexin (Abcam) excluding cellular protein contamination. Additionally, western blot analysis revealed that HLA-G (clone 4H84; Exbio, Praha, Czechia) present in both, cell lysate and EV fraction of SUM149 LV2 G1-GFP cells and absent in cell lysate and EV fraction of the control SUM149 LV2 N3-GFP cells (Supplementary Figure S1B). Both, the NTA results and the EV marker profile fulfill the minimal requirement for the definition of EV (30, 31).

Stimulation of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells

Frozen PBMC of healthy donors [for isolation and storage of PBMC see Kordelas et al. (34)] were thawed in complete medium consisting of RPMI-1640, 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin, 10% human AB serum (Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital Essen, Germany), and 0.556 µg DNAse (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). In a 96-U-bottom plate 6×10^5 PBMC/well were cultured in 200 μL of DNAse-free complete medium at $37^\circ C$ and 5% CO₂ alone (control), in the presence of 1.2 ng purified HLA-G1 (sHLA-G1) protein (29) or in presence of 40 µg EV either derived from HLA-G1 transfected SUM149 cells (G1 EV) or from the respective control cells (N3 EV). 40 µg G1 EV corresponds to a mount of 1.2 ng HLA-G1 defined by HLA-G ELISA as previously described (20, 21, 35, 36). After 24 h, primed and unprimed PBMC were stimulated with beads coated with CD3/CD28 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in a bead to cell ratio of 1:3 for 48 h. Influence of stimulation on the expression of IC molecules on T cells was assessed (Supplementary Figure S2).

Additionally, viability of T cells upon stimulation and priming was analyzed (**Supplementary Figure S3**).

Flow Cytometric Analysis

LIVE/DEAD VioletTM Dead Cell Stain Kit was used according to manufacturer's instructions (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to analyze cell viability. Surface expression was analyzed by staining with fluorchromes-conjugated mononuclear antibodies targeting CD3 (BV510 clone OKT3), CD8 (PerCP-Cy5.5 clone SK1), PD-1 (AF488 clone EH12.2H7), CD95 (BV510 clone DX2), TIM-3 (PerCP/Cy5.5 clone F38-2E2), or CTLA-4 (BV605 clone BNI3). All antibodies were provided by BioLegend (Koblenz, Germany) with the exception of CD3 (Beckman Coulter). Isotype matched antibodies served as negative controls (BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany). Samples were subjected to multicolor flow cytometry using a CytoFlexS cytometer (Beckman Coulter). Data acquisition of at least 200.000 events was performed with CytExpert Version 2.1 software (Beckman Coulter) and analyzed with Kaluza Analysis 2.1 software. General gating strategy for flow cytometric analysis is visualized in Supplementary Figure S4. Analysis strategy for multiple-positive T cells is given in Supplementary Figure S5.

Statistical Analysis

Data is presented as median with the 10th and 90th percentile. Frequencies of a certain cell population are either expressed as% or as fold change (FC). For FC, frequencies of sHLA-G1- or EV-primed cells were normalized to the corresponding stimulations obtained without priming. After testing for Gaussian distribution, statistical significance was determined by paired *t*-tests or Wilcoxon test for testing of two groups or by two-way ANOVA for comparison of multiple groups. Statistical analysis was performed by using GraphPad Prism V8.3 software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, United States). *p*-values <0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Priming With sHLA-G1 Modulates the ILT-2 Expression of CD8⁺ T Cells

To mimic whether the expression of ICs on T cells can be modulated by the presence of sHLA-G1 in the peripheral blood, PBMC (n = 6) of healthy individuals were primed with sHLA-G1 overnight prior to stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28. Flow cytometric analysis (Supplementary Figure S2) revealed similar frequencies of ILT-2 positive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells [median (range) in%: 19.6 (14.8-24.5) and 22.7 (11.5-39.6), respectively] in unprimed PBMC upon stimulation with CD3/CD28. However, priming with sHLA-G1 resulted in a significant increase of ILT-2 on the CD8⁺ T cell subpopulation [53.8 (22.2-64.9)], while ILT-2 on CD4⁺ T cells was only marginally increased [23.8 (14.4-41.8); Supplementary Figure S6A]. In contrast to ILT-2, pre-incubation with sHLA-G1 did not influence the frequency of the IC molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, or CD95, neither in CD4⁺ nor CD8⁺ T cell subpopulations (Supplementary Figures S6B-E).

Priming With sHLA-G1 Modulates the Expression of Immune Checkpoint Molecules Exclusively on ILT-2 Positive CD8⁺ T Cells

As the immunomodulatory effect of sHLA-G1 is preferentially mediated via its interaction with ILT-2, $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T

cells were stratified according to their ILT-2 expression. Focusing on the ILT-2 positive CD4⁺ subpopulation, frequencies of IC molecules were not significantly altered by priming with sHLA-G1. However, among the ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells, priming with sHLA-G1 resulted in a significant increase of CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 (**Figures 1A–D**) frequencies. For the comparison of ILT-2 positive and negative CD8 subpopulations,



FIGURE 1 Priming with sHLA-G1 significantly increases surface frequency of immune-modulatory molecules of ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells, but not that of CD4⁺ T cells. Flow cytometric analysis of **(A–D)** ILT-2 positive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations and comparison of **(E–H)** ILT-2 positive and negative CD8⁺ T cells regarding the immune checkpoint molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95. PBMC of six healthy donors were primed with (+) or without (-) sHLA-G1 overnight followed by stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 beads for 48 h. **(A–D)** Population frequencies of the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ ILT-2 positive parent population are given. **(E–H)** For comparison of ILT2 positive and negative CD8⁺ subpopulation, frequencies obtained after stimulation of sHLA-G-primed cells were normalized to the corresponding stimulation obtained without priming and expressed as fold change (FC). Data is presented as median with the 10th and 90th percentile. Statistical significance was determined by two-tailed paired *t*-test. * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$.

frequencies of a certain cell population obtained after stimulation of sHLA-G1-primed cells were normalized to the corresponding ones obtained without priming. Strikingly, analysis revealed that the FC of CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 (**Figures 1E–H**) was significantly elevated on ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells compared to ILT-2 negative ones. Comparison of ILT-2 negative and positive CD4⁺ T cells showed no statistically different FC of any IC molecules. Combined these data evidence that sHLA-G -priming mediates an increase in IC molecules specifically on ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells, but not on ILT-2 negative ones.

Priming With EV Preparations Modulates Immune Checkpoint Molecules Exclusively on ILT-2 Negative CD8⁺ T Cells

To elucidate the immune-modulatory effect of the different EV preparations compared to sHLA-G1, PBMC were primed either with sHLA-G1 protein or with 40 µg of G1 EV, which corresponded to a mount of 1.2 ng HLA-G1 or with 40 μ g N3 EV prior to CD3/CD28 stimulation. For comparison, frequencies of a certain cell population obtained after stimulation of sHLA-G1- or EV-primed cells were normalized to the corresponding ones obtained without priming. Priming with sHLA-G1 or EV did not significantly result in an altered FC of ILT-2 positive or negative CD4⁺ T cells (Figure 2A). However, compared to sHLA-G1-treated cells, EV-priming lead to a significantly reduced FC of ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells, while the FC of its negative counterpart increased significantly (Figure 2B). Concerning the IC molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, and CD95, sHLA-G1- and EV-priming showed opposing effects: among the ILT-2 positive cells, EV-treatment mediated a decline of the FC of CTLA-4⁺, PD-1⁺ and CD95⁺ CD8⁺ T cells compared to sHLA-G1, while among the ILT-2 negative cells, priming with EV resulted in an enhanced FC of CTLA-4⁺, PD-1⁺ and CD95⁺ CD8⁺ T cells compared to sHLA-G1 (Figures 2C,D,F). Further, although not reaching significance, priming with G1 EV induced a substantially elevated (p = 0.07) FC of CTLA-4 in ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells compared to N3 EV-primed cells. Considering TIM-3, FC was significantly increased among the ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells upon priming with sHLA-G1 compared to EVtreatment, while among the ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells FC of TIM-3 was not differentially altered by priming with sHLA-G1 or EV preparations (Figure 2E).

Priming With sHLA-G1 or EV Preparations Drives ILT-2 Positive or Negative CD8⁺ T Cells, Respectively, Toward an Immunosuppressive/Exhausted Phenotype

As co-expression of multiple IC molecules is a feature of an immunosuppressive/exhausted phenotype, we analyzed the influence of sHLA-G- or EV-priming on the co-expression of CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 on ILT-2 positive and negative CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 3**). Strikingly, FC of at least two co-expressed IC was significantly increased upon sHLA-G1-priming compared to EV treatment in ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells, while among the ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells EV-priming led to significantly elevated FC of at least two co-expressed ICs compared to sHLA-G1-priming. Thus, sHLA-G1-priming and priming with EV originated from HLA-G1 positive or negative SUM149 cells appear to act complementary toward an immunosuppressive/exhausted phenotype by targeting either ILT-2 positive or ILT-negative CD8⁺ T cell subpopulations, respectively.

DISCUSSION

Immune effector cell dysfunction in the periphery of cancer patients can tremendously shape the evolution of tumors by mediating a suppressive/tolerogenic immune microenvironment impeding successful tumor elimination. Both, the expression of IC molecules on peripheral immune cells and soluble forms of HLA-G in the blood are associated with tumor immune escape and consequently discussed as clinical biomarker for disease status and outcome of cancer patients (19). Considering that HLA-G can be secreted as free sHLA-G molecules or via EV, we investigated the contribution of these two forms to the expression of the checkpoint molecules PD-1, CTLA-4, TIM-3, and CD95. In our experimental design we primed PBMC with purified sHLA-G1 protein or with EV preparations derived from the BC cell line SUM149 either HLA-G1 transfected or not prior to T cell stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 to mimic the situation in peripheral blood. The results of our study demonstrate that priming with purified sHLA-G1 protein before T cell activation resulted (i) in enhanced frequencies of ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells, and (ii) in enhanced frequencies of the IC molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 exclusively on ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells. (iii) Priming with HLA-G1 positive or negative EV preparations prior to T cell activation lead to enhanced frequencies of CTLA-4, PD-1, and CD95 exclusively on ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells. (iv) Accordingly, the coexpression of at least two IC, being indicative for a pronounced immunosuppressive or exhausted phenotype, was enhanced on ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells upon sHLA-G1 priming and on ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells upon EV priming. (v) Combined, priming with sHLA-G1 and EV derived from HLA-G1 positive or negative transfected SUM149 BC cells seem to affect CD8⁺ T cells complementary by targeting either the ILT-2 positive or ILT-2 negative subpopulation, respectively.

We demonstrated that priming with sHLA-G1 significantly increased the frequency of ILT-2 on CD8⁺ T cells, while frequencies of classical immune-modulatory molecules such as CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 were not altered. In fact, it has already been demonstrated that HLA-G1 is capable of signaling transcriptional and phenotypical changes in immune cells as described by the upregulation of ILT-2, ILT-3, ILT-4, and KIR2DL4 in antigen presenting cells, NK cells, and T cells (37). ILT-2 expression is considered to be more prominent on CD8⁺ T cells compared to CD4⁺ T cells with almost exclusive presence on previously activated cells (38–40). Our data, however,



FIGURE 2 | Priming with EV preparations derived from SUM149 cells significantly increase immune-modulatory molecules on ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells compared to SHLA-G-priming. Flow cytometric analysis of (A) CD4⁺ and (B–F) CD8⁺ T cell populations regarding (A,B) ILT-2 and the immune checkpoint molecules (C) CTLA-4, (D) PD-1, (E) TIM-3, and (F) CD95. PBMC of six healthy donors were primed with either sHLA-G1, or EV derived from SUM149 LV2 G1-GFP cells (G1 EV) or SUM149 LV2 N3-GFP (N3 EV) overnight followed by stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 beads for 48 h. For comparison of ILT2 positive and negative CD8⁺ subpopulation, frequencies obtained after stimulation of sHLA-G-primed cells were normalized to the corresponding stimulation obtained without priming and expressed as fold change (FC). Data is presented as median with the 10th and 90th percentile. Statistical significance was determined by two-way ANOVA. ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$, ***p < 0.0001.



showed similar frequencies of ILT-2 in CD3/CD28 stimulated unprimed CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, whereas ILT-2 frequencies were more pronounced within the CD8⁺ subpopulation upon sHLA-G1-priming.

Although generic analysis of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells did not reveal any sHLA-G-mediated alteration of tolerogenic molecules despite ILT-2, stratification of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells into ILT-2 positive and negative subpopulations revealed that sHLA-G1 predominantly and preferentially influences the IC molecule profile on ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells as compared to their ILT-2 negative counterpart. This is in line with Jacquier et al. (23) who requested that functional analyses of the immunosuppressive potential of HLA-G on PBMC should be refined toward ILT-2 positive, and thus, HLA-G-sensitive, cells.

A major mechanism by which tumor cells can impair immune effector function is hijacking of ICs as that mediated by the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway (41). Probably, different ICs (e.g., PD-1, CTLA-4) and HLA-G influence each other as it has been reported, for instance, for TIM-3 expression on CD8⁺ tumor infiltrating lymphocytes that is closely associated with PD-1 expression (42). Indeed, this is the first study describing a synergy of sHLA-G1 and the frequency of IC molecules on certain T cell subsets. In this context, Contini et al. (18) have already reported that sHLA-G can bind CD8 without T cell receptor interaction inducing apoptosis in activated CD8⁺ T cells through upregulation of FasL expression. Further, up-regulation of the expression of cell surface molecules such as FasL in cancer cells may mediate the dampening of cytotoxic T cell attacks (41). Thus, upregulation of the corresponding receptor CD95 (Fas) on sHLA-G1-primed CD8⁺ T cells – as observed in our study – may increase the probability of apoptotic T cell death as both, the ligand and the corresponding receptor are upregulated. Similarly, cancer cells express high levels of inhibitory ligands such as PD-L1 and PD-L2, which, upon binding to PD-1 on T cells inhibits response of T cells toward cancer cells (41). Again, sHLA-G1 priming resulted in elevated frequency of PD-1 on CD8⁺ T cells, potentially contributing to the establishment of immune escape via the PD-1/PD-L1 axis. Hence, sHLA-G1-priming reinforces an immunosuppressive TME rendering ILT-2 positive cytotoxic T cells unresponsive to cancer cells. Similarly, Dumont et al. (43) have demonstrated that CD8⁺ tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) expressing ILT-2 showed a higher cytotoxicity and IFNy production compared to their ILT-2 negative or PD-1 expressing counterparts and that cytotoxicity of ILT-2 positive TIL, but not that of ILT-2 negative or PD-1 positive TIL could be inhibited by HLA-G. Combined, Dumonts study and our study suggests that various IC pathway act concomitantly in the TME.

Hitherto, the majority of clinical studies analyzed sHLA-G molecules as a prognostic marker in various malignancies (19). Previously, we established that discrimination of sHLA-G forms represents diametric prognostic impacts on the clinical outcome of BC patients (21) and that only HLA-G_{EV}, but not the total amount of sHLA-G is an independent predictor for progression in ovarian cancer patients (20). Thus, we compared the effect of sHLA-G1 with that of EV derived from CM of SUM149 cells, transfected with (G1 EV) or without (N3 EV) HLA-G1. In our study we demonstrated that (iv) sHLA-G1 and EV impact CD8⁺

T cells complementary: while sHLA-G predominantly influenced ILT-2 positive cells, ILT-2 negative cells were highly affected by EV. Thereby, the surface expression pattern of immunemodulatory molecules on CD8⁺ T cells was substantially influenced toward an immunosuppressive/exhausted phenotype by both, sHLA-G and HLA-G_{EV} in an ILT-2-dependent or independent manner, respectively. Of note, ILT-2 positive cells and thus, per definition HLA-G-sensitive cells - represent only a minority of immune subsets (23). Hence, it is tempting to speculate that HLA-G_{EV} have a larger pool of cells to interact with, potentially explaining the prognostic relevance of HLA-G_{EV}, but not of total sHLA-G, in breast and ovarian cancer patients (20, 21). However, the prognostic potential of sHLA-G or HLA-G_{EV} might be changed in situations with increased frequencies of ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells such as during aging or chronic viral infections. Additionally, we demonstrated that our EV preparations carry classical HLA class I molecules. As classical HLA class I molecules are generally not expressed as a dimer, it is unlikely that they interact with the ILT-2 receptor which preferentially binds HLA-G dimers (44) rationalizing sHLA-G's preference to bind to the ILT-2 receptor on T cells. On the other hand, CD8 is the cognate receptor of classical HLA class I molecules explaining the preference of EV to interact with ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells.

Moreover, these results raise questions concerning the relation between these HLA-G structures in physiological and pathological situations. How does priming with a combination of sHLA-G1/HLA-G_{EV} affect the phenotype of T cells? Is the effect of sHLA-G1 and HLA-G_{EV} in the periphery additive, synergistic or competitive? Does one of the structures dominate? What is the ratio of sHLA-G1 to HLA-G_{EV} structures in the periphery of cancer patients in comparison to healthy individuals?

Despite these open questions, our data underline that EV are soluble carriers enhancing the immunosuppressive properties of the TME. As EV represent multifactorial vehicles, it should be acknowledged that the composition of the applied EV preparations is not restricted to HLA-G. In fact, TEV may expose ligands or antigens on their membrane that interact with cellular HLA receptors, thereby altering immune function (45). Moreover, TEV can carry immunosuppressive molecules such as FasL, TGF-B1, TRAIL, PD-L1, and NKG2D ligands, which are involved in immunosuppression (46, 47). Of note, TEV can affect the behavior of immune cells through receptorligand binding interaction or by internalization (10). Recently, it has been reported that the modulation of T cell function by TEV is not exerted via internalization by T cells, but rather via signaling molecules that they carry and deliver to the cell surface (46). Accordingly, we demonstrated that EV - irrespective of their composition - modify ILT-2 negative cells, while ILT-2 positive cells are unaffected. Notably, EV preparations are a heterogeneous group of diverse EV subsets. Comprehensive analysis of the EV preparations, especially considering classical IC molecules, might shed further light on the functionality of the EV-driven immunological modifications. In this context, elucidating the structural diversity of HLA-G on EV with regards to the monomeric vs. dimeric conformation, may explain the affinity toward ILT-2 negative CD8+ T cells observed under

our experimental conditions. Of note, another open, but highly interesting question is the sensitivity of $CD8^+$ T cells toward priming followed by anti-CD3/CD28 stimulation. Two major mechanisms by which TEV can contribute to tumor evasion are the initiation of apoptosis in cytotoxic $CD8^+$ T cells and the conversion of conventional $CD4^+$ T cells into regulatory T cells (48). Thus, the sensitivity of $CD8^+$ T cells to priming with sHLA-G forms observed in our study might be explained by our lack of emphasis on the regulatory phenotype of $CD4^+$ T cells biasing the analyses toward the CD8⁺ T cell subpopulation.

A limitation of our study is the lack of blocking experiments demonstrating HLA-G specificity of the G1 EV preparation and the lack of functional assays demonstrating the functionality of T cells with an immunosuppressive phenotype. Generally, the capability of G1 EV and N3 EV to modify the surface expression of immune-modulatory molecules was similar. Nevertheless, our data clearly show an EV-driven effect compared to sHLA-G-priming or compared to T cell stimulation without priming. Moreover, FC of CD95⁺ CD8⁺ T cells was tentatively increased upon priming with G1 EV compared to N3 EV. Here, homogeneous HLA-G_{EV} preparations might enhance the effects observed in our study; however, due to the current technical limitations in the EV field, purification of homogeneous EV fractions is impossible.

Concluding, our data elucidate that priming of immune effector cells by discrete sHLA-G forms, including purified sHLA-G1 protein as well as HLA-G1 positive and negative EV, differentially modifies the phenotype of these cells. Here, we report that sHLA-G1 preferentially influences ILT-2 positive CD8⁺ T cells, while HLA-G_{EV} mediate phenotypic alterations in ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells. Thus, it seems that discrete soluble HLA-G structures affect ILT-2 positive and ILT-2 negative CD8⁺ T cells complementary suggesting that HLA-G-mediated inhibition of effector immune cells is not restricted to cells expressing the corresponding receptor ILT-2. Further, we provide first evidence that immune-modulation by soluble HLA-G might involve other IC molecules toward an immunosuppressive or exhausted phenotype. Combined, our data highlight that analyses of HLA-G functionality should be extended to discrete structures reinforcing its complexity in the periphery of cancer patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ES: study design, data acquisition, statistical analysis, and manuscript writing. JL: provision of transfected SUM149 cells and manuscript editing. G-GH and CB-D: characterization and provision of sHLA-G1 protein and manuscript editing. EC and PH: manuscript editing. VR: study design, statistical analysis, and manuscript writing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

ES acknowledges support by the IFORES-Postdoctoral Excellence Program grant from the Medical Faculty of the University of Duisburg-Essen. We acknowledge support by the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Duisburg-Essen. The funders had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate the donation of the Buffy Coats of the healthy donors. We gratefully thank Francois Anna (Institut Pasteur, Unit for Molecular Virology and Vaccinology) for generation of the lentiviruses and the technical support by the colleagues of the Institute for Transfusion Medicine, especially Sabine Schramm and Monika Collenburg. Special thanks go to Bernd Giebel for providing the NTA facility.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.02046/full#supplementary-material

FIGURE S1 | EV characterization by western blotting. Marker expression analysis for **(A)** Calnexin, Tsg101, classical HLA class I, Syntenin, and CD81, and **(B)** HLA-G in EV fractions derived from SUM149 cell lines either transfected with a control vector (N3) or with HLA-G (G1) and their respective cell lysates. Cell lysates were used as positive control for Calnexin. Cell culture supernatants were collected and EV were purified by Tangential Flow Filtration and Ultra-centrifugation.

FIGURE S2 | Stimulation of PBMC with anti-CD3/CD28 beads increases frequency of surface expression of several markers on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Flow cytometric analysis of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations regarding (**A**) the HLA-G receptor ILT-2, and the immune checkpoint molecules (**B**) CTLA-4, (**C**) PD-1, (**D**) TIM-3, and (**E**) CD95. PBMC of six healthy donors were stimulated with (+) or without (-) anti-CD3/CD28 beads for 48 h. Population frequencies of the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ parent population are given. Data is presented as median with the 10th and 90th percentile. Statistical significance was determined by two-tailed paired *t*-test. * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$.

FIGURE S3 Effects of pre-incubation of PBMC on the viability of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. Flow cytometric analysis of T cell populations regarding (A) the

REFERENCES

- Carosella ED, Moreau P, Lemaoult J, Rouas-Freiss N. HLA-G: from biology to clinical benefits. *Trends Immunol.* (2008) 29:125–32. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2007.11. 005
- Curigliano G, Criscitiello C, Gelao L, Goldhirsch A. Molecular pathways: human leukocyte antigen G (HLA-G). *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:5564–71. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3697
- Geraghty DE, Koller BH, Orr HT. A human major histocompatibility complex class I gene that encodes a protein with a shortened cytoplasmic segment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1987) 84:9145–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84. 24.9145
- Lin AF, Yan WH. Heterogeneity of HLA-G expression in cancers: facing the challenges. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 02164

viability of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and **(B)** the expression of CD95 on dead CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and **(C)** the expression of CD95 on dead ILT-2 positive and negative CD8⁺ T cells. PBMC of six healthy donors were pre-incubated **(A,B)** with (+) or without (-) sHLA-G1, or **(C)** with sHLA-G1, G1 EV or N3 EV prior to stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 beads for 48 h. **(A,B)** Population frequencies of the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ parent population are given. **(C)** Data was normalized to stimulation without pre-incubation and is given as fold change. Data is presented as median with the 10th and 90th percentile. Statistical significance was determined by **(A,B)** two-tailed paired *t*-test (* $p \le 0.05$) or **(C)** two-way ANOVA (* $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$).

FIGURE S4 | General gating strategy of flow cytometric analysis to characterize T cell subpopulations in PBMC. Total lymphocytes were first gated on forward scatter (FSC)/side scatter (SSC) plot. After gating on single cells, dead cells were dismissed via the fluorescent dye Live/DeadTM. T cells were identified by the expression of the T cell receptor CD3. T cells were classified as CD8⁺ (CD3⁺CD8⁺) or CD4⁺ (CD3⁺CD8⁻) T cells. **(A)** Within the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ population expression frequencies of ILT-2, CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 were determined. **(B)** CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations expression frequencies of CTLA-4, PD-1, TIM-3, and CD95 were assessed. Data were analyzed using the Kaluza software and population requencies expressed as percent of the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ population or the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ and ILT-2⁻ parent population.

FIGURE S5 | General analysis strategy of multi-positive T cells. A tree analysis including gates of ILT-2, PD-1, CTLA-4, TIM-3, and CD95 was performed based on the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cell population divided into ILT-2 positive and negative subpopulation resulting in 32 receptor combinations (16 for ILT-2 positive and ILT-2 negative CD4⁺/CD8⁺ T cells, respectively). Due to low numbers of recorded frequencies for multi-positive cells, frequencies of cells with more than 1 receptor were added up for further analysis. A representative analysis of the CD8⁺ population is shown.

FIGURE S6 | Priming with SHLA-G1 significantly increases frequency of ILT-2 on CD8⁺ T cells, while frequency of immune checkpoint molecule is not altered by priming with SHLA-G1. Flow cytometric analysis of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell populations regarding (A) the HLA-G receptor ILT-2, and the immune checkpoint molecules (B) CTLA-4, (C) PD-1, (D) TIM-3, and (E) CD95. PBMC of six healthy donors were primed with (+) or without (-) sHLA-G1 overnight followed by stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 beads for 48 h. Population frequencies of the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ parent population are given. Data is presented as median with the 10th and 90th percentile. Statistical significance was determined by two-tailed paired *t*-test. * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$.

TABLE S1 | EV characterization by Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis and proteinassay. Particle concentration and particle size of EV fractions derived fromSUM149 cell lines either transfected with a control vector (N3) or with HLA-G (G1)was determined by Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis, while total proteinconcentration was assessed by MacroBCA. Cell culture supernatants werecollected and EV were enriched by Tangential Flow Filtration andUltra-centrifugation.

- Riteau B, Faure F, Menier C, Viel S, Carosella ED, Amigorena, S, et al. Exosomes bearing HLA-G are released by melanoma cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1064–72. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.344
- Han L, Lam EW, Sun Y. Extracellular vesicles in the tumor microenvironment: old stories, but new tales. *Mol Cancer*. (2019) 18:59. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0980-8
- Rebmann V, Konig L, Nardi Fda S, Wagner B, Manvailer LF, Horn PA. The potential of HLA-G-bearing extracellular vesicles as a future element in HLA-G immune biology. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016. 00173
- Schwich E, Rebmann V. The inner and outer qualities of extracellular vesicles for translational purposes in breast cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:584. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00584
- Wu T, Dai Y. Tumor microenvironment and therapeutic response. Cancer Lett. (2017) 387:61–8. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.01.043

- Mulcahy LA, Pink RC, Carter DR. Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. J Extracell Vesicles. (2014) 3:6–8. doi: 10.3402/jev.v3.24641
- Laulagnier K, Grand D, Dujardin A, Hamdi S, Vincent-Schneider H, Lankar D, et al. PLD2 is enriched on exosomes and its activity is correlated to the release of exosomes. *FEBS Lett.* (2004) 572:11–4. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2004. 06.082
- Laulagnier K, Motta C, Hamdi S, Roy S, Fauvelle F, Pageaux JF, et al. Mast cell- and dendritic cell-derived exosomes display a specific lipid composition and an unusual membrane organization. *Biochem J.* (2004) 380:161–71. doi: 10.1042/BJ20031594
- Subra C, Laulagnier K, Perret B, Record M. Exosome lipidomics unravels lipid sorting at the level of multivesicular bodies. *Biochimie*. (2007) 89:205–12. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2006.10.014
- Parolini I, Federici C, Raggi C, Lugini L, Palleschi S, De Milito A, et al. Microenvironmental pH is a key factor for exosome traffic in tumor cells. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:34211–22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.041152
- Record M, Carayon K, Poirot M, Silvente-Poirot S. Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cell-cell communication and various pathophysiologies. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2014) 1841:108–20. doi: 10.1016/j. bbalip.2013.10.004
- Shiroishi M, Tsumoto K, Amano K, Shirakihara Y, Colonna M, Braud VM, et al. Human inhibitory receptors Ig-like transcript 2 (ILT2) and ILT4 compete with CD8 for MHC class I binding and bind preferentially to HLA-G. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2003) 100:8856–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1431 057100
- Gonen-Gross T, Achdout H, Arnon TI, Gazit R, Stern N, Horejsi V, et al. The CD85J/leukocyte inhibitory receptor-1 distinguishes between conformed and beta 2-microglobulin-free HLA-G molecules. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:4866–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.8.4866
- Contini P, Ghio M, Poggi A, Filaci G, Indiveri F, Ferrone S, et al. Soluble HLA-A,-B,-C and -G molecules induce apoptosis in T and NK CD8+ cells and inhibit cytotoxic T cell activity through CD8 ligation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:125–34. doi: 10.1002/immu.200390015
- Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Tronik-Le Roux D, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G: an immune checkpoint molecule. *Adv Immunol.* (2015) 127:33–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001
- Schwich E, Rebmann V, Horn PA, Celik AA, Bade-Doding C, Kimmig R, et al. Vesicular-bound HLA-G as a predictive marker for disease progression in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancers*. (2019) 11:1106. doi: 10.3390/ cancers11081106
- Konig L, Kasimir-Bauer S, Hoffmann O, Bittner AK, Wagner B, Manvailer LF, et al. The prognostic impact of soluble and vesicular HLA-G and its relationship to circulating tumor cells in neoadjuvant treated breast cancer patients. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:791–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.01. 002
- 22. Nardi Fda S, Konig L, Wagner B, Giebel B, Santos Manvailer LF, Rebmann V. Soluble monomers, dimers and HLA-G-expressing extracellular vesicles: the three dimensions of structural complexity to use HLA-G as a clinical biomarker. *HLA*. (2016) 88:77–86. doi: 10.1111/tan.12844
- Jacquier A, Dumont C, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, LeMaoult J. Cytometrybased analysis of HLA-G functions according to ILT2 expression. *Hum Immunol.* (2020) 81:168–77. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2020.02.001
- 24. Tu L, Guan R, Yang H, Zhou Y, Hong W, Ma L, et al. Assessment of the expression of the immune checkpoint molecules PD-1, CTLA4, TIM-3 and LAG-3 across different cancers in relation to treatment response, tumor-infiltrating immune cells and survival. *Int J Cancer.* (2019) 147:423–39. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32785
- Elashi AA, Sasidharan Nair V, Taha RZ, Shaath H, Elkord E. DNA methylation of immune checkpoints in the peripheral blood of breast and colorectal cancer patients. *Oncoimmunology*. (2019) 8:e1542918. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018. 1542918
- Martin-Manzo MV, Lara C, Vargas-de-Leon C, Carrero J, Queipo G, Fonseca-Sanchez M, et al. Interaction of breast cancer and insulin resistance on PD1 and TIM3 expression in peripheral blood CD8 T cells. *Pathol Oncol Res.* (2019) 25:1233–43. doi: 10.1007/s12253-019-00610-7
- Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol. (2011) 12:492–9. doi: 10.1038/ni. 2035

- Schietinger A, Greenberg PD. Tolerance and exhaustion: defining mechanisms of T cell dysfunction. *Trends Immunol.* (2014) 35:51–60. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2013. 10.001
- 29. Celik AA, Simper GS, Huyton T, Blasczyk R, Bade-Doding C. HLA-G mediated immune regulation is impaired by a single amino acid exchange in the alpha 2 domain. *Hum Immunol.* (2018) 79:453–62. doi: 10.1016/j. humimm.2018.03.010
- Thery C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, Alcaraz MJ, Anderson JD, Andriantsitohaina R, et al. Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International society for extracellular vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. *J Extracell Vesicles*. (2018) 7:1535750. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2018. 1535750
- 31. Lotvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzas EI, Di Vizio D, Gardiner C, et al. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International society for extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles. (2014) 3:26913. doi: 10.3402/jev. v3.26913
- Gyorgy B, Szabo TG, Pasztoi M, Pal Z, Misjak P, Aradi B, et al. Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2011) 68:2667–88. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0689-3
- Rebmann V, Passler M, Erhard J, Lange R, Eigler FW, Grosse-Wilde H. Monitoring of soluble HLA class I size variants after liver transplantation. *Hum Immunol.* (1999) 60:424–9. doi: 10.1016/s0198-8859(99) 00011-7
- Kordelas L, Schwich E, Dittrich R, Horn PA, Beelen DW, Borger V, et al. Individual immune-modulatory capabilities of MSC-derived extracellular vesicle (EV) preparations and recipient-dependent responsiveness. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:1642. doi: 10.3390/ijms20071642
- 35. Konig L, Kasimir-Bauer S, Bittner AK, Hoffmann O, Wagner B, Santos Manvailer LF, et al. Elevated levels of extracellular vesicles are associated with therapy failure and disease progression in breast cancer patients undergoing neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 7:e1376153. doi: 10. 1080/2162402X.2017.1376153
- Rebmann V, Lemaoult J, Rouas-Freiss N, Carosella ED, Grosse-Wilde H. Report of the wet workshop for quantification of soluble HLA-G in essen, 2004. *Hum Immunol.* (2005) 66:853–63. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2005. 05.003
- LeMaoult J, Zafaranloo K, Le Danff C, Carosella ED. HLA-G up-regulates ILT2, ILT3, ILT4, and KIR2DL4 in antigen presenting cells, NK cells, and T cells. *FASEB J.* (2005) 19:662–4. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-1617fje
- Young NT, Uhrberg M, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, Parham P. Differential expression of leukocyte receptor complex-encoded Ig-like receptors correlates with the transition from effector to memory CTL. J Immunol. (2001) 166:3933–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.6.3933
- 39. Ince MN, Harnisch B, Xu Z, Lee SK, Lange C, Moretta L, et al. Increased expression of the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor CD85j/ILT2 on antigen-specific effector CD8 T cells and its impact on CD8 T-cell function. *Immunology*. (2004) 112:531–42. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2004. 01907.x
- Lamar DL, Weyand CM, Goronzy JJ. Promoter choice and translational repression determine cell type-specific cell surface density of the inhibitory receptor CD85j expressed on different hematopoietic lineages. *Blood.* (2010) 115:3278–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-09-243493
- Raimondo S, Pucci M, Alessandro R, Fontana S. Extracellular vesicles and tumor-immune escape: biological functions and clinical perspectives. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:2286. doi: 10.3390/ijms21072286
- 42. Das M, Zhu C, Kuchroo VK. Tim-3 and its role in regulating anti-tumor immunity. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 276:97–111. doi: 10.1111/imr.12520
- Dumont C, Jacquier A, Verine J, Noel F, Goujon A, Wu CL, et al. CD8(+)PD-1(-)ILT2(+) T cells are an intratumoral cytotoxic population selectively inhibited by the immune-checkpoint HLA-G. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1619–32. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0764
- 44. Boyson JE, Erskine R, Whitman MC, Chiu M, Lau JM, Koopman LA, et al. Disulfide bond-mediated dimerization of HLA-G on the cell surface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:16180–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212 643199

- Zhang X, Yuan X, Shi H, Wu L, Qian H, Xu W. Exosomes in cancer: small particle, big player. J Hematol Oncol. (2015) 8:83. doi: 10.1186/s13045-015-0181-x
- Taghikhani A, Farzaneh F, Sharifzad F, Mardpour S, Ebrahimi M, Hassan ZM. Engineered tumor-derived extracellular vesicles: potentials in cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:221. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020. 00221
- Dorsam B, Reiners KS, von Strandmann EP. Cancer-derived extracellular vesicles: friend and foe of tumour immunosurveillance. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2018) 373:20160481. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0481
- Ukrainskaya VM, Rubtsov YP, Knorre VD, Maschan MA, Gabibov AG, Stepanov AV. The role of tumor-derived vesicles in the regulation of antitumor immunity. *Acta Naturae*. (2019) 11:33–41. doi: 10.32607/20758251-2019-11-4-33-41

Conflict of Interest: VR declares research support and travel support from Bristol Myers Squibb.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Schwich, Hò, LeMaoult, Bade-Döding, Carosella, Horn and Rebmann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





HLA-G Expressing Immune Cells in Immune Mediated Diseases

P. Contini, Giuseppe Murdaca, Francesco Puppo* and Simone Negrini

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

HLA-G is a HLA class Ib antigen that possesses immunomodulatory properties. HLA-G-expressing CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes, NK cells, monocytes, and dendritic cells with immunoregulatory functions are present in small percentages of patients with physiologic conditions. Quantitative and qualitative derangements of HLA-G+ immune cells have been detected in several conditions in which the immune system plays an important role, such as infectious, neoplastic, and autoimmune diseases as well as in complications from transplants and pregnancy. These observations strongly support the hypothesis that HLA-G+ immune cells may be implicated in the complex mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of these disorders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wei-Hua Yan, Wenzhou Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Christophe Picard, Établissement Français du Sang (EFS), France Reem Al-Daccak, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

> *Correspondence: Francesco Puppo puppof@unige.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alloimmunity and Transplantation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 15 March 2020 **Accepted:** 17 June 2020 **Published:** 28 August 2020

Citation:

Contini P, Murdaca G, Puppo F and Negrini S (2020) HLA-G Expressing Immune Cells in Immune Mediated Diseases. Front. Immunol. 11:1613. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01613 Keywords: HLA-G, immune mediated diseases, lymphocytes, dendritic cells, monocytes, NK cells, regulatory cells

INTRODUCTION

HLA-G is a HLA class Ib antigen characterized by a restricted tissue expression, low polymorphism and seven isoforms (HLA-G1 to HLA-G7) (1, 2). In both membrane-bound and soluble form, HLA-G exerts several immune-modulatory effects. It inhibits allogeneic proliferation of CD4+ T cells (3), natural killer (NK) and CD8+ T cells cytotoxicity (4), maturation of dendritic cells (DC) (5), and activation of B cells (6). In addition, soluble HLA-G molecules (sHLA-G) are able to trigger apoptosis in antigen specific CD8+ T lymphocytes (4, 7, 8).

HLA-G also seems to be involved in the tuning of immune responses. The incubation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) with HLA-G-expressing cells, favors a shift toward a Th-2 cytokine profile; whereas incubation with sHLA-G may have a counterbalancing effect, creating an anti-inflammatory environment due to the release of interleukin (IL)-10 (9, 10). Based on these findings, it has been recently proposed that HLA-G should be categorized as an "immune checkpoint" molecule (2).

HLA-G+ IMMUNE CELLS IN PHYSIOLOGIC CONDITIONS

T and NK Cells

Immune tolerance is based on a complex series of mechanisms that ultimately facilitate the elimination of foreign antigens, preventing collateral damage to host tissues. Immune tolerance is broadly classified into central and peripheral tolerance. Central tolerance occurs during lymphocyte development in the primary lymphoid organs, namely thymus (T cells) and bone marrow (B cells). Peripheral tolerance takes place in the peripheral tissues and lymph nodes, and consists of different immunologic mechanisms capable of controlling self-reactive lymphocytes that have escaped from central deletion (11). Immune regulation is crucial in the maintenance of peripheral tolerance

and is mediated by the action of T regulatory (Treg) lymphocytes (12). Several subsets of Treg lymphocytes with distinct phenotypes and mechanisms of action have been described within both CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes, and it has been clearly demonstrated that these cells play an important role in physiological and pathological conditions such as autoimmune, infectious, or neoplastic diseases (12, 13).

In 2007 Feger et al. described novel subsets of T cells that express the immunomodulatory molecule HLA-G, identifying them as distinct subpopulations of Treg lymphocytes (14). In recent years, many other studies have confirmed the importance of HLA-G+ Treg lymphocytes in physiology and disease. Similar to the classical CD4+CD25+FoxP3+Tregs, human HLA-G+ Treg cells originate from thymus and are present in variable percentages in the peripheral blood of healthy subjects (0.1-8.3%). However, HLA-G+ Treg cells can be differentiated from classical CD4+ Tregs on the basis of their distinctive phenotype, lacking Forkhead Box P3 (FoxP3), CD39, and CD25 expression (14). CD4+HLA-G+T cells have a low proliferative capacity that, differently from classic Tregs, cannot be overcome by the addition of exogenous IL-2 (14). In vitro, CD4+HLA-G+ Tregs inhibit T-cell responses mainly through cell-to-cell contact and independent mechanisms (15); whereas classical CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Tregs exert their suppressive function mainly through cell-to-cell dependent mechanisms (13, 16). In both Tregs subpopulations suppressive activity depends on an optimal TCR stimulation. CD4+HLA-G+ Tregs and classical CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Tregs share common intracellular down-stream signaling events, following T cell receptor (TCR) ligation (17, 18). They show altered activation of the linker in activation of T cells (LAT) molecules involved in proximal TCR signaling, leading to reduced intracellular calcium influx when compared to non-regulatory T-cells (16). CD4+HLA-G+ Treg cells seem to exert their suppressive function via the secretion of various tolerogenic molecules such as sHLA-G5, IL-10, IL-35, and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β (15, 16). In this context, IL-10 and sHLA-G5 are the most important molecules responsible for the immunoregulatory activity of the CD4+HLA-G+ Treg (15, 16). Transforming growth factor- β and IL-35 do not seem to have a direct role in the immunomodulation exerted by CD4+HLA-G+ Treg, nevertheless, these cytokines may indirectly promote an immunosuppressive milieu, influencing the local differentiation of peripherally induced Tregs and/or supporting the survival of thymus-derived natural Tregs (19-21).

In vitro, CD4+HLA-G+ Tregs display a less efficient suppressive activity than classical CD4⁺CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ Tregs; whereas *in vivo* the immunosuppressive capacity of the two Treg subsets is comparable (16). This notion suggests that CD4+HLA-G+ Tregs may modulate tissue inflammation within the target organs, in close proximity to effector T cells (16, 22).

Besides thymus-derived HLA-G+ Tregs, some normal resting and activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells may acquire through trogocytosis the HLA-G1 molecule from antigen presenting cells (APCs), thus changing their function from effectors to regulatory cells capable of inhibiting alloproliferative responses (23). Interestingly, the acquisition of HLA-G via trogocytosis has also been described for monocytes and NK cells (24, 25). A noncytolytic subset of HLA-G+ NK cells (NK-ireg) can be generated *in vitro* from peripheral blood CD34+ hematopoietic progenitors expressing membrane-bound IL-15. NK-ireg cells display a mature NK cell phenotype, release suppressive molecules (HLA-G, IL-10, and IL-21), and through these factors are capable of suppressing the cytotoxicity of DC and NK cells (26).

It has been recently reported that neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin seems to be capable of upregulating HLA-G expression and expansion of Tregs cells in healthy donors (27). This observation is consistent with the knowledge that lipocalin family members act as modulators of many different physiological and pathologic processes, including cell differentiation, proliferation and apoptosis (28). Moreover, HLA-G expression is strongly regulated by methylation, and it has been recently observed that hypomethylating agents such as azacytidine and decitabine, can induce *de novo* expression of HLA-G on conventional T cells thus converting the latter into HLA-G+ Tregs (29). This data suggest the possibility of modulating the expansion of HLA-G-expressing T cells *in vivo* or generating them *in vitro* for adoptive immunotherapy in transplant patients or for other immunological disorders.

Monocytes

The expression of HLA-G in human mononuclear phagocytes and APC has been known for many years (30, 31). HLA-G cell surface expression has been detected at variable percentages in peripheral blood CD14+ monocytes from healthy individuals (32–36). HLA-G mRNA and intracellular HLA-G levels as well as surface HLA-G expression are selectively increased after *in vitro* treatment of monocytes with interferon (IFN)- β , IFN- γ , and IL-10 (30, 32).

As far as the functional role of CD14+HLA-G+ cells is concerned, it has been reported that they have limited *in vitro* immunostimulatory function and are able to inhibit T-cell alloproliferation when added in mixed lymphocyte cultures. The suppressive function of CD14+HLA-G+ cells is related to the expression of the HLA-G molecule, which can be antagonized by blocking HLA-G with specific monoclonal antibodies, and may also be mediated through sHLA-G, as suggested by transwell experiments. Further *in vitro* experiments have shown that coincubation of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells with CD14+HLA-G+ cells decreases the surface expression of CD4 and CD8 molecules and inhibits both Th1 and Th2 cytokine production by antigenstimulated autologous CD4⁺ T cells (37, 38).

Monocytes can differentiate into a range of functional subsets including pro-inflammatory (M1) and anti-inflammatory (M2) cells. Recently published data indicates that M2 cells obtained from peripheral blood monocytes after *in vitro* activation with IL-4, express high amounts of HLA-G and drive upregulation of the HLA-G ligand immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT)-2 on NK cells. This leads to the generation of hyporesponsive CD56^{dim} NK cells with limited degranulation and cytotoxic activity (39).

Dendritic Cells

Peripheral blood DCs are APCs that regulate innate and adaptive immune responses. Different DC subsets have been

identified that can drive immune responses toward immunity or tolerance, including conventional monocytoid DCs that maintain immunological homeostasis and can induce tolerance, plasmacytoid DCs that present foreign antigens, activate Tregs, and tolerogenic DCs which promote tolerance.

The expression of HLA-G on DC may be regulated by cytokines. *In vitro* experiments have shown that TGF- β increases HLA-G expression by DC and that HLA-G+ DC down-regulate activation of CD4+ T cells and production of IL-6 and IL-17, suggesting the possibility that HLA-G+ DC plays a role in immunoregulatory *in vivo* (40).

Recently, a subset of human DC has been characterized. Termed DC-10, these human DC have the ability to secrete IL-10. DC-10 are found in peripheral blood and the spleen of healthy individuals. They can be generated in vitro by culturing peripheral monocytes in the presence of IL-10. Furthermore, DC-10 are highly represented in the decidua of pregnant women when compared to peripheral blood, suggesting that these cells may accumulate at the fetal maternal interface to promote tolerance to the semi-allogeneic fetus (41). DC-10 have a mature phenotype and express CD11c, CD14, CD16, CD141, and CD163. DC-10 also express HLA-G and ILT-4 and are able to induce T regulatory type 1 (Tr1) cells. The amount of HLA-G expression on DC-10 is genetically driven and is associated with specific variations in the 3' untranslated region of the HLA-G gene. Of particular interest are findings on the capacity of DC-10 to induce Tr1 cells, which correlates with the level of HLA-G expression. These data indicate that HLA-G expression plays a fundamental role in the tolerogenic activity of DC-10 and suggest a potential clinical use of DC-10 as an immunomodulatory treatment (42-44).

Collectively, results of *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments indicate that HLA-G positive DC can affect the activity of NK cells, modulate the response of effector CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, and induce Tregs. These findings strongly support the notion that HLA-G expression by DC plays a central role modulating innate and adaptive immune responses in a healthy state and in pathological conditions.

HLA-G-EXPRESSING IMMUNE CELLS IN NON-AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

T and NK Cells

Lymphocytes expressing HLA-G have been reported in several diseases in which the immune system plays a pivotal role, such as neoplastic, infectious, and autoimmune/inflammatory disorders.

An increase in the percentage of CD8+HLA-G+ T cells and the presence of HIV-1-specific CD8+HLA-G+ T lymphocytes have been described in HIV-1 patients, although their exact pathophysiologic role in the disease is still elusive (36, 45, 46). Other authors observed that HLA-G+ Treg may reduce harmful bystander immune activation, while minimally inhibiting antiviral T cell-mediated responses, thus suggesting the positive role of these cells in the natural history of HIV infection (47). Reduced percentages of HLA-G expressing T cells and monocytes have been observed in pre-eclamptic patients, compared with women with a healthy pregnancy or healthy control subjects (48). By analogy with these results, Hsu and colleagues reported that CD4+HLA-G+ T cells are significantly expanded in the peripheral blood of pregnant women compared with non-pregnant controls and pre-eclamptic women (49). In addition, CD4+HLA-G+ T cells tend to accumulate in the decidua of healthy pregnant women; whereas this phenomenon is impaired in pre-eclamptic patients (41). A small subset of NKp46+HLA-G+IL-10+ NK cells has been described *in vivo* among the decidual NK cells of pregnant women, but the exact role of this cell subset requires further investigation (26).

Recently, a novel population of $CD4^{low}HLA-G+ T$ cells, identified as IL-4-expressing Th17 cells, has been described in prostate cancer and their expansion seems to correlate with the increase of tumor aggressiveness (50). Increased percentages of HLA-G+CD3+ cells have been observed in the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients, suggesting that these cells may contribute to tumor development by down-modulating antitumor immunity (51). Moreover, it has also been reported that a subset of HLA-G+ NK cells possessing suppressive activity are considerably increased in the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients (52).

It is well-known that, in order to escape immune-surveillance, various malignant cells can aberrantly express HLA-G and/or secrete sHLA-G (53, 54). In addition, cancer cells can induce HLA-G-expressing immune cells (e.g., transferring HLA-G to T cells through trogocytosis) within the tumor microenvironment. This mechanism may increase the number of local immunosuppressive cells, thus facilitating tumor immune-escape (23, 55, 56).

A similar mechanism of immune-evasion has also been described for microbial infections, in fact *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* seems to be capable, at least *in vitro*, of inducing HLA-G expression in immune cells, creating a protected niche and facilitating bacterial survival (57).

In the context of kidney transplants, it has been reported that HLA-G expression on T cells increases after the transplant, but significantly decreases in subjects experiencing an acute rejection. This data suggests that HLA-G might be involved in the protection of transplants against rejection and the levels of HLA-G on CD4+ may represent a potential marker in predicting episodes of renal rejection after kidney transplantation (58, 59).

In patients that experience an allergic reaction, HLA-G expression as well as sHLA-G secretion are increased in CD4+ cells and monocytes after *in vitro* stimulation by the causal allergen, but not by non-specific stimuli and non-causal allergens (60). This data suggest that HLA-G may be involved into the pathogenetic mechanisms underlying allergic inflammation and allergen specific immunotherapy (60, 61).

Monocytes and Dendritic Cells

Several *in vivo* data-sets support the immunomodulatory properties of HLA-G+ monocytes. In fact, a high frequency of CD14+HLA-G+ cells have been detected in patients undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. These HLA-G+

monocytes appear early post-transplant and remain at high levels for up to one year after the transplant. It is of interest that HLA-G+ monocytes have also been detected in skin biopsies of transplanted patients who developed graft-*versus*-host disease. It may be hypothesized that the increase of HLA-G+ monocytes could be related to an alloreaction occurring after transplant (37).

Elevated numbers of HLA-G+ monocytes have been found in the peripheral blood of HIV-1-infected individuals. The expression of HLA-G might either be directly caused by the HIV-1 virus infection or indirectly related to increased levels of IL-10, which is known to induce HLA-G expression in monocytes. By decreasing the antigen-presenting capacity of monocyte, the upregulated expression of HLA-G could be one of the strategies used by the HIV-1 virus to evade immune surveillance (36).

Collectively, *in vitro* and *in vivo* data suggests that monocyte activation by cytokines, infectious agents, and allogeneic stimuli induces HLA-G expression. Taking this into account, HLA-G+ monocytes may exert immunosuppressive effects on CD4+, CD8+, and NK cells, playing a role in down-regulation of the immune response.

Concerning DCs, it has been reported that monocytoid DC expressing high HLA-G levels can be found in the peripheral blood of stable and tolerant liver transplant recipients. The number of HLA-G+ DC correlates with the percentage of $CD4+CD25^{high}CD127$ - Tregs and with the intensity of Foxp3 expression, thus supporting the hypothesis that HLA-G+ DC may play a tolerogenic role in alloimmune reactivity (62).

Mast Cells

Mast cells are bone marrow derived cells that circulate in an immature form and become mature after migration in a tissue site. Mast cells have been mostly viewed as effectors of IgE-mediated allergic diseases and host defense against parasites. The role of mast cells in both innate and adaptive immunity has been recognized recently. In addition, mast cells are involved in tissue repair through the secretion of several cytokines and growth factors that enhance fibroblast proliferation and collagen deposition, and inhibit degradation of the extra cellular matrix (63).

To our present knowledge it is not known whether mast cells express HLA-G in physiological conditions, and emerging research on the role for HLA-G+ mast cells in liver diseases is of interest (64, 65). It has been reported that mast cells infiltrating the livers of patients infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV) express HLA-G and secrete HLA-G in soluble form. The number of HLA-G+ mast cells is significantly associated with the areas of connective tissue and liver fibrosis located close to the hepatic arteries, veins and bile ducts of the portal tracts (66, 67). The presence of mast cells in the liver can be related to the production of TGF- β , a potent mast cell chemoattractant, by hepatic stellate cells (HSC)(68, 69). Then, HLA-G+ infiltrating mast cells promote HSC proliferation that, in turn, induces liver fibrosis (70). The expression and secretion of HLA-G by mast cells in HCV infected patients can be explained by the elevated amounts of IFN-α and IL-10 produced during HCV infection (71, 72). Accordingly, in vitro and in vivo data indicate that these cytokines strongly modulate HLA-G up-regulation in

monocytes and other cells including trophoblasts, fibroblasts, and neoplastic cells (32, 73–78). The function of HLA-G+ mast cells during HCV infection remains to be clarified. It may be suggested that HLA-G expression may promote viral escape from the immune system by inhibiting both adaptive and innate immunity, thus protecting HCV-infected cells and favoring viral progression.

In summary, this data supports the assumption that HLA-G+ immune cells are implicated in the pathogenesis of a wide array of disorders. The role of HLA-G+ immune cells in the context of autoimmune diseases will be discussed in the following paragraphs.

HLA-G-EXPRESSING IMMUNE CELLS IN AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an immune-mediated disorder of the central nervous system (CNS) leading to demyelination as well as axonal and neuronal damage, with progressive neurological impairment (79). The course of MS can follow four clinical patterns that include relapsing remitting MS (RRMS, which accounts for 80-90% of MS cases at onset), secondary progressive MS (SPMS), primary progressive MS (PPMS), and progressive relapsing MS (PRMS) (80). Although the pathogenesis of MS is still not completely understood, it is known that central tolerance may be defective leading to the development of self-reactive T cells that transmigrate into the CNS where they can be activated by APCs and determine brain damage (79). The brain has long been considered an immunologically privileged site. This idea is based on the observation that tissue transplants in the CNS are not commonly rejected by the immune system. Commonly accepted explanations for the lack of an effective immune response to antigens in the brain are an anti-inflammatory and, with regard to invading immune cells, pro-apoptotic environment in the brain, the limited access of brain-derived antigens to the lymphoid organs, the presence of the bloodbrain barrier, low major histocompatibility complex (MHC) expression in the brain parenchyma, and the absence of DCs (81, 82). However, numerous studies in infectious, autoimmune and tumor models have challenged this view by showing that potent immune reactions can and do occur in the CNS (83).

The main aspect favoring the autoimmune etiology of MS consists of the presence of activated IFN-producing T helper 1 (Th1) cells, that recognize peptides of the myelin sheath, including myelin basic protein (MBP), proteolipid protein (PLP), and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) (80). HLA-G immunoreactivity was detected in the transition zone between the plaque center and the perilesional areas as well as in both acute and chronic active plaques. In proximity of MS lesions the adjacent normal appearing gray matter remained predominantly negative for HLA-G, whereas HLA-G expression in adjacent normal appearing white matter was similar to the expression levels of the lesion borders (83). Notably, in early and highly inflammatory MS lesions, HLA-G expression was abundant and detected on macrophages/activated

microglia cells. Similarly, perilesional activated microglia cells were immunoreactive for HLA-G. Furthermore, endothelial cells and meningeal vessels as well as arachnoidal cap cells show HLA-G immunoreactivity (83). However, expression of the inhibitory receptors for HLA-G, belonging to immunoglobulinlike transcript family ILT2 and ILT4, have been described in chronic active MS plaques. ILT2 immunoreactivity could be observed in the plaque center and the plaque border and paralleled HLA-G immunoreactivity. The main cellular sources for both molecules were macrophages and microglia (83). The cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) compartment has been proposed to partially constitute a functional equivalent of the lymphatic system for the CNS. Interestingly, the levels of HLA-G on CD14⁺ monocytes were significantly elevated in the CSF of patients with MS compared with peripheral blood. Of note is the fact that HLA-G expressed by monocytes was identified as an important negative immune-regulatory factor, down-regulating the production of Th1 as well as Th2 cytokines, inhibiting antigen-specific and autologous CD4⁺ T-cell activation, and inducing anergic T cells (37, 38). Furthermore, a small number of both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, including CD4⁺ Tregs, expressed HLA-G in the CSF of MS patients (83). Interestingly, CSF-derived HLA-G+CD4+ Tregs show high expression of the C-C chemokine receptor 5 that might favor their selective migration into the nervous system of MS patients, counteracting the activity of autoreactive T cells. The frequency of CSF-derived HLA-G+CD4+ Tregs correlates positively with the disease status in MS patients with active disease (22). Increased levels of HLA-G+CD4+ Tregs have been detected in MS patients responses to IFN or natalizumab treatment (80).

Taken together, these findings, seem to confirm that HLA-G expression on immune cells infiltrating CNS and detectable in CSF, may contribute to immune-regulation in MS.

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune inflammatory disease that can affect virtually any organ system, including skin, joints, kidneys, brain, and blood vessels (84). The development of SLE is dependent on a complex interplay between genetic, environmental, and immunological factors (85, 86). Among these, defective function of regulatory T cells and polyclonal activation of B lymphocytes leading to the production of auto-antibodies seems to play a major role (87–89).

Limited literature data are available on the expression of HLA-G in immune cells from SLE patients. Monsivais-Urenda et al. reported that monocytes from SLE patients as well as mature CD83⁺ DC showed a reduced expression of HLA-G compared with healthy controls (35). In addition, monocytes from SLE patients showed a diminished induction of HLA-G expression in response to stimulation with IL-10, and when pre-treated with IFN- γ they exhibited an impaired capability to inhibit the proliferation of autologous lymphocytes. Interestingly, lymphocytes from SLE patients seem to display a lower capability to acquire HLA-G molecules by trogocytosis from autologous monocytes as compared to lymphocytes from normal subjects (35). By contrast, our and other groups reported that

the percentage of HLA-G expressing cells among PBMC is significantly higher in SLE patients than in healthy controls (33, 90). In particular, the percentages of HLA-G-positive monocytes and HLA-G-expressing CD4+, CD8+, and CD4+/CD8+ double positive (DP) cells are significantly higher in SLE patients than in controls. Moreover, within the population of DP cells a subpopulation of $CD4^{dull}CD8^{high}$ cells displayed a high proportion of HLA-G⁺ cells, while HLA-G was virtually absent in the same subpopulation of healthy subjects (33). The function of circulating HLA-G⁺ DP cells is not known, however, it is worth noting that DP cells seem to exert a suppressive role in the production of autoantibodies in SLE patients (91). In summary, it may be proposed that the up-regulation of HLA-G membrane expression by PBMC could reflect an effort to regulate the hyperactive immune status occurring in SLE.

Systemic Sclerosis

Systemic sclerosis (SSc) is a chronic connective tissue disease of unknown origin, more frequently affecting women. It is characterized by diffuse fibrosis, vasculopathy and immune dysregulation. In addition to skin involvement, SSc can affect multiple organ systems, including the musculo-skeletal, pulmonary, cardiac, gastrointestinal, and urinary systems (92, 93). Complex alterations of the normal functional balance within immune cells sub-populations, in particular Th17 lymphocytes and Tregs, including both CD4+ and CD8+ Tregs subsets, have been demonstrated in patients affected by SSc (94–97).

Our research group analyzed the role of both membrane HLA-G and sHLA-G in SSc patients. In particular, we recently reported that the percentage of HLA-G-positive monocytes, CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells and DP cells are significantly higher in SSc patients as compared to healthy subjects (34). Among DP cells a subpopulation of CD4^{dull}CD8^{high} lymphocytes highly expressing HLA-G was detected. The function of circulating DP cells in SSc is under investigation, however, it is worth noting that these cells, which may exert potent suppressive effects, are present in the inflamed tissues of patients affected by immune mediated disorders and in the skin of patients with early active SSc. This may contribute, through IL-4 secretion, to the enhanced extracellular matrix deposition by fibroblasts (98). Plasma sHLA-G levels were higher in SSc patients when compared to healthy controls. Notably, plasma levels of sHLA-G1 and sHLA-G5 isoforms were comparable and no significant differences were detected in total sHLA-G, sHLA-G1 and sHLA-G5 levels between limited and diffuse SSc forms. The total sHLA-G plasma levels correlated with the elevated TGF- β levels circulating in SSc patients (34). This finding is in agreement with in vitro data demonstrating that the production of TGF- β by myelomonocytic cells is strongly increased after incubation with recombinant sHLA-G (99). In summary, it may be proposed that there is a possible involvement of HLA-G in SSc pathogenesis, as the elevated HLA-G membrane expression by PBMC and the increased sHLA-G plasma levels may reflect an attempt to control the immune derangement occurring in this disease and concur, through TGF-β up-regulation, with fibroblast activation and fibrosis development (34).

Skin Diseases

Psoriasis (Ps) is a common inflammatory, chronic, and disabling skin disease that affects 1-3% of the population (100). Distinct clinical phenotypes may be observed in this disease, including chronic plaque (Ps vulgaris), guttate, and pustular variants. At least 10% of patients can develop arthritis (101). In many cases, a marked infiltration of mononuclear leucocytes (T lymphocytes and DC) into the dermis and elongated/hyperplastic blood vessels in the papillary dermal region can be observed (102). Because Ps is considered to be an organ-specific autoimmune disease, Cardili et al. analyzed HLA-G expression in skin specimens obtained from patients with Ps and observed the presence of HLA-G molecules on lymphomononuclear cells within the dermis and to a higher extent, in the epidermis. The intensity of HLA-G expression was not correlated with Ps variants or severity. By contrast, skin specimens obtained from healthy individuals were negative for HLA-G expression (103). Other authors have reported HLA-G expression in CD68⁺ CD11c⁺ macrophages lining the dermo-epidermal junction in patients with Ps vulgaris (104). In addition, NK cells and CD4⁺ T cells expressing the IL2 inhibitory receptor have been described in Ps skin infiltrates, suggesting that HLA-G may act as an inhibitory molecule to down-regulate the activation of effector cells (104). These findings lead to the assumption that HLA-G⁺ macrophages could represent an internal control system that counteracts auto-reactive expression of T-cell cognate receptors for HLA-G.

Atopic dermatitis (AD) is another chronic T-cell mediated skin disorder which, in contrast to Ps, exhibits a Th2 type cytokine profile including over-production of IL-10, which is known to up-regulate HLA-G (105). Khosrotehrani et al. investigated the role of HLA-G in patients with AD. They found that HLA-G was mainly expressed by infiltrating T cells and to a lesser extent, by macrophages and even DC (106). The epidermis was consistently negative for HLA-G expression, suggesting that, analogously to Ps, HLA-G up-regulation may either be the consequence of the permissive cytokine environment in AD or it may be a part of an internal regulatory system to control excessive inflammation.

REFERENCES

- Gonzalez A, Rebmann V, LeMaoult J, Horn PA, Carosella ED, Alegre E. The immunosuppressive molecule HLA-G and its clinical implications. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* (2012) 49:63–84. doi: 10.3109/10408363.2012.67 7947
- Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Tronik-Le Roux D, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G: an immune checkpoint molecule. *Adv Immunol.* (2015) 127:33–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001
- Lila N, Rouas-Freiss N, Dausset J, Carpentier A, Carosella ED. Soluble HLA-G protein secreted by allo-specific CD4+ T cells suppresses the allo-proliferative response: a CD4+ T cell regulatory mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:12150–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.201407398
- Contini P, Ghio M, Poggi A, Filaci G, Indiveri F, Ferrone S, et al. Soluble HLA-A,-B,-C and -G molecules induce apoptosis in T and NK CD8+ cells and inhibit cytotoxic T cell activity through CD8 ligation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:125–34. doi: 10.1002/immu.200390015
- 5. Le Friec G, Laupeze B, Fardel O, Sebti Y, Pangault C, Guilloux V, et al. Soluble HLA-G inhibits human dendritic cell-triggered allogeneic T-cell proliferation

DISCUSSION

Data in recent literature indicates that small percentages of HLA-G positive immune cells can be detected in the peripheral blood of patients with physiological conditions. In these conditions HLA-G positive immune cells seem to play an emerging role in maintaining immune homeostasis. However, increased percentages of circulating and tissue infiltrating HLA-G positive immune cells occur in various pathological conditions like infections, cancers, transplants, and immune-mediated diseases. Taking into account the immunoregulatory role of HLA-G, it may be suggested that T lymphocytes, NK cells and APCs that express HLA-G molecules are potentially involved in the pathogenesis of immune mediated diseases.

HLA-G positive cells can modulate both the priming and the effector phases of the immune response, thus contributing to peripheral immune tolerance. It may be proposed that HLA-G expressing immune cells represent an attempt to create an immune-suppressive milieu, as a way of controlling immune derangement in systemic autoimmune disorders. However, several important issues still need to be clarified in this context. A better understanding of the HLA-G gene regulation will greatly improve the possibility of manipulating this emerging immune check-point, which could alter the course of immunological diseases. Moreover, the role played by different molecular HLA-G isoforms and the contribution of specific HLA-G expressing subpopulations in each clinical situation needs to be better defined. Therefore further pre-clinical and clinical investigations are required in order to provide more detailed information on the role played by HLA-G expressing cells in the mechanisms underlying the onset and progression of immune-mediated diseases. These future studies are crucial for the development of potential HLA-G strategies of therapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors equally contributed to the conception of ideas and design of this manuscript.

without altering dendritic differentiation and maturation processes. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:752–61. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(03)00091-0

- Naji A, Menier C, Morandi F, Agaugue S, Maki G, Ferretti E, et al. Binding of HLA-G to ITIM-bearing Ig-like transcript 2 receptor suppresses B cell responses. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:1536–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300438
- Contini P, Ghio M, Merlo A, Poggi A, Indiveri F, Puppo F. Apoptosis of antigen-specific T lymphocytes upon the engagement of CD8 by soluble HLA class I molecules is Fas ligand/Fas mediated: evidence for the involvement of p56lck, calcium calmodulin kinase II, and Calcium-independent protein kinase C signaling pathways and for NF-kappaB and NF-AT nuclear translocation. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:7244–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.11. 7244
- Fournel S, Aguerre-Girr M, Huc X, Lenfant F, Alam A, Toubert A, et al. Cutting edge: soluble HLA-G1 triggers CD95/CD95 ligand-mediated apoptosis in activated CD8+ cells by interacting with CD8. *J Immunol.* (2000) 164:6100–4. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.12.6100
- 9. Kanai T, Fujii T, Unno N, Yamashita T, Hyodo H, Miki A, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G-expressing cells differently modulate the release of cytokines from mononuclear cells present in the decidua versus peripheral

blood. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2001) 45:94–9. doi: 10.1111/j.8755-8920.2001. 450205.x

- Kanai T, Fujii T, Kozuma S, Yamashita T, Miki A, Kikuchi A, et al. Soluble HLA-G influences the release of cytokines from allogeneic peripheral blood mononuclear cells in culture. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2001) 7:195–200. doi: 10. 1093/molehr/7.2.195
- 11. Conteduca G, Indiveri F, Filaci G, Negrini S. Beyond APECED: an update on the role of the autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE) in physiology and disease. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2018) 17:325–30. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2017.10.017
- Negrini S, Fenoglio D, Parodi A, Kalli F, Battaglia F, Nasi G, et al. Phenotypic alterations involved in CD8+ Treg impairment in systemic sclerosis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:18. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00018
- Zhao H, Liao X, Kang Y. Tregs: where we are and what comes next? Front Immunol. (2017) 8:1578. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01578
- Feger U, Tolosa E, Huang YH, Waschbisch A, Biedermann T, Melms A, et al. HLA-G expression defines a novel regulatory T-cell subset present in human peripheral blood and sites of inflammation. *Blood.* (2007) 110:568–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-11-057125
- Huang YH, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Schwab N, Wiendl H. T cell suppression by naturally occurring HLA-G-expressing regulatory CD4+ T cells is IL-10-dependent and reversible. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2009) 86:273–81. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1008649
- Pankratz S, Bittner S, Herrmann AM, Schuhmann MK, Ruck T, Meuth SG, et al. Human CD4+ HLA-G+ regulatory T cells are potent suppressors of graftversus-host disease in vivo. *FASEB J.* (2014) 28:3435–45. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-251074
- Tsang JY, Camara NO, Eren E, Schneider H, Rudd C, Lombardi G, et al. Altered proximal T cell receptor (TCR) signaling in human CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2006) 80:145–51. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0605344
- Crellin NK, Garcia RV, Levings MK. Altered activation of AKT is required for the suppressive function of human CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. *Blood*. (2007) 109:2014–22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-035279
- Hadaschik EN, Enk AH. TGF-beta1-induced regulatory T cells. Hum Immunol. (2015) 76:561–4. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2015.06.015
- Huang A, Cheng L, He M, Nie J, Wang J, Jiang K. Interleukin-35 on B cell and T cell induction and regulation. *J Inflamm.* (2017) 14:16. doi: 10.1186/s12950-017-0164-5
- Ghio M, Contini P, Negrini S, Mazzei C, Zocchi MR, Poggi A. Down regulation of human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis induced by blood transfusion: role of transforming growth factor-beta(1), soluble Fas ligand, and soluble Class I human leukocyte antigen. *Transfusion*. (2011) 51:1567–73. doi: 10. 1111/j.1537-2995.2010.03000.x
- Huang YH, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Metz I, Buck D, Toyka KV, et al. Specific central nervous system recruitment of HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 66:171–83. doi: 10.1002/ana.21705
- LeMaoult J, Caumartin J, Daouya M, Favier B, Le Rond S, Gonzalez A, et al. Immune regulation by pretenders: cell-to-cell transfers of HLA-G make effector T cells act as regulatory cells. *Blood*. (2007) 109:2040–8. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2006-05-024547
- HoWangYin KY, Alegre E, Daouya M, Favier B, Carosella ED, LeMaoult J. Different functional outcomes of intercellular membrane transfers to monocytes and T cells. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2010) 67:1133–45. doi: 10.1007/ s00018-009-0239-4
- Caumartin J, Favier B, Daouya M, Guillard C, Moreau P, Carosella ED, et al. Trogocytosis-based generation of suppressive NK cells. *EMBO J.* (2007) 26:1423–33. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601570
- Giuliani M, Giron-Michel J, Negrini S, Vacca P, Durali D, Caignard A, et al. Generation of a novel regulatory NK cell subset from peripheral blood CD34+ progenitors promoted by membrane-bound IL-15. *PLoS One*. (2008) 3:e2241. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002241
- La Manna G, Ghinatti G, Tazzari PL, Alviano F, Ricci F, Capelli I, et al. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin increases HLA-G(+)/FoxP3(+) T-regulatory cell population in an in vitro model of PBMC. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e89497. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089497
- Costa D, Biticchi R, Negrini S, Tasso R, Cancedda R, Descalzi F, et al. Lipocalin-2 controls the expression of SDF-1 and the number of responsive cells in bone. *Cytokine*. (2010) 51:47–52. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2010.02.009

- 29. Stamou P, Marioli D, Patmanidi AL, Sgourou A, Vittoraki A, Theofani E, et al. Simple in vitro generation of human leukocyte antigen-G-expressing T-regulatory cells through pharmacological hypomethylation for adoptive cellular immunotherapy against graft-versus-host disease. *Cytotherapy.* (2017) 19:521–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2017.01.004
- Yang Y, Chu W, Geraghty DE, Hunt JS. Expression of HLA-G in human mononuclear phagocytes and selective induction by IFN-gamma. *J Immunol.* (1996) 156:4224–31.
- LeMaoult J, Krawice-Radanne I, Dausset J, Carosella ED. HLA-G1-expressing antigen-presenting cells induce immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:7064–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401922101
- Moreau P, Adrian-Cabestre F, Menier C, Guiard V, Gourand L, Dausset J, et al. IL-10 selectively induces HLA-G expression in human trophoblasts and monocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:803–11. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.5.803
- Negrini S, Contini P, Pupo F, Greco M, Murdaca G, Puppo F. Expression of membrane-bound human leucocyte antigen-G in systemic sclerosis and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Hum Immunol.* (2020) 81:162–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.humimm.2019.12.004
- Contini P, Negrini S, Murdaca G, Borro M, Puppo F. Evaluation of membranebound and soluble forms of human leucocyte antigen-G in systemic sclerosis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2018) 193:152–9. doi: 10.1111/cei.13134
- Monsivais-Urenda AE, Baranda L, Alvarez-Quiroga C, Abud-Mendoza C, Gonzalez-Amaro R. Expression and functional role of HLA-G in immune cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Clin Immunol.* (2011) 31:369–78. doi: 10.1007/s10875-010-9496-0
- Lozano JM, Gonzalez R, Kindelan JM, Rouas-Freiss N, Caballos R, Dausset J, et al. Monocytes and T lymphocytes in HIV-1-positive patients express HLA-G molecule. *AIDS*. (2002) 16:347–51. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200202150-00005
- 37. Lazana I, Zoudiari A, Kokkinou D, Themeli M, Liga M, Papadaki H, et al. Identification of a novel HLA-G+ regulatory population in blood: expansion after allogeneic transplantation and de novo HLA-G expression at graftversus-host disease sites. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1338–47. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2011.055871
- 38. Mitsdoerffer M, Schreiner B, Kieseier BC, Neuhaus O, Dichgans J, Hartung HP, et al. Monocyte-derived HLA-G acts as a strong inhibitor of autologous CD4 T cell activation and is upregulated by interferon-beta in vitro and in vivo: rationale for the therapy of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2005) 159:155–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.09.016
- Nunez SY, Ziblat A, Secchiari F, Torres NI, Sierra JM, Raffo Iraolagoitia XL, et al. Human M2 macrophages limit NK cell effector functions through secretion of TGF-beta and engagement of CD85j. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:1008– 15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700737
- 40. Abediankenari S, Ghasemi M, Kim YJ. Human leukocyte antigen-G expression on dendritic cells induced by transforming growth factor-beta1 and CD4+ T cells proliferation. *Iran Biomed J*. (2011) 15:1–5.
- Amodio G, Mugione A, Sanchez AM, Vigano P, Candiani M, Somigliana E, et al. HLA-G expressing DC-10 and CD4(+) T cells accumulate in human decidua during pregnancy. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:406–11. doi: 10.1016/ j.humimm.2012.11.031
- Comi M, Avancini D, Santoni de Sio F, Villa M, Uyeda MJ, Floris M, et al. Coexpression of CD163 and CD141 identifies human circulating IL-10-producing dendritic cells (DC-10). *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2020) 17:95–107. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0218-0
- Amodio G, Comi M, Tomasoni D, Gianolini ME, Rizzo R, LeMaoult J, et al. HLA-G expression levels influence the tolerogenic activity of human DC-10. *Haematologica*. (2015) 100:548–57. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.113803
- Amodio G, Sales de Albuquerque R, Gregori S. New insights into HLA-G mediated tolerance. *Tissue Antigens*. (2014) 84:255–63. doi: 10.1111/tan.12427
- Vigano S, Negron JJ, Tse S, Chowdhury FZ, Lichterfeld M, Yu XG. HLA-G+ HIV-1-specific CD8+ T cells are associated with HIV-1 immune control. *AIDS*. (2017) 31:207–12. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000001326
- Lozano JM, Gonzalez R, Luque J, Frias M, Rivero A, Pena J. CD8(+)HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells are expanded in HIV-1-infected patients. *Viral Immunol.* (2009) 22:463–5. doi: 10.1089/vim.2009.0041
- Li C, Toth I, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Pereyra F, Rychert J, Rosenberg ES, et al. Functional characterization of HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells in HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003140. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003140

- Vianna P, Mondadori AG, Bauer ME, Dornfeld D, Chies JA. HLA-G and CD8+ regulatory T cells in the inflammatory environment of pre-eclampsia. *Reproduction*. (2016) 152:741–51. doi: 10.1530/REP-15-0608
- Hsu P, Santner-Nanan B, Joung S, Peek MJ, Nanan R. Expansion of CD4(+) HLA-G(+) T Cell in human pregnancy is impaired in pre-eclampsia. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2014) 71:217–28. doi: 10.1111/aji.12195
- Wang C, Chen J, Zhang Q, Li W, Zhang S, Xu Y, et al. Elimination of CD4(low)HLA-G(+) T cells overcomes castration-resistance in prostate cancer therapy. *Cell Res.* (2018) 28:1103–17. doi: 10.1038/s41422-018-0089-4
- Ostapchuk EO, Perfi L'eva YV, Talaeva S, Omarbaeva NA, Belyaev NN. Content of HLA-G(+) T cells in the peripheral blood from healthy women and breast cancer patients. *Bull Exp Biol Med.* (2015) 159:649–51. doi: 10. 1007/s10517-015-3038-y
- Ostapchuk YO, Cetin EA, Perfilyeva YV, Yilmaz A, Skiba YA, Chirkin AP, et al. Peripheral blood NK cells expressing HLA-G, IL-10 and TGF-beta in healthy donors and breast cancer patients. *Cell Immunol.* (2015) 298:37–46. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.09.002
- Lin A, Yan WH. Human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) expression in cancers: roles in immune evasion, metastasis and target for therapy. *Mol Med.* (2015) 21:782–91. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2015.00083
- Lin A, Yan WH. Heterogeneity of HLA-G expression in cancers: facing the challenges. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02164
- 55. Brown R, Kabani K, Favaloro J, Yang S, Ho PJ, Gibson J, et al. CD86+ or HLA-G+ can be transferred via trogocytosis from myeloma cells to T cells and are associated with poor prognosis. *Blood.* (2012) 120:2055–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-416792
- Locafaro G, Amodio G, Tomasoni D, Tresoldi C, Ciceri F, Gregori S. HLA-G expression on blasts and tolerogenic cells in patients affected by acute myeloid leukemia. *J Immunol Res.* (2014) 2014:636292. doi: 10.1155/2014/636292
- Bortolotti D, LeMaoult J, Trapella C, Di Luca D, Carosella ED, Rizzo R. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* quorum sensing molecule N-(3-Oxododecanoyl)-L- homoserine-lactone induces HLA-G expression in human immune cells. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:3918–25. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00803-15
- Lu N, Zhang Y, Zou X, Yang X, Tian J, Zhen J, et al. HLA-G on peripheral blood CD4(+) T lymphocytes: a potential predictor for acute renal rejection. *Transpl Int*. (2011) 24:1103–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2011.01314.x
- 59. Le Rond S, Le Maoult J, Creput C, Menier C, Deschamps M, Le Friec G, et al. Alloreactive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells express the immunotolerant HLA-G molecule in mixed lymphocyte reactions: in vivo implications in transplanted patients. *Eur J Immunol.* (2004) 34:649–60. doi: 10.1002/eji.200324266
- Contini P, Puppo F, Canonica GW, Murdaca G, Ciprandi G. Allergen-driven HLA-G expression and secretion in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from allergic rhinitis patients. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:1172–8. doi: 10.1016/j. humimm.2016.08.005
- Murdaca G, Contini P, Negrini S, Ciprandi G, Puppo F. Immunoregulatory role of HLA-G in allergic diseases. J Immunol Res. (2016) 2016:6865758. doi: 10.1155/2016/6865758
- 62. Castellaneta A, Mazariegos GV, Nayyar N, Zeevi A, Thomson AW. HLA-G level on monocytoid dendritic cells correlates with regulatory T-cell Foxp3 expression in liver transplant tolerance. *Transplantation*. (2011) 91:1132–40.
- da Silva EZ, Jamur MC, Oliver C. Mast cell function: a new vision of an old cell. J Histochem Cytochem. (2014) 62:698–738. doi: 10.1369/0022155414545334
- 64. Jarido V, Kennedy L, Hargrove L, Demieville J, Thomson J, Stephenson K, et al. The emerging role of mast cells in liver disease. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. (2017) 313:G89–101.
- Franceschini B, Ceva-Grimaldi G, Russo C, Dioguardi N, Grizzi F. The complex functions of mast cells in chronic human liver diseases. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2006) 51:2248–56.
- 66. Amiot L, Vu N, Samson M. Biology of the immunomodulatory molecule HLA-G in human liver diseases. *J Hepatol.* (2015) 62:1430–7.
- Amiot L, Vu N, Rauch M, L'Helgoualc'h A, Chalmel F, Gascan H, et al. Expression of HLA-G by mast cells is associated with hepatitis C virus-induced liver fibrosis. J Hepatol. (2014) 60:245–52.
- Ouyang Y, Nakao A, Han D, Zhang L. Transforming growth factor-beta1 promotes nasal mucosal mast cell chemotaxis in murine experimental allergic rhinitis. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec. (2012) 74:117–23.
- Gruber BL, Marchese MJ, Kew RR. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 mediates mast cell chemotaxis. J Immunol. (1994) 152:5860–7.

- Gruber BL, Kew RR, Jelaska A, Marchese MJ, Garlick J, Ren S, et al. Human mast cells activate fibroblasts: tryptase is a fibrogenic factor stimulating collagen messenger ribonucleic acid synthesis and fibroblast chemotaxis. J Immunol. (1997) 158:2310–7.
- Flynn JK, Dore GJ, Hellard M, Yeung B, Rawlinson WD, White PA, et al. Early IL-10 predominant responses are associated with progression to chronic hepatitis C virus infection in injecting drug users. *J Viral Hepat.* (2011) 18:549–61.
- Lau DT, Fish PM, Sinha M, Owen DM, Lemon SM, Gale M Jr. Interferon regulatory factor-3 activation, hepatic interferon-stimulated gene expression, and immune cell infiltration in hepatitis C virus patients. *Hepatology*. (2008) 47:799–809. doi: 10.1002/hep.22076
- 73. Gomes RG, Brito CAA, Martinelli VF, Santos RND, Gomes F, Peixoto CA, et al. HLA-G is expressed in intestinal samples of ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease patients and HLA-G5 expression is differentially correlated with TNF and IL-10 cytokine expression. *Hum Immunol.* (2018) 79:477–84.
- Yoon BS, Kim YT, Kim JW, Kim SH, Kim JH, Kim SW. Expression of human leukocyte antigen-G and its correlation with interleukin-10 expression in cervical carcinoma. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2007) 98:48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo. 2007.03.041
- Urosevic M, Dummer R. HLA-G and IL-10 expression in human cancerdifferent stories with the same message. Semin Cancer Biol. (2003) 13:337–42.
- Ugurel S, Reinhold U, Tilgen W. HLA-G in melanoma: a new strategy to escape from immunosurveillance? Onkologie. (2002) 25:129–34.
- Ugurel S, Rebmann V, Ferrone S, Tilgen W, Grosse-Wilde H, Reinhold U. Soluble human leukocyte antigen–G serum level is elevated in melanoma patients and is further increased by interferon-alpha immunotherapy. *Cancer*. (2001) 92:369–76.
- Chu W, Yang Y, Geraghty DE, Hunt JS. Interferons enhance HLA-G mRNA and protein in transfected mouse fibroblasts. *J Reprod Immunol*. (1999) 42:1– 15. doi: 10.1016/s0165-0378(98)00077-1
- Dendrou CA, Fugger L, Friese MA. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Immunol. (2015) 15:545–58.
- Rodi M, Dimisianos N, de Lastic AL, Sakellaraki P, Deraos G, Matsoukas J, et al. Regulatory cell populations in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (RRMS) patients: effect of disease activity and treatment regimens. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:1398. doi: 10.3390/ijms17091398
- Sampson JH, Gunn MD, Fecci PE, Ashley DM. Brain immunology and immunotherapy in brain tumours. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2020) 20:12–25. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0224-7
- Castro Dias M, Mapunda JA, Vladymyrov M, Engelhardt B. Structure and junctional complexes of endothelial, epithelial and glial brain barriers. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:5372. doi: 10.3390/ijms20215372
- Wiendl H, Feger U, Mittelbronn M, Jack C, Schreiner B, Stadelmann C, et al. Expression of the immune-tolerogenic major histocompatibility molecule HLA-G in multiple sclerosis: implications for CNS immunity. *Brain*. (2005) 128(Pt 11):2689–704.
- 84. Tsokos GC. Systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:2110-21.
- Dorner T, Furie R. Novel paradigms in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lancet*. (2019) 393:2344–58.
- Bruschi M, Bonanni A, Petretto A, Vaglio A, Pratesi F, Santucci L, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps profiles in patients with incident systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus nephritis. *J Rheumatol.* (2020) 47:377–86.
- 87. Tsokos GC. Autoimmunity and organ damage in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Immunol.* (2020) 21:605–14.
- Ohl K, Tenbrock K. Regulatory T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:344–55.
- Li W, Deng C, Yang H, Wang G. The regulatory T cell in active systemic lupus erythematosus patients: a systemic review and meta-analysis. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:159. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00159
- Rosado S, Perez-Chacon G, Mellor-Pita S, Sanchez-Vegazo I, Bellas-Menendez C, Citores MJ, et al. Expression of human leukocyte antigen-G in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Hum Immunol.* (2008) 69:9–15.
- Wu Y, Cai B, Feng W, Yang B, Huang Z, Zuo C, et al. Double positive CD4+CD8+ T cells: key suppressive role in the production of autoantibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Indian J Med Res.* (2014) 140:513–9.
- 92. Gabrielli A, Avvedimento EV, Krieg T. Scleroderma. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:1989–2003.

- Gemignani L, Savarino V, Ghio M, Parodi A, Zentilin P, de Bortoli N, et al. Lactulose breath test to assess oro-cecal transit delay and estimate esophageal dysmotility in scleroderma patients. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. (2013) 42:522–9.
- 94. Fenoglio D, Bernuzzi F, Battaglia F, Parodi A, Kalli F, Negrini S, et al. Th17 and regulatory T lymphocytes in primary biliary cirrhosis and systemic sclerosis as models of autoimmune fibrotic diseases. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2012) 12:300–4.
- Fenoglio D, Battaglia F, Parodi A, Stringara S, Negrini S, Panico N, et al. Alteration of Th17 and Treg cell subpopulations co-exist in patients affected with systemic sclerosis. *Clin Immunol.* (2011) 139:249–57.
- 96. Papp G, Horvath IF, Barath S, Gyimesi E, Sipka S, Szodoray P, et al. Altered T-cell and regulatory cell repertoire in patients with diffuse cutaneous systemic sclerosis. *Scand J Rheumatol.* (2011) 40:205–10.
- Tardito S, Negrini S, Conteduca G, Ferrera F, Parodi A, Battaglia F, et al. Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase gene polymorphisms correlate with CD8+ Treg impairment in systemic sclerosis. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:166–9.
- Parel Y, Aurrand-Lions M, Scheja A, Dayer JM, Roosnek E, Chizzolini C. Presence of CD4+CD8+ double-positive T cells with very high interleukin-4 production potential in lesional skin of patients with systemic sclerosis. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2007) 56:3459–67.
- McIntire RH, Morales PJ, Petroff MG, Colonna M, Hunt JS. Recombinant HLA-G5 and -G6 drive U937 myelomonocytic cell production of TGF-beta1. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2004) 76:1220–8.
- Greaves MW, Weinstein GD. Treatment of psoriasis. N Engl J Med. (1995) 332:581–8.
- Espinoza LR, Cuellar ML, Silveira LH. Psoriatic arthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. (1992) 4:470-8.

- Lowes MA, Bowcock AM, Krueger JG. Pathogenesis and therapy of psoriasis. Nature. (2007) 445:866–73.
- 103. Cardili RN, Alves TG, Freitas JC, Soares CP, Mendes-Junior CT, Soares EG, et al. Expression of human leucocyte antigen-G primarily targets affected skin of patients with psoriasis. *Br J Dermatol.* (2010) 163:769–75.
- 104. Aractingi S, Briand N, Le Danff C, Viguier M, Bachelez H, Michel L, et al. HLA-G and NK receptor are expressed in psoriatic skin: a possible pathway for regulating infiltrating T cells? *Am J Pathol.* (2001) 159:71–7.
- 105. Kupper TS, Fuhlbrigge RC. Immune surveillance in the skin: mechanisms and clinical consequences. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2004) 4:211–22.
- Khosrotehrani K, Le Danff C, Reynaud-Mendel B, Dubertret L, Carosella ED, Aractingi S. HLA-G expression in atopic dermatitis. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2001) 117:750–2.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Contini, Murdaca, Puppo and Negrini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Roles of HLA-G in the Maternal-Fetal Immune Microenvironment

Xiuxiu Xu^{1,2}, Yonggang Zhou^{1,2,3} and Haiming Wei^{1,2*}

¹ Hefei National Laboratory for Physical Sciences at Microscale, Division of Molecular Medicine, The CAS Key Laboratory of Innate Immunity and Chronic Disease, School of Life Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China, ² Institute of Immunology, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China, ³ The First Affiliated Hospital of USTC, Division of Life Sciences and Medicine, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China

During pregnancy, the maternal uterus and fetus form a special microenvironment at the maternal-fetal interface to support fetal development. Extravillous trophoblasts (EVTs), differentiated from the fetus, invade into the decidua and interact with maternal cells. Human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G is a non-classical MHC-I molecule that is expressed abundantly and specifically on EVTs in physiological conditions. Soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) is also found in maternal blood, amniotic fluid, and cord blood. The abnormal expression and polymorphisms of HLA-G are related to adverse pregnancy outcomes such as preeclampsia (PE) and recurrent spontaneous abortion (RSA). Here we summarize current findings about three main roles of HLA-G during pregnancy, namely its promotion of spiral artery remodeling, immune tolerance, and fetal growth, all resulting from its interaction with immune cells. These findings are not only of great significance for the treatment of pregnancy-related diseases but also provide clues to tumor immunology research since HLA-G functions as a checkpoint in tumors.

HLA-G functions as a checkpoint in tumors.

Keywords: human leukocyte antigen G, pregnancy, extravillous trophoblasts, immunology, natural killer cells, spiral artery remodeling, fetal development

INTRODUCTION

The HLA-G gene was first discovered in 1982 (1) and was denominated HLA-G in 1990 (2). HLA-G is a class I histocompatibility antigen, but unlike the classical class I major histocompatibility complex (MHC-I) HLA-A, HLA-B, and HLA-C genes, HLA-G displays limited polymorphism. Seven different HLA-G mRNA transcripts have been identified, with this variety attributed to alternative splicing of its seven exons. HLA-G2, G3, and G4 transcripts are translated into membrane-binding isoforms; HLA-G5, G6, G7 into soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) isoforms; and HLA-G1 into both types of isoforms (3–6).

HLA-G appears to be especially relevant to pregnancy. After ovulation, the uterine stromal fibroblasts of the endometrium differentiate into decidual cells. In addition, uterine spiral arteries are formed. In early pregnancy, steroid hormones, progesterone, and β -estradiol act on maternal vascular endothelial cells and increase vascular permeability, promoting angiogenesis (7–9). Immune cells, especially natural killer (NK) cells, are recruited though maternal vessels. Extravillous trophoblasts (EVTs) of the embryo invade into the decidua and replace the endothelial cells (10). Together, these processes remodel spiral arteries and form the maternal-fetal interface to support the provision of oxygen and nutrients for fetal development.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wei-Hua Yan, Wenzhou Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Sumati Rajagopalan, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States Taruna Madan, National Institute for Research in Reproductive Health (ICMR), India

*Correspondence:

Haiming Wei ustcwhm@ustc.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 August 2020 Accepted: 05 October 2020 Published: 22 October 2020

Citation:

Xu X, Zhou Y and Wei H (2020) Roles of HLA-G in the Maternal-Fetal Immune Microenvironment. Front. Immunol. 11:592010. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.592010

59

HLA-G has been reported to be expressed on the surfaces of preimplantation embryos (11–13) and EVTs (14–16), while sHLA-G has been detected in culture medium of *in vitro*-fertilized (IVF) embryos (17, 18), maternal blood (19–21), amniotic fluid (22, 23), and cord blood (24, 25). HLA-G plays critical roles in the remodeling of spiral arteries, fetal development, and immune tolerance (10).

Considering these findings involving HLA-G, it is not surprising to also find relationships between HLA-G and complications associated with pregnancy. Specifically, HLA-G gene polymorphisms and decreased levels of sHLA-G have been found to be related to embryo implantation failure (18, 26-30), recurrent spontaneous abortion (31-36), placental abruption (37) and pre-eclampsia (38-48). For example, a multicenter study showed that the presence of soluble HLA-G in the culture medium of the embryo is significantly associated with increased pregnancy rates after assisted reproduction technique (ART) (26). Furthermore, Nowak et al. observed that soluble HLA-G level in the serum of patients is correlated with pregnancy outcome after ART. In addition, they revealed significantly association of G-C-ins (-725G>C SNP in the promoter region of HLA-G) haplotypes with infertility (27). HLA-G plasma level in women with placental abruption was significantly decreased (37). It is therefore critical to achieve a comprehensive understanding of the roles of HLA-G in pregnancy in general, and in maternal-fetal interactions specifically. Herein, we review three such major identified roles.

HLA-G PROMOTES THE REMODELING OF SPIRAL ARTERY

Fetal development in the uterus requires nutrients and oxygen provided by the maternal blood. Spiral artery remodeling is essential for accelerating and stabilizing placental blood flow during pregnancy. This remodeling begins with deciduaassociated remodeling and involves the initial swelling and disorganization of the vascular smooth muscle of spiral artery. Next the vascular endothelium becomes liquefied and the elastic membrane disintegrates. These changes are mainly induced by angiogenic growth factors, which have been found to be produced by decidual NK cells and macrophages (49–53).

NK cells constitute less than 20% of human peripheral lymphocytes, but account for about 70% of lymphocytes in the first-trimester decidua (54), and are hence the most abundant lymphocytes in the early maternal-fetal interface. NK cells recognize MHC-I proteins on target cells by expressing receptors such as killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs). And then NK cells decide whether to kill target cells upon signals from inhibitory or activating receptors.

KIR2DL4 (also called CD158d), a member of the KIR family, has a structure, localization, and function that differs from that of other KIRs (55–57). KIR2DL4 is expressed by NK cells and activates the production of IFN- γ but does not promote cytotoxicity of resting peripheral NK cells (58, 59). One variant of KIR2DL4, 9A is unstable on the surface because of its truncated cytoplasmic tail (60). In addition, KIR2DL4 has been reported to be mainly localized in intracellular endosomes containing Rab5 (61) and this localization requires the Ig domain of KIR2DL4. The localization and function in endosomes is specific to KIR2DL4. Because the expression of other members of the KIR family on the cell surface is very high.

The ligand of KIR2DL4 is HLA-G. Rajagopalan et al. (57) reported that soluble KIR2DL4, a fusion protein composed of the extracellular region of KIR2DL4 and the IgG Fc region, binds to LCL 721.221 cells that express HLA-G but not HLA-Cw3 or HLA-B7. Furthermore, soluble HLA-G or HLA-G on the surface of target cells was observed to be endocytosed into vesicles of NK cells after interacting with KIR2DL4. Soluble HLA-G has been shown to activate the secretion of proangiogenic/ proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (i.e., IL-6, IL-1β, IL-8, IL-23, MIP-1- α , and MIP-3- α) by NK cells. In addition, the secretion of IL-8 was shown to require the cytoplasmic tail of KIR2DL4 (61). Rajagopalan et al. (62) later described the molecular mechanism involved in this process. In NK cells, KIR2DL4 was found to interact with DNA damage signaling kinase DNA-PKcs and trigger phosphorylation of Akt at position Ser⁴⁷³ following stimulation with soluble HLA-G. Phosphorylated Akt activates the NF-KB pathway and hence results in the production of proinflammatory and proangiogenic cytokines (62). In addition, Rajagopalan et al. (63) identified a mutation of the TRAF6-binding motif in the KIR2DL4 cytoplasmic tail that caused decreased IL-8 secretion in transfected 293T cells. A co-immunoprecipitation assay using NK cells demonstrated an association between TRAF6 and KIR2DL4. And the TRAF6 binding site was shown to be required for the NF-KB signaling pathway. Specifically, KIR2DL4 recruits TRAF6, which in turn phosphorylates TAK1 at position T187. TAK1 participates in the production of IL-6, IFN- γ , CXCL1, and P2RX5 in NK cells (63).

When peripheral NK cells were stimulated with soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) or KIR2DL4 agonist antibody, DNA-PKcs was activated and induced the expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21. At the same time, heterochromatin protein $1-\gamma$ (HP1- γ) was phosphorylated at position Ser-83. These events are related to cell senescence. NK cells activated by KIR2DL4 and sHLA-G acquired senescence features, in particular they became enlarged and showed increased β galactosidase (SA-\beta-gal) activity. However, proliferation and apoptosis were not induced. Supernatants from peripheral NK cells stimulated with agonist antibody of KIR2DL4 could enhance HUVEC vascular permeability and tube formation. This observation is consistent with the stimulation by TNF- α and IL-1 β (64). These data acquired by Long et al. showed that sHLA-G can stimulate the production of senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) in NK cells by binding to KIR2DL4, and hence promote vascular permeability and angiogenesis (65). Thus, in this way, HLA-G can facilitate spiral artery remodeling (Figure 1).

KIR2DL4 mRNA has been detected in peripheral NK cells of every donor tested (66). Nonetheless, protein levels of KIR2DL4 were reported to be very low on the surface of resting peripheral



NK cells and decidual NK cells (67). In addition, the investigations, which sHLA-G and KIR2DL4 are endocytosed into endosomes and induce secretion of proangiogenic cytokines that promote vascular permeability, were verified in peripheral NK cells. Peripheral NK cells are quite different from decidual NK cells, and hence whether this process and mechanism occur in decidual NK cells remains to be determined. Furthermore, Fu et al. (68) observed the expression of intracellular KIR2DL4 in first-trimester decidual NK cells. This observation is consistent with the findings that KIR2DL4 resides in endosomes of decidual NK cells.

HLA-G has been reported to be selectively expressed on the cell surface of extravillous trophoblasts (14, 15). In addition, Apps et al. (69) found a significant percentage of HLA-G expressed as a homodimer on the surfaces of trophoblast cells in first-trimester placenta. This HLA-G homodimer is disulphide-linked and β 2m-associated (69, 70). LCL 721.221 cells that express homodimeric HLA-G could stimulate CD14⁺ decidual macrophages or decidual NK cells to secrete cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α (53). This stimulation is activated when homodimeric HLA-G binds to immunoglobulin-like transcript 2 (ILT2, also called LILRB1) on macrophages or to KIR2DL4 on NK cells. Macrophages differentiated from peripheral monocytes could exhibit the phenotype of decidual

macrophages when stimulated by soluble HLA-G5. These macrophages were observed to secrete more IL-6 and CXCL-1 and to induce trophoblast invasion (71). In addition, soluble HLA-G5 could also form a homodimer (69). Although, it remains to be determined whether sHLA-G in decidua and maternal serum exists as a homodimer or monomer.

sHLA-G induces the secretion of IL-8 in NK cells and homodimeric HLA-G on EVTs can stimulate decidual NK cells and macrophages to produce IL-8. Hanna et al. (72) found that decidual NK cells highly express IL-8, which can bind to CXCR1 and CXCR3. In addition, a transwell assay showed that IL-8 neutralizing antibody could reduce invasiveness of trophoblasts induced by decidual NK cells. Furthermore, neutralizing antibody to IL-8 could inhibit trophoblast invasion induced by decidual NK cells in Matrigel on nude mice. Therefore, IL-8 secreted by decidual NK cells was determined to participate in trophoblast invasiveness. In addition, a population of ILT2^{hi} pregnancy-trained decidual NK cells has been identified in repeated pregnancies. HLA-G-expressing LCL721.221 cells could enhance the secretion of more VEGF α in decidual NK cells of women with multigravid pregnancies. VEGFa secreted by decidual NK cells promotes vascularization (73).

In addition, HLA-G1⁺ APCs have been shown induce the differentiation of CD4⁺ peripheral T cells into suppressive CD4⁺

T cells (74). It has been reported that decidual Treg cells can increase trophoblast invasiveness. This effect is inhibited by anti-IL-10 neutralizing antibody and is increased by anti-TGF- β antibody (75).

The remodeling of spiral artery in women with pre-eclampsia is impaired (76). In patients with pre-eclampsia, the level of soluble HLA-G in serum was detected to be decreased whether in the first, second or third trimester of pregnancy (41, 50). In addition, HLA-G3 transcript was significantly reduced in the placenta of mild pre-eclampsia (42). Furthermore, the frequency of +14 bp/+14 bp genotype (14 bp insert in exon 8 of the HLA-G gene) in pre-eclampsia offspring was higher than in control offspring. In addition, fetal HLA-G*0106 in combination with maternal KIR2DL4*006 allele was reported to be associated with pre-eclampsia risk among multigravid pregnancies (51). Therefore, it will accelerate the treatment and prevention of preeclampsia to investigate the role of HLA-G in spiral artery remodeling.

HLA-G PARTICIPATES IN THE FORMATION OF MATERNAL-FETAL IMMUNE TOLERANCE

In the uterus, the fetus expresses paternal histocompatibility antigens, which are foreign antigens for the mother, yet the fetus is neither rejected nor attacked by the maternal immune system. This phenomenon is related to the specific immune tolerance microenvironment at the maternal-fetal interface. In the first trimester, immune cells account for up to 40% of the decidua. NK cells, macrophages, and T cells make up, respectively, about 70%, 15%–20%, and 5%–15% of decidual leukocytes (77). In addition, myeloid dendritic cells (DCs) have also been detected. Fetal-derived EVTs invade into the decidua and come into direct contact with maternal leukocytes. EVTs express classical MHC I HLA-C molecules and non-classical MHC I HLA-G and HLA-E molecules, and interact with leukocytes expressing receptors (such as KIR) to provide immune tolerance conditions (78).

NK cells are the most abundant leukocytes in the decidua during the first trimester. Expression of HLA-G has been suggested to protect NK-cell-sensitive cells from lysis by NK cell lines or decidual NK cells (79, 80). Moreover, NK cells in the maternal uterine blood were observed to not kill cytotrophoblast cells, whether the cytotrophoblast cells were isolated from the same mothers from whom the NK cells were derived or from other mothers. Cytotoxicity of NK cells was restored if an antibody that blocks both HLA-G and HLA-C was added into the co-culture medium. But an anti-HLA-C antibody did not reverse the protection against NK lysis. Therefore, HLA-G protected embryo-derived cytotrophoblast cells from being lysed by NK cells from the maternal uterine blood (81). However, cells overexpressing HLA-G have been reported to upregulate the surface expression of HLA-E, another nonclassical MHC molecule (82) since HLA-E can be loaded with HLA-G-derived peptide, the HLA-G leader sequence (83). Therefore, it is the HLA-E-NKG2A/CD94 interaction that inhibits cytotoxicity of NK cells to cell lines expressing HLA-G.

NK cells have been reported to express two HLA-G receptors: KIR2DL4 (57) and ILT2 (69). Co-culture of NK cell lines with HLA-G-expressing melanoma M8 cells restored the expression of KIR2DL4 or ILT2 on NK cells (84), and NK cells could use the trogocytosis to acquire HLA-G from tumor cells (85). Following co-culture with HLA-G1-expressing M8 cells or LCL 721.221 cells, IL-2-activated NK cells or IL-2-activated peripheral NK cells could acquire HLA-G1 on their cell surfaces and lose their cytotoxicity. Similarly, trogocytosis could transfer HLA-G to decidual NK cells from EVTs (86). While HLA-G mRNA was not detected, cell surface and intracellular HLA-G molecules were found in decidual NK cells after NK cells were co-cultured with EVTs. A transwell separation demonstrated NK cells obtaining HLA-G through direct cell contact. Therefore, decidual NK cells were shown to obtain HLA-G and then endocytose the HLA-G when in contact with EVTs. As mentioned above, HLA-G binds KIR2DL4 and is endocytosed by NK cells. Trogocytosis may play a role in NK cell tolerance.

Apps et al. (87) found that decidual NK cell degranulation was not affected when co-culturing with LCL 721.221 cells expressing HLA-G. The CD107a level in decidual NK cells was unchanged as a result of the stimulation of LCL 721.221 cells that express HLA-G. In addition, van der Meer et al. (88) reported that soluble HLA-G did not affect cytotoxicity of uterine mononuclear cells towards K562 cells and lytic activity of peripheral NK cells towards K562 cells was not affected by soluble HLA-G. However, soluble HLA-G could stimulate peripheral NK cells to produce interferon (IFN)-y. Further, Poehlmann et al. (89) found that soluble HLA-G1 could inhibit cytotoxicity of term placentae NK cells towards K562 cells, NK cell sensitive cell lines, even when the NK cells were pre-stimulated with IL-2. And soluble HLA-G1 induced reduction of perforin in term placentae NK cells. Therefore, it is necessary to use a system of decidual NK cells and EVT to study the effects and underlying mechanism of HLA-G on decidual NK cells tolerance to EVTs. Du et al. (75) reported that lytic activity of decidual NK cells towards K562 cells was reduced when decidual NK cells were pre-cocultured with trophoblasts. Trophoblasts pre-incubated with Treg cells showed a greater downregulation effect, attributed to decidual CD4⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells upregulated HLA-G expression in the trophoblasts. Furthermore, a neutralizing antibody to HLA-G could rescue the cytotoxicity of decidual NK cells. Thus, Treg cells could promote the expression of HLA-G in trophoblasts and inhibit cytotoxicity of decidual NK cells, and hence facilitate the production of IL-4 and IL-10 by decidual NK cells. In addition, de Mendonça Vieira found that HLA-G expression on term placenta EVTs is higher than that on first trimester EVTs. Increased HLA-G could provide increased interaction with term pregnancy dNK cells through KIR2DL4 and ILT2. However, term pregnancy dNK cells showed increased degranulation capacity in response to PMA/ionomycin and K562 cells (90). Therefore, HLA-G may have different effects on dNK cells in different stages of pregnancy.

In first-trimester decidua, 10%-15% of leukocytes are T cells. This proportion has been shown to rise up to 70% at the end of pregnancy (77). At the same time, HLA-G expression has been observed to be higher in term pregnancy EVT cells than in firsttrimester EVTs (91). Decidual T cells have been reported to express the HLA-G receptor ILT2. In 1999, Le Gal et al. (92) found that HLA-G specifically inhibited cytolytic T cell function. M8 cells were sensitized with influenza virus peptide and the cytotoxicity of peripheral antigen-specific CD8⁺ CTL towards M8 cells was specifically decreased when M8 cells expressed HLA-G1. This inhibition could be rescued by anti-HLA-G1 mAb. In addition, Bainbridge et al. (93) reported that expression of HLA-G on C1R B-lymphocyte cells inhibited CD4⁺ T cell proliferation when peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stimulated by C1R. Furthermore, HLA-G1 was reported to induce upregulation of ILT2 and KIR2DL4 mRNA in peripheral CD4⁺ T cells when peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were co-cultured with HLA-G1-expressing LCL 721.221 cells (84). A proportion of peripheral CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells express ILT2 on their surfaces. Further, addition of anti-ILT2 mAb was observed to enhance cytotoxicity of CD8⁺ CTL towards target cells (94). Soluble ILT2 and ILT4 could competitively inhibit binding of soluble recombinant CD8aa to soluble MHC-I molecules including HLA-G1 (95). LeMaoult et al. (96) found that peripheral CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells were able to acquire HLA-G1 by trogocytosis from LCL 721.221 cells, which express HLA-G1. This process did not require any interaction between HLA-G1 and receptors since addition of anti-HLA-G1 mAb or anti-ILT2 mAb did not affect the trogocytosis capability. Acquired HLA-G1 inhibited proliferation of peripheral CD4⁺ T cells stimulated by IL-2 or allogeneic PBMCs. In addition, CD4⁺ T cells that acquired HLA-G1 turned into regulatory cells and inhibited activation and proliferation of autologous T cells. Furthermore, peripheral T cells could also use trogocytosis to acquire ILT2 (97). Given that EVTs express high levels of HLA-G, and that Treg cells account for a high proportion of T cells in decidua, decidual T cells may also obtain HLA-G from EVTs and transform into Treg cells. Interestingly, Tilburgs et al. (98) reported that the co-culture of T cells with EVTs could increase the percentage of CD4⁺CD25^{hi}FOXP3⁺CD45RA⁺ Treg cells in a population of decidual T cells or peripheral T cells. Recently, Salvany-Celades et al. (99) identified three types of Treg cells in decidua: CD25^{hi}Foxp3⁺, PD1^{hi}, and TIGIT⁺ Treg cells. In their experiments, all these Treg cells suppressed proliferation of decidual CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 beads. CD25^{hi}Foxp3⁺, PD1^{hi} Treg cells could inhibit IFN- γ , TNF- α production of decidual CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells. In addition, co-culture with EVTs was observed to increase the proportion of CD25^{hi}Foxp3⁺ and PD1^{hi} Treg cells but not of TIGIT⁺ Treg cells that make up the population of CD4⁺ peripheral T cells. This process would be expected to require cell-cell contact. However, addition of blocking antibody against HLA-G had no effect on the increase of the proportion of Treg cells in the population of peripheral T cells. Whether HLA-G mediates an increase in the quantity of Treg cells in decidua remains to be investigated.

CD14⁺ macrophages constitute the second largest population of leukocytes in the decidua and express HLA-G receptors ILT2 and ILT4. Decidual macrophages in the first trimester consist of two distinct populations: CD11c^{hi} and CD11c^{lo}CD209^{hi}CD206^{hi}. These two subsets have been shown to constitutively produce IL-6, TNF- α , and TGF- β , whereas IL-10 and MIP-1 β have been shown to be mainly secreted by CD11chi decidual macrophages (100). Expression of ILT2 and ILT4 were increased in peripheral monocytes stimulated with M8 cells expressing HLA-G1 or HLA-G5 (95). In addition, HLA-G1-transfected antigen presenting cells (APC) lines could inhibit proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells, which was not mediated by the release of HLA-G1 in the medium. Further, APCs expressing HLA-G1 induced the differentiation of $CD4^+$ T cells into suppressive T cells (74). The inclusion of decidual macrophages was observed to increase the percentage of Treg cells in the population of peripheral CD4⁺ T cells (99). However, it is still unclear whether HLA-G participates in immune tolerance mediated by macrophages.

DC-SIGN⁺ (CD11c⁺CD1c⁺) cells make up about 3% of decidual leukocytes (101). IL-10-producing DCs have been reported to be present in PBMCs, and are termed DC-10. DC-10 has been indicated to be able to induce a differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into IL-10-producing Tr1 cells when subjected to an ILT4/HLA-G signal. And this interaction induced the expression of HLA-G on CD4⁺ T cells (102). Guo et al. (103) found that trophoblasts express thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) and secret soluble TSLP. Decidual CD1c⁺ DCs were observed to secrete a lot of IL-10 and CCL-17 when stimulated with soluble TSLP, thereby promoting the differentiation of decidual CD4⁺ T cells into Th2 cells. In addition, decidual DCs stimulated by TSLP could induce decidual CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells to differentiate into CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3⁺ Treg cells through TGF- β 1 (75).

In addition, granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells (GR-MDSCs) were found to accumulate in the term placenta (104). GR-MDSCs in the peripheral blood of pregnant woman express ILT2 and ILT4. Soluble HLA-G can increase the suppressive activity of placental GR-MDSCs on T cell proliferation (105). Therefore, GR-MDSCs contribute to the formation of immune tolerance in placenta.

HLA-G FACILITATES FETAL GROWTH

In addition to promoting remodeling of spiral arteries and immune tolerance, HLA-G has been found to facilitate fetal growth by stimulating secretion of growth promoting factors (GPFs) in NK cells, according to recent studies (68, 106, 107).

Fu et al. (68) found that decidual NK cells in the first trimester expressed high quantities GPFs such as pleiotrophin (PTN), osteoglycin (OGN), and osteopontin (OPN) at the mRNA and protein levels. Most GPF-positive NK cells were CD49a⁺Eomes⁺ tissue resident NK (trNK) cells. However, a smaller percentage of the decidual NK cells in the first trimester from recurrent spontaneous abortion (RSA) patients were trNK cells, and these first-trimester decidual NK cells from RSA patients showed decreased secretion of GPFs, while expression of GPFs in trNK cells from patient decidua was decreased. In order to explore whether the defect of trNK cells and GPFs could affect fetal development, Fu et al. constructed a pregnancy model of NK cell knockout mice, pregnant Nfil3^{-/-} mice. In the uteruses of pregnant Nfil3^{-/-} mice, the number of trNK cells and the GPF levels were decreased. In addition, the average weight of fetuses from pregnant Nfil3-/- mice was decreased and the development of the embryonic skeletal system was defective. Fetal growth restriction (FGR) in pregnant Nfil3-/- mice could be rescued by transferring induced CD49a⁺ uterus-like trNK cells (108). Furthermore, pregnant GPF knockout mice showed the same fetal growth defect as did Nfil3^{-/-} mice. CD49a⁺ uterus-like trNK cells differentiated from GPF knockout mice could reach the uterus but could not rescue the fetal development defect in pregnant Nfil3-/- mice. Moreover, injection of anti-PTN or anti-OGN antibody caused significantly reduced fetal weight. And injection of PTN could restore the fetal weight defect in pregnant Nfil3^{-/-} mice. These findings revealed that decidual trNK cells promote fetal development by secreting growthpromoting factors.

When co-cultured with EVTs in vitro, decidual NK cells expressed higher levels of GPFs. Since HLA molecules on EVTs and their receptors on NK cells are important for the maternal-fetal interface, Fu et al. co-cultured decidual NK cells with LCL 721.221 cells, which expressed HLA-G or HLA-C. The co-culture assay revealed that HLA-G promote expression of PTN, OGN, and OPN in dNK cells. TrNK cells expressed HLA-G receptors ILT2 and intracellular KIR2DL4. In the co-culture assay, HLA-G antibody and ILT2 antibody reduced GPF secretion significantly in decidual NK cells stimulated by EVTs. At the same time, GPF expression levels in decidual NK cells transfected with KIR2DL4 siRNA also decreased when the NK cells were co-cultured with EVTs. Therefore, HLA-G in EVTs could promote GPF secretion in trNK cells by acting on the receptors ILT2 and KIR2DL4 (68). Zhou et al. (109) analyzed the changes of signaling pathways in decidual NK cells stimulated with EVT and found that the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway was significantly altered. Phosphorylation of AKT1 at Ser-473 and the expression of PDK2 were increased in decidual NK cells cocultured with EVTs. In addition, transcription factor PBX1, which is already expressed in high quantities in decidual NK cells, showed even higher levels of expression in EVT-stimulated first-trimester decidual NK cells. SiRNA and phosphorylation inhibitor of AKT1 or PDK2 could reduce the levels of expression of PBX1 in decidual NK cells stimulated with EVTs. HLA-G and ILT2 blocking antibody were each shown to reduce the levels of phosphorylation of AKT1 at Ser-473 and reduce the levels of PBX1 expression in decidual NK cells co-cultured with EVTs. Therefore, HLA-G in EVTs could stimulate the PDK2-AKT1 signaling pathway and increase PBX1 expression by interacting with ILT2 in decidual NK cells. Zhou et al. also demonstrated that PBX1 could enhance the expression of growth-promoting factors PTN and OGN by directly binding to their promoters. PBX1 gene was mutant and protein level of PBX1 was reduced in decidual NK cells of RSA patients. In addition, trNK cell number

and PTN and OGN levels were decreased and fetal development was impaired in mice having PBX1 knocked out specifically in NK cells. Therefore, these results indicated that HLA-G in EVTs interacts with ILT2 in decidual NK cells and activates the PDK2-AKT1 signaling pathway in NK cells, and in turn PBX1 promotes fetal growth by upregulating PTN and OGN (**Figure 2**).

Imbalance of maternal-fetal immune tolerance and fetal growth embryo development can lead to miscarriage. Plasmatic levels of soluble HLA-G, both sHLA-G1 and HLA-G5, in women with abortion was much lower than those in pregnant women. In addition, sHLA-G1 was absent in the serum of women with RSA (31). Furthermore, Nowak et al. found that women who were heterozygous in –716 HLA-G (–716 T>G SNP in the promoter region of HLA-G) had a lower possibility of spontaneous miscarriage (110). In the promoter region of HLA-G, -1573 T>C SNP and -1746 C>A SNP were also reported to be associated with RSA (33). Therefore, studying the role of HLA-G during pregnancy could be beneficial to the understanding of RSA.

CONCLUSIONS

To summarize the above reports, three roles of HLA-G have been found during pregnancy. HLA-G interacts with ILT2 and KIR2DL4 on macrophages and NK cells to enhance the production of proangiogenic cytokines and to enhance the EVT invasion of decidua, thereby promoting spiral artery remodeling. In addition, HLA-G binds to ILT2, ILT4, and KIR2DL4 on NK cells, T cells and macrophages, inhibits the cytotoxicity of NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells, and causes an increase in the percentage of Treg cells in the population, and thereby contributes to immune tolerance. Furthermore, HLA-G on EVTs could induce the production of growth-promoting factors by decidual NK cells, thereby regulating fetal growth (**Figure 3**).

Since mice do not express HLA-G, samples are difficult to obtain and *in vitro* culture cannot be maintained for a long time, thus, it is difficult to study the function and mechanism of HLA-G without functional experimental models. Interestingly, Turco et al. (111) constructed, from first-trimester villi, long-lasting genetically stable trophoblast organoids that could differentiate into EVTs. Experiments deploying this system are expected to be used to further investigate the role and mechanism of HLA-G in pregnancy and to test the current models.

HLA-G has been reported to be abnormally expressed in many kinds of tumor tissues and has been detected in the plasma of cancer patients. In addition, the expression of HLA-G was found related to the outcome in various tumors (112). Since HLA-G is abnormally and specifically expressed in tumor tissues, it may represent a checkpoint in tumor immunology (113). At the maternal-fetal interface, HLA-G has been found to inhibit the cytotoxicity of T cells and NK cells and increase the proportion of Treg cells. It may also perform similar functions in tumor microenvironment. Therefore, the roles of HLA-G in pregnancy may provide clues for further understanding of tumor immunology.







AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version. XX drafted the manuscript and figures. HW and YZ edited/reviewed the article.

REFERENCES

- Orr HT, Bach FH, Ploegh HL, Strominger JL, Kavathas P, DeMars R. Use of HLA loss mutants to analyse the structure of the human major histocompatibility complex. *Nature* (1982) 296(5856):454–6. doi: 10.1038/ 296454a0
- Bodmer JG, Marsh SG, Albert E. Nomenclature for factors of the HLA system, 1989. *Immunol Today* (1990) 11(1):3–10. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699 (90)90003-R
- Fujii T, Ishitani A, Geraghty DE. A Soluble Form of the Hla-G Antigen Is Encoded by a Messenger-Ribonucleic-Acid Containing Intron 4. *J Immunol* (1994) 153(12):5516–24.
- Paul P, Cabestre FA, Ibrahim E, Lefebvre S, Khalil-Daher I, Vazeux G, et al. Identification of HLA-G7 as a new splice variant of the HLA-G mRNA and expression of soluble HLA-G5, -G6, and -G7 transcripts in human transfected cells. *Hum Immunol* (2000) 61(11):1138–49. doi: 10.1016/ S0198-8859(00)00197-X
- Carosella ED, Moreau P, Le Maoult J, Le Discorde M, Dausset J, Rouas-Freiss N. HLA-G molecules: from maternal-fetal tolerance to tissue acceptance. *Adv Immunol* (2003) 81:199–252. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776 (03)81006-4
- Donadi EA, Castelli EC, Arnaiz-Villena A, Roger M, Rey D, Moreau P. Implications of the polymorphism of HLA-G on its function, regulation, evolution and disease association. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2011) 68(3):369–95. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0580-7
- CaulinGlaser T, Watson CA, Pardi R, Bender JR. Effects of 17 beta-estradiol on cytokine-induced endothelial cell adhesion molecule expression. *J Clin Invest* (1996) 98(1):36–42. doi: 10.1172/JCI118774
- Kaya HS, Hantak AM, Stubbs LJ, Taylor RN, Bagchi IC, Bagchi MK. Roles of progesterone receptor A and B isoforms during human endometrial decidualization. *Mol Endocrinol* (2015) 29(6):882–95. doi: 10.1210/ me.2014-1363
- Das A, Mantena SR, Kannan A, Evans DB, Bagchi MK, Bagchi IC. De novo synthesis of estrogen in pregnant uterus is critical for stromal decidualization and angiogenesis. *P Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106 (30):12542-7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901647106
- Gregori S, Amodio G, Quattrone F, Panina-Bordignon P. HLA-G Orchestrates the Early Interaction of Human Trophoblasts with the Maternal Niche. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:128. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00128
- Jurisicova A, Casper RF, MacLusky NJ, Mills GB, Librach CL. HLA-G expression during preimplantation human embryo development. *P Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) 93(1):161–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.1.161
- Verloes A, Van de Velde H, LeMaoult J, Mateizel I, Cauffman G, Horn PA, et al. HLA-G Expression in Human Embryonic Stem Cells and Preimplantation Embryos. J Immunol (2011) 186(4):2663-71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001081
- Yao YQ, Barlow DH, Sargent IL. Differential expression of alternatively spliced transcripts of HLA-G in human preimplantation embryos and inner cell masses. J Immunol (2005) 175(12):8379–85. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.175.12.8379
- Mcmaster MT, Librach CL, Zhou Y, Lim KH, Janatpour MJ, Demars R, et al. Human Placental Hla-G Expression Is Restricted to Differentiated Cytotrophoblasts. J Immunol (1995) 154(8):3771–8.
- Kovats S, Main EK, Librach C, Stubblebine M, Fisher SJ, Demars R. A Class-I Antigen, Hla-G, Expressed in Human Trophoblasts. *Science* (1990) 248 (4952):220–3. doi: 10.1126/science.2326636
- Apps R, Gardner L, Moffett A. A critical look at HLA-G. Trends Immunol (2008) 29(7):313–21. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2008.02.012

FUNDING

This work was supported by the key project of the National Key Research and Development Program of China (#2018YFC1003900) and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (#31900662).

- Pfeiffer KA, Rebmann V, Passler M, van der Ven K, van der Ven H, Krebs D, et al. Soluble HLA levels in early pregnancy after in vitro fertilization. *Hum Immunol* (2000) 61(6):559–64. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00123-3
- Fuzzi B, Rizzo R, Criscuoli L, Noci I, Melchiorri L, Scarselli B, et al. HLA-G expression in early embryos is a fundamental prerequisite for the obtainment of pregnancy. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) 32(2):311–5. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200202)32:2<311::AID-IMMU311>3.0.CO;2-8
- Hunt JS, Jadhav L, Chu WJ, Geraghty DE, Ober C. Soluble HLA-G circulates in maternal blood during pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2000) 183 (3):682–8. doi: 10.1067/mob.2000.106762
- Alegre E, Diaz-Lagares A, Lemaoult J, Lopez-Moratalla N, Carosella ED, Gonzalez A. Maternal antigen presenting cells are a source of plasmatic HLA-G during pregnancy: longitudinal study during pregnancy. *Hum Immunol* (2007) 68(8):661–7. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2007.04.007
- Shaikly VR, Morrison IE, Taranissi M, Noble CV, Withey AD, Cherry RJ, et al. Analysis of HLA-G in maternal plasma, follicular fluid, and preimplantation embryos reveal an asymmetric pattern of expression. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(6):4330–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.6.4330
- Rebmann V, Pfeiffer K, Passler M, Ferrone S, Maier S, Weiss E, et al. Detection of soluble HLA-G molecules in plasma and amniotic fluid. *Tissue Antigens* (1999) 53(1):14–22. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-0039.1999.530102.x
- Hackmon R, Hallak M, Krup M, Weitzman D, Sheiner E, Kaplan B, et al. HLA-G antigen and parturition: Maternal serum, fetal serum and amniotic fluid levels during pregnancy. *Fetal Diagn Ther* (2004) 19(5):404–9. doi: 10.1159/000078992
- Webb BJ, Bochan MR, Montel A, Padilla LM, Brahmi Z. The Lack of Nk Cytotoxicity Associated with Fresh Hucb May Be Due to the Presence of Soluble Hla in the Serum. *Cell Immunol* (1994) 159(2):246–61. doi: 10.1006/ cimm.1994.1311
- Beneventi F, Locatelli E, De Amici M, Martinetti M, Spinillo A. Soluble HLA-G concentrations in obese women during pregnancy and in cord blood. J Reprod Immunol (2017) 119:31–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.11.005
- 26. Kotze D, Kruger TF, Lombard C, Padayachee T, Keskintepe L, Sher G. The effect of the biochemical marker soluble human leukocyte antigen G on pregnancy outcome in assisted reproductive technology–a multicenter study. *Fertil Steril* (2013) 100(5):1303–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.07.1977
- Nowak I, Wilczynska K, Radwan P, Wisniewski A, Krasinski R, Radwan M, et al. Association of Soluble HLA-G Plasma Level and HLA-G Genetic Polymorphism With Pregnancy Outcome of Patients Undergoing in vitro Fertilization Embryo Transfer. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2982. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.02982
- Fan W, Huang Z, Li S, Xiao Z. The HLA-G 14-bp polymorphism and recurrent implantation failure: a meta-analysis. J Assist Reprod Genet (2017) 34(11):1559–65. doi: 10.1007/s10815-017-0994-3
- Sun LL, Wang AM, Haines CJ, Han Y, Yao YQ. Down-regulation of HLA-G Attenuates Cleavage Rate in Human Triploid Embryos. J Reprod Infertil (2011) 12(3):215–20.
- Rebmann V, Switala M, Eue I, Grosse-Wilde H. Soluble HLA-G is an independent factor for the prediction of pregnancy outcome after ART: a German multi-centre study. *Hum Reprod* (2010) 25(7):1691–8. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/deq120
- 31. Zidi I, Rizzo R, Bouaziz A, Laaribi AB, Zidi N, Di Luca D, et al. sHLA-G1 and HLA-G5 levels are decreased in Tunisian women with multiple abortion. *Hum Immunol* (2016) 77(4):342–5. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.01.019
- Mosaferi E, Alizadeh Gharamaleki N, Farzadi L, Majidi J, Babaloo Z, Kazemi T, et al. The Study of HLA-G Gene and Protein Expression in Patients with Recurrent Miscarriage. Adv Pharm Bull (2019) 9(1):70–5. doi: 10.15171/ apb.2019.009

- Yazdani N, Shekari Khaniani M, Bastami M, Ghasemnejad T, Afkhami F, Mansoori Derakhshan S. HLA-G regulatory variants and haplotypes with susceptibility to recurrent pregnancy loss. *Int J Immunogenet* (2018) 45 (4):181–9. doi: 10.1111/iji.12364
- Meuleman T, Drabbels J, van Lith JMM, Dekkers OM, Rozemuller E, Cretu-Stancu M, et al. Lower frequency of the HLA-G UTR-4 haplotype in women with unexplained recurrent miscarriage. J Reprod Immunol (2018) 126:46– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2018.02.002
- Koc A, Kirbiyik O, Kutbay YB, Ozyilmaz B, Ozdemir TR, Kaya OO, et al. Fetal HLA-G alleles and their effect on miscarriage. *Adv Clin Exp Med* (2018) 27(9):1233–7. doi: 10.17219/acem/69692
- Lynge Nilsson L, Djurisic S, Hviid TV. Controlling the Immunological Crosstalk during Conception and Pregnancy: HLA-G in Reproduction. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:198. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00198
- Steinborn A, Rebmann V, Scharf A, Sohn C, Grosse-Wilde H. Placental abruption is associated with decreased maternal plasma levels of soluble HLA-G. J Clin Immunol (2003) 23(4):307–14. doi: 10.1023/ A:1024592901663
- He Y, Chen S, Huang H, Chen Q. Association between decreased plasma levels of soluble human leukocyte antigen-G and severe pre-eclampsia. *J Perinat Med* (2016) 44(3):283–90. doi: 10.1515/jpm-2015-0062
- Rokhafrooz S, Ghadiri A, Ghandil P, Ghafourian M, Hossaini SH, Daraei N, et al. Association between HLA-G 14bp Gene Polymorphism and Serum sHLA-G Protein Concentrations in Preeclamptic Patients and Normal Pregnant Women. *Immunol Invest* (2018) 47(6):558–68. doi: 10.1080/ 08820139.2018.1467925
- de Almeida BS, Muniz YCN, Prompt AH, Castelli EC, Mendes CT, Donadi EA. Genetic association between HLA-G 14-bp polymorphism and diseases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Immunol* (2018) 79(10):724– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2018.08.003
- Hackmon R, Koifman A, Hyobo H, Glickman H, Sheiner E, Geraghty DE. Reduced third-trimester levels of soluble human leukocyte antigen G protein in severe preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2007) 197(3):255 e1-5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.06.033
- 42. O'Brien M, McCarthy T, Jenkins D, Paul P, Dausset J, Carosella ED, et al. Altered HLA-G transcription in pre-eclampsia is associated with allele specific inheritance: possible role of the HLA-G gene in susceptibility to the disease. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2001) 58(12-13):1943–9. doi: 10.1007/ PL00000828
- Durmanova V, Drobny J, Shawkatova I, Dlhopolcek J, Bucova M. Analysis of HLA-G gene polymorphisms in Slovak women with pre-eclampsia. *Bratisl Lek Listy* (2017) 118(9):517–22. doi: 10.4149/BLL_2017_100
- 44. Mando C, Pileri P, Mazzocco MI, Lattuada D, Zolin A, Plebani M, et al. Maternal and fetal HLA-G 14 bp gene polymorphism in pregnancy-induced hypertension, preeclampsia, intrauterine growth restricted and normal pregnancies. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med (2016) 29(9):1509–14. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2015.1052398
- 45. Pabalan N, Jarjanazi H, Sun C, Iversen AC. Meta-analysis of the human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) 14 bp insertion/deletion polymorphism as a risk factor for preeclampsia. *Tissue Antigens* (2015) 86(3):186–94. doi: 10.1111/tan.12627
- 46. Loisel DA, Billstrand C, Murray K, Patterson K, Chaiworapongsa T, Romero R, et al. The maternal HLA-G 1597DeltaC null mutation is associated with increased risk of pre-eclampsia and reduced HLA-G expression during pregnancy in African-American women. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2013) 19 (3):144–52. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gas041
- Hylenius S, Andersen AM, Melbye M, Hviid TV. Association between HLA-G genotype and risk of pre-eclampsia: a case-control study using family triads. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2004) 10(4):237–46. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah035
- Steinborn A, Varkonyi T, Scharf A, Bahlmann F, Klee A, Sohn C. Early detection of decreased soluble HLA-G levels in the maternal circulation predicts the occurrence of preeclampsia and intrauterine growth retardation during further course of pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2007) 57 (4):277–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2007.00475.x
- Li XF, Charnock-Jones DS, Zhang E, Hiby S, Malik S, Day K, et al. Angiogenic growth factor messenger ribonucleic acids in uterine natural killer cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2001) 86(4):1823–34. doi: 10.1210/ jc.86.4.1823

- Pijnenborg R, Brosens IA, Romero R. *Placental bed disorders: basic science and its translation to obstetrics* Vol. xiii. . Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press (2010). p., 8. p. of col. plates p.
- Brosens I, Puttemans P, Benagiano G. Placental bed research: I. The placental bed: from spiral arteries remodeling to the great obstetrical syndromes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2019) 221(5):437–56. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajog.2019.05.044
- Lash GE, Schiessl B, Kirkley M, Innes BA, Cooper A, Searle RF, et al. Expression of angiogenic growth factors by uterine natural killer cells during early pregnancy. *J Leukoc Biol* (2006) 80(3):572–80. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0406250
- 53. Li C, Houser BL, Nicotra ML, Strominger JL. HLA-G homodimer-induced cytokine secretion through HLA-G receptors on human decidual macrophages and natural killer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106 (14):5767–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901173106
- Jabrane-Ferrat N, Siewiera J. The up side of decidual natural killer cells: new developments in immunology of pregnancy. *Immunology* (2014) 141 (4):490–7. doi: 10.1111/imm.12218
- Selvakumar A, Steffens U, Dupont B. NK cell receptor gene of the KIR family with two IG domains but highest homology to KIR receptors with three IG domains. *Tissue Antigens* (1996) 48(4 Pt 1):285–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.1996.tb02647.x
- Cantoni C, Falco M, Pessino A, Moretta A, Moretta L, Biassoni R. P49, a putative HLA-G1 specific inhibitory NK receptor belonging to the immunoglobulin Superfamily. J Reprod Immunol (1999) 43(2):157–65. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00031-5
- Rajagopalan S, Long EO. A human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G-specific receptor expressed on all natural killer cells. J Exp Med (1999) 189(7):1093–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.7.1093
- Rajagopalan S, Fu J, Long EO. Cutting edge: induction of IFN-gamma production but not cytotoxicity by the killer cell Ig-like receptor KIR2DL4 (CD158d) in resting NK cells. J Immunol (2001) 167(4):1877–81. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.4.1877
- Faure M, Long EO. KIR2DL4 (CD158d), an NK cell-activating receptor with inhibitory potential. J Immunol (2002) 168(12):6208–14. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.168.12.6208
- Goodridge JP, Witt CS, Christiansen FT, Warren HS. KIR2DL4 (CD158d) genotype influences expression and function in NK cells. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(4):1768–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.4.1768
- Rajagopalan S, Bryceson YT, KuppU S Amy SP, Geraghty DE, van der Meer A, Joosten I, et al. Activation of NK cells by an endocytosed receptor for soluble HLA-G. *PLoS Biol* (2006) 4(1):70–86. doi: 10.1371/journal. pbio.0040009
- 62. Rajagopalan S, Moyle MW, Joosten I, Long EO. DNA-PKcs controls an endosomal signaling pathway for a proinflammatory response by natural killer cells. *Sci Signal* (2010) 3(110):ra14. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2000467
- Rajagopalan S, Lee EC, DuPrie ML, Long EO. TNFR-associated factor 6 and TGF-beta-activated kinase 1 control signals for a senescence response by an endosomal NK cell receptor. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(2):714–21. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1302384
- 64. Rajagopalan S, Long EO. Cellular senescence induced by CD158d reprograms natural killer cells to promote vascular remodeling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(50):20596–601. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1208248109
- Rajagopalan S. HLA-G-mediated NK cell senescence promotes vascular remodeling: implications for reproduction. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2014) 11 (5):460–6. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.53
- 66. Cantoni C, Verdiani S, Falco M, Pessino A, Cilli M, Conte R, et al. p49, a putative HLA class I-specific inhibitory NK receptor belonging to the immunoglobulin superfamily. *Eur J Immunol* (1998) 28(6):1980–90. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199806)28:06<1980::AID-IMMU1980>3. 0.CO;2-F
- El Costa H, Casemayou A, Aguerre-Girr M, Rabot M, Berrebi A, Parant O, et al. Critical and differential roles of NKp46- and NKp30-activating receptors expressed by uterine NK cells in early pregnancy. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(5):3009–17. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.5.3009
- Fu B, Zhou Y, Ni X, Tong X, Xu X, Dong Z, et al. Natural Killer Cells Promote Fetal Development through the Secretion of Growth-Promoting Factors. *Immunity* (2017) 47(6):1100–13 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2017.11.018

- Apps R, Gardner L, Sharkey AM, Holmes N, Moffett A. A homodimeric complex of HLA-G on normal trophoblast cells modulates antigenpresenting cells via LILRB1. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(7):1924–37. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737089
- Boyson JE, Erskine R, Whitman MC, Chiu M, Lau JM, Koopman LA, et al. Disulfide bond-mediated dimerization of HLA-G on the cell surface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(25):16180–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212643199
- Lee CL, Guo Y, So KH, Vijayan M, Guo Y, Wong VH, et al. Soluble human leukocyte antigen G5 polarizes differentiation of macrophages toward a decidual macrophage-like phenotype. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(10):2263–74. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev196
- Hanna J, Goldman-Wohl D, Hamani Y, Avraham I, Greenfield C, Natanson-Yaron S, et al. Decidual NK cells regulate key developmental processes at the human fetal-maternal interface. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(9):1065–74. doi: 10.1038/nm1452
- Gamliel M, Goldman-Wohl D, Isaacson B, Gur C, Stein N, Yamin R, et al. Trained Memory of Human Uterine NK Cells Enhances Their Function in Subsequent Pregnancies. *Immunity* (2018) 48(5):951–62. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2018.03.030
- 74. LeMaoult J, Krawice-Radanne I, Dausset J, Carosella ED. HLA-G1expressing antigen-presenting cells induce immunosuppressive CD4(+) T cells. P Natl Acad Sci U S A (2004) 101(18):7064–9. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0401922101
- Du MR, Guo PF, Piao HL, Wang SC, Sun C, Jin LP, et al. Embryonic trophoblasts induce decidual regulatory T cell differentiation and maternalfetal tolerance through thymic stromal lymphopoietin instructing dendritic cells. J Immunol (2014) 192(4):1502–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203425
- Kaufmann P, Black S, Huppertz B. Endovascular trophoblast invasion: implications for the pathogenesis of intrauterine growth retardation and preeclampsia. *Biol Reprod* (2003) 69(1):1–7. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.102.014977
- Ferreira LMR, Meissner TB, Tilburgs T, Strominger JL. HLA-G: At the Interface of Maternal-Fetal Tolerance. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38(4):272– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.01.009
- Erlebacher A. Immunology of the Maternal-Fetal Interface. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:387–411. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100003
- Pazmany L, Mandelboim O, Vales-Gomez M, Davis DM, Reyburn HT, Strominger JL. Protection from natural killer cell-mediated lysis by HLA-G expression on target cells. *Science* (1996) 274(5288):792–5. doi: 10.1126/ science.274.5288.792
- Chumbley G, King A, Robertson K, Holmes N, Loke YW. Resistance of HLA-G and HLA-A2 transfectants to lysis by decidual NK cells. *Cell Immunol* (1994) 155(2):312–22. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1994.1125
- Rouas-Freiss N, Goncalves RM, Menier C, Dausset J, Carosella ED. Direct evidence to support the role of HLA-G in protecting the fetus from maternal uterine natural killer cytolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94 (21):11520–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.21.11520
- Teklemariam T, Zhao LM, Hantash BM. Full-length HLA-G1 and truncated HLA-G3 differentially increase HLA-E surface localization. *Hum Immunol* (2012) 73(9):898–905. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.06.007
- Llano M, Lee N, Navarro F, Garcia P, Albar JP, Geraghty DE, et al. HLA-Ebound peptides influence recognition by inhibitory and triggering CD94/ NKG2 receptors: preferential response to an HLA-G-derived nonamer. *Eur J Immunol* (1998) 28(9):2854–63. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199809) 28:09<2854::AID-IMMU2854>3.0.CO;2-W
- LeMaoult J, Zafaranloo K, Le Danff C, Carosella ED. HLA-G up-regulates ILT2, ILT3, ILT4, and KIR2DL4 in antigen presenting cells, NK cells, and T cells. *FASEB J* (2005) 19(6):662–4. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-1617fje
- Caumartin J, Favier B, Daouya M, Guillard C, Moreau P, Carosella ED, et al. Trogocytosis-based generation of suppressive NK cells. *EMBO J* (2007) 26 (5):1423–33. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601570
- Tilburgs T, Evans JH, Crespo AC, Strominger JL. The HLA-G cycle provides for both NK tolerance and immunity at the maternal-fetal interface. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(43):13312–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1517724112
- Apps R, Sharkey A, Gardner L, Male V, Kennedy P, Masters L, et al. Ex vivo functional responses to HLA-G differ between blood and decidual NK cells. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2011) 17(9):577–86. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gar022
- van der Meer A, Lukassen HGM, van Cranenbroek B, Weiss EH, Braat DDM, van Lierop MJ, et al. Soluble HLA-G promotes Th1-type cytokine

production by cytokine-activated uterine and peripheral natural killer cells. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2007) 13(2):123–33. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal100

- Poehlmann TG, Schaumann A, Busch S, Fitzgerald JS, Aguerre-Girr M, Le Bouteiller P, et al. Inhibition of term decidual NK cell cytotoxicity by soluble HLA-G1. Am J Reprod Immunol (2006) 56(5-6):275–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2006.00420.x
- de Mendonca Vieira R, Meagher A, Crespo AC, Kshirsagar SK, Iyer V, Norwitz ER, et al. Human Term Pregnancy Decidual NK Cells Generate Distinct Cytotoxic Responses. J Immunol (2020) 204(12):3149–59. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1901435
- Papuchova H, Kshirsagar S, Xu L, Gomes HAB, Li Q, Iyer V, et al. Three types of HLA-G plus extravillous trophoblasts that have distinct immune regulatory properties. *P Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2020) 117(27):15772–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2000484117
- Le Gal FA, Riteau B, Sedlik C, Khalil-Daher I, Menier C, Dausset J, et al. HLA-G-mediated inhibition of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Int Immunol (1999) 11(8):1351–6. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.8.1351
- Bainbridge DRJ, Ellis SA, Sargent IL. HLA-G suppresses proliferation of CD4(+) T-lymphocytes. J Reprod Immunol (2000) 48(1):17–26. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(00)00070-X
- 94. Saverino D, Fabbi M, Ghiotto F, Merlo A, Bruno S, Zarcone D, et al. The CD85/LIR-1/ILT2 inhibitory receptor is expressed by all human T lymphocytes and down-regulates their functions. *J Immunol* (2000) 165 (7):3742–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.7.3742
- 95. Shiroishi M, Tsumoto K, Amano K, Shirakihara Y, Colonna M, Braud VM, et al. Human inhibitory receptors Ig-like transcript 2 (ILT2) and ILT4 compete with CD8 for MHC class I binding and bind preferentially to HLA-G. P Natl Acad Sci U S A (2003) 100(15):8856–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1431057100
- 96. LeMaoult J, Caumartin J, Daouya M, Favier B, Le Rond S, Gonzalez A, et al. Immune regulation by pretenders: cell-to-cell transfers of HLA-G make effector T cells act as regulatory cells. *Blood* (2007) 109(5):2040–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-024547
- HoWangYin KY, Caumartin J, Favier B, Daouya M, Yaghi L, Carosella ED, et al. Proper Regrafting of Ig-Like Transcript 2 after Trogocytosis Allows a Functional Cell-Cell Transfer of Sensitivity. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(4):2210– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000547
- Tilburgs T, Crespo AC, van der Zwan A, Rybalov B, Raj T, Stranger B, et al. Human HLA-G+ extravillous trophoblasts: Immune-activating cells that interact with decidual leukocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112 (23):7219–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1507977112
- 99. Salvany-Celades M, van der Zwan A, Benner M, Setrajcic-Dragos V, Bougleux Gomes HA, Iyer V, et al. Three Types of Functional Regulatory T Cells Control T Cell Responses at the Human Maternal-Fetal Interface. *Cell Rep* (2019) 27(9):2537–47 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.04.109
- 100. Houser BL, Tilburgs T, Hill J, Nicotra ML, Strominger JL. Two Unique Human Decidual Macrophage Populations. J Immunol (2011) 186(4):2633– 42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003153
- 101. Amodio G, Mugione A, Sanchez AM, Vigano P, Candiani M, Somigliana E, et al. HLA-G expressing DC-10 and CD4(+) T cells accumulate in human decidua during pregnancy. *Hum Immunol* (2013) 74(4):406–11. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.11.031
- 102. Gregori S, Tomasoni D, Pacciani V, Scirpoli M, Battaglia M, Magnani CF, et al. Differentiation of type 1 T regulatory cells (Tr1) by tolerogenic DC-10 requires the IL-10-dependent ILT4/HLA-G pathway. *Blood* (2010) 116 (6):935–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-234872
- 103. Guo PF, Du MR, Wu HX, Lin Y, Jin LP, Li DJ. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin from trophoblasts induces dendritic cell-mediated regulatory TH2 bias in the decidua during early gestation in humans. *Blood* (2010) 116(12):2061–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-11-252940
- 104. Kostlin N, Hofstadter K, Ostermeir AL, Spring B, Leiber A, Haen S, et al. Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Accumulate in Human Placenta and Polarize toward a Th2 Phenotype. J Immunol (2016) 196 (3):1132–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500340
- 105. Kostlin N, Ostermeir AL, Spring B, Schwarz J, Marme A, Walter CB, et al. HLA-G promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation and suppressive activity during human pregnancy through engagement of the receptor ILT4. *Eur J Immunol* (2017) 47(2):374–84. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201646564

- 106. Andreotti JP, Paiva AE, Prazeres P, Guerra DAP, Silva WN, Vaz RS, et al. The role of natural killer cells in the uterine microenvironment during pregnancy. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2018) 15(11):941–3. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0023-1
- 107. Yockey LJ, Iwasaki A. Interferons and Proinflammatory Cytokines in Pregnancy and Fetal Development. *Immunity* (2018) 49(3):397–412. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.07.017
- 108. Ni X, Fu BQ, Zhang JH, Sun R, Tian ZG, Wei HM. Cytokine-Based Generation of CD49a(+) Eomes(-/+) Natural Killer Cell Subsets. Front Immunol (2018) 9:2126. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02126
- 109. Zhou Y, Fu B, Xu X, Zhang J, Tong X, Wang Y, et al. PBX1 expression in uterine natural killer cells drives fetal growth. *Sci Transl Med* (2020) 12(537): eaax1798. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aax1798
- 110. Nowak I, Malinowski A, Barcz E, Wilczynski JR, Wagner M, Majorczyk E, et al. Possible Role of HLA-G, LILRB1 and KIR2DL4 Gene Polymorphisms in Spontaneous Miscarriage. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) (2016) 64 (6):505–14. doi: 10.1007/s00005-016-0389-7
- 111. Turco MY, Gardner L, Kay RG, Hamilton RS, Prater M, Hollinshead MS, et al. Trophoblast organoids as a model for maternal-fetal interactions during

human placentation. Nature (2018) 564(7735):263-7. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0753-3

- 112. Bai Y, Liang J, Liu W, Wang F, Li C. Possible roles of HLA-G regulating immune cells in pregnancy and endometrial diseases via KIR2DL4. J Reprod Immunol (2020) 142:103176. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2020.103176
- 113. Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Roux DTL, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G: An Immune Checkpoint Molecule. Adv Immunol (2015) 127:33–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Xu, Zhou and Wei. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Intratumor Heterogeneity of HLA-G Expression in Cancer Lesions

Xia Zhang¹, Aifen Lin¹, Qiu-Yue Han¹, Jian-Gang Zhang¹, Qiong-Yuan Chen¹, Yao-Han Ye¹, Wen-Jun Zhou¹, Hui-Hui Xu², Jun Gan² and Wei-Hua Yan^{2*}

¹ Biological Resource Center, TaiZhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, Taizhou Enze Medical Center (Group), LinHai, China, ² Medical Research Center, TaiZhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, Taizhou Enze Medical Center (Group), LinHai, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Duncan Tait, Australian Red Cross Blood Service, Australia

Reviewed by:

Uma Kanga, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, India Stanislaw Stepkowski, University of Toledo, United States Vera Rebmann, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany

> *Correspondence: Wei-Hua Yan yanwhcom@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alloimmunity and Transplantation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 03 June 2020 Accepted: 27 October 2020 Published: 19 November 2020

Citation:

Zhang X, Lin A, Han Q-Y, Zhang J-G, Chen Q-Y, Ye Y-H, Zhou W-J, Xu H-H, Gan J and Yan W-H (2020) Intratumor Heterogeneity of HLA-G Expression in Cancer Lesions. Front. Immunol. 11:565759. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.565759 Signaling pathway between human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G and immune inhibitory receptors immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT)-2/4 has been acknowledged as one of immune checkpoints, and as a potential target for cancer immunotherapy. Like other immune checkpoints, inter- and even intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G could render a rather complexity for HLA-G-target immunotherapy. However, little information for intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G is available. In this study, HLA-G expression in a serial section of colorectal cancer (CRC) lesions from three CRC patients (each sample with serial section of 50 slides, 10 randomized slides for each antibody), three different locations within a same sample (five CRC), and three case-matched blocks that each includes 36 esophageal cancer samples, were evaluated with immunohistochemistry using anti-HLA-G antibodies (mAbs 4H84, MEM-G/1 and MEM-G/2 probing for all denatured HLA-G isoforms, 5A6G7, and 2A12 probing for denatured HLA-G5 and HLA-G6 isoforms). Our results revealed that, in addition to the frequently observed inter-tumor heterogeneity, intratumor heterogeneous expression of HLA-G is common in different areas within a tumor in CRC and esophageal cancer samples included in this study. Moreover, percentage of HLA-G expression probed with different anti-HLA-G antibodies also varies dramatically within a tumor. Given HLA-G has been considered as an important immune checkpoint, intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G expression, and different specificity of anti-HLA-G antibodies being used among studies, interpretation and clinical significance of HLA-G expression in cancers should be with caution.

Keywords: HLA-G, tumor, heterogeneity, isoform, antibody, colorectal cancer, esophageal cancer

INTRODUCTION

Immune suppressive functions induced by the interaction between human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) and its immune inhibitory receptors, the immunoglobulin-like transcripts (ILTs), have been widely acknowledged (1). Receptors ILT-2 and ILT-4 express on various immune cells, the immune tolerogenic effects induced by HLA-G are comprehensive (2). Due to alternative splicing of its primary transcripts, seven confirmed HLA-G isoforms (HLA-G1~HLA-G7), and recently predicted novel isoforms such as lacking a transmembrane region and α 1 domain have been reported (3).

In the context of cancers, different degree of inter-tumor HLA-G expression has been observed in most histological types of cancers studied, and the significance of HLA-G/ILTs signaling pathway as an immune checkpoint in cancer biology has been highlighted (4). Look back to its expression firstly observed in cancer, the melanoma lesions in 1998 (5), immune tolerance induced by HLA-G has been solidified by large numbers of studies both *in vitro* and *in vivo* preclinical experimental animal models (6–8).

HLA-G/ILTs binding can inhibit the proliferation of natural killer cells (NK), T and B lymphocytes and maturation and antigen presentation of dendritic cells (DC), suppress NK and T cell's cytotoxic function, B cell's immunoglobulin production and neutrophils' reactive oxygen species production and phagocytosis capability (9-11). To the contrary, HLA-G/ILTs binding can promote myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) proliferation and polarize M1 macrophages towards to M2 type (12, 13). Moreover, immune tolerance can be induced by HLA-G-bearing exosomes between cells at long-distance, and by cellular membrane fragments containing HLA-G through trogocytosis in a close cellto-cell contact manner (14, 15). In preclinical murine models, HLA-G could promote tumor immune escape and growth through murine MDSC proliferation and Th2 cytokine production, or reduce T and B cell tumor infiltrate, impair B cell immune responses in immunocompetent mice (8, 16). Findings also revealed that HLA-G expression in ovarian cancer cells could enhance the tumor cell migration and metastasis in tumorbearing immunodeficient nude mice through induction of matrix metalloproteinase-15 (MMP-15) expression (7, 17). Moreover, a recent study showed that depletion of CD4^{low}HLA-G⁺ T cells could favor the castration-resistance prostate cancer therapy (18). Echoing the above mentioned in vitro and in vivo preclinical experimental observations, lesion HLA-G expression was observed to be closely associated with tumor metastasis, poor

tumor cell differentiation, advanced disease stage and worse survival in a variety of cancers in clinical settings (14).

Inter- and intratumor heterogeneity of immune checkpoints is the main obstacle for immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI) immunotherapy. Consequently, the benefits of the ICI therapy varies dramatically among patients (19). As a new immune checkpoint, the inter-tumor heterogeneous pattern of HLA-G expression is well evidenced; however, information for the intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G is very limited. Previous studies revealed that the degree of HLA-G or its receptors ILT2/4 expression varies markedly among different locations in a primary renal cell cancer tumor lesion, indicating the complexity of intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G and its receptor expression (3, 20).

In this study, inter- and intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G expression was evaluated with immunohistochemistry using a panel of anti-HLA-G antibodies (mAbs 4H84, MEM-G/1 and MEM-G/2 probing for all denatured HLA-G isoforms, 5A6G7 and 2A12 probing for denatured HLA-G5 and HLA-G6 isoforms) in a serial section of colorectal cancer lesions from three CRC patients, three different locations within a same sample from five CRC patients, and three case-match blocks that each includes 36 esophageal cancer samples, and our findings solidify the heterogeneity of HLA-G in cancers.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Tumor Lesion Specimen

Tumor lesion specimen and clinical records were retrospectively reviewed. In this study, three CRC lesions #598937 (Female, 65 years, AJCC stage IIIA), #624267 (Female, 72 years, AJCC stage I A) and #681878 (Female, 80 years, AJCC stage I A; **Table 1**), and each sample was serially sectioned for 50 slides. Slides from three

 TABLE 1
 Percentage of HLA-G expression in serial section of colorectal cancer lesions.

Samples	Antibodies	Percentage of HLA-G positive tumor cells (%)											р
		#1	[#] 2	#3	#4	[#] 5	[#] 6	#7	[#] 8	[#] 9	[#] 10	Mean	
CRC #598937													
Female, 65 years, J	AJCC stage IIIA												
Group 1	mAb 4H84	88.8	86.9	81.9	88.1	85.0	86.3	91.9	91.3	85.6	91.3	87.71	< 0.00
(All isoforms)	mAb MEM-G/1	65.0	55.0	65.0	61.3	62.9	62.5	67.5	72.5	76.3	62.5	65.05	
	mAb MEM-G/2	57.5	65.0	68.8	57.5	77.5	77.5	70.0	67.5	75.0	77.5	69.38	
Group 2	mAb 5A6G7	55.0	45.0	60.0	45.0	41.3	53.8	58.3	50.0	60.0	76.3	54.47	0.108
(HLA-G5/6)	mAb 2A12	47.5	48.8	50.0	41.3	53.8	46.3	43.8	50.0	57.5	35.0	47.40	
CRC #624267													
Female, 72 years, J	AJCC stage IA												
Group 1	mAb 4H84	94.5	94.1	95.0	94.1	94.1	92.7	94.1	94.1	94.5	92.3	93.95	0.453
(All isoforms)	mAb MEM-G/1	94.5	89.1	94.1	93.6	94.5	94.1	94.5	93.6	91.8	94.1	93.39	
	mAb MEM-G/2	93.6	92.7	93.2	94.1	95.0	93.6	93.6	92.7	92.7	94.5	93.57	
Group 2	mAb 5A6G7	92.7	90.2	90.9	86.8	78.2	92.7	90.0	88.6	93.2	88.6	89.19	0.190
(HLA-G5/6)	mAb 2A12	91.1	93.2	80.0	89.8	89.9	85.9	89.5	82.3	77.3	84.1	86.31	
CRC #681878													
Female, 80 years, J	AJCC stage IA												
Group 1	mAb 4H84	81.9	80.0	80.6	82.5	84.4	80.6	80.6	84.4	85.0	91.3	83.13	< 0.00
(All isoforms)	mAb MEM-G/1	43.8	45.0	27.5	46.3	50.1	32.5	43.8	60.0	26.3	33.8	40.91	
	mAb MEM-G/2	0.00	36.3	21.3	18.8	14.4	22.5	6.30	5.00	10.6	26.3	16.15	
Group 2	mAb 5A6G7	68.3	85.6	76.3	68.8	61.9	61.9	60.6	52.5	39.4	63.8	63.91	0.105
(HLA-G5/6)	mAb 2A12	69.4	62.5	61.3	68.1	70.6	71.9	72.5	83.8	76.9	72.5	70.95	
Heterogeneity of HLA-G in Cancers

different locations within a same sample from another five CRC samples were obtained #1022488 (Male, 49 years, AJCC stage III B), #1022363 (Male, 70 years, AJCC stage I A), #1020932 (Male, 75 years, AJCC stage IV A), #1023081 (Male, 75 years, AJCC stage II A) and #444345 (Male, 86 years, AJCC stage II A; Table 2). Furthermore, slides from three case-matched blocks that each includes 36 esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) samples were included in the study. Among 36 ESCC patients (27 male and nine female; median age: 58 years; range from 47 to 79 years), there were one patient with stage I B, six patients with II A, 14 patients with II B, seven patients with III A, seven patients with III B, and one patient with III C. The detailed clinical information was shown in Table 3. The clinicopathological findings were determined according to 7th American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) Tumor-Node-Metastasis (TNM) staging system (21). None of them received radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or other medical interventions before the study. All these patients were diagnosed and treated at Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province, China, and samples were retrieved by Biological Resource Center, Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province (National Human Genetic Resources Platform of China YCZYPT [2017]02). Written informed consent was obtained from each participant before the surgical operation, and this study was approved by Medical Ethics Review Board of Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province.

HLA-G Antibodies and Immunohistochemistry

Five anti-HLA-G murine antibodies were used in this study. mAbs 4H84 (dilution 1:200), MEM-G/1 (dilution 1:100) and MEM-G/2 (dilution 1:100), IgG1 antibodies detect denatured heavy chain of all HLA-G isoforms (Exbio, Prague, Czech Republic); mAbs 5A6G7 and 2A12, IgG1 antibodies probe denaturized heavy chain of HLA-G5/HLA-G6 isoforms (dilution 1:100; Exbio, Prague, Czech Republic). Immunohistochemistry assay was

performed on 4-µm-thick, formalin-fixed and paraffinembedded tumor lesion sections. Details of the protocols was according to our previous study (22). Immunohistochemistry staining was visualized with a Dako EnVison kit (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark). The percentage of HLA-G positive tumor cells was determined by presence of HLA-G staining while irrespective of staining intensity. HLA-G staining was evaluated by two reviewers who were blind to the patient clinicopathological information. Membrane or/and cytoplasmic expression of HLA-G were interpreted as positive. Percentage of HLA-G-positive tumor cells was determined by each observer, and the average of scores was calculated.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with the SPSS 13.0 statistical software package (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Comparison between groups was analyzed with non-parametric Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis H test. p<0.05 (two-tailed) was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

To evaluate the heterogeneity of HLA-G expression in cancers, three different types of tumor tissue samples were prepared. a) For three CRC tissue samples (#598937, #624267 and #681878), 50 slides was serially sectioned for each sample. Among 50 slides, 10 randomized slides for each antibody probing. b) Slides from three different zones within a same sample from another five CRC samples (#1022488, #1022363, #1020932, #1023081, and #444345), and c) slides from three case-matched blocks that each includes 36 esophageal cancer samples. These slides were probed with five different anti-HLA-G antibodies. Anti-HLA-G antibodies were divided into two

TABLE 2 | Percentage of HLA-G expression in different zones of colorectal cancer lesions.

Sample	Sex	Age	AJCCStage	Percentage of HLA-G positive tumor cells (%)						
				4H84	MEM-G/1	MEM-G/2	5A6G7	2A12		
CRC #1022488	Male	49	III B							
Zone 1				0.57	2.43	0.27	9.16	2.84		
Zone 2				0.71	1.67	0.21	20.29	9.69		
Zone 3				2.00	2.22	0.00	7.18	4.42		
CRC #1022363	Male	70	ΙA							
Zone 1				14.88	9.25	2.60	22.05	11.90		
Zone 2				50.00	0.00	0.00	4.12	24.80		
Zone 3				22.00	0.44	0.67	9.42	12.89		
CRC #1020932	Male	75	IV A							
Zone 1				45.00	8.93	8.74	32.61	24.53		
Zone 2				15.58	26.38	7.13	16.13	19.50		
Zone 3				13.19	7.00	0.50	24.19	18.13		
CRC #1023081	Male	75	II A							
Zone 1				59.49	34.14	56.57	4.33	16.43		
Zone 2				15.19	55.20	59.23	32.3	19.70		
Zone 3				36.32	24.48	14.10	2.74	7.58		
CRC #0444345	Male	86	II A							
Zone 1				45.30	25.40	34.80	16.23	0.00		
Zone 2				13.00	58.82	32.35	41.14	30.59		
Zone 3				32.74	33.23	37.42	31.42	27.10		

TABLE 3 | Percentage of HLA-G expression in different blocks of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma.

No.	Sex	Age	AJCC stage	Percentage of HLA-G positive tumor cells (%)						
				Blocks	4H84	MEM-G/1	MEM-G/2	5A6G7	2A12	
1 Male	61	III B	1#	40	10	0	0	0		
				2#	58	10	0	0	0	
				3#	0	0	5	0	0	
2	Male	62	IIВ	1#	30	30	10	0	0	
				2#	65	60	40	0	0	
				3#	80	75	45	0	0	
3	Female	54	III A	1#	65	80	45	1	0	
				2#	98	30	0	0	40	
				3#	80	80	20	0	0	
4	Female	47	IIВ	1#	60	10	40	0	0	
				2#	80	30	0	0	0	
				3#	98	90	90	80	85	
5	Male	60	II A	1#	95	90	90	0	80	
				2#	70	80	30	0	0	
				3#	95	85	80	0	85	
6	Male	53	IIВ	1#	80	90	70	3	20	
				2#	80	60	3	0	0	
				3#	55	70	5	0	3	
7	Male	56	ll B	1#	60	60	0	0	0	
				2#	60	55	0	0	0	
				3#	95	80	85	10	0	
8	Female	72	II A	1#	80	85	65	0	0	
				2#	95	85	15	20	45	
				3#	90	90	80	5	1	
9	Male	72	III A	1#	90	90	90	70	30	
				2#	70	90	60	0	0	
				3#	95	85	40	0	1	
10) Male	65	ΙB	1#	0	0	0	0	0	
10		00	10	2#	0	0	0	0	0	
				3#	40	10	0	0	0	
11	Male	51	IIВ	1#	0	0	0	0	0	
	IVIDIO	01	ПD	2#	0	0	0	0	0	
				3#	20	0	0	0	0	
12	Molo	56	IIВ	1#	0	0	0	0	0	
12	Male	50	ПD	2#	30	20	0	0	0	
				3#	75	20	0	0	0	
13	Male	58	III A	1#	0		0	0	0	
13	IVIAIE	50	III A	2#	20	0 0	0	0	0	
							80			
- 4	Mala	50		3#	40	0		0	0	
14		59	IIВ	1#	70	55	55	0	0	
				2# 3#	40	10	0 70	0	0	
15		70			98	5		0	0	
15	5 Male	79	II A	1#	35	15	30	10	10	
				2#	35	30	20	0	0	
				3#	85	5	55	0	10	
16	6 Male	57	ШВ	1#	70	5	80	60	10	
				2#	30	65	40	0	0	
				3#	98	60	30	0	0	
17	Female	58	III A	1#	70	80	10	0	0	
				2#	80	60	90	0	0	
				3#	40	0	80	0	0	
18	3 Male	59	III A	1#	95	90	80	0	60	
				2#	95	95	90	2	40	
				3#	95	85	70	65	45	
19	Male	48	II A	1#	20	0	10	0	10	
				2#	10	80	10	0	0	
				3#	80	0	0	0	0	
20	Male	59	III B	1#	80	80	0	0	0	
				2#	60	0	0	0	0	
				3#	40	2	0	0	0	
21	Female	58	II B	1#	60	60	0	0	0	
			=	2#	40	0	0	0	0	
				3#	30	0	0	0	0	
				01		3	5	5	0	

TABLE 3 | Continued

No.	Sex	Age	AJCC stage	Percentage of HLA-G positive tumor cells (%)						
				Blocks	4H84	MEM-G/1	MEM-G/2	5A6G7	2A12	
22	Female	73	IIВ	1#	60	0	0	0	0	
				2#	65	0	0	0	0	
				3#	70	0	0	0	0	
23	8 Male	50	III A	1#	3	0	0	0	0	
				2#	0	0	0	0	0	
				3#	15	0	0	0	0	
24	Female	58	III B	1#	80	60	30	0	0	
				2#	85	0	20	0	0	
				3#	85	70	60	0	0	
25	Male	50	III B	1#	60	10	0	0	0	
				2#	70	0	0	0	0	
				3#	75	30	30	0	0	
26	Female	50	III C	1#	80	55	0	0	0	
				2#	70	0	55	0	0	
				3#	85	80	0	0	0	
27	7 Male	70	IIВ	1#	60	40	0	0	0	
				2#	10	0	0	0	0	
				3#	20	10	0	0	0	
28	8 Male	49	ΠA	1#	85	80	80	80	0	
20	The lo	10		2#	70	0	80	0	3	
				3#	95	90	85	80	70	
29	9 Male	55	IIВ	1#	90	40	30	0	0	
20	Widie	00	110	2#	10	0	0	0	0	
				3#	85	20	40	0	0	
30	Male	53	IIА	1#	95	80	80	0	2	
00	IVIAIC	00		2#	60	2	15	2	2	
				3#	90	70	80	30	10	
31	Male	59	III B	1#	90 65	2	10	0	0	
51	IVIAIE	39		2#	80	0	55	0	0	
				3#	85	80	70	0	0	
00	Mala	50	III B	3# 1#	80 90	90	90	60	0	
32	32 Male	59	III D					0		
				2#	85	0	40		0	
00	33 Male	C1		3#	95	90	90	30	0	
33		51	III A	1#	95	80	70	0	2	
				2#	90	0	80	3	0	
~ .		50		3#	95	30	20	0	2	
34	Female	53	IIВ	1#	90	3	80	0	0	
				2#	80	0	0	0	0	
				3#	90	85	60	0	0	
35	Male	69	IIВ	1#	0	0	0	0	0	
				2#	0	0	0	0	0	
				3#	80	20	0	0	0	
36	Male	54	III B	1#	70	30	20	0	0	
				2#	90	0	0	0	0	
				3#	90	60	0	0	0	

groups according to the specificity of these antibodies. Group 1: mAbs 4H84, MEM-G/1 and MEM-G/2, which detect denatured heavy chain of all HLA-G isoforms; Group 2: mAbs 5A6G7 and 2A12, which detect denaturized heavy chain of HLA-G5/HLA-G6 isoforms. The representative immunohistochemistry HLA-G staining patterns of CRC and ESCC were shown in **Figure 1**.

Intratumor Heterogeneity of HLA-G

Intratumor heterogeneous expression of HLA-G was observed among different sections and antibodies used in three CRC tissue samples (#598937, #624267, and #681878).

For the Group 1 antibodies (mAbs 4H84, MEM-G/1, and MEM-G/2), HLA-G expression was dramatically different in

samples CRC#598937 (p<0.001) and CRC#681878 (p<0.001), while comparable degree of HLA-G expression was observed in sample CRC#624267 (p=0.453). Among these samples, no significant variation of HLA-G expression was found for the Group 2 antibodies (mAbs 5A6G7 and 2A12; **Table 1**).

Moreover, HLA-G expression in samples from different zones of a same tumor also varied significantly when detected with a distinct anti-HLA-G antibody. CRC#1022488 for an example, the percentage of HLA-G expression detected with mAbs 5A6G7 and 2A12 are much higher than that probed with mAbs 4H84, MEM-G/1 and MEM-G/2. Zone 2 particularly, percentage of HLA-G expression detected by mAb 5A6G7 is 20.29% while HLA-G is nearly negative detected by mAb 4H84 (0.71%). In CRC#1022363,





the degree of HLA-G detected by mAb 4H84 was 14.88%, 50.0% and 22.0% in zone 1, zone 2, and zone 3, respectively. HLA-G expression in zone 2 and 3 was almost undetectable, while HLA-G was positive in zone 1 when detected by mAbs MEM-G/1 and MEM-G/2. Moreover, HLA-G expression was observed in all three zones when detected with mAb 5A6G7 and mAb 2A12, respectively (**Table 2**). Similarly, intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G expression was also found in case-matched esophageal cancer blocks (**Table 3**).

Intratumor Heterogeneity of HLA-G Isoforms

Distinct pattern and variation of HLA-G expression was also observed for each antibody for HLA-G detection among 10 randomized slides from a same tumor sample. No significant variation of HLA-G expression was observed when detected by mAb 2A12 in CRC#598937 (p=0.1151), mAb 4H84 in CRC#681878 (p=0.154), and mAbs MEM-G/1 (p=0.203) and MEM-G/2 (p=0.386) in CRC#624267. HLA-G expression was found varied dramatically among 10 slides when probed with a distinct anti-HLA-G antibody (**Figure 2A**). To be noted, previously considered as unexpected immunohistochemistry staining patters such as mAb 4H84^{neg} mAb 5A6G7^{pos} was observed in this study (**Table 2**). In CRC#1022488, HLA-G expression is low/negative stained with mAbs 4H84, MEM-G/1, and MEM-G/2, while HLA-G is positive when stained with mAbs 5A6G7 and 2A12. This staining pattern now could be explained by the findings that novel HLA-G isoforms such as lacking the α 1 domain was depicted by Tronik-Le Roux et al. (3) in a renal cancer study. Similar data were also observed in slides from three different zones within a same sample from another five CRC samples (#1022488, #1022363, #1020932, #1023081, and #444345; **Figure 2B**).

Among 36 ESCC samples, HLA-G expression could be detected by mAbs 4H84, MEM-G/1 and MEM-G/2, while HLA-G expression is negative detected by mAbs 5A6G7 and 2A12 in most cases. Moreover, the staining pattern for mAbs 4H84 and 5A6G7 seems more consistent according to their recognizing epitope in the HLA-G heavy chain, that no mAbs 4H84^{neg}5A6G7^{pos} was observed (**Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

Inter-tumor HLA-G expression in various types of tumor tissues has been widely investigated and its clinical significance has been well acknowledged. A large body of studies have evidenced that



higher degree of HLA-G expression in cancers is related to disease progression and worse clinical outcome (14). Based on the signaling pathway of HLA-G/ILTs and its clinical relevance, HLA-G as a potential immune checkpoints is expected (1). Though ICIs such as targeting the PD-L/PD-L1 is certainly an effective and promising strategic regime for cancer immunotherapy, limited effects of the ICIs therapy resulted from inter- and intratumor heterogeneous expression of immune checkpoints is gaining concern (19).

Indeed, the degree and percentage of HLA-G in cancers varies significantly among different types of cancers which have been observed to be negative in uveal melanoma to totally positive in hydatidiform moles (23, 24), and inconsistent HLA-G findings among different cohorts or laboratories existed in most cases even on a same type of cancer such as breast cancer (25-27) and CRC (22, 28-30). These controversies might be raised by the different specificities of HLA-G monoclonal antibodies, varied laboratory technical procedures, or different composition and HLA-G genetic backgrounds of the included cohorts (14, 31). In line with this, our data showed that different staining pattern of HLA-G expression has been observed between the CRC and ESCC, where HLA-G is almost negative in ESCC but positive in CRC samples when detected by mAbs 5A6G7 and 2A12. This finding indicated that HLA-G isoforms could be differentially regulated among different types of cancers. Moreover, mechanisms involved in regulation of HLA-G expression are complex. In addition to the HLA-G genetic variations both in 5'upstream regulatory region and in 3'-untranslated region which

comprise binding sites for transcription factor and microRNAs and epigenetic modifications (32), other environmental factor such as hypoxia, cytokines, hormones, and even immunotherapy chemicals and radiation have been acknowledged to be related to the regulation of HLA-G expression (33–35).

Intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G expression has been firstly detailed in 19 primary renal cell cancer (RCC) tumor tissues. HLA-G expression was sharply differed either between samples or inside a tumor tissue (20). In that study, with mAb 4H84, authors revealed that various degree of HLA-G expression exists among different areas (zones) as they illustrated in sample RCC#2 (70% in area T1, 37% in T2, 58% in T3 and T4, respectively), while no HLA-G expression was observed in the T1 or T2 areas in sample RCC#10. In line with their findings, as our data in this study revealed that intratumor heterogeneous expression of HLA-G is a common phenomenon among different zones within a sample in CRC and ESCCs. According to these results, similar findings that intratumor HLA-G heterogeneity could be expected in other malignancies. Shortly afterwards, with transcriptome analysis in RCC samples, they further depicted that, besides the already identified HLA-G1~HLA-G7 isoforms, novel HLA-G isoforms without an $\alpha 1$ domain and transmembrane region could be existed (3). This important finding do explain previously unexpected immunohistochemistry staining patters such as mAb 4H84^{neg} mAb 5A6G7^{pos}, which was observed in our study such as the CRC#1022488 and other samples. In this context, in an our previous study, we found 44 out of 379

(11.6%) CRC patients were with the staining pattern of mAbs $4H84^{neg} 5A6G7^{pos}$, and CRC patients with the patterns of mAbs $4H84^{neg} 5A6G7^{pos}$ had a longer survival time than those with the pattern of mAbs $4H84^{pos}5A6G7^{neg}$ (36). However, future investigations for the biological functions and clinical significance of novel HLA-G isoforms with mAbs $4H84^{neg} 5A6G7^{pos}$ are extremely necessary.

However, our study have notable limitations. First, this study is based on a very limited size of patients and types of cancers, the real-world of the heterogeneity of HLA-G expression in more different types of cancers and in larger cohorts of cancer patients remain to be explored. Second, being the very limited size of the patients included, clinical significance of the heterogeneity of HLA-G and HLA-G isoform expression in cancers is still unknown. Third, potential mechanisms underlying the heterogeneity of HLA-G in cancers remain to be uncovered. Finally, more specific antibodies for HLA-G isoforms are needed to define the clinical significance of a particular HLA-G isoforms.

In summary, our study revealed a rather high degree of intratumor heterogeneity of HLA-G expression in cancers, and degree of HLA-G expression is also varied among anti-HLA-G antibodies with different specificities. Therefore, to evaluate the clinical significance of HLA-G expression in cancers, important issues including location of the tumor tissues isolated, HLA-G isoforms and specificity of the anti-HLA-G antibodies should be concerned.

REFERENCES

- Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Tronik-Le Roux D, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G: An Immune Checkpoint Molecule. *Adv Immunol* (2015) 127:33–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001
- Amiot L, Vu N, Samson M. Biology of the immunomodulatory molecule HLA-G in human liver diseases. J Hepatol (2015) 62:1430–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2015.03.007
- Tronik-Le Roux D, Renard J, Vérine J, Renault V, Tubacher E, LeMaoult J, et al. Novel landscape of HLA-G isoforms expressed in clear cell renal cell carcinoma patients. *Mol Oncol* (2017) 11:1561–78. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12119
- 4. Carosella ED, Ploussard G, LeMaoult J, Desgrandchamps FA. Systematic Review of Immunotherapy in Urologic Cancer: Evolving Roles for Targeting of CTLA-4, PD-1/PD-L1, and HLA-G. *Eur Urol* (2015) 68:267–79. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2015.02.032
- Paul P, Rouas-Freiss N, Khalil-Daher I, Moreau P, Riteau B, Le Gal FA, et al. HLA-G expression in melanoma: a way for tumor cells to escape from immunosurveillance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:4510–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.8.4510
- Chen BG, Xu DP, Lin A, Yan WH. NK cytolysis is dependent on the proportion of HLA-G expression. *Hum Immunol* (2013) 74:286–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.12.005
- Lin A, Zhang X, Xu HH, Xu DP, Ruan YY, Yan WH. HLA-G expression is associated with metastasis and poor survival in the Balb/c nu/nu murine tumor model with ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 131:150–7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26375
- Loumagne L, Baudhuin J, Favier B, Montespan F, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. In vivo evidence that secretion of HLA-G by immunogenic tumor cells allows their evasion from immunosurveillance. *Int J Cancer* (2014) 135:2107–17. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28845
- 9. Lesport E, Baudhuin J, Sousa S, LeMaoult J, Zamborlini A, Rouas-Freiss N, et al. Inhibition of human gamma delta [corrected] T-cell antitumoral activity

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Ethics Review Board of Taizhou Hospital of Zhejiang Province. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

W-HY: study design. XZ, JG, and AL: performed experiments. J-GZ, Q-YH, Q-YC, Y-HY, W-JZ, and H-HX: material support and data acquisition. W-HY: performed statistical analysis and drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from National Natural Science Foundation of China (81901625) and Science and Technology Bureau of Taizhou (1901ky01; 1901ky04, 1901ky05, 1901ky09).

through HLA-G: implications for immunotherapy of cancer. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2011) 68:3385–99. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0632-7

- Naji A, Menier C, Morandi F, Agaugué S, Maki G, Ferretti E, et al. Binding of HLA-G to ITIM-bearing Ig-like transcript 2 receptor suppresses B cell responses. J Immunol (2014) 192:1536–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300438
- Liang S, Ristich V, Arase H, Dausset J, Carosella ED, Horuzsko A. Modulation of dendritic cell differentiation by HLA-G and ILT4 requires the IL-6–STAT3 signaling pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:8357–62. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0803341105
- Lee CL, Guo Y, So KH, Vijayan M, Guo Y, Wong VH, et al. Soluble human leukocyte antigen G5 polarizes differentiation of macrophages toward a decidual macrophage-like phenotype. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30:2263–74. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev196
- Köstlin N, Ostermeir AL, Spring B, Schwarz J, Marmé A, Walter CB, et al. HLA-G promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation and suppressive activity during human pregnancy through engagement of the receptor ILT4. *Eur J Immunol* (2017) 47:374–84. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646564
- Lin A, Yan WH. Heterogeneity of HLA-G Expression in Cancers: Facing the Challenges. Front Immunol (2018) 9:2164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02164
- Lin A, Yan WH. Intercellular transfer of HLA-G: its potential in cancer immunology. *Clin Transl Immunol* (2019) 8:e1077. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1077
- Agaugué S, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N. Role of HLA-G in tumor escape through expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and cytokinic balance in favor of Th2 versus Th1/Th17. *Blood* (2011) 117:7021–31. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2010-07-294389
- Lin A, Xu HH, Xu DP, Zhang X, Wang Q, Yan WH. Multiple steps of HLA-G in ovarian carcinoma metastasis: alter NK cytotoxicity and induce matrix metalloproteinase-15 (MMP-15) expression. *Hum Immunol* (2013) 74:439– 46. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.11.021
- Wang C, Chen J, Zhang Q, Li W, Zhang S, Xu Y, et al. Elimination of CD4 (low)HLA-G(+) T cells overcomes castration-resistance in prostate cancer therapy. *Cell Res* (2018) 28:1103–17. doi: 10.1038/s41422-018-0089-4

- Jiang Y, Zhao X, Fu J, Wang H. Progress and Challenges in Precise Treatment of Tumors With PD-1/PD-L1 Blockade. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:339. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00339
- Rouas-Freiss N, LeMaoult J, Verine J, Tronik-Le Roux D, Culine S, Hennequin C, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity of immune checkpoints in primary renal cell cancer: Focus on HLA-G/ILT2/ILT4. Oncoimmunology (2017) 6:e1342023. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1342023
- Edge SB, Compton CC. The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2010) 17:1471–4. doi: 10.1245/s10434-010-0985-4
- Zhang RL, Zhang X, Dong SS, Hu B, Han QY, Zhang JG, et al. Predictive value of different proportion of lesion HLA-G expression in colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:107441–51. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.22487
- Anastassiou G, Rebmann V, Wagner S, Bornfeld N, Grosse-Wilde H. Expression of classic and nonclassic HLA class I antigens in uveal melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2003) 44:2016–9. doi: 10.1167/ iovs.02-0810
- Goldman-Wohl D, Ariel I, Greenfield C, Hochner-Celnikier D, Lavy Y, Yagel
 S. A study of human leukocyte antigen G expression in hydatidiform moles. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2001) 185:476–80. doi: 10.1067/mob.2001.115994
- Chen HX, Lin A, Shen CJ, Zhen R, Chen BG, Zhang X, et al. Upregulation of human leukocyte antigen-G expression and its clinical significance in ductal breast cancer. *Hum Immunol* (2010) 71:892–8. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm. 2010.06.009
- He X, Dong DD, Yie SM, Yang H, Cao M, Ye SR, et al. HLA-G expression in human breast cancer: implications for diagnosis and prognosis, and effect on allocytotoxic lymphocyte response after hormone treatment in vitro. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2010) 17:1459–69. doi: 10.1245/s10434-009-0891-9
- da Silva GB, Silva TG, Duarte RA, Neto NL, Carrara HH, Donadi EA, et al. Expression of the Classical and Nonclassical HLA Molecules in Breast Cancer. *Int J Breast Cancer* (2013) 2013:250435. doi: 10.1155/2013/250435
- Swets M, König MH, Zaalberg A, Dekker-Ensink NG, Gelderblom H, van de Velde CJ, et al. HLA-G and classical HLA class I expression in primary colorectal cancer and associated liver metastases. *Hum Immunol* (2016) 77:773–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.03.001
- 29. Ye SR, Yang H, Li K, Dong DD, Lin XM, Yie SM. Human leukocyte antigen G expression: as a significant prognostic indicator for patients with colorectal cancer. *Mod Pathol* (2007) 20:375–83. doi: 10.1038/modpathol. 3800751

- Guo ZY, Lv YG, Wang L, Shi SJ, Yang F, Zheng GX, et al. Predictive value of HLA-G and HLA-E in the prognosis of colorectal cancer patients. *Cell Immunol* (2015) 293:10–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.10.003
- 31. Swets M, Wouters A, Krijgsman D, van Vlierberghe RLP, Boot A, van Eendenburg JD, et al. HLA-G protein expression in colorectal cancer evaluated by immunohistochemistry and western blot analysis: Its expression characteristics remain enigmatic. *Clin Immunol* (2018) 194:80–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2018.07.005
- Castelli EC, Veiga-Castelli LC, Yaghi L, Moreau P, Donadi EA. Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulations of the HLA-G gene. *J Immunol Res* (2014) 2014:734068. doi: 10.1155/2014/734068
- Ziliotto M, Rodrigues RM, Chies JAB. Controlled hypobaric hypoxia increases immunological tolerance by modifying HLA-G expression, a potential therapy to inflammatory diseases. *Med Hypotheses* (2020) 140:109664. doi: 10.1016/ j.mehy.2020.109664
- 34. Persson G, Bork JBS, Isgaard C, Larsen TG, Bordoy AM, Bengtsson MS, et al. Cytokine stimulation of the choriocarcinoma cell line JEG-3 leads to alterations in the HLA-G expression profile. *Cell Immunol* (2020) 352:104110. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2020.104110
- 35. Ishikawa M, Brooks AJ, Fernández-Rojo MA, Medina J, Chhabra Y, Minami S, et al. Growth hormone stops excessive inflammation after partial hepatectomy allowing liver regeneration and survival via induction of H2-Bl/HLA-G. *Hepatology* (2020). doi: 10.1002/hep.31297
- 36. Lin A, Zhang X, Zhang RL, Zhang JG, Zhou WJ, Yan WH. Clinical Significance of Potential Unidentified HLA-G Isoforms Without α1 Domain but Containing Intron 4 in Colorectal Cancer Patients. Front Oncol (2018) 8:361. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00361

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Zhang, Lin, Han, Zhang, Chen, Ye, Zhou, Xu, Gan and Yan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Inhibition of iNKT Cells by the HLA-G-ILT2 Checkpoint and Poor Stimulation by HLA-G-Expressing Tolerogenic DC

Ching-Lien Wu^{1,2,3}, Julien Caumartin³, Giada Amodio⁴, François Anna³, Maria Loustau³, Silvia Gregori⁴, Pierre Langlade-Demoyen³ and Joel LeMaoult^{1,2*}

¹ CEA, DRF-Francois Jacob Institute, Research Division in Hematology and Immunology (SRHI), Saint-Louis Hospital, Paris, France, ² Université de Paris, IRSL, UMRS 976, Paris, France, ³ Invectys, Paris, France, ⁴ San Raffaele Telethon Institute for Gene Therapy (SR-TIGET), IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Junji Xing, Houston Methodist Research Institute, United States

Reviewed by:

Urban Švajger, Blood Transfusion Centre of Slovenia, Slovenia Alena Donda, University of Lausanne, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Joel LeMaoult joel.lemaoult@cea.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 21 September 2020 Accepted: 23 November 2020 Published: 11 January 2021

Citation:

Wu C-L, Caumartin J, Amodio G, Anna F, Loustau M, Gregori S, Langlade-Demoyen P and LeMaoult J (2021) Inhibition of iNKT Cells by the HLA-G-ILT2 Checkpoint and Poor Stimulation by HLA-G-Expressing Tolerogenic DC. Front. Immunol. 11:608614. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.608614 Invariant Natural Killer T (iNKT) cells are a small and distinct population of T cells crucial in immunomodulation. After activation by alpha-GalactosylCeramide (aaGC), an exogenic glycolipid antigen, iNKT cells can rapidly release cytokines to enhance specific anti-tumor activity. Several human clinical trials on iNKT cell-based anti-cancer are ongoing, however results are not as striking as in murine models. Given that iNKT-based immunotherapies are dependent mainly on antigen-presenting cells (APC), a human tolerogenic molecule with no murine homolog, such as Human Leucocyte Antigen G (HLA-G), could contribute to this discrepancy. HLA-G is a well-known immune checkpoint molecule involved in fetalmaternal tolerance and in tumor immune escape. HLA-G exerts its immunomodulatory functions through the interaction with immune inhibitory receptors such as ILT2, differentially expressed on immune cell subsets. We hypothesized that HLA-G might inhibit iNKT function directly or by inducing tolerogenic APC leading to iNKT cell anergy, which could impact the results of current clinical trials. Using an ILT2-transduced murine iNKT cell line and human iNKT cells, we demonstrate that iNKT cells are sensitive to HLA-G, which inhibits their cytokine secretion. Furthermore, human HLA-G⁺ dendritic cells, called DC-10, failed at inducing iNKT cell activation compared to their autologous HLA-G⁻ DCs counterparts. Our data show for the first time that the HLA-G/ILT2 ICP is involved in iNKT cell function modulation.

Keywords: Human Leucocyte Antigen G, Natural Killer T cells, immune regulation, tolerogenic dendritic cells, ILT2/ CD85j/LILRB1

INTRODUCTION

Natural Killer T (NKT) cells are a subset of T cells expressing distinct $\alpha\beta$ T cell receptor ($\alpha\beta$ TCR). Initially, co-expression of T cell and Natural Killer (NK) cell markers (CD56 or CD161) were used to identify this population, therefore named NKT cells. NKT cells are now better characterized as CD1d-dependent T cells with potent cytokine production capacity (1–3). CD1d is a MHC-class-I-

like molecule that mediates the presentation of lipid or glycolipid antigens to T cells. Invariant NKT (iNKT) cells, are a small subtype of the NKT population. They recognize lipids presented by of CD1d, in particular the marine-sponge-derived alphagalactosylceramide (α GC), and express a canonical invariant TCR α chain (V α 24J α 18 in humans and V α 14J α 18 in mice) and TCR β chains that use limited V β segments (V β 11 in humans and V β 8.2 in mice) (4).

iNKT cells play an important role in anti-tumor immunity by linking the innate and adaptive immune responses. Stimulation of iNKT cells by the CD1d- α GC complex leads to a rapid production of Th1 and Th2 cytokines (e.g. IFN-y and IL-4) and recruitment of dendritic cells (DC), NK cells, B cells, helper T cells, and cytotoxic T cells. In mice, this capability of α GCstimulated iNKT cells to boost cellular immune responses was strong enough to generate specific responses against tumor cells, such as the B16F10 melanoma cell line, leading to long-term tumor rejection (5-7). Besides this adjuvant effect, iNKT cells can also directly control tumor growth by cytotoxicity (8). Clinical data show that iNKT cell numbers correlate with better survival of cancer patients (9) and on the contrary, that abnormal numbers and functions of iNKT cells are associated with poor clinical outcome (10, 11). Thus, there is an increasing interest in iNKT cell-based immunotherapy strategies to treat cancer.

iNKT-based anti-tumor strategies rely, so far, on harnessing iNKT cells to optimize anti-tumor vaccination through (i) intravenous injection of α GC (12) (ii) adoptive transfer of α GC pulsed APC (13) and (iii) adoptive transfer of *ex vivo* activated iNKT cells (14, 15). Clinical trials were mainly based on infusions of either α GC-loaded APC preparations or α GCexpanded enriched iNKT, which gave promising results in mouse models (16, 17). However, unlike in murine studies, results obtained with human iNKT cells are not yet convincing (18). Given that iNKT-based immunotherapies are dependent on APC, human-specific immune checkpoint-expressing or tolerogenic APCs could dampen their activation. It was shown that intravenous injection of α GC leads to iNKT cell anergy in a PD-1/PDL-1 dependent manner. Indeed, iNKT cells functions were decreased by PD-L1/PD-L2 expressed by APCs (19).

Thus, it is possible that the striking differences observed after iNKT-based anti-tumor immunizations in mice and humans could be due to differential expression of regulatory molecules in humans and mice, including species-specific murine-only and/or human-only molecules. In this work, we investigated the possible impact of the HLA-G/Immunoglobulin-like Transcript 2 (ILT2) interaction on the function of iNKT cells.

HLA-G is a molecule involved in fetal-maternal tolerance and in tumor immune escape. This non-classical HLA class I molecule has low polymorphism, unlike classical HLA class I molecules, and presents four membrane-bound (HLA-G1 to G4) and three soluble isoforms (HLA-G5 to G7). The most common and best-characterized isoforms, HLA-G1 and HLA-G5, are non-covalently associated with β -2-microglobulin (B2M) (20, 21). HLA-G physiological expression is tissue-restricted, mainly to trophoblast, thymus, cornea, and mesenchymal stem cells in physiological conditions. However, HLA-G can be induced under pathological conditions such as viral diseases, inflammatory disorders, transplantation and cancer (22).

HLA-G immuno-modulatory functions on all immune cell subsets are exerted through specific binding to inhibitory receptors. ILT2/CD85j/LILRB1 is one of the known HLA-G receptors, which is expressed on various proportions of monocytes, DC, B, NK, and T cells (23). ILT2 has four tandem Ig-like extracellular domains and four immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory receptor motifs (ITIM) in its cytoplasmic tail. In the case of T and NK cells, HLA-G:ILT2 interaction was reported to inhibit alloproliferation (24–28), alter cytokine secretion (25, 29–32), and inhibit the antigen-specific cytolytic functions of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) (33, 34), uterine NK cells and peripheral blood NK cells (35, 36).

HLA-G-expressing tumor cells or high levels of HLA-G in plasma have been reported in numerous types of cancers and associated with higher grade and worse prognosis (22, 37–41). Indeed, HLA-G plays the role of an immune escape mechanism through inhibition of anti-tumor effectors, alteration of cytokine expression patterns (14, 37, 38), and generation of regulatory cells (39, 40). Furthermore, tumors can induce HLA-G expression by other cells such as tolerogenic APCs (e.g. DC-10 cells), leading to T cell anergy and induction of regulatory T cells (42, 43). Interestingly, ILT2 expression has also been associated with tumor immune escape (44). Thus, HLA-G:ILT2 is a potent immune checkpoint and constitutes a potential new target in anti-tumor therapies.

iNKT cells are related to both NK and T cells since they are T cells expressing markers mostly associated with NK cells, in particular inhibitory receptors (45). Since human NK cells and classical T cells were shown to be inhibited by HLA-G through ILT2 receptor expression, we reasoned that iNKT cells could be sensitive to HLA-G that would be expressed by the tumor cells themselves or by antigen-presenting cells such as the recently discovered HLA-G-positive DC-10 tolerogenic DC subset. Our results show that this is indeed the case. As HLA-G is known to be present in the tumor microenvironment, it could inhibit iNKT cell reactivity to α GC and impair the effectiveness of the iNKT cell-based immune therapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Human PBMC Isolation

Blood in ETDA tubes or from plateletpheresis residues was collected at the French Blood Center (EFS, Saint Louis Hospital, France) from healthy donors with informed consent. Human PBMC from healthy donors were used for ILT2 analysis, and for CD14⁺ monocyte and iNKT cells isolation. PBMC were isolated by density gradient separation using either Ficoll (Sigma-Aldrich) or LeucosepTM tube (Grenier Bio-One), washed twice in 0.9% NaCl (Versylène[®] Fresenius), and counted using trypan blue dye in KOVA counting slides (Fisher Scientific). Viability was always >90%. Processing was completed within less than 10 h for all sample specimens.

Flow Cytometry Analysis

Surface markers and intracellular cytokines were analyzed by flow cytometry. Labeling steps were performed by using between 0.2- 3×10^{6} cells per test according to the experimental requirements in either FACS tubes or 96-well U-bottom plates. Washing steps were performed with PBS followed by centrifugation at 800 g for 1 min. Surface labeling was carried out by blocking Fc receptors, either with anti-mouse CD16/32 (eBioscience) for murine cells or human immunoglobulin G (Sigma) for human samples, for 5 min at room temperature, followed by antibody incubation for 30 min at 4°C in the dark using concentrations according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were fixed in 200 µl PBS containing 1% formaldehyde and acquired within 24 h after two washing steps. To detect intracellular cytokines, surface-labeled cells were fixed with 4% PFA for 10 min at 4°C, and then permeabilized for the intracellular staining with Perm/Wash solution (BD Bioscience) following manufacturer's instruction prior to incubation with cytokine specific antibodies.

Antibodies used in flow cytometry analysis were: i) Anti-murine: CD1d-PE (clone 1B1, BD Phamingen), CD3-APC (clone REA606, Miltenyi Biotech), IL-2-FITC (clone JES6-5H4, eBioscience), and PIR-A/B-PE (clone 10-1-PIR, BD Phamingen); ii) Anti-human: CD1d-PE (clone 51.1, eBioscience), CD1d tetramer-APC (preloaded with and without α GC, ProImmune), CD3-eFluor450 (clone OKT3, eBioscience), CD11c-APC (clone 3.9, eBioscience), CD14-PerCP-Cy5.5 (clone 61D3, eBioscience), CD56-PE-Cy7 (clone CMSSB, eBioscience), CD86-PE-Cy7 (clone IT2.2, eBioscience), HLA-DR-FITC (clone MEM-12, Exbio), HLA-G (clone MEM-G/09, Exbio), IFNg-PerCP-Cy5.5 (clone 4S.B3, eBioscience), IL-4-APC (clone 8D4-8, eBioscience), ILT2-PE (clone HP-F1, eBioscience), CD161-APC (clone HP-3G10, eBioscience), and Va24Ja18 TCR-FITC (clone 6B11, eBioscience). The matched isotype controls were systematically used.

Acquisition was performed on either a BD FACSCantoTM II equipped with BD FACSDivaTM software (version 6.0, BD Bioscience) or a MACSQuant[®] Analyser 10 equipped with MACSQuantifyTM Analysis Software (version 2.8, Miltenyi Biotech). The PMT voltages were adjusted for each fluorescence channel using unstained cells and compensations were set using a mixture of unstained and single color stained cells with antibodies. Analyses were performed by FlowJo software (version 10, FlowJo LLC).

ILT2 Expression on Lymphocytes

Three million freshly isolated PBMC from 14 healthy donors were used to perform ILT2 expression analysis by flow cytometry. The CD3-eFluor450, CD56-PE-Cy7, V α 24J α 18 TCR-FITC, CD1d tetramer-APC, and ILT2-PE and their matched isotype controls were used as a five-color staining. The ILT2 expression was analyzed on CD4⁺ T cells (CD3⁺CD56⁻CD4⁺ lymphocytes), CD8⁺ T cells (CD3⁺CD56⁻CD4⁺ lymphocytes), CD8⁺ T cells (CD3⁺CD56⁻ NKT cells (CD3⁺CD56⁺ lymphocytes), CD3⁺CD56⁺ NKT cells (CD3⁺CD56⁺ lymphocytes) and iNKT cells (CD3⁺CD56⁺ lymphocytes). Cytometry analysis was set according to the isotype controls and all results were expressed as % of ILT2⁺ among studying subsets.

Murine iNKT and APCs

The murine NKT1.2 [V α 14i NKT cell hybridoma 1.2 in (46)], C57BL/6) and A20CD1d (CD1d-transduced A20 B cells line, ATCC, Balb/c) lines were used as iNKT and APCs, respectively. They were kindly provided by Pr. Mitchell Kronenberg (La Jolla Institute, CA, USA) and cultured in X-VIVO-10 medium (Lonza) at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

HLA-G-expressing and ILT2-expressing stable cell lines were generated by transduction and the lentiviral particles were generated as follows: specific sequences corresponding to native ILT2 cDNA (NM_006669.6), HLA-G1 cDNA (NM_002127.5) modified K334A and K335A according to Zhao et al. (47), and human beta-2-microglobulin (hB2M) cDNA (NM_004048.2) were cloned separately into a pTrip plasmid vector by digestion/ligation after extraction by PCR with specific primers, under CMV immediate early promoter. HIV-1-derived vector particles were produced by calcium phosphate co-transfection of HEK-293T cells (ATCC) with the recombinant plasmid pTRIP, an envelope expression plasmid encoding the glycoprotein from VSV, serotype Indiana glycoprotein, and the p8.74 encapsidation plasmid. Viral stocks were titrated by real-time PCR on cell lysates from transduced HEK-293T cells and expressed as transduction unit (TU) per ml.

To generate A20CD1d-HLA-G/hB2M and NKT1.2-ILT2 cell lines, 1×10^5 A20CD1d or NKT1.2 cells were seeded in 12-well plate with in 500 µl of X-VIVO-10 medium and 10^6 TU (293T) of Trip CMV-HLAG plus Trip CMV-hB2M or Trip CMV-ILT2 vectors. Cells were incubated for 1 h at 37°C and then centrifuged 1 h at 37°C 1,200 g. Afterwards, 1 ml of X-VIVO-10 medium was added and incubated at 37°C. Two weeks later, positive cells were sorted by flow cytometry using anti-HLA-G or anti-ILT2 antibodies. The expression of, HLA-G, ILT2, murine CD1d, and PIR-B were evaluated by flow cytometry before the iNKT activation assay.

Human mDC and DC-10 Differentiation

Human CD14⁺ monocytes were isolated from fresh PBMC by positive selection using CD14 MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotech, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 (Lonza, Italy) supplemented with 10% Fetal Calf Serum (Lonza, Italy), 2 mM L-glutamine (Lonza, Italy), and 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin (Lonza, Italy) at 37°C. To induce mature DC (mDC), CD14⁺ monocytes were kept in culture with 10 ng/ml rhIL-4 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis MN, USA) and 100 ng/ml rhGM-CSF (Genzyme, Seattle WA, USA) for 5 days and maturation was induced by the addition of $1 \mu g/ml$ of LPS (Sigma, CA, USA) for additional 2 days. To differentiate DC-10, CD14⁺ monocytes were kept in culture with 10 ng/ml rhIL-4, 100 ng/ml rhGM-CSF, and10 ng/ml of rhIL-10 (BD, Pharmigen, CA, USA) for 7 days. DCs were harvested and analyzed for lineage maturation makers (CD14, CD1a, CD11c, HLA-DR, and CD86), CD1d and HLA-G by flow cytometry before the iNKT activation assay.

Human iNKT Isolation and Expansion

Human CD14⁺ monocytes and iNKT cells were isolated from fresh PBMC by positive selection using CD14 MicroBeads and antiiNKT MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotech, Germany), respectively, according to manufacturer's instructions. iNKT expansion was performed as described (48) with modifications. Briefly, iNKT were co-cultured with CD14⁺ monocytes at 1:1 ratio in RPMI 1640 (Sigma) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Sigma-Aldrich), 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco), 10 µg/ml gentamicin (Gibco), and 0.25 µg/ml fungizone (Gibco) in the presence of 20 ng/ml GM-CSF (Peprotech), and 20 ng/ml IL-4 (R&D Systems), and 100 ng/ml αGC (Cayman Chemical). Half of the medium was replaced and 20 U/ml IL-2 (Chiron, Emeryville, USA) was added every day from day 2 to day 21 in order to reach around 1×10^6 cells. ILT2 expression was evaluated and iNKT cells were phenotypically validated by flow cytometry before the iNKT activation assay. Purity of the iNKT cell population was systematically higher than 90%. The iNKT cells used in the activation assay with DC-10 cells were isolated and maintained in culture with the presence of IL-2 and α GC till the autologous mDC and DC-10 cells were differentiated.

iNKT Activation Assays

The APC (A20CD1d, mDC, or DC-10) and NKT cells (NKT1.2, or human iNKT cells) were co-incubated at 1:1 ratio $(1 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$ in 96-well U-bottom plates for 24 and 4 h respectively for the assay of NKT1.2 cells and human iNKT cells. @GC-loaded APCs were prepared by incubating APC with 100 ng/ml of aGC in DMSO during 1 h at 37°C. Control APCs were prepared concomitantly by adding the same volume of DMSO without aGC. For blocking experiments, both APC and NKT cells were pretreated with either anti-HLA-G (functional grade, clone 87G; Exbio) or anti-ILT2 (functional grade, clone GHI/75; BioLegend) at 37°C for 1 h prior to the co-incubation. The protein transport inhibitor (eBioscience) was used at 1× to stop the cytokine release. NKT cell phenotypes and intracellular cytokines labeling was performed as described above. The expression of murine IL-2 and human IFN- γ and IL-4 were analyzed in NKT1.2 cells (CD3⁺ cells) and human iNKT cells (singlet CD3⁺6B11⁺ lymphocytes or CD3⁺CD161⁺ lymphocytes), respectively. The gates for cytokine expression were set according to the non-activated controls in each independent experiment.

Statistics

Shapiro-Wilk normality test, one-way ANOVA, Bonferroni's Multiple Comparison Test, and statistical plots were performed in Prism 5 software (GraphPad). P-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Human iNKT Cells Express Cell-Surface ILT2 Upon Activation

To determine whether NKT cells can be inhibited by HLA-G, we first evaluated their ILT2 expression in comparison to autologous

CD4⁺ T cells (CD3⁺CD56⁻CD4⁺ lymphocytes), CD8⁺ T cells (CD3⁺CD56⁻CD8⁺ lymphocytes), and NK cells (CD3⁻CD56⁺ lymphocytes). As shown in **Figure 1A**, CD3⁺CD56⁺ NKT cells (i.e. CD3⁺CD56⁺ lymphocytes) generally represented almost 10% of peripheral lymphocytes. On the other hand, iNKT (i.e. CD3⁺6B11⁺ lymphocytes), showing double positivity for CD3 and V α 24J α 18 expression (6B11⁺) represented only 0.06% of peripheral lymphocytes. Subgating of this small subset showed them to be CD1d- α GC-reactive, but only 30% of them expressed CD56 (**Figure 1B**).

ILT2 expression by CD3⁺CD56⁺ NKT and iNKT cell subsets was then investigated in peripheral blood monocuclear cells (PBMC) of 14 healthy donors. As shown on **Figure 1C**, only a minority of iNKT expressed ILT2 at their surface. We compared ILT2 expression by CD3⁺CD56⁺ NKT and iNKT cells to those of other lymphocyte cell subsets (**Figure 1D**). Approximately 1% of CD4⁺ T cells, 20% of CD8⁺ T cells, and 35% of NK cells expressed ILT-2 receptors at their surface, which is in accordance with what has been reported (22). The CD3⁺CD56⁺ NKT cell population expressed ILT2 the most (39.82%), with values similar to those of NK cells (~35%) (**Figure 1D**). This was in sharp contrast to iNKT cells, which barely expressed ILT2 (~5%).

It is known that cell-surface ILT2 expression can be induced on T cells following activation (49). Thus, we stimulated 6B11⁺CD3⁺ iNKT cells with autologous α GC-loaded CD14⁺CD1d⁺ APCs purified from healthy donors, as previously reported (48). We showed (**Figure 1E**) that ILT2 expression is indeed induced upon iNKT cell activation, resulting in a 10-fold increase compared to unstimulated iNKT cells.

HLA-G:ILT2 Pathway Inhibits iNKT Cell Activation in a Murine *In Vitro* Model

Human iNKT cells represent only 0.01% to 0.1% of peripheral lymphocytes and their ILT2 expression is dependent on their activation state, reducing even further the numbers of human iNKT cells available for setting up the conditions of our functional assays. Given this and the fact that no human iNKT cell lines exist, we first developed an in vitro assay using murine cell lines. The murine line A20CD1d, transduced with HLA-G1 and hB2M, was used as APCs presenting αGC to the ILT2-transduced NKT1.2 effector cell line, as described in Materials and Methods. HLA-G1 expression on A20CD1d-HLA-G1-hB2M cells and ILT2 expression on NKT1.2-ILT2 cells are shown in Figure 2. Of note, no association between HLA-G1 heavy chain and murine B2M was observed, and HLA-G1 was expressed at the cell surface only in A20CD1d cells transduced with both HLA-G1 and human B2M (Supplemental Figure 1). Although HLA-G does not have a murine homolog, it can interact with PIR-B, the functional murine homolog of human ILT receptors (50). As can be seen in Figure 2, PIR-B was not expressed by either A20CD1d or NKT1.2 cell lines, ruling out any effect of HLA-G binding endogenous murine receptors, leaving transduced ILT2 as sole HLA-G receptor on NKT1.2-ILT2 cells.



FIGURE 1 | Human Invariant Natural Killer T (INKT) cells express cell-surface Immunoglobulin-like Transcript 2 (ILT2). ILT2 expression on CD3⁺CD56⁺ NKT cells and CD3⁺6B11⁺ iNKT cells was evaluated with fresh PBMC by flow cytometry and was compared to that of CD4⁺ T, CD8⁺ T, and NK cells. **(A)** Gating strategy to identify CD4⁺ T, CD8⁺ T, NK, CD3⁺ CD56⁺ NKT, and iNKT cells from lymphocytes gated according to the FSC-SSC profile and to the CD3, CD4, CD8, CD56, and 6B11 expression. Percentage of parent population is indicated. **(B)** CD1d tetramer- α GC reactivity and CD56 expression of iNKT cells. Percentage of parent population is indicated. **(B)** CD1d tetramer- α GC reactivity and CD56 expression of iNKT cells. Percentage of ILT2⁺ cells of each subpopulation from 14 healthy donors. Bars indicate mean ± SEM. **(E)** ILT2 expression on iNKT cells during expansion. iNKT cells at day 0 and 2 weeks after stimulation by CD1d- α GC and cytokines are shown. Percentage of ILT2⁺ cells is indicated.



To evaluate the capability of HLA-G to inhibit iNKT cells through ILT2, 24-h co-incubations between A20CD1d \pm HLA-G/ hB2M, and effector NKT1.2 cells \pm ILT2 in the presence or absence of α GC were performed, and intracellular IL-2 expression by NKT1.2 cells was evaluated by flow cytometry (51).

Figure 3 summarizes the results obtained from six independent experiments and demonstrates that intracellular IL-2 expression was increased in NKT1.2 cells after α GC stimulation in the absence of HLA-G (p \leq 0.001), and was significantly decreased for NKT1.2-ILT-2 cells only in the presence of HLA-G (p \leq 0.001). Addition of a blocking anti-HLA-G antibody restored IL-2 expression upregulation (p \leq 0.05), demonstrating that the inhibition observed was indeed due to the HLA-G:ILT2 interaction.

HLA-G:ILT2 Pathway Inhibits Human iNKT Cell Activation

In order to evaluate whether the reactivity of human iNKT cells naturally expressing ILT2 could also be inhibited through the HLA-G:ILT2 interaction, we first stimulated human iNKT cells from healthy donors with α GC-loaded A20CD1d and A20CD1d-HLA-G1-hB2M cells. Indeed, it was reported that human iNKT cells can be stimulated by α GC presented in the context of murine CD1d (52). Because resting human iNKT cells barely express ILT2 as shown earlier in this work, our experiments required that ILT2 receptor expression be boosted by an *in vitro* expansion step prior to use, following published protocols (48) with modifications described in Materials and



FIGURE 3 | NKT1.2-ILT2 cells are inhibited through the Human Leucocyte Antigen G (HLA-G)/Immunoglobulin-like Transcript 2 (ILT2) interaction. A20CD1d or A20CD1d-HLA-G1-hB2M cells were used as Antigen Presenting Cells (APC) and NKT1.2 or NKT1.2-ILT2 cells were used as effector cells. Intracellular IL-2 expression of effector NKT cells was evaluated by flow cytometry after 24 h of co-culture with APC loaded or not with α GC as indicated. Anti-HLA-G antibody (Ab), 87G, was used to block the HLA-G/ILT2 interaction when indicated. **(A)** Gating strategy to identify NKT1.2 cells after the coculture assay. FSC-SSC profile was used to identify living cells, then the NKT1.2 cells are identified as CD3+ singlet living cells. Percentage of lymphocytes is indicated. **(B)** Intracellular IL-2 expression in NKT1.2 cells of one representative experiment. The gate of IL-2 expression is based on the no activation control in each experiment. **(C)** Six independent experiments were performed. Each bar indicates mean \pm SEM. Horizontal bars indicate statistical significance (One-way ANOVA and Bonferroni *post hoc*, *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001).

HLA-G Inhibits iNKT Cells

(Figure 1E). Two donors were used for these experiments, and results did not reach significance but only show tendency. Following amplification, 25% of iNKT cells from both donors expressed cell-surface ILT2 (data not shown). Stimulation results show that in the absence of α GC, only 1%–4% of iNKT expressed IFN-γ and 5%–7% of iNKT expressed intracellular IL-4 (Figure 4). Intracellular IFN- γ and IL-4 expression increased to 17.6% and 18.2% respectively when stimulated by aGC-loaded A20CD1d for 4 h, whereas intracellular IFN- γ and IL-4 expression was respectively 6.72% and 8.73% after a 4-h coincubation with aGC-loaded A20CD1d-HLA-G1-hB2M cells (Figure 4). The presence of blocking anti-HLA-G or anti-ILT2 antibodies restored intracellular IFN-y and IL-4 expression by iNKT cells stimulated by aGC-loaded A20CD1d-HLA-G1hB2M cells, demonstrating that human iNKT inhibition was dependent on HLA-G:ILT2 interaction.

These results demonstrate that human iNKT cells are sensitive to HLA-G inhibition through ILT2 receptors engagement.

αGC-Loaded HLA-G-Expressing Tolerogenic DC-10 Cells Do Not Activate Human iNKT Cells

DC-10 cells are human tolerogenic DC expressing high levels of HLA-G. They are regulatory cells capable of inhibiting allogeneic responses through HLA-G and IL-10, of inducing IL-10-producing T regulatory type 1 (Tr1) cells (42, 43), and they were shown to increase in cancer patients (53, 54). Accordingly, we investigated whether tolerogenic DC-10 cells could inhibit the functions of autologous human iNKT. Human iNKT cells were stimulated with α GC-loaded autologous mDC or autologous DC-10 cells, and IFN- γ and IL-4 expression was analyzed. Freshly isolated monocytes from two healthy donors were differentiated into mDC and DC-10 cells as previously described (42), and in parallel, iNKT cells were isolated from the same donors and amplified in vitro in the presence of IL-2 and α GC. As expected (42, 43), DC-10 in vitro-differentiated from peripheral monocytes expressed cellsurface HLA-G1, while mDC barely expressed HLA-G1 (Figure 5). Conversely, mDC and DC-10 expressed similar cell-surface expression levels of CD1d, indicating that both cell types were capable of presenting a GC to autologous human iNKT cells.

iNKT cells were then co-incubated for 72 h with either autologous mDC or DC-10 and their intracellular IFN- γ and IL-4 expression was evaluated by flow cytometry. It is unfortunate that we could obtained all required cell populations from two donors only, preventing the results from reaching statistical significance, although tendencies were clear: **Figure 6B** shows the results obtained for one donor, and **Figure 6C** presents data for both donors. As can be seen for both experiments combined, 11%–12% of iNKT cells expressed IFN- γ and 16%–17% expressed IL-4 when stimulated with unloaded mDC and DC-10. When iNKT cells were stimulated with α GC-loaded mDC, IFN- γ and IL-4 expression increased, to 26% and 31%, respectively (**Figure 6C**). Conversely, when iNKT cells were stimulated with α GC-loaded DC-10, no increase in IFN- γ and IL-4 expression was observed, and the proportion of iNKT cells positive for IFN- γ and IL-4 remained at

or below the baseline obtained without α GC (7% and 10% respectively) (**Figure 6C**). These results indicated that HLA-G-positive α GC-loaded DC-10 cells do not seem to support human iNKT activation.

DISCUSSION

We sought to prove that the interaction of HLA-G with ILT2 could inhibit iNKT activation. Thus, we first evaluated the ILT2 cell-surface expression on iNKT cells. Surprisingly, although CD3⁺CD56⁺ NKT cells expressed high levels of cell-surface ILT2, the iNKT cell subset, specific for α GC presented in the context of CD1d, barely expressed ILT2 (Figure 1D). Indeed, ILT2 expression on resting human iNKT cells from peripheral blood was higher than that of CD4⁺ T cells but lower than that of CD8⁺ T cells or NK cells. Therefore, following these first results, it seemed unlikely that HLA-G could have any significant direct inhibitory effect on iNKT cells. However, it must be considered that even though CD4⁺ T cells express ILT2, even less so than iNKT cells, they are well known to be sensitive to HLA-G inhibition anyway (27, 28, 55). This discrepancy between weak ILT2 expression and sensitivity to HLA-G can be explained by two hypotheses: first, T cell inhibition by HLA-G may not be direct; HLA-G could act on stimulating APC or through the generation of tolerogenic APC. This mechanism is very relevant to iNKT cells since monocytes/DC that are required for αGC induced iNKT activation constitutively express the ILT2 and ILT4 HLA-G receptors (23, 56), and are known to be inhibited by HLA-G (57-59). Second, ILT2 might not be readily present on peripheral blood resting T cells, but be upregulated upon activation. In this case, HLA-G would not act directly on resting iNKT cells, but only on already activated ones. Several studies demonstrated that ILT2 is upregulated by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells upon activation (49). In agreement with these results, our experiments showed that ILT2 was upregulated on iNKT cells in response to stimulation, and that in vitro expanded iNKT cells expressed cell-surface ILT2 at a level comparable to that of polyclonal NK cells (Figure 1E). Thus, according to our results, it seems that HLA-G direct inhibition should only impact activated iNKT cells.

To demonstrate that activated iNKT cells could be inhibited by HLA-G, we developed an *in vitro* model using a murine NKT cell line. Indeed, iNKT cells, and even more so ILT2-positive iNKT cells, represent a very small subset of peripheral lymphocytes which is difficult to isolate. Thus, to overcome this limitation, we set up HLA-G/ILT2 ICP inhibition experiments in the already described NKT1.2 vs A20CD1d model and transduced them with ILT2 and HLA-G/hB2M respectively. We showed that NKT1.2 cells rapidly expressed IL-2 in response to stimulation by α GC-loaded A20CD1d cells expressing HLA-G or not (**Figure 3**). However, IL-2 upregulation was hampered when ILT2-expressing NKT1.2-ILT2 cells were stimulated by HLA-G-expressing α GC-loaded A20CD1d-HLA-G1-hB2M cells (**Figure 3**). IL-2 expression inhibition was due to the ILT2:HLA-G1 interaction given that



FIGURE 4 | Activation of human Invariant Natural Killer T (iNKT) cells is inhibited through the Human Leucocyte Antigen G (HLA-G):Immunoglobulin-like Transcript 2 (ILT2) interaction. A20CD1d or A20CD1d-HLA-G1-B2M cells were used as Antigen Presenting Cells (APC) and human iNKT cells were used as effector cells. Intracellular IFN- γ and IL-4 expression by effector NKT cells was evaluated by flow cytometry after a 4-h co-culture with APC loaded or not with α GC as indicated. Anti-HLA-G antibody 87G, or anti-ILT2 antibody GHI/75, were used to block the HLA-G/ILT2 interaction as indicated. (A) Before functional assay, expanded human iNKT cells were checked using 6B11 and CD1d-tetramer- α GC. Their surface ILT2 levels were measured. (B) Gating strategy to identify human iNKT cells after the coculture assay with stimulator cells, gated on lymphocytes according to the FSC-SSC profile and CD3+ and 6B11+ expression. Percentage of lymphocytes is indicated. (C) IFN- γ (upper panel) and IL-4 (lower panel) expression levels by effector cells of one representative experiment. The gate of cytokine expression is based on the no activation control in each experiment. (D) Two independent experiments were performed; bar indicates mean \pm SEM.



anti-HLA-G blocking antibodies restored IL-2 expression (Figure 3). We demonstrated that HLA-G could directly inhibit ILT2-expressing iNKT cells. Transduced murine cell lines may not be representative of human iNKT cells, however the human iNKT cells interaction with α GC-loaded murine CD1d could be used to study human iNKT cells inhibition by HLA-G. &GC-loaded murine A20CD1d/A20CD1d-HLA-G1-hB2M cells were used to stimulate human in vitro-expanded iNKT cells (Figure 4). In these experiments, iNKT cells had been expanded in vitro in order to induce ILT2 expressions sufficiently so that the ILT2⁺ population was analyzable. It is unclear whether naïve, resting iNKT could respond to HLA-G as activated iNKT did. One can hypothesize that only previously stimulated iNKT would respond to HLA-G. Those iNKT cells, recognizing specific CD1d-lipid complexes would then be akin to memory T cells and sensitive to HLA-G inhibition in recall immunization or in the context of chronic stimulation. One can also hypothesize that resting, naïve iNKT cells would be insensitive to HLA-G but only until they are fully activated and upregulate ILT2. In this case, HLA-G would not prevent the early functions of iNKT, but rather their late functions, and possibly shorten their activation.

When studying the possible effect of HLA-G:ILT2 ICP on iNKT cell activation and functions, it is necessary to consider the stimulatory cells. Indeed, in the context of cancer, HLA-G can be expressed by the tumor cells and/or by the infiltrating APCs (monocytes/macrophages/DC). Myeloid cells constitutively express both ILT2 and ILT4 HLA-G receptors, and are efficiently inhibited by this molecule (23). Following exposure to HLA-G, APC lose their capability to stimulate T cells (57) and therefore might lose their capability to stimulate iNKT cells as well. Furthermore, HLA-G induces the differentiation of regulatory cells, including regulatory myeloid cells (42, 60). These cells do not support

regular T cell activation and might not stimulate iNKT cells either. In order to test this hypothesis, we investigated if HLA-Gexpressing tolerogenic DC, called DC-10, were capable of stimulating iNKT cells. DC-10 cells are particularly interesting in our context because they express the same levels of CD1d as mature DC (mDC). Indeed, iNKT cells have been stimulated by artificial APC, expressing costimulatory molecules such as CD80 and CD86. Thus, the lack of stimulation of DC-10 cells compared to mDC could not be explained by lack of costimulation. Generating autologous mDC, DC-10, and ILT2-expressing iNKT to set up and then perform functional studies proved to be a very problematic and uncertain task, which limited the number of experiments we could perform, ultimately preventing our results from reaching statistical significance. However, the tendency was clear and indicates that whereas mDC efficiently activate iNKT cells, HLA-G-expressing tolerogenic DC-10 do not (Figure 6). We could not block and prove that HLA-G caused iNKT cell inhibition, for lack of sufficient autologous DC-10 and purified iNKT cells. However, in light of the other results presented here, an HLA-G-mediated inhibition of iNKT following stimulation by α GC-loaded DC-10 is a relevant hypothesis, even though inhibition by IL-10 cannot be excluded, since DC-10 modulatory activity relies not only on the expression of HLA-G but also on the secretion of IL-10 (42). These two mechanisms are actually not mutually exclusive and could act synergically as it has been shown in other contexts (42, 43, 61). It is well known that HLA-G, and especially HLA-G-expressing APCs such as DC-10, not only inhibit the classical function of T cells, but also induce their differentiation into regulatory cells (42). Yamaura et al. demonstrated that IL-10-secreting DCs can induce iNKT cells to produce more IL-10 which will further have an anergic phenotype, and potently inhibit allogeneic CD4⁺ T cell proliferation in vitro (62). We do not know the function of



FIGURE 6 | Tolerogenic DC-10 cells do not support human Invariant Natural Killer T (iNKT) cell activation. Mature Dendritic Cells (mDC) or tolerogenic DC-10 cells were used as antigen-presenting cell (APC), and autologous human iNKT cells were used as effector cells. Intracellular IFN-γ and IL-4 expression of effector cells was evaluated by flow cytometry after 72 h of co-culture with APC loaded or not with αGC antigen as indicated. (A) Gating strategy to identify iNKT cells after the coculture assay with stimulator cells, gated on lymphocytes according to the FSC-SSC profile and CD3⁺ and CD161⁺ expression. Percentage of lymphocytes is indicated. (B) IFN-γ (upper panel) and IL-4 (lower panel) expression levels by effector cells of one representative experiment. The gate of cytokine expression is based on the no activation control in each experiment. (C) Two independent experiments were performed; bar indicates mean ± SEM.

DC-10-stimulated iNKT cells, but their differentiation toward a regulatory type is a possibility that should be investigated. Nevertheless, our data show for the first time that iNKT cells are not activated if tolerogenic stimulators are present. This is an important headway in the context of anti-tumor adjuvant therapy using iNKT cells, given that these therapeutic strategies rely on the proper activation of iNKT cells by autologous DC. Thus, because tolerogenic DC or myeloid suppressive cells have been reported in the pathological context of cancer, this might explain the lack of iNKT response in human trials, possibly amplified by iNKT cell differentiation in tolerogenic iNKT cells (62) which would achieve the opposite of the intended goal. Thus, without proper identification, DC-10 cells could very well be present within the

autologous myeloid cell population used for iNKT cell stimulation in iNKT-based immunotherapies.

iNKT cells have the ability to rapidly release large amounts of cytokines to link both innate and adaptive immune responses. Hence, iNKT cells possess a potent adjuvant activity: IFN- γ secretion by activated iNKT cells can activate NK cells, mature DC, and prime Ag-specific T cell responses (63) IFN- γ and IL-4 secretions can also contribute to antibody secretion and memory B cell induction (64, 65). Our work demonstrates that HLA-G and myeloid regulatory cells such as HLA-G-expressing DC-10 cells prevent proper activation of iNKT cells by α GC, a mechanism that may very well occur in iNKT cell-based anti-tumor therapy trials and reduce therapy efficiency.

More generally, our results emphasize the need for factoring in the functions of ICPs and regulatory cells in iNKT cell-based anti-tumor therapies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

C-LW: performed experiments, collected and analyzed data, wrote the manuscript. JC: designed and performed experiments, analyzed data, wrote the manuscript. GA: performed and analyzed experiments. FA: performed experiments. ML: analyzed data, wrote the manuscript. SG: wrote the manuscript. PL-D: manuscript review. JL: designed study, analyzed data, wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Godfrey DI, MacDonald HR, Kronenberg M, Smyth MJ, Van Kaer L. NKT cells: what's in a name? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(3):231–7. doi: 10.1038/ nri1309
- Bendelac A, Savage PB, Teyton L. The biology of NKT cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2007) 25:297–336. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141711
- Bendelac A, Lantz O, Quimby ME, Yewdell JW, Bennink JR, Brutkiewicz RR. CD1 recognition by mouse NK1+ T lymphocytes. *Science* (1995) 268 (5212):863–5. doi: 10.1126/science.7538697
- Lantz O, Bendelac A. An invariant T cell receptor alpha chain is used by a unique subset of major histocompatibility complex class I-specific CD4+ and CD4-8- T cells in mice and humans. J Exp Med (1994) 180(3):1097–106. doi: 10.1084/jem.180.3.1097
- Jukes J-P, Silk JD, Salio M, Cerundolo V. Invariant NKT Cell-Based Vaccine Strategies. In: M Terabe, JA Berzofsky, editors. *Natural Killer T cells: Balancing the Regulation of Tumor Immunity*. New York, NY: Springer New York (2012). p. 39–53. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-0613-6_3
- Mattarollo SR, Smyth MJ. Therapeutic Approaches Utilising NKT Cells. In: M Terabe, JA Berzofsky, editors. *Natural Killer T cells: Balancing the Regulation* of Tumor Immunity. New York, NY: Springer New York (2012). p. 111–28. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-0613-6_7
- Motohashi S, Okamoto Y, Nakayama T. Clinical Trials of Invariant Natural Killer T Cell-Based Immunotherapy for Cancer. In: M Terabe, JA Berzofsky, editors. *Natural Killer T cells: Balancing the Regulation of Tumor Immunity*. New York, NY: Springer New York (2012). p. 185–98. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-0613-6_11
- Bassiri H, Das R, Guan P, Barrett DM, Brennan PJ, Banerjee PP, et al. iNKT cell cytotoxic responses control T-lymphoma growth in vitro and in vivo. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(1):59–69. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0104
- Tachibana T, Onodera H, Tsuruyama T, Mori A, Nagayama S, Hiai H, et al. Increased intratumor Valpha24-positive natural killer T cells: a prognostic factor for primary colorectal carcinomas. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11 (20):7322–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0877
- Molling JW, Langius JA, Langendijk JA, Leemans CR, Bontkes HJ, van der Vliet HJ, et al. Low levels of circulating invariant natural killer T cells predict poor clinical outcome in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol (2007) 25(7):862–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.08.5787
- 11. Motohashi S, Kobayashi S, Ito T, Magara KK, Mikuni O, Kamada N, et al. Preserved IFN-alpha production of circulating Valpha24 NKT cells in

FUNDING

This work was supported by CEA, Invectys and by CIFRE fellowship numbers 2014/0386.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Mitchell Kronenberg from the La Jolla Institute for Allergy & Immunology, CA, USA, for providing the NKT hybridoma 1.2 and the A20CD1d cell lines, Dr Simon Wain-Hobson from Invectys for constructive criticism of the manuscript, and Dr. Sophie Duchez, and Ms. Christelle Doliger from the flow cytometry core facility at IUH Institute, Saint-Louis Hospital, Paris, France, for technical assistance in cytometry.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 608614/full#supplementary-material

primary lung cancer patients. Int J Cancer (2002) 102(2):159-65. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10678

- Giaccone G, Punt CJ, Ando Y, Ruijter R, Nishi N, Peters M, et al. A phase I study of the natural killer T-cell ligand alpha-galactosylceramide (KRN7000) in patients with solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2002) 8(12):3702–9.
- Fujii S, Shimizu K, Kronenberg M, Steinman RM. Prolonged IFN-gammaproducing NKT response induced with alpha-galactosylceramide-loaded DCs. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(9):867–74. doi: 10.1038/ni827
- Motohashi S, Ishikawa A, Ishikawa E, Otsuji M, Iizasa T, Hanaoka H, et al. A phase I study of in vitro expanded natural killer T cells in patients with advanced and recurrent non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12 (20 Pt 1):6079–86. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0114
- Yamasaki K, Horiguchi S, Kurosaki M, Kunii N, Nagato K, Hanaoka H, et al. Induction of NKT cell-specific immune responses in cancer tissues after NKT cell-targeted adoptive immunotherapy. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 138(3):255–65. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2010.11.014
- Motohashi S, Okamoto Y, Yoshino I, Nakayama T. Anti-tumor immune responses induced by iNKT cell-based immunotherapy for lung cancer and head and neck cancer. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 140(2):167–76. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2011.01.009
- Exley MA, Friedlander P, Alatrakchi N, Vriend L, Yue S, Sasada T, et al. Adoptive Transfer of Invariant NKT Cells as Immunotherapy for Advanced Melanoma: A Phase I Clinical Trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(14):3510–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0600
- McEwen-Smith RM, Salio M, Cerundolo V. The regulatory role of invariant NKT cells in tumor immunity. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(5):425–35. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0062
- Parekh VV, Lalani S, Kim S, Halder R, Azuma M, Yagita H, et al. PD-1/PD-L blockade prevents anergy induction and enhances the anti-tumor activities of glycolipid-activated invariant NKT cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(5):2816–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803648
- Morales PJ, Pace JL, Platt JS, Langat DK, Hunt JS. Synthesis of beta(2)microglobulin-free, disulphide-linked HLA-G5 homodimers in human placental villous cytotrophoblast cells. *Immunology* (2007) 122(2):179–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02623.x
- Juch H, Blaschitz A, Daxbock C, Rueckert C, Kofler K, Dohr G. A novel sandwich ELISA for alpha1 domain based detection of soluble HLA-G heavy chains. *J Immunol Methods* (2005) 307(1-2):96–106. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2005.09.016
- Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, Tronik-Le Roux D, Moreau P, LeMaoult J. HLA-G: An Immune Checkpoint Molecule. *Adv Immunol* (2015) 127:33–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.04.001

- Colonna M, Navarro F, Bellon T, Llano M, Garcia P, Samaridis J, et al. A common inhibitory receptor for major histocompatibility complex class I molecules on human lymphoid and myelomonocytic cells. *J Exp Med* (1997) 186(11):1809–18. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.11.1809
- Wu D, Kuiaste I, Moreau P, Carosella E, Yotnda P. Rescuing lymphocytes from HLA-G immunosuppressive effects mediated by the tumor microenvironment. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(35):37385-97. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.6044
- 25. Lesport E, Baudhuin J, Sousa S, LeMaoult J, Zamborlini A, Rouas-Freiss N, et al. Inhibition of human V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell antitumoral activity through HLA-G: implications for immunotherapy of cancer. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2011) 68 (20):3385–99. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0632-7
- Bahri R, Hirsch F, Josse A, Rouas-Freiss N, Bidere N, Vasquez A, et al. Soluble HLA-G inhibits cell cycle progression in human alloreactive T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(3):1331–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1331
- Riteau B, Menier C, Khalil-Daher I, Sedlik C, Dausset J, Rouas-Freiss N, et al. HLA-G inhibits the allogeneic proliferative response. J Reprod Immunol (1999) 43(2):203–11. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00034-0
- Lila N, Rouas-Freiss N, Dausset J, Carpentier A, Carosella ED. Soluble HLA-G protein secreted by allo-specific CD4+ T cells suppresses the allo-proliferative response: a CD4+ T cell regulatory mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(21):12150–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.201407398
- Kanai T, Fujii T, Kozuma S, Miki A, Yamashita T, Hyodo H, et al. A subclass of soluble HLA-G1 modulates the release of cytokines from mononuclear cells present in the decidua additively to membrane-bound HLA-G1. J Reprod Immunol (2003) 60(2):85–96. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(03)00096-2
- Kanai T, Fujii T, Kozuma S, Yamashita T, Miki A, Kikuchi A, et al. Soluble HLA-G influences the release of cytokines from allogeneic peripheral blood mononuclear cells in culture. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2001) 7(2):195–200. doi: 10.1093/molehr/7.2.195
- 31. Kanai T, Fujii T, Unno N, Yamashita T, Hyodo H, Miki A, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-G-expressing cells differently modulate the release of cytokines from mononuclear cells present in the decidua versus peripheral blood. Am J Reprod Immunol (2001) 45(2):94–9. doi: 10.1111/j.8755-8920.2001.450205.x
- 32. Favier B, Lemaoult J, Lesport E, Carosella ED. ILT2/HLA-G interaction impairs NK-cell functions through the inhibition of the late but not the early events of the NK-cell activating synapse. *FASEB J* (2010) 24(3):689–99. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-135194
- 33. Le Gal FA, Riteau B, Sedlik C, Khalil-Daher I, Menier C, Dausset J, et al. HLA-G-mediated inhibition of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Int Immunol* (1999) 11(8):1351–6. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.8.1351
- Riteau B, Rouas-Freiss N, Menier C, Paul P, Dausset J, Carosella ED. HLA-G2, -G3, and -G4 isoforms expressed as nonmature cell surface glycoproteins inhibit NK and antigen-specific CTL cytolysis. *J Immunol* (2001) 166 (8):5018–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.8.5018
- 35. Rouas-Freiss N, Marchal RE, Kirszenbaum M, Dausset J, Carosella ED. The alpha1 domain of HLA-G1 and HLA-G2 inhibits cytotoxicity induced by natural killer cells: is HLA-G the public ligand for natural killer cell inhibitory receptors? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(10):5249–54. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.94.10.5249
- Rouas-Freiss N, Goncalves RM, Menier C, Dausset J, Carosella ED. Direct evidence to support the role of HLA-G in protecting the fetus from maternal uterine natural killer cytolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(21):11520– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.21.11520
- Ye SR, Yang H, Li K, Dong DD, Lin XM, Yie SM. Human leukocyte antigen G expression: as a significant prognostic indicator for patients with colorectal cancer. *Mod Pathol* (2007) 20(3):375–83. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3800751
- Rutten MJ, Dijk F, Savci-Heijink CD, Buist MR, Kenter GG, van de Vijver MJ, et al. HLA-G expression is an independent predictor for improved survival in high grade ovarian carcinomas. J Immunol Res (2014) 2014:274584. doi: 10.1155/2014/274584
- de Figueiredo Feitosa NL, Crispim JC, Zanetti BR, Magalhaes PK, Soares CP, Soares EG, et al. HLA-G is differentially expressed in thyroid tissues. *Thyroid* (2014) 24(3):585–92. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.0246
- Alkhouly N, Shehata I, Ahmed MB, Shehata H, Hassan S, Ibrahim T. HLA-G expression in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a significant prognostic tumor biomarker. *Med Oncol* (2013) 30(1):460. doi: 10.1007/s12032-013-0460-8

- Cao M, Yie SM, Liu J, Ye SR, Xia D, Gao E. Plasma soluble HLA-G is a potential biomarker for diagnosis of colorectal, gastric, esophageal and lung cancer. *Tissue Antigens* (2011) 78(2):120–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2011. 01716.x
- Gregori S, Tomasoni D, Pacciani V, Scirpoli M, Battaglia M, Magnani CF, et al. Differentiation of type 1 T regulatory cells (Tr1) by tolerogenic DC-10 requires the IL-10-dependent ILT4/HLA-G pathway. *Blood* (2010) 116 (6):935–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-234872
- Amodio G, Comi M, Tomasoni D, Gianolini ME, Rizzo R, LeMaoult J, et al. HLA-G expression levels influence the tolerogenic activity of human DC-10. *Haematologica* (2015) 100(4):548–57. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.113803
- 44. Zhang Y, Lu N, Xue Y, Zhang M, Li Y, Si Y, et al. Expression of immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT)2 and ILT3 in human gastric cancer and its clinical significance. *Mol Med Rep* (2012) 5(4):910–6. doi: 10.3892/ mmr.2012.744
- Brennan PJ, Brigl M, Brenner MB. Invariant natural killer T cells: an innate activation scheme linked to diverse effector functions. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(2):101–17. doi: 10.1038/nri3369
- Burdin N, Brossay L, Degano M, Iijima H, Gui M, Wilson IA, et al. Structural requirements for antigen presentation by mouse CD1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97(18):10156–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.18.10156
- Zhao L, Teklemariam T, Hantash BM. Mutated HLA-G3 localizes to the cell surface but does not inhibit cytotoxicity of natural killer cells. *Cell Immunol* (2014) 287(1):23–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2013.11.005
- Li X, Tsuji M, Schneck J, Webb TJ. Generation of Human iNKT Cell Lines. Bio Protoc (2013) 3(6). doi: 10.21769/BioProtoc.418
- HoWangYin KY, Caumartin J, Favier B, Daouya M, Yaghi L, Carosella ED, et al. Proper regrafting of Ig-like transcript 2 after trogocytosis allows a functional cell-cell transfer of sensitivity. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(4):2210–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000547
- Liang S, Baibakov B, Horuzsko A. HLA-G inhibits the functions of murine dendritic cells via the PIR-B immune inhibitory receptor. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) 32(9):2418–26. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200209)32:9<2418::AID-IMMU2418>3.0.CO;2-L
- Kinjo Y, Illarionov P, Vela JL, Pei B, Girardi E, Li X, et al. Invariant natural killer T cells recognize glycolipids from pathogenic Gram-positive bacteria. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(10):966–74. doi: 10.1038/ni.2096
- Brossay L, Chioda M, Burdin N, Koezuka Y, Casorati G, Dellabona P, et al. CD1d-mediated recognition of an alpha-galactosylceramide by natural killer T cells is highly conserved through mammalian evolution. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188(8):1521–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.188.8.1521
- Locafaro G, Amodio G, Tomasoni D, Tresoldi C, Ciceri F, Gregori S. HLA-G expression on blasts and tolerogenic cells in patients affected by acute myeloid leukemia. J Immunol Res (2014) 2014;636292. doi: 10.1155/2014/636292
- Xu DP, Shi WW, Zhang TT, Lv HY, Li JB, Lin A, et al. Elevation of HLA-Gexpressing DC-10 cells in patients with gastric cancer. *Hum Immunol* (2016) 77(9):800–4. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.01.003
- Bainbridge DR, Ellis SA, Sargent IL. HLA-G suppresses proliferation of CD4 (+) T-lymphocytes. J Reprod Immunol (2000) 48(1):17–26. doi: 10.1016/ S0165-0378(00)00070-X
- Colonna M, Samaridis J, Cella M, Angman L, Allen RL, O'Callaghan CA, et al. Human myelomonocytic cells express an inhibitory receptor for classical and nonclassical MHC class I molecules. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(7):3096–100.
- Ristich V, Liang S, Zhang W, Wu J, Horuzsko A. Tolerization of dendritic cells by HLA-G. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35(4):1133–42. doi: 10.1002/eji.200425741
- Huang J, Burke P, Yang Y, Seiss K, Beamon J, Cung T, et al. Soluble HLA-G inhibits myeloid dendritic cell function in HIV-1 infection by interacting with leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor B2. J Virol (2010) 84(20):10784–91. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01292-10
- Horuzsko A, Lenfant F, Munn DH, Mellor AL. Maturation of antigenpresenting cells is compromised in HLA-G transgenic mice. *Int Immunol* (2001) 13(3):385–94. doi: 10.1093/intimm/13.3.385
- LeMaoult J, Krawice-Radanne I, Dausset J, Carosella ED. HLA-G1-expressing antigen-presenting cells induce immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(18):7064–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401922101
- Roncarolo MG, Gregori S, Battaglia M, Bacchetta R, Fleischhauer K, Levings MK. Interleukin-10-secreting type 1 regulatory T cells in rodents and humans. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 212:28–50. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00420.x

- 62. Yamaura A, Hotta C, Nakazawa M, Van Kaer L, Minami M. Human invariant Valpha24+ natural killer T cells acquire regulatory functions by interacting with IL-10-treated dendritic cells. *Blood* (2008) 111(8):4254–63. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2007-04-085142
- Fujii S, Motohashi S, Shimizu K, Nakayama T, Yoshiga Y, Taniguchi M. Adjuvant activity mediated by iNKT cells. *Semin Immunol* (2010) 22(2):97– 102. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2009.10.002
- 64. Galli G, Nuti S, Tavarini S, Galli-Stampino L, De Lalla C, Casorati G, et al. CD1d-restricted help to B cells by human invariant natural killer T lymphocytes. J Exp Med (2003) 197(8):1051–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021616
- 65. Galli G, Pittoni P, Tonti E, Malzone C, Uematsu Y, Tortoli M, et al. Invariant NKT cells sustain specific B cell responses and memory. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2007) 104(10):3984–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0700191104

Conflict of Interest: C-LW,JC, FA, ML and PL-D were employed by Invectys.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wu, Caumartin, Amodio, Anna, Loustau, Gregori, Langlade-Demoyen and LeMaoult. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

